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IntRoductIon

Scholars and practitioners.  Theory and practice.  
Much has been written about these seemingly 
opposing concepts and their relation to the devel-
opment of leaders who influence change – in this 
case, educational change.  When scholars and 
practitioners work to achieve a common goal, in 
the spirit of collaboration based on professional 
trust and respect, the result is transformational 
change.  This process of collaborative change 
is enhanced by the individual’s readiness for 
change, the organization’s readiness for change, 
and the social aspect of professional learning.  

 The word theory is derived from the Greek 
theoria, meaning to view or look at and can be 
considered as an effort by scholars to explain phe-
nomena.  A theory is an abstract, based on specu-
lation or thought and can be considered passive.  
In contrast, practice is active, meaning ‘to do’.  A 
practitioner is one who does.  Derived from the 
Greek praxis, it is concrete, implying an action.  
The integration of these two concepts can result 
in the co-creation of new knowledge and insight.  
The collaboration between the scholar and prac-
titioner is enhanced when each understands the 
other’s perspective and can embrace the process 
of change.

The doctoral program in School Leadership at 
East Tennessee State University (ETSU) pre-

pares individuals for school, district, and state 
level leadership positions.  We serve students 
from east Tennessee, western North Carolina, 
and southwest Virginia.  Most of our graduates 
hold school leadership positions in the region 
and maintain a strong connection with the Uni-
versity.  Although these students have scholarly, 
advanced degrees, most view themselves as prac-
titioners.  The faculty has the task of bridging 
the gap between practice and theory, while being 
cognizant that students will return to practice 
upon completion of their doctoral degree.

One dilemma for university programs is striking 
the balance between academic knowledge and 
practical experience.  Murphy (2001) stated that 
placing academic knowledge at the center of pro-
grams is self-defeating because no matter how the 
knowledge is presented, there is still the dilemma 
of how to bridge the gap between theory and 
practice.  Daresh (2002) noted the limitations 
and benefits of both academic knowledge and 
experience.  He argued that academic knowledge 
provides a common language and conceptual 
framework for aspiring leaders, but that it is only 
part of what leaders need to know.  He further ar-
gues that field-based knowledge has practical val-
ue, but it is experience based on existing practice 
instead of needed reforms.  Therefore, it seems to 
reason, that scholarship should be informed by 
practical experience, and, in turn, practical ex-

The Jointing of Theory and Practice:  Scholars and Practi-
tioners Find Common Ground

Pamela H. Scott, Ed.D.  
Assistant Professor  
School Leadership  

Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis 
East Tennessee State University

AbstrAct
The positive outcomes of the collaborative efforts of full-time and adjunct faculty in assessing the 
content and rigor of the doctoral program in School Leadership reinforce the value of blending 
scholar and practitioner expertise.  Developing the capacity of full-time and adjunct faculty to be co-
facilitators of program change resulted in the transformation of a disjointed program into a jointed, 
well-grounded program based on the co-equal foundation of scholarship and practice.
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perience must be informed by scholarship.  The 
challenge becomes one of discovering and devel-
oping experiences beyond the realm of current 
practice.  This must occur in a climate of safety in 
risk-taking (Fullan, 2008).

An ongoing criticism from superintendents, 
practicing principals, and researchers is the gap 
between theory and practice.  Murphy (1992) 
stated that optimal leadership development oc-
curs in the context of ongoing field work rather 
than the formal classroom setting.  Critics cite 
the lack of depth of opportunities for students 
to practice their leadership skills in meaningful 
situations.  Practitioners can assist scholars in de-
veloping those opportunities.  

The School Leadership program at ETSU has 
traditionally been regarded as a scholar-practi-
tioner program.  However, until recently, the 
practitioner focus has been secondary resulting 
in a disjointed program.  Several factors have in-
fluenced the necessity of a more balanced philo-
sophical and practical foundation to the pro-
gram.  A change in program leadership, increased 
student enrollment, increased adjunct support, 
student and district expectations, and higher 
education accountability standards are but a few 
of the factors influencing the need for collabora-
tive change.

A primary impetus for the change, however, has 
been the tension full-time faculty and adjuncts 
themselves have experienced between their own 
scholarly and practitioner backgrounds.  A recur-
ring question has been that of balancing the two 
perspectives in the development of school lead-
ers.  A participative program evaluation conduct-
ed in 2009 revealing a disjointed curriculum  em-
phasized the disconnect between the theory and 
practice. A foundation of trust and collaboration 
between full-time faculty and adjuncts was al-
ready established through on-going professional 
development opportunities within the depart-
ment.  As a result, full-time faculty and adjuncts 
felt mutually responsible for program change.

collaBoRatIon

Collaboration is a democratic and inclusive en-
deavor based on pre-established interests.  Gen-
erally, it goes beyond a level of cooperation: 
There is a sense of intellectual commitment and 

belonging.  Dufour, Dufour, Eaker and Many 
(2006) define collaboration as a systematic pro-
cess of working together interdependently to im-
pact professional practice and improve collective 
results.  This working together in a synergistic 
manner requires that individuals bring diverse 
skills and knowledge to the effort.  The collab-
orative effort was enhanced by (a) the readiness 
of each individual stakeholder for change, (b) the 
readiness of the organization for change, and (c) 
the social aspect of change.

Facilitating the collaborative effort between full-
time and adjunct faculty were the trusting rela-
tionships and sense of belonging that had already 
been established.  All adjunct faculty are gradu-
ates of the ETSU doctoral program in Leader-
ship and are in leadership positions as principals, 
teachers, supervisors, directors of programs, or 
superintendents of districts.  Familiar with the 
scholarly aspects of the doctoral program, they 
also had the practical experiences necessary to be 
successful in leadership positions.  Full-time fac-
ulty also have background experiences as school 
leaders in a variety of leadership positions.  These 
common experiences established credibility and 
trust in the process of change that needed to oc-
cur.  Odden and Wolstetter (1995) found that a 
shared knowledge base is essential for the devel-
opment of a professional learning community.  
The continued development of the community 
of learners is critical to the success of the changes. 
The faculty must continue to learn to learn in or-
der to solve problems.

changE

The genesis of the dialogue between full-time 
and adjunct faculty was the analysis of the results 
of the 2009 participative program evaluation.  
This dialogue centered around four basic ques-
tions. (1) Does the doctoral program have suffi-
cient rigor? (2) Does the doctoral program have 
curricula that is aligned, delivered, and assessed? 
(3) Are there standards of quality inherent in the 
doctoral program? (4) How are the needs of the 
scholar and the practitioner balanced?

This dialogue resulted in the identification of 
three cornerstones of the doctoral program.  The 
first is the emphasis on the development of the 
skills of leadership.  These skills are the underly-

ing component of all scholarly work and practi-
cal experiences.  The second is the emphasis on 
increasing knowledge and understanding of the 
process of change.  Because change is ongoing 
and inevitable, students must be able to under-
stand, adapt, and lead positive change.  The third 
emphasis of the doctoral program is the idea of 
global thinking – the ability to see and under-
stand the big picture of schooling, change, and 
the world.

After these three cornerstones were identified, 
the hard work of collaboration began. An anal-
ysis of syllabi determined whether the corner-
stones were the basis of all scholarly and practi-
cal experiences. There is on-going analysis of the 
objectives and topics for each course, textbooks, 
supplemental materials, learning strategies, 
benchmark writing, relevant field experiences, 
and desired outcomes for student learning.

The lack of opportunities in the university class-
room to experience the real world of school lead-
ership created a challenge for the faculty to ex-
plore opportunities for students to practice newly 
acquired leadership skills. Therefore, the linkages 
between the scholarly research requirements of 
each course in the program were aligned with 
the practical experiences students would partici-
pate in through their internship and residency 
requirements.  Each experience was analyzed for 
its relevance in relation to the connection with 
course and program objectives and goals.  More-
over, the same standards applied to scholarly as-
signments.  Every effort was made to ensure that 
each assignment had practical relevance for the 
development of leadership capabilities of stu-
dents.  Because adjuncts possessed the practitio-
ner’s insight, experiences were highly relevant to 
scholarly requirements and the aspects of the real 
world of school leadership. Under these condi-
tions, aspiring school leaders are provided the 
opportunities to develop their individualistic ca-
pacity for transferring the knowledge learned in 
the classroom to the practical experiences of the 
leadership environment.

tRansfoRmatIonal changE

The balance between the interests of a scholarly 
focus and a practical focus in the School Lead-
ership program occurred during the process of 

transformational program change.  This change 
was facilitated by the collaboration of full-time 
and adjunct faculty who recognized the im-
portance of both experiences. Anderson and 
Ackeman-Anderson (2001) explain that trans-
formation is a thinking approach to change, 
not a process.  Three core concepts assist in un-
derstanding this approach.  First, change itself is 
external and may be a temporary state.  It is the 
result of an event or intervention.  Second, transi-
tion refers to the mental state of stakeholders.  It 
refers to the ability of stakeholders to put aside 
former ways of doing things and embracing and 
adapt to the new (Verwey & Du Plooy-Cilliers, 
2003). Third, transformational change requires a 
paradigm shift within the individual stakehold-
er and the group itself (Cummings & Worley, 
2001).  Transformational change is only possible 
through transition of behavior based on inter-
nalization of changes by stakeholders (Gouillart 
& Kelly, 1995).  Jick and Peiperl (2003) refer to 
transformation as organizational reorientation. 
The complexity of the change process, coupled 
with the social intricacy of a collaborative group, 
leads to the conclusion that the process of change 
into transformational change is a culture build-
ing and culture changing process. This transfor-
mational change occurs when the group utilizes 
all the human resources and aligns the structural 
processes with the cultural processes.

high-involvement management

The conditions necessary for creating an organi-
zation that has the capability to transform itself 
into a new organizational culture are identified 
in the high-involvement management framework 
(Wohlstetter & Mohrman, 1994).  The foun-
dation of the high-involvement management 
framework is that the empowerment of stake-
holders is enhanced when there is an emphasis 
on increasing (a) power, (b) knowledge and skills, 
(c) information, and (d) rewards (Lawler, 1986).  

High-involvement management is appropriate 
for organizations that engage in knowledge pro-
duction, exist in a changing environment, have 
complex job tasks requiring constant decision-
making, and are characterized by interdepen-
dence among tasks within organizations (Wohl-
stetter & Odden, 1992).  All these tasks apply to 
the doctoral program in School Leadership.  The 
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factors identified in the framework are facilita-
tors of change and can be identified in this col-
laborative process.

Power

Lawler (1986) indicated that an organization’s 
performance improves when power shifts to 
stakeholders in the organization. Power was 
shared among the full-time faculty and the ad-
junct faculty through the mechanism of collabo-
ration. This is not a simple transfer of power to 
stakeholders: It is a change in the structure of the 
organization.  As more knowledge was acquired 
through dialogue, program evaluation, and anal-
ysis of syllabi individuals were able to contribute 
to the change process.  The faculty were provided 
the opportunity to inform, influence, and facili-
tate change based on their professional knowl-
edge and collaborative decision-making.

Knowledge and Skills

Knowledge and skills are essential for the en-
hancement of stakeholder collaboration. Three 
areas of skill became apparent in the collaborative 
process: (1) the skills necessary to work together 
effectively in a team setting, (2) the technical 
skills necessary to foster change, and (3) the skill 
which enables stakeholders to engage in multiple 
tasks. The decentralization of knowledge facili-
tates patterns of involvement oriented toward 
improved performance (Lawler, 1986).  One 
form of knowledge and skills is technical. On-
going professional development opportunities 
for full-time and adjunct faculty that focus on re-
search based best practices in teaching, learning 
styles, integration of technology, and assessments 
are examples of technical knowledge. Profession-
al development occurred in face-to-face meetings 
with an on-line support component facilitated by 
individuals with relevant expertise practice. In-
formal methods such as sharing articles, research, 
and anecdotal experiences added to the knowl-
edge base. In addition, knowledge relevant to 
management procedures within the organization 
and the interpersonal skills required for collabo-
ration were important.  Knowledge and skills 
were enhanced by interaction among faculty and 
reflective practice.

Information

Information about program goals, objectives, 
performance, and decision-making parameters 
are basic in order for stakeholders to make qual-
ity decisions that foster transformational change.  
Individuals shared information using a variety of 
communication mechanisms, i.e. e-mail, memos, 
telephone, and twitter.  In addition to the use of 
formal documents, there was primary reliance 
on human interaction. Full-time faculty and 
adjunct faculty receive the same information rel-
evant to program improvement.  The sharing of 
information enhanced the collaborative nature 
of the on-going work.

Rewards

Intrinsic rewards were present during this pro-
cess.  Stakeholders felt a sense of belonging and 
professionalism as evidenced by participation in 
the time-consuming process. This strengthened 
the sense of purpose.    

conclusIon

The collaboration between full-time and adjunct 
faculty in the effort provide a balance between 
the scholar and practitioner continues.  Change 
is not an event: It is a process (Fullan, 2008). Re-
search has shown that is takes three to five years 
to implement meaningful change (Gersten, Car-
nine, Zoref, & Cronin, 1986; George, Hall, & 
Uchiyama, 2000). Grundy (1998) and Jick and 
Pieperl (2003) define organizational change as a 
complex process because the collective reaction 
to change is unpredictable. As change is not al-
ways observable the benefits cannot be assessed 
quickly. The factors of power, knowledge and 
skills, information, and rewards facilitate the 
process of organizational change (Lawler, 1986) 
and will continue to be used to evaluate the pro-
cess of program change.  The interrelationship 
of the factors inherent in the high-involvement 
management model and the organization of the 
collaborative team are dynamic and continually 
changing; however, the mechanisms reflected in 
the high-involvement management framework 
allow stakeholders to deal with the technical, 
social, and political forces which impact change.  
The transformational changes in the program oc-
curred because of (a) individuals’ readiness for 

change, (b) organizational readiness for change, 
and (c) the social aspect of professional learning.

The full-time and adjunct faculty were receptive 
to the idea of change when they determined that 
the balance between theory and practice would 
benefit students.  Their sense of professionalism, 
enhanced by their own knowledge and skills, led 
to a confidence that facilitated the transforma-
tional change process.  The School Leadership 
program itself was ready for change.  The self-
governance of the collaborative group was instru-
mental in the change process.  The participants in 
the program were able to balance the needs of the 
School Leadership program with their own belief 
systems.  Empowerment was based on the con-
sensual framework of values, goals, and priorities 
of the participants and developed as the collab-
orative team emerged.  The full-time and adjunct 
faculty had a shared mission and were action 
oriented with the goal of continuous program 
improvement.  The commitment to the balance 
between theory and practice was the foundation 
of each decision.  The sharing of power and the 
atmosphere of safety in risk-taking has contrib-
uted to dialogue and collaboration.

There have been three distinct phases of devel-
opment in the transformational change pro-
cess.  The first phase was the commitment stage.  
Stakeholders made a personal and group com-
mitment to changing the School Leadership 
program. During this stage stakeholders set per-
sonal goals and began developing relationships.  
The second phase was the implementation stage 
consisting of forming the collaborative team, set-
ting goals, and building trust.  The last stage is 
the current stage – the refinement stage. This is 
the stage wherein the changes become truly sus-
tainable as the organization operationalizes the 
structural and cultural aspects of the transforma-
tional change.  The new culture is characterized 
by transparency and continual learning.

This process demonstrates the positive effects of 
collaboration between the scholar and practi-
tioner in program improvement.  Fullan (1996) 
stated that the organic, inherent nature of change 
is that it is non-linear. Technical, social, and po-
litical forces influence the change process.  How-
ever, the full-time faculty and adjunct faculty 
had established a strong professional relationship 
prior to the change process and this provided the 

autonomy to deal with the forces that were barri-
ers to change.  To continue with positive change, 
the faculty will continue to strengthen collab-
orative efforts.  It is expected that individual 
readiness for change, organization readiness for 
change, and the development of the collaborative 
team will facilitate the refinement of program 
improvement and influence change. The bridge 
between theory and practice, in this case, is the 
collaborative team consisting of full-time and 
adjunct faculty who worked together for change 
in the School Leadership program. The efforts 
of this team reveal the potential for bridging the 
gap between theory and practice – of transform-
ing a disjointed doctoral program into a jointed 
doctoral program.
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IntRoductIon

A familiar sight in today’s university classroom 
is a student with a mobile computing device, 
whether it is a laptop or notebook computer, a 
smart phone, or a tablet computer.  The appear-
ance of these devices represents a tremendous 
opportunity for educators.  Experts agree that 
computers and technology, especially mobile 
technology, can play an important role in teach-
ing and learning (Cossey, 2005; Koeber, 2005).  
The goal of this paper is to add to the discussion 
about mobile computing (MC).  

The research on MC is still young (Venkatesh et 
al., 2003).  Some research suggests that some fac-
ulty and administrators are not ready to integrate 
MC devices into their curriculum (Corbeil and 
Valdes-Corbeil, 2007; Rubinkam, 2010), while 
other research suggests that students expect their 
campuses and their classes to be MC compatible 
(Cossey, 2005).  It is for this reason that many 
universities are attempting to capitalize on the 
trend and integrate MC in their classrooms (Am-
bur and Tiahrt, 2002).  This research investigates 
the attitudes of business students at a large state-
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AbstrAct
Universities are bringing mobile computing (MC) into the classroom in an effort to increase student 
engagement, enhance student learning outcomes, and allow courses to be more accessible.  While 
there has been some research investigating the efficacy of such efforts, that research is still in the 
initial stages.  This paper adds to the existing knowledge of MC through two studies.  The first study 
uses factor analysis to define three dominant student attitudes toward MC.  These three attitudes 
are: (1) the acceptance of MC, (2) the comfort or satisfaction of using MC, and (3) the attitude 
toward classroom policy issues relating to MC.  The second study in this paper uses the 3M Model of 
Motivation and Personality (Mowen 2000) to compare the personality traits of the sample student 
population and the three dominant MC attitudes.  This phase of the research reveals that personal-
ity traits partially describe differences in opinions regarding MC.  The results of this research are 
valuable to pedagogical policy makers, educators, and MC developers.
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sponsored liberal arts university in the upper 
Midwest.  First, three dominant student attitudes 
toward MC are defined using factor analysis.  
These attitudes include their acceptance of MC, 
their satisfaction with MC, and finally, their at-
titude toward MC policies and rules.  Next, this 
research reveals that the differences between the 
MC attitudes can be described by demographic 
and personality trait differences.  It is the hope 
of the authors that this research helps educators 
and administrators effectively implement MC 
into the classroom, rather than surrendering and 
seeing those devices used as high-tech tools for 
doodling and passing notes in class (Rubinkam, 
2010).  

Using Mowen’s (2000) 3M Model of Motivation 
and Personality as a theoretical framework, this 
paper investigates student attitudes and opinions 
about the use of mobile computing technology 
(MC) in the business school classroom.  The 3M 
model provides a unique perspective to this re-
search, for it provides an explanation of how per-
sonality and situations interact to influence feel-
ings, thoughts, and behaviors.  The second phase 
evaluates those attitudes and opinions based 
upon the personality traits of the students.  

lItERatuRE REvIEw

Student attitudes play an important role in the 
successful implementation of MC into the class-
room (Friedrich and Hron, 2010), and evidence 
suggests that students want to use mobile com-
puting in the classroom (Barak et al., 2006).  An 
informal survey of the authors’ classes reveals 
that virtually all of the students have cellphones, 
with many owning smart phones such as a Black-
berry or iPhone.  Many students bring their lap-
tops to class, and there is usually competition to 
secure seats in the classroom near electric outlets.  
In fact, it is common for new lecture halls to have 
electric outlets available for each seat.  Therefore, 
since MC technology is often voluntarily brought 
into the classroom, it seems to be a question of 
how educators can integrate this technology into 
the curriculum, rather than ignore its presence.  

Furthermore, while many instructors and admin-
istrators are not actively including MC in their 
classroom, students see MC as important to their 
lives and likewise, important to their educational 

experience (Corbeil and Valdes-Corbeil, 2007).  
In fact many students and faculty already use MC 
in our lives outside the classroom.  The reasons 
we have not integrated MC into the classroom 
are varied.  For example, it could be the awkward-
ness of lugging around heavy (and usually older) 
laptop computers (Efaw et al., 2004).  Student 
perceptions of mobile computing include mobil-
ity and convenience, as in lightweight machines, 
long battery life, and ease of storage.  Those stu-
dents with older computers that do not have 
those features are often hostage to a classroom 
seat near the wall and electric outlet.  In other 
cases, it may be the ergonomics of the room.  The 
small desks available in many classrooms make it 
difficult to hold a laptop, which then becomes a 
distraction as the student attempts to pay atten-
tion to the instructor and steady the computer on 
the small desk at the same time.  In addition, stu-
dents may not integrate MC into their classroom 
habits because MC does not match their learn-
ing styles (Efaw et al., 2004).  These students may 
prefer a pencil and paper style to learning, and 
save their computing efforts for another venue, 
be it the library, coffee shop, or residence.  

Nonetheless, for those students who have in-
tegrated MC into their classroom lives, they 
profess several benefits.  First, students like the 
larger “tool box” that is available to them.  That 
is, they are more likely to use productivity tools 
such as graphics, electronic presentations, and 
internet research in the classroom (Grant et al., 
2005).  This technology tool box has permitted 
instructors to change classroom instruction from 
the normal lecture-based delivery of information 
into an interactive, student-involved learning en-
vironment (Moallem et al. 2006; Wingfield and 
Black, 2005).  In effect, the use of technology 
permits lower level learning to occur outside of 
class, creating time for higher level learning and 
critical thinking activities in the classroom (Salt-
er et al., 2009).  Second, students indicate that 
they like the ease of note taking and organizing 
notes via MC (Efaw et al., 2004).  Students of-
ten substitute hand-written notes for electronic 
notes placed directly into the instructor-provid-
ed notes or outline.  These notes are more legible 
and simple to organize and share with classmates 
and study partners.  This characteristic leads to 
the third benefit, which is that students are more 
likely to work together inside and outside the 

classroom, creating an environment for collabor-
ative learning (Cossey 2005; Grant et al., 2005).  
In effect, the combination of collaboration and 
the ability to promote critical thinking skills 
means that students are more engaged in the 
learning process and become co-creators of their 
own learning (Fink, 2007).  As such, students in-
dicate that they learn more in a MC classroom, 
and rate their instructors who use MC to be 
more effective (Koeber, 2005).  

However, these benefits should not overshadow 
some of the challenges of MC.  For example, 
technical support is critical for instructor accep-
tance of MC (Moallem et al., 2006).  Research-
ers find that the fear of computers going down 
and technology not working as intended are big 
discouragers.  These things take more time away 
from the class and distract and annoy everyone.  
Waiting for IT to come and help is also a pun-
isher.  Second, students need to feel that mobile 
computing is useful (Friedrich and Hron, 2010).  
A poorly organized lesson plan with MC is not 
necessarily better than a well-organized and ef-
fective lesson plan without MC.  Students can 
tell the difference, for what they want is not 
technology, but effective teaching.  MC does not 
guarantee effective teaching.  The third challenge 
is the students’ perception of learning using MC.  
Research shows that student grades are not nec-
essarily higher with MC instruction (Koeber, 
2005, Hawkes Claver, 2009).  

This reveals one of the dilemmas of MC research: 
there is little consensus regarding the success 
factors for integrating MC into the classroom 
(Friedrich and Hron, 2010; Ong and Lai, 2006; 
Parker et al., 2008; Vermunt, 2005).  Various 
factors have shown influence over the effective-
ness of MC, and these factors have been neatly 
incorporated into the UTAUT theory proposed 
by Venkatesh et al., (2003).  The primary factors 
identified in this theory are performance expec-
tancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and 
facilitating conditions.  Performance expectancy 
is how much one believes that using MC will 
help them in their classroom performance.  Ef-
fort expectancy is how easy it is to use the MC 
technology.  Social influence is how much pres-
sure others put on the individual to use MC.  Fa-
cilitating conditions are the organizational and 
technical infrastructure surrounding the system 

to help the users.  The moderators include gender, 
age, experience, and voluntariness.  Experience 
is user knowledge, familiarity and understand-
ing of the MC system.  Voluntariness is whether 
the choice to use MC was up to the individual 
or not.  Results suggest that the higher the four 
main constructs, the more likely the success of 
MC.  The moderators were all shown to be valid, 
such that sometimes men are more adept than 
women, sometimes the other way around.  Some-
times younger subjects did better, sometimes wis-
dom and age was better.  Sometimes experience 
was important, and sometimes it was better to 
be forced to use the technology, sometimes not.  
Again, it all depends on the situation.

REsEaRch QuEstIons

There are two questions for this research.  The 
first: what are the students’ perceptions regard-
ing MC?  The second: how do those perceptions 
relate to personality traits of the students?  Study 
One addresses the first question, while Study 
Two addresses the second.  

study one

Measures

In order to answer these two research questions, 
14 items were tested using a pencil and paper 
survey with undergraduate students from the 
School of Business at mid-sized doctoral grant-
ing Midwestern liberal arts residential university.  
The items addressed issues related to the use of 
laptops in the classroom, and whether laptop 
use ought to be required in the classroom.  At-
titudinal data were derived from questions about 
course design, general laptop satisfaction, and 
potential benefits of laptop use.  In addition, de-
mographic data was collected.  

data collection and  
sample characteristics

Attitudinal and demographic survey data was 
collected using a paper and pencil questionnaire.  
Surveys were administered in every core class at 
the business school.  This technique maximizes 
the probability of sampling every student in the 
school, regardless of year/class.  It is possible that 
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some subjects could be approached twice.  There-
fore, the instructions clearly indicated that stu-
dents were not to take the survey twice.  

Results

A total of 465 surveys were collected, 401 were 
used in this research, representing 57% of resi-
dential student body.  Surveys from that were not 
complete (33) and those subjects with non-busi-
ness majors (31) were not included in the analy-
sis.  The analysis shows that this sample popula-
tion was 59.4% male, and 90.5% were less than 24 
years old.  In addition, 10.7% were in their fresh-
man year, 30.4% were sophomore, 27.4% were 
juniors, and 31.4% were seniors.  

The survey included four questions inquiring 
about laptop ownership and technology exper-
tise.  Most students (95.8%) indicated that they 
own their own laptop, while only 19.7% of those 
surveyed regularly bring their laptops to class.  
Those surveyed also profess that they know a 
lot about technology, maybe more than their in-
structors.  Over three-quarters of those surveyed 
(76.3%) indicate that they are better digital citi-
zen than their instructors, while 67.6% say that 
they will know more about technology in their 
field than the instructors.  

The primary purpose of this stage of the research 
is to refine constructs pertaining to laptop use 
in the classroom.  Principle component factor 
analysis with varimax rotation was sued to in-
vestigate the 14 items related to laptop use in the 
classroom.  The results revealed three factors, ex-

plaining 76% of the variance; scree and loading 
plot are presented in Exhibit One.  The items for 
the three factors can be found in Exhibit Two.  
The first factor is labeled general acceptance of 
MC, and includes four items with a robust coeffi-
cient alpha of .92.  The second is labeled comfort/
satisfaction with MC, and is also four items and 
has a coefficient alpha of .87.  Finally, the third 
factor is labeled policy attitude toward MC, and 
like the other two, includes four items, and has a 
coefficient alpha of .88.  

Exhibit 2 
ScalES dEvElopEd

MC1:  
General acceptance of MC Alpha = .92

1. Laptop use in class can be directly 
linked to the course learning objec-
tives. 

2. Laptop use in class will enhance the 
classroom experience.

3. Laptop use in class will allow me to 
learn more effectively or more effi-
ciently.

4. Laptop use can be well integrated into 
a course.

MC2:  
Comfort or Satisfaction with MC Alpha = .87

1. I will enjoy using a laptop in class.
2. Generally (outside of class), I enjoy 

using computers to help me learn.

3. How often do you use laptops in your 
current classes (during class)?

4. Should laptops be used more in class, 
less in class, or about the same as now?

MC3: 
Policy attitude toward MC Alpha = .88

1. Requiring a laptop in class will help 
me prepare for my future career.

2. Requiring a laptop in class will help 
my creativity/creative thinking.

3. Requiring a laptop in class will im-
prove my grade in class.

4. Requiring a laptop in class would be a 
distraction

Discussion

The results of Study One provide an interesting 
picture of a collegiate business school student.  
First, the survey shows that most students own 
laptops.  One of the concerns with implementing 
a MC initiative is the availability of MC devices 
for the students.  This survey suggests that this is 
not a major issue.  What this survey shows is that 
getting students to bring their laptops to class 
may be a major issue.  This survey does not re-
veal why only one-fifth of the students choose to 
bring laptops to class, nor does it reveal why four-
fifths do not bring them.  Some of the students’ 
comments outside of the survey suggest that their 
laptops may too heavy or inconvenient to carry.  
Other comments suggest that their laptops are 
too old to adequately use the wireless network 
in the school building, or that the classroom is 
not set up to use a laptop due to the small desks 
in some rooms, or the inaccessibility to outlets 
in other rooms.  Whatever the case, the research 
does show that the students have laptops, but are 
not bringing them to class.  

Second, the research shows that the sample stu-
dents are confident about their technology skills.  
Moreover, the data suggests that they feel they 
are more adept than their faculty instructors and 
professors.  This may be a bit of youthful hubris 
on their part, but it does suggest that bringing 
mobile computing into the classroom will not 
catch our students off guard, or intimidate them.

Third, the research revealed three distinct stu-
dent attitudes about mobile computing, and in 

particular, laptop use in the classroom.  The first 
construct, titled General Acceptance of MC, rep-
resents a student’s acceptance of mobile comput-
ing in the classroom.  This scale asks the student 
about the efficacy of laptop use, laptop use rel-
evancy toward learning objectives, and boosting 
the classroom experience.  The second construct, 
titled Comfort/Satisfaction with MC, represents 
how well MC currently fits in the students’ lives, 
both inside and outside the classroom.  The third 
construct, titled Policy Attitude toward MC, 
examines the student’s opinions when MC is an 
edict rather than a choice.  It looks at aspects of 
MC when MC is required.  As such, it provides 
a contrast between student attitudes toward MC 
when it is voluntary and initiated by the student, 
versus involuntary and decreed by authorities.  

study two

The purpose of Study Two is to investigate the 
relationship personality has with the three at-
titudes of MC defined in Study One.  Prior re-
search suggests that personality does influence 
individual attitudes and behavior (Kassarjian 
and Sheffet 1991).  As such, contrasting these 
three attitudes with personality traits may pro-
vide useful information for those attempting to 
implement MC into their curriculum.

Measures

The measures for categorizing personality come 
from Mowen’s (2000) 3M Model of Motivation.  
This is a meta-theoretic model of motivation 
based on the work of Allport (1937) to describe 
how personality and situation interact to influ-
ence behavior.  Mowen suggests that there are 
eight elemental traits that are the basic underly-
ing predispositions of individuals that are cross 
situational, enduring dispositions to behave.  The 
first five elemental traits are based on Saucier’s 
(1994) Five Factor Model, and they include: (1) 
Introversion (bashful, shy and quiet), (2) Consci-
entiousness (precise, efficient and organized), (3) 
Openness to Experience (imaginative, original), 
(4) Agreeable (kind to others, softhearted), (5) 
Emotional instability (moody, temperamental).  
The next two are based on sensation seeking and 
evolutionary psychology (Zuckerman 1979).  
They include (6) the need for material resources 
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(enjoy buying expensive things, acquisition of 
things), and (7) the need for arousal (danger, ex-
citement, activities with risk).  The final elemen-
tal trait (8) the need for body resources (body as a 
tool, health, physical development) follow evolu-
tionary psychology principles which suggest that 
the needs arose from Darwinian selection pres-
sures and were necessary for the survival of the 
species.  

This research will follow Mowen’s proposition to 
include all eight elemental traits in this research 
as control variables.  Further, it is important to 
include all eight elemental traits because if one 
does not, an ‘illusory prediction’ might occur, 
which is when it appears as if a compound or situ-
ational trait is predicting a surface trait (Mowen 
and Voss 2008).  

Data Collection and Method

This phase of the research is an extension on the 
data collected for Study One.  The 3M personal-
ity traits were included in the paper-and-pencil 
survey.  Each of the eight traits was checked to 
see if that score differed from the median score of 
5 (on the 1-9 Likert scale used in the survey). Sev-
en of the eight traits were significantly different; 
only Materialism came up as non-sig (p=.055).  
In some cases, the entire sample was very biased 
on a trait, such as agreeability where the average 
score is very high or positive.  See table in Exhibit 
Three.  This suggests that students are sensitive to 
the scales, and are more likely to rank themselves 
as different from the median.

Next, stepwise linear regression was used to mea-
sure each of the MC constructs to the personality 
traits.  In other words, a regression was first done 

using Factor 1 as the DV and the eight elemental 
traits as the IV.  This was also done with Factor 
2, and Factor 3 as the DV.  These analyses were 
inconclusive, revealing fairly low R-squares (2.8, 
1.8, 3.7 respectively).  Subsequent analysis was 
performed with smaller segments of the student 
population.  For example, the data was segment-
ed by the demographic characteristics of gender, 
class, major, hours of employment, age group, 
GPA, and ACT score, and then compared to the 
three dependent variables.  These analyses were 
much richer, resulting in a variety of significant 
relationships with R-squares, from 0.00 to 99.9.  
A catalog of those relationships was made in or-
der to help understand the differences between 
the significant and insignificant results.  See Ex-
hibit Four for the table illustrating the catalog.  

Results

The results revealed a total of 67 statistically sig-
nificant relationships between the MC and per-
sonality constructs.  Specifically, the results show 
that the personality trait of agreeability has the 
largest frequency of relationships with the MC 
items at 13; two with MC1, four with MC2, and 
seven with MC3.  Interestingly, all the relation-
ships are positive, there were no negative rela-
tionships revealed.  Second, the personality trait 
of emotional instability had the second most fre-
quent relationships with the dependent variables 
with twelve.  These were mostly negative (10 to 
2).  Specifically, MC1 had 7 negative and two 
positive, MC2 had one negative, and MC3 had 
two negative.  Third, materialism was third in the 
count, with eleven relationships.  Interestingly, 
these relationships were more balanced than the 
other two MC measures; with seven positive, and 

four negative.  Specifically, 
MC1 had one negative rela-
tionship, MC2 had six nega-
tive, and MC3 had four posi-
tive relationships.  It is also 
interesting to note that con-
scientiousness does not play 
a major role in this analysis, 
with one negative relationship 
with MC2.  The relationships 
with MC1 and MC3 were all 
not significant.

Discussion

The results of Study Two suggest that one’s per-
sonality does influence the acceptance of MC in 
the classroom.  First, MC1 is mostly influenced 
by emotional instability. The number of nega-
tive relationships suggest that the more neurotic 
the personality, the lower the general acceptance 
of MC.  Persons with a neurotic tendencies are 
more likely to experience negative emotional 
states such as anxiety, anger or guilt (Matthews 
and Dear 1998).  It may be that those individuals 
feel that MC is a threat to them and their educa-
tional environment than those with higher levels 
of emotional stability.  Second, MC2 is mostly 
influenced by materialism, such that the more 
materialistic one is, the more satisfied or comfort-
able one is with MC.  Mowen (2000) suggest that 
humans have a need for material resources, which 
includes both hedonic and utilitarian goods 
(Csikszentmihalyi and Rochberg-Halton 1978).  
As such, those that already have the material 
good (the mobile computer) and the intangible 
skill to use the good (technical knowledge), will 

be more likely to accept MC into their classroom 
experience.  Third, MC3 is mostly influenced by 
agreeability.   The more agreeable the personal-
ity type, the more they support the policy of 
requiring MC use in the classroom.  Agreeable 
individuals tend to be more compassionate and 
cooperative as opposed to argumentative and an-
tagonistic.  It seems logical that those with higher 
levels of agreeability would be more welcoming 
to policy issues than those individuals with lower 
levels of this personality trait.  Finally, conscien-
tiousness did not show much influence on the 
MC items.  Conscientiousness is the tendency 
to show self-discipline or seek achievement.  This 
is a logical result given the trends found in prior 
research (Friedrich and Hron 2010; Venkatesh et 
al. 2003).  

conclusIons and  
futuRE REsEaRch

This research has resulted in two sets of findings.  
First, three dominant attitudes toward MC were 
defined and refined using factor analysis.  Second, 

Exhibit 3 
pErSonality tablE oF MEanS

Variable Mean Stand.Dev. P-value
T1: Introversion 3.9 1.8 0.000
T2: Conscientiousness 6.6 1.2 0.000
T3: Openness to Experience 5.6 1.6 0.000
T4: Agreeability 7.0 1.2 0.000
T5: Emotional Instability 3.4 1.5 0.000
T6: Materialism 5.2 2.0 0.055
T7: Need for Arousal 5.8 1.8 0.000
T8: Need for Body Resources 5.9 1.8 0.000

Exhibit 4 
SigniFicant rElationShipS bEtwEEn  
ElEMEntal traitS and Mc FactorS.

  MCI1 MCI2 MCI3 Sum Total

T1: Introversion
Neg 3 1 4

6
Pos 1 1 2

T2: Conscientiousness
Neg 1 1

1
Pos 0

T3: Openness to Experience
Neg 0

9
Pos 3 2 4 9

T4: Agreeability
Neg 0

13
Pos 2 4 7 13

T5: Emotional Instability
Neg 7 1 2 10

12
Pos 2 2

T6: Materialism
Neg 4 4

11
Pos 1 6 7

T7: Need for Arousal
Neg 1 1 1 3

5
Pos 1 1 2

T8: Need for Body Resources
Neg 0

10
Pos 3 2 5 10

Total 23 18 26
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those attitudes were compared to the personality 
traits of business school students.  The results of 
this research suggest that personality does influ-
ence student perceptions of MC in a predictable 
manner.  Additional research is necessary to ex-
pand upon these findings.  Those investigations 
should include comparing the demographic 
traits of individuals and how those traits influ-
ence the three MC attitudes, as well as expanding 
the investigation to student populations beyond 
the business student sample.  
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IntRoductIon

“Teaching is the profession that teaches 
all other professions” (Anonymous).  

Teacher preparation programs train future pro-
fessionals.  In accordance with the NCATE 
Standard 1: Candidate Knowledge, Skills, and 
Professional Dispositions, this training must in-
clude participation in professional activities and 
professional development opportunities (2008).  
Sparks (2000) asserts that if educators are to suc-
cessfully enable students to meet high standards, 
everyone who influences the quality of learning 
must be engaged in continuous growth opportu-
nities.  Studies have found that teacher effective-
ness correlates positively with active participation 
in professional development (Parsad, Lewis, & 
Farris, 2001).  Engagement in professional activi-
ties, according to NCATE, should entail teacher 
reflection.  That is, teacher candidates should be 
able to analyze the experience, glean meaning 
from it, and critically discuss its impact on their 
future teaching.  In addition, NCATE Standards 
stress the quality of faculty who “model best pro-

fessional practices in scholarship, service, and 
teaching” (NCATE, 2008, p. 38).  

The conceptual framework of the College of 
Education at the University of Central Florida 
(UCF) is in line with the importance of reflective 
thinking and continuous learning  “to provide a 
high-quality education for its undergraduate stu-
dents, graduate students and others as reflective 
practitioners.”  The UCF Teaching Academy, 
which hosts the College of Education profession-
al development activities, also supports lifelong 
learning endeavors.  A small cadre of College of 
Education faculty, using the mission statement, 
research findings, and NCATE Standards as 
their foundation, designed a unique, creative, 
and collaborative professional development ini-
tiative for their students pursuing initial teacher 
certification.  Employing the premise that stu-
dents “learn best when the content is meaningful 
to them, they have opportunities for social inter-
action, and the environment supports learning” 
(Brandt, 2003, p. 12), faculty wanted to create a 
program that included continuous learning, nu-
merous opportunities for interaction, hands-on 
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application of concepts and strategies, reflection, 
and a mentoring component.  Faculty selected 
a name indicative of the participatory nature of 
the program and that would also quickly grab 
the students’ attention:  HAPPY (Having Ac-
tive Participation Prepares You) Hour.  The two 
main components of HAPPY Hour—weekly 
professional development workshops and an 
annual in-house conference (and its mentoring 
component)--will be detailed later in this article.   

lItERatuRE REvIEw

One of the most powerful components of HAP-
PY Hour is the extensive mentoring afforded 
students, both by faculty, and by their peers.  “A 
mentoring relationship involves volunteering, 
commitment, reciprocity, free services, and en-
compasses the concepts of development, commu-
nication and apprenticeship” (Cuerrier, 2004, p. 
2).  According to the Institute of Physics: 

Planned professional development is es-
sential for all practising [sic] profession-
als. The responsibility for development 
must always lie with the individual, but 
the active support of a wise colleague, 
in the role of a mentor, can be extremely 
helpful at particular times, for example 
in the early stages of a career or in times 
of change.   (p. 1)

Higher education students have been mentored 
for a variety of reasons. Mentoring provides a 
support system for at-risk, low-income students 
(Campbell & Campbell, 2007; Heirdsfield, 
Walker, Walsh, & Wilss, 2008; Ishiyama, 2007).  
Mentor-mentee relationships have also fostered 
the development of students into researchers 
(Bauer & Bennett, 2003; Boenninger & Hakim, 
1999; Nagda, Gregerman, Jonides, von Hippel & 
Lerner, 1998). Research has found a positive cor-
relation between quality mentoring and success-
ful academic and professional lives (Campbell 
and Campbell, 2007). 

Higher education mentoring programs can as-
sume different forms.  Davis (2008) discusses the 
use of faculty as mentors, while other researchers 
have studied the role of undergraduate students 
(Campbell & Campbell, 2000) and graduate stu-
dents ((Rose, 2003) as peer mentors.  Literature 

has delved into the mentor’s perspective of the 
mentoring relationship (Monte, 2001; Shultz, 
2001; Verkler, 2003; Verkler & Hutchinson, 
2002).  Ferrari (2004) instead focused on the 
mentee’s reactions to being mentored. 

Lopatto (2003) investigated student perceptions 
of a research experience at four undergraduate 
institutions.  When he analyzed the responses 
provided by the student participants, he catego-
rized them as either structure items or consider-
ation items.  Baba and Ace (1989) first identified 
these categories.    Structure items deal with ref-
erences to the structure of the research problem, 
while consideration items deal with the social 
and emotional needs of the student.  When the 
students listed the benefits they received from 
the research experience, they commented on the 
academic benefits rather than the personal con-
sideration benefits.  Ishiyama’s (2007) work with 
students at a state university in Missouri found 
that African American students were more likely 
than white students to pinpoint the personal 
consideration role of mentors in the Ronald E. 
McNair Program, a program designed to prepare 
first generation college students for entrance into 
a graduate school program leading to a doctorate.

Comparable to studies focusing on undergradu-
ate mentoring experiences, the current study 
looks at a unique mentoring structure that cen-
ters on the professional development of pre-ser-
vice teachers.   Of interest was the mentee per-
spective of the mentoring relationship in which 
they participated as they prepared to be present-
ers at an in-house conference.  

BackgRound InfoRmatIon

Although the College of Education provides 
students with copious opportunities (field expe-
riences, courses, and two internships) to train 
them for teaching, faculty in the Department 
of Teaching and Learning Principles at a large, 
metropolitan university in Central Florida felt 
that their professional preparation could be en-
hanced by additional professional development 
experiences.  Thus, HAPPY (Having Active Par-
ticipation Prepares You) Hour was born.  Faculty 
wanted a name that was fun, catchy, and that re-
flected the premise of the initiative.  As most of 
the workshops would be held in late afternoon, 

a down time for education classes, and a time 
slot in which a presentation room could be eas-
ily found, HAPPY Hour offered an alternative 
to the typical happy hour.  It was the vision of 
HAPPY Hour faculty that HAPPY Hour, be-
cause it supplemented the teacher preparation 
provided by coursework and field experiences, 
would enhance the quality of UCF’s initial 
teacher certification program, contributing to 
the development of highly credentialed teacher 
education graduates.  This program would also 
underscore the professional nature of their train-
ing.  In addition, HAPPY Hour embodies the 
college’s mission of developing reflective practi-
tioners who value lifelong learning. 

During the initial year, HAPPY Hour consist-
ed solely of monthly professional development 
workshops conducted by university faculty on 
subjects relevant to our undergraduate education 
students.  The workshops were 1-2 hours long and 
interactive, thus in line with the HAPPY Hour 
philosophy of “active participation.”  Each work-
shop instructor provided a workshop handout 
for attendees—a reference should they want to 
implement the workshop strategy in their future 
classrooms.    

HAPPY Hour workshops covered a wide range 
of topics.  One HAPPY Hour faculty member, 
an expert in reading, demonstrated literacy strat-
egies.  Another HAPPY Hour committee mem-
ber used the audience to demonstrate a myriad of 
ways to group students humorously.  In another 
workshop, students learned how to use and cre-
ate rubrics. Other high interest topics included 
interviewing for a teaching position, classroom 
management strategies, and tips for an effective 
parent-teacher conference.      

HAPPY Hour was so well-received by the Col-
lege of Education student population (Kelley & 
Verkler, 2007) that it expanded the following 
year from monthly to weekly workshops.   The 
greatest change made to HAPPY Hour was 
the development of the HAPPY Hour Student 
Showcase.  After HAPPY Hour’s initial year, the 
committee toyed with the idea of increasing the 
degree of student involvement in professional de-
velopment.  Since most undergraduate students 
and many in-service teachers are not often aware 
of professional conferences, the committee de-
cided to build upon HAPPY Hour workshops, 

affording students an opportunity to experience 
an in-house conference.  In addition, since educa-
tors participate in conferences both as audience 
members and as presenters, the students would 
be given this option as well.  

thE haPPY houR  
studEnt showcasE

Faculty designed the HAPPY Hour Student 
Showcase to simulate a professional conference, 
replete with a minimal conference registration 
fee, keynote speaker, teacher supply vendors, edu-
cational resources, door prizes, and refreshments.  
Partially funded by the university’s Teaching 
Academy, which “prepares and renews compe-
tent, caring and qualified professional educa-
tors . . . who create the future for students of all 
ages” (Teaching Academy home page), the show-
case provided students the opportunity to share 
course assignments, strategies or activities they 
learned during their courses, field experiences, or 
workshops in a conference format.  The highlight 
of the HAPPY Hour Student Showcase was the 
hands-on, experiential 30- to 45-minute student 
workshops exemplifying best practices in educa-
tion.

As in a professional conference, the conference 
included check-in at registration, an opening ses-
sion with a keynote speaker, several time slots of 
concurrent sessions, and a closing session with 
concluding remarks and a door prize drawing.  
During the closing session, the HAPPY Hour 
Committee chair recognized the student present-
ers with letters of appreciation and certificates 
of participation, formally acknowledging their 
performance amid rounds of applause from their 
peers.   The committee chair also recognized ad-
ditional contributors to the success of the Show-
case, such as the Teaching Academy, Technology 
Lab, and building facilities personnel, for their 
invaluable support.  

thE REcRuItmEnt of  
studEnt PREsEntERs

The HAPPY Hour Committee chair initiated 
the recruitment of HAPPY Hour Student Show-
case presenters by announcing the showcase at 
the College of Education’s first faculty meeting 
of the year, requesting the faculty to encour-
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age their students to consider presenting at the 
Showcase.  The need for faculty support was fur-
ther underscored by fliers and emails distributed 
to faculty.   

To familiarize students with the presentation 
process, the initial HAPPY Hour workshops 
of the new academic year provided an overview 
of the weekly HAPPY Hour workshops and 
the HAPPY Hour Student Showcase.  Once 
students’ enthusiasm grew, the workshops two 
weeks later specifically addressed the HAPPY 
Hour Student Showcase and the student presen-
tation process.  Students attending these work-
shops learned that presenting at the HAPPY 
Hour Student Showcase was the ultimate form 
of professional development in which students 
could augment their presentational skills, teach-
ing qualifications, and scholarship.   As stated 
in the HAPPY Hour Student Showcase Guide-
lines, students:  had a chance to share work of 
which they are very proud, learned the process of 
submitting proposals for a conference, were able 
to hone their presentation skills, participated in 
a real-life professional development experience, 
and gained experience that they could include in 
their professional resumes and resource files.  

During this workshop, the presenter delineated 
the steps involved in the presentation process (see 
Appendix A) to enable students to visualize the 
expectations, procedures, time and possible mon-
etary investment in the process.  Faculty distrib-
uted HAPPY Hour Student Showcase Guide-
lines to attendees.  Faculty mentors were also 
accessible by email, phone, and office appoint-
ments.  Faculty also designed HAPPY Hour 
workshops detailing how to write a conference 
proposal.  At these workshops, students were able 
to begin working with mentors, an opportunity 
much appreciated, as indicative in the following 
student comments on the evaluation form dis-
tributed at the end of the workshop: 

•	 It’s reassuring that I will always have help.  

•	 It’s comforting to me to know that we will 
always have assistance.

•	 Realizing that I won’t be alone has con-
vinced me to present.  

•	 I’m so glad I have a mentor to guide me 
since I’ve never done this before.  

haPPY houR woRkshoP on  
wRItIng a PREsEntatIon PRoPosal

During the HAPPY Hour workshop on writing 
a presentation proposal, mentoring relationships 
developed as faculty mentors worked one-on-one 
or in small groups (depending on the number 
of students in attendance).  After the presenter 
discussed the presentation process, she provided 
students with step-by-step instructions detailing 
how to write a creative title and a catchy and en-
ticing description.  In addition, programs from 
professional conferences were distributed to 
students to refer to as guides as they wrote their 
proposals.   

The bulk of the workshop entailed brainstorm-
ing appropriate presentation topics, ranging from 
class projects to strategies and activities students 
learned from educators during field experiences.  
Students and faculty mentors reflected on the 
interest level and feasibility of the topics.  This 
interaction spawned numerous ideas; these ideas 
became presentation topics.   

Subsequent to the brainstorming session, men-
tors assisted the students in completing the 
HAPPY Hour Student Showcase proposal form. 
The faculty-student discourse was very inter-
active as students asked for clarification of the 
meaning and purpose of some of the requested 
information. The most time-intensive part of 
writing the presentation proposal was clearly 
composing a workshop title and description that 
would capture showcase attendees’ attention.  To 
assist students in this process, HAPPY Hour 
Student Showcase Guidelines with samples of 
catchy titles and descriptions were given to the 
students.  In addition, faculty mentors shared 
titles of workshops they themselves implemented 
or attended.  They modeled the process by which 
they arrived at their particular workshop title.  
Student appreciation was apparent, as evidenced 
by their following comments:  

•	  These professors truly care about me being 
a successful presenter.  

•	  I feel that I will always have help and that 
I will never have to be alone. 

•	  It was so easy writing this proposal with 
the mentor’s assistance.  

•	 I was very surprised by how easy it was to 
write this proposal.  

•	 My mentor was such a big help! 

thE mEntoR-mEntEE RElatIonshIP

Approximately one month after students were 
taught how to write a presentation proposal, the 
submission date was announced.  Proposals were 
submitted to the HAPPY Hour Committee 
Chair.  Because the HAPPY Hour Committee 
strongly felt that all students submitting propos-
als should be given the opportunity to present, 
all proposals were accepted.  Shortly after the 
submission deadline transpired, the chair noti-
fied students of the acceptance of their proposal 
and assigned the mentor they requested on the 
proposal form.  The chair then contacted the 
mentors, giving them the names and contact in-
formation of their mentees. She requested that 
they begin the one-on-one mentor relationship 
by making the initial contact with their mentees.  
The development of this mentor-mentee relation-
ship was significant, for as mentors provided pro-
fessional guidance, they could facilitate the suc-
cess of their protégés (Boreen, Johnson, Niday & 
Potts, 2000). 

Once mentors and mentees were matched, the 
formal mentoring relationship began.  For about 
two months, the mentor-mentee pairs collabo-
rated in the development of presentations that 
would be both engaging and professional.  The 
collaboration assumed the form of phone calls, 
emails, face-to-face exchanges in faculty offices, 
coffee shops, and the like.  Mentors assisted in 
numerous ways:  offering ideas of activities to 
enhance the interactive nature of the workshops; 
providing instructional materials so that stu-
dents would not have to invest their own money; 
reviewing instructional materials and presenta-
tion handouts for clarity; making copies of these 
handouts; suggesting appropriate strategies and 
delivery modes that would make the workshops 
engaging and enjoyable; and observing students 
practice their presentations while offering con-
structive feedback.    

A mid-January workshop designed specifically 
for the student presenters to practice their pre-
sentations in front of other student presenters 
and mentors provided additional assistance.   At 

this workshop, students received additional tips 
to polish up their presentations in preparation 
for the showcase at the end of January.  Finally, 
the week prior to the showcase, technology lab 
staff made themselves available to any student 
presenter who needed instruction in the correct 
use of technology.  

The positive comments below indicated that the 
student presenters appreciated the assistance af-
forded them at the mid-January workshop:  

•	 Being able to get feedback from my peers 
and other faculty gave me some fresh 
perspectives.

•	 Learning about other tips in presenting 
helped to finalize my preparation.

•	 I’m going to be so good at the Showcase.  
I’m doing all of the things the professor 
said I need to do.  That’s good to know.   

•	 This workshop helped me know that I am 
so ready for the Showcase!  Bring it on!  

hIghlIghtIng thE  
studEnt PREsEntERs at thE  

haPPY houR studEnt showcasE

In addition to the conference bags given to all 
attendees, the showcase student presenters were 
given gift bags with new books, instructional 
materials, and other goodies to emphasize the 
integral part they played at the Showcase.  Their 
name badges, because of their different color, dis-
tinguished them from the rest of the participants.  
A student assistant helped them distribute and 
collect handouts and materials, and a technology 
assistant helped them to correct any technologi-
cal problems.  They were commended during the 
closing session, during which they received let-
ters of appreciation, certificates of participation, 
and applause from the faculty and student popu-
lation attending the Showcase.  

studEnt PREsEntER fEEdBack 

An evaluation form completed at the showcase 
and a focus group held two weeks later provided 
the HAPPY Hour Committee with valuable 
feedback from the student presenters. Via the 
evaluation form, students were asked to describe 
their overall experience concerning various as-
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pects of the showcase, including the mentoring 
experience.  Their positive feelings concerning 
the mentoring process were reflected in the fol-
lowing comments from the evaluation form:  

•	 I had a lot of fun presenting and my men-
tor was great.  She had a lot of great ideas 
that I did not think of.  

•	 My mentor was able to see talents within 
me that I didn’t know existed.  

•	 My mentor was at my presentation; it was 
so reassuring to have her there.  I knew she 
was rooting for me.  

•	 My mentor helped me anticipate things I 
would not have anticipated.  That helped 
my presentation run smoother.  

•	 The thing I liked the best about the Show-
case was the amount of support I received 
from HAPPY Hour faculty.  

•	 What a great experience!  My mentor was 
always available to help me – she even 
came to my house to help me with my 
presentation!  

•	 My mentor always let me know what to 
expect; I felt comfortable in my ability to 
do a good job.  There were no surprises.  

•	 My mentor was excellent and I know that 
it was her motivation that helped me to see 
that I was capable of presenting.  

Since only eight presenters completed the pre-
senter evaluation form, the committee conduct-
ed a focus group a few weeks later, during which 
they hoped to probe deeper into the student 
presenters’ experiences.  HAPPY Hour faculty 
running the focus group solicited from the 15 at-
tendees their perspective on the quality of men-
toring they received.  The most representative 
comments follow:  

•	 My mentor was always there for me when 
I asked for advice.  I believe she was able to 
help me as much as her schedule would al-
low.  I was very pleased with the assistance 
I received.  

•	 My friend and I prepared on our own, but 
there was a great amount of support com-
ing from the HAPPY Hour Committee.  

•	 There was more than enough assistance 
available.  

•	 Wonderful!  My mentor was easily acces-
sible and always willing to help!  

•	 Mentoring was just right!  

•	 Mentoring went very well.  She was there 
for me when I needed her.  

•	 I always knew whom to contact when I 
had a question.  This was great!  

•	 Yes, more than enough ideas from my 
mentor.  

•	 I was well supported throughout the 
process, communicated with regularly, I 
knew how to get help if I needed it…it was 
a terrific experience.

•	 When I become a teacher, I want to make 
sure I don’t just rely on myself to get the 
job done.  I need to remember that the 
road goes both ways.  I need to seek out 
those suggestions from my colleagues, ad-
ministrators, and even students.  Teaching 
isn’t just about what the teacher can offer.  
After having the experience of my very 
first teacher conference, I know there is so 
much more I need to know about teach-
ing, and events like this make me want to 
learn more.  

futuRE confIguRatIons of thE 
haPPY houR mEntoR-mEntEE  

RElatIonshIPs

Since the initial HAPPY Hour Student Show-
case, the number of experienced student pre-
senters has grown and will continue to grow. 
These students become invaluable resources from 
which to draw mentors who have the expertise 
of the showcase presentation process.  HAPPY 
Hour faculty intend to invite these former pre-
senters to the HAPPY Hour workshops designed 
to recruit and mentor future student presenters.  
Oftentimes, experienced students can serve as 
very effective mentors to their peers, as found by 
Boreen, Johnson, Niday, & Potts (2000):  “The 
finest, most rewarding professional development 
generally occurs by working and learning along-
side trusted colleagues” (p. 99).  Thus, instead of 
or in addition to faculty mentors, former student 

presenters can become a powerful entity in the 
mentor-mentee relationship.  

In congruence with UCF’s goal of becoming 
“America’s leading partnership university,” the 
HAPPY Hour Committee plans to recruit 
more K-12 educators to share their expertise at 
HAPPY Hour workshops.  As the service area 
schools become more familiar with this profes-
sional development initiative, K-12 educators 
will be invited to serve as mentors to our student 
presenters.  They can bring yet another source of 
expertise and experience to the mentor-mentee 
relationship.  

conclusIon

Teacher education programs train profession-
als who recognize the value of life-long learning.   
To create and maintain a pool of highly quali-
fied teachers, Holloway (2003) asserts that we 
must afford them support throughout their ca-
reers.  “Mentoring is a learning approach highly 
suited to supporting a person in each stage of 
his professional development” (Cuerrier, 2002-
2003, p. 4).  As HAPPY Hour branches out into 
regional campuses and the service area school 
districts, and as partnerships with national edu-
cational businesses (such as publishers) develop, 
the mentor-mentee relationships of this unique 
professional development initiative will grow 
increasingly more diverse, complex, and perhaps 
fascinating.     
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APPENDIX A

Steps in presenting at the  
HAPPY Hour Student Showcase 

1. Brainstorm a topic you would like to 
share during a 30- to 45-minute presen-
tation. Choose a topic that can be suc-
cessfully taught within 30 to 45 minutes.  
Ideas for topics are as follows (the list is 
not all inclusive):

a. Class assignments/projects of which 
you are proud

b. Strategies you have learned in other 
workshops, such as HAPPY Hour 
workshops

c. Strategies you have learned from 
your professors, supervising teacher, 
other teachers, peers, professional 
journal articles, etc.   

d. Strategies you successfully used dur-
ing your internship

e. Expertise you have in a particular 
area (e.g., American Sign Language)

f. Internship experiences (how to 
remain sane during your internship, 
etc.)

g. Strategies you developed yourself 
that you have successfully used.  

2. Decide if you would like to present 
alone or with others.   

3. Complete the HAPPY Hour Student 
Showcase Presentation Proposal  Form 
online at the HAPPY Hour Website.   
Once you access this website,   click 
on the link on the left-hand side of the 

screen to fill out 
and complete 
your presentation 
proposal on-line.  
Check out how 
easy it is to com-
plete and submit 
a proposal.  

4. If you need assistance in writing a 
presentation proposal, you can refer to 
the HAPPY Hour Student Showcase 
Guidelines (also available on-line when 
you work on filling out the proposal 
form).  You can also make an appoint-
ment to meet with any of the members 
of the HAPPY Hour Committee, or any 
other interested faculty, and they will 
be happy to work with you one-on-one.  
Contact information for members of 
the HAPPY Hour Committee can be 
found on the HAPPY Hour Website.  
Look for “Committee Members.”  We 
can help you brainstorm topics, develop 
creative titles and workshop descrip-
tions, etc.  If you want to email us your 
ideas for our feedback, please do so.  We 
are here to ensure your success.   You will 
never need to work in isolation.   

5. Submit your proposal online by the 
deadline date.    

6. You will be notified by email of the 
acceptance of your proposal three days 
after the deadline date. 

7. Once your proposal has been accepted, 
you will need to confirm your intent to 
present.  Your confirmation indicates 
your commitment to present.  Unless an 
emergency occurs, you will be expected 
to present at the HAPPY Hour Student 
Showcase.  Dropping out for other rea-
sons demonstrates a lack of professional-
ism on your part.  

8. If you indicated on your presentation 
proposal that you would like to have a 
faculty mentor, one will be assigned to 
you.  If you have a preference for a fac-
ulty mentor, provide their name on the 
proposal.  Your mentor will be available 
to you to assist you in any way with your 
presentation.  Do not hesitate to contact 
them.  

9. Try to attend the HAPPY Hour work-
shop in January designed specifically for 
student presenters. You will be given tips 
for how to implement your presentation.  
You can practice implementing your 
presentation and receive constructive 
feedback from HAPPY Hour Commit-
tee members.  If you cannot attend this 
workshop, you may meet with any other 
HAPPY Hour Committee members, or 
your faculty mentor for assistance.  

10. Between the acceptance of your pro-
posal and the HAPPY Hour Student 
Showcase, plan your presentation as you 
would plan a lesson that you will teach.  
Develop your activities and choose your 
instructional materials.  Do a trial run to 
gauge the timing of your activities.  
 
A recommended sequence of activities is 
as follows:  

a. Anticipatory set – Something at 
the beginning of your presentation 
to grab the audience’s attention.  
Example:  Who has heard of (your 
topic/concept/activity)?  What do 
you know about it?  You might even 
do a K-W-L chart.  

b. Teach your concept.

c. If possible, have the students do 
group work applying your concept/
topic/activity.  Try to interactively 
engage them during most of your 
presentation.

d. Have groups share what they created.  

e. Ask the audience if they can think 
of any other ways they might apply 
your concept/topic/activity in their 
future classrooms.  This makes what 
they learned relevant to their own 
professional lives.  

f. Provide time for questions from the 
audience.  
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g. Your presentation is over!

11. You will need to create a handout about 
your topic for audience distribution. If 
you are teaching a strategy, for example, 
you would need to include the steps 
for implementing the strategy.  (Think 
of the types of handouts you receive at 
HAPPY Hour workshops.)   You want 
the audience to be able to duplicate in 
the future what you’ve taught them in 
your presentation.  The HAPPY Hour 
Committee will be happy to make copies 
of your handout for your presentation 
as long as you submit your handout at 
least a week before the Showcase.  (See 
a sample presentation handout under 
“Sample Showcase Handout” under the 
“Student Showcase” link.)   

12. The final step is presenting at the 
HAPPY Hour Student Showcase.

P R E S E N TAT I O N  P R O P O S A L  F O R M

PRESENTER INFORMATION (Presenter submitting proposal will be the contact person.
Name: 
Home Phone: (           ) Cell Phone: (           )
E-mail Address:
Mailing Address:

Time needed for presentation:  o  30 minutes    o  45 minutes
If time slots are available, would you want to present more than once?   o Yes   o     No

Names and addresses (email and snail mail addresses) of co-presenters (If applicable)

PRESENTATION INFORMATION 
Title of Presentation:
Use the space below to briefly describe your presentation. This description will appear in the 
HAPPY Hour Student Showcase program. It will serve to advertise your presentation, so it 
must accurately reflect the content of your presentation.  Please limit your description to 75 
words or less. Please proof your description before submitting your proposal.  

Audience (Check all that apply): o Early Childhood o Elementary o Secondary o K-12               

Room Configuration: o Computer Lab o Theatre-style o Tables & chairs for group work 

E q u i p m e n t 
Needed: o Overhead Projector o Chart & Markers o VCR/DVD o CD Player 

o Internet Access      o Computer and Projector         o Document Camera        o None

Is there a possibility that you might use a video clip?    o  Yes  o  No               

appEndix b 
happy hour StudEnt ShowcaSE
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IntRoductIon

what is social Responsibility?

What constitutes social responsibility is still 
pondered upon by academicians in accounting, 
as well as other business areas.  The topic of social 
responsibility is hotly debated (Rose, 2007).  The 
lack of clear understanding in terms of what con-
stitutes the construct of social responsibility has 
led to multiple definitions.  For the purposes of 
this study, we define social responsibility as vol-
untary actions undertaken by a firm that aim to 
improve society. 

The concept of Social Responsibility has gained 
a lot of attention in academia, as well as the 
workplace.  From annual reports, annual general 
meetings, audit committees, external stakeholder 
statements, and corporate board meetings, it can 
be gauged that there is a tremendous interest in 
the topic of social responsibility.  Corporate so-
cial responsibility is increasingly on the agenda of 
corporate boards and audit committees (Perrini, 
2006).  

The popularity of social responsibility in the 
business world can be gauged from the fact that 
social responsibility activities are a big part of 
the annual general meetings.  Many corpora-
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tions have started including social responsibility 
reports as a part of their commitment towards 
their stakeholders.  In recent years there has been 
a noteworthy degree of administrative reform, 
in terms of the increasing number of companies 
proclaiming their social responsibility creden-
tials.  A recent study of 36 annual meetings of 
Swedish companies showed that the majority of 
the questions at the annual meetings dealt with 
social responsibility aspects of business, rather 
than the financial aspects of business.  (Car-
rington & Johed, 2007).  

The past few years have also seen a substantial 
growth in the area of social responsibility report-
ing.  Many companies now have separate reports 
addressing social responsibility (Gray, 2006).  
Many accounting firms too have joined the band-
wagon and now offer services catering to the new 
“socially responsible market.”  Most of the big ac-
counting firms are offering services to help firms 
measure, audit, or report social responsibility.  To 
give an idea of the popularity of social reporting, 
Norman and MacDonald (2004) reported that 
in February, 2004 there were 52,400 web pages 
that mentioned “triple bottom line”—a form of 
social reporting.  In July, 2005 the same search 
resulted in 166,000 hits (Pava, 2007).  In April, 
2011 we repeated that same search on Google 
and obtained 452,000 hits.  

Epistemological foundations of  
business education

Business school pedagogy has recently come un-
der criticism from many academicians.  Many 
business scholars have questioned the practi-
cal relevance of business education for business 
practices (Roca, 2008).  This criticism primar-
ily targets the fact that business education is not 
applied.  That is, a business degree – apart from 
the getting the credential – does not prove to 
be helpful to students when they enter the real 
world.  This point has been vociferously argued 
by authors like Donaldson (2002) and Mintz-
berg (2004).  

In fact, many authors have gone as far as to assert 
that business education does not impart learning 
to business students, but is a contract between 
the academicians and the students, which en-
ables the students to receive certification.  This 

certification in terms of a degree enables them to 
find better jobs.  Thus, the relevance according to 
these authors of a business education is primarily 
in imparting a certification rather than impart-
ing real world knowledge.  This view is ascribed 
to by Gray (2006) who indicates that business 
school faculty impart and students accept virtu-
ally useless knowledge just to get the required 
certification.  Gray (2001) concurs by indicat-
ing that imparting useless knowledge results in 
a win-win situation for both the academicians, 
in that they get a controlled encounter and the 
students get qualification and certification.  Busi-
ness schools and accounting departments have 
traditionally cited the twin reasons of practical 
relevance of business education and academic rig-
or of the coursework to increase their enrollment 
and attract new students.  To question these two 
foundational reasons entails nothing less than a 
headlong challenge of business education and its 
epistemological foundations (Roca, 2008).

theory building

Apart from the above mentioned problems with 
accounting and business education, there are also 
some inherent problems in theory grounding for 
accounting and business research.   Increasingly 
scholars have been getting away from “practical” 
research, and focusing on narrow specialized 
academic research.  While it is commendable to 
build “rigorous” theory in an academic setting, 
it is of prime importance to have this knowledge 
disseminated to industry.  That is, it is of prime 
importance for theory to have some practical ap-
plication.  Handfield & Melnyk (1998) indicate 
that to be successful at theory building, research 
must be accepted and applied by other research-
ers and managers in the field.  

Thus, on one hand we have almost an explosion 
in the popularity of social responsibility in busi-
ness in the real world, and on the other hand 
we also seem to have a substantial increase in 
academic papers addressing social responsibility.  
Yet, there are very few academic papers that ad-
dress social responsibility at a student level.  In 
fact, apart from the study done by Ibrahim et al., 
(2008), there seems to be a lack of interest on the 
part of academicians to address social responsi-
bility at the student level.  In terms of coursework 
too, there is very little done – particularly in the 

accounting field—to address social responsibility 
issues in business.

Rationale for this paper

This paper tries to fill this gap in the literature 
by developing and validating a scale to measure 
student social responsibility.  The paper also uses 
the rich theoretical underpinning of Aristotelian 
Nicomachean Ethics to construct a pedagogi-
cal model of social responsibility.  Aristotelian 
Nicomachean Ethics has a rich tradition of im-
parting useful knowledge to students for over 
two millenniums.  Using this model, the dynam-
ic concept of social responsibility can be given a 
strong theoretical background and can be taught 
in a “rigorous fashion” in an academic setting.

The authors posit that since social responsibility 
is very relevant in today’s business world, social 
responsibility should be actively taught to ac-
counting students.  By teaching an area that has 
a lot of applied value, we in the accounting de-
partments would be fulfilling the first epistemo-
logical foundation of business education.  Also, 
if social responsibility can be taught in an “aca-
demically rigorous fashion,” then it fulfills the 
second epistemological foundation of business 
education stated by Roca (2008).

  lItERatuRE REvIEw 

aristotle’s nicomachean Ethics

The ten books written by Aristotle in approxi-
mately 350 B.C. form what is known as Nicoma-
chean Ethics (Ta Ethika).  These ten books are 
based on Aristotle’s lectures in the Lyceum and 
deal primarily with virtue and moral character.  
Authors differ in their opinion on whether these 
ten books were edited by Aristotle’s son, Nich-
omachus or dedicated to him.  Thus, Nicoma-
chean Ethics looks at an individual’s social re-
sponsibility towards herself/himself and towards 
society and state (Aristotle, 1941).

Many contemporary philosophers and business 
scholars have discussed and applied the prin-
ciples of Aristotelian Virtue Ethics (Anscombe, 
1997; MacIntyre, 2007, Perrett and Patterson, 
1991).  While Aristotle is regarded as one of the 
founding authors of virtue ethics, other authors 

have had an impact in the development of the 
theory of virtue ethics.  Maori ethics is virtue 
ethics (Perrett and Patterson, 1991).  

For the purposes of this paper, we concentrate 
specifically on Aristotle’s Nicomachean Ethics. 
While Nicomachean Ethics is very similar to 
virtue ethics, it is different in the fact that while 
virtue ethics encompasses the ethical theories of 
Aristotle and other philosophers, Nicomachean 
Ethics looks solely at the ethics of Aristotle as 
elucidated by him in his books on Nicomachean 
Ethics.  Thus, practically speaking Nicomachean 
Ethics can be considered as a more narrow focus 
and as a subset of virtue ethics (Vermigli, 2006).  
Also, from a pedagogical standpoint it may be 
more interesting to look at the framework of 
Nicomachean Ethics as given by Aristotle, as op-
posed to the erudite expositions on virtue ethics 
by scholars like Anscombe (1997) and MacIntyre 
(2007).

Aristotle’s books on Nicomachean Ethics (Ar-
istotle, 1941; Aristotle, 1998) provide a rich 
framework to evaluate the vibrant concept of so-
cial responsibility.  Aristotle describes the range 
of actions as a determinant of the overall moral 
responsibility of the agent.  The agents in our 
study are accounting students.  From Nicoma-
chean Ethics, we can gather that the habitual de-
cisions taken by an accounting student (that is, 
the agent) will throw light on the ethical values 
of that student.  By describing what the agent 
regularly does, one can describe the overall mor-
al character of that particular agent.   Aristotle 
stresses very often in his books that virtue cannot 
be learned just as a theoretical knowledge, but 
has to be practiced and cultivated as a habit.  

In Nicomachean Ethics, Aristotle (1941) focuses 
upon how a person should be.  That is, Nicoma-
chean Ethics emphasizes the person responsible 
for the behavior (the agent), as opposed to the 
behavior itself (the act).  Aristotelian ethics is 
fundamentally concerned with what sort of per-
son one ought to be and what sort of life a person 
ought to live.  It is not as concerned with what 
sort of acts a person ought to perform (Perrett 
and Patterson, 1991).

http://users.cba.siu.edu/melcher/ba574/documents/Handfield-ScientificTheory.pdf
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the case for teaching  
aristotle’s nicomachean Ethics

Ethical difficulties arise when the responsibili-
ties as a student towards society are pushed aside 
in favor of the end goal of getting a degree, or 
having a controlled encounter (Roca, 2008).  By 
concentrating on the sole purpose of getting a 
diploma, the students’ ethical decision making 
ability and consequently their responsibility to-
wards society suffers.  Translated to our scenario, 
if we as accounting faculty just train students to 
get their credentials, and not concentrate upon 
their development in terms of social responsibil-
ity, or the practical relevance of our accounting 
degrees, then even though our students may do 
well for some time – they could very well face (or 
cause) undesirable consequences like Enron and 
Arthur Andersen.

Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics is particularly 
relevant in today’s recessionary economies.  For 
example, the ability to objectively discern the 
finer points in a particular situation is the crux 
of the Aristotelian virtue of practical wisdom.  
Aristotle (1998) defines practical wisdom as the 
ability to identify salient features of complex, 
practical situations.  Thus, from an accounting 
faculty standpoint, the first time an accounting 
graduate gets a job in a public accounting firm, 
and she/he notices a discrepancy in expense re-
porting, should she/he say something about this 
issue?  What if the discrepancy is very minor?  
What if reporting the discrepancy may result in 
the responsible employee suffering heavy conse-
quences?  Having a good understanding of the 
virtue of practical wisdom, or prudence as expli-
cated by Aristotle may enable the accounting stu-
dent to make a “practically wise” decision in such 
a complex real world scenario.  Thus, the innate 
knack of acting “wisely” in a complex situation, 
as can be readily seen in businesses today may be 
addressable by Aristotelian Nicomachean Eth-
ics.  The mark of a prudent man is his ability to 
act appropriately in situations where there is no 
clear-cut answer (Aristotle, 1998).

Aristotle describes ethical virtue as “hexis.”  
Hexis is the tendency, or the disposition induced 
by our habits.  Thus, according to Nicomachean 
Ethics, a person’s character is based on his ha-
bitual actions.  Thus, if these habitual actions 
are virtuous, then the person happily chooses 

the right thing to do in a complex situation.  Ar-
istotle (1941) indicates that people with good 
moral character act in the right way (virtuously) 
because they are accustomed to taking the right 
actions, and they do these right actions happily.  

Another key virtue put forward by Aristotle 
is moral imagination.  Moral imagination has 
been defined by Aristotle (1941) as the ability to 
grasp the moral quality of an act, when a person 
is involved in a deliberation having moral impli-
cations.  As accounting faculty, we can appreci-
ate the benefits of our students gaining a deep 
insight in the virtue called moral imagination.  
The virtue of moral imagination is particularly 
relevant in today’s domestic business environ-
ment due to the ethical implications of scandals 
like Enron and Arthur Andersen.  With such 
scenarios plaguing the business world, it would 
behoove us to give our accounting students expo-
sure to millennia old, rich ethical theories – such 
as Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics.

the virtues listed in  
aristotle’s nicomachean Ethics

Aristotle believed that the virtues were from fol-
lowing a “golden mean.”  For example, courage is 
a virtue that is extolled by Aristotle, and courage 
falls between the excess of rashness, and the de-
fect of cowardice.  Similarly, modesty – another 
virtue enumerated by Aristotle – falls between 
the excess of shamelessness and the defect of 
bashfulness.  Looking at Aristotle’s Nicomache-
an Ethics (Aristotle, 1941) from a lens of a vir-
tues approach and pedagogy gives us the follow-
ing 10 virtues (Figure 1).  The authors posit that 
these 10 virtues can provide a rich framework for 
teaching a model of social responsibility in the 
classroom: 

1. Courage:  Is the quality that falls be-
tween the two extremes of rashness and 
cowardice.

2. Temperance:  Is moderation and bal-
ance.  It is the quality that falls between 
the two extremes of self-indulgence and 
insensibility.

3. Magnanimity:  The munificent quality 
that falls between the extreme qualities 
of prodigality and meanness.

4. Pride:  The quality of pride is having 
honor.  It falls between the extremes of 
empty conceit and arrogance, and false 
humility.  

5. Patience:  The quality of patience or sabr 
has been extolled by almost every spiri-
tual tradition.  Aristotle too admired 
this quality.  He asserted that the golden 
quality of patience falls between the 
extremes of irascibility and the lack of 
spirit (lackluster attitude). 

6. Truthfulness:  This quality falls between 
the extreme qualities of boastfulness and 
understatement.

7. Amicability:  This is the ability of a 
person to be witty and charming.  This 
quality is a golden mean between the 
extremes of buffoonery and boorishness.

8. Friendliness:  The ability to be gracious 
and sociable falls between the extreme 
qualities of sycophancy and bad-tem-
peredness. 

9. Modesty:  This is a rare quality wedged 
between the garish extremes of brazen-
ness and shamelessness, and undue shy-
ness, or bashfulness.

10. Justice:  Is righteous indignation that 
falls between the extreme qualities of 
reciprocity (an eye for an eye) and law-
lessness (anarchy).

teaching nicomachean Ethics

Aristotle (1941) espouses both intellectual and 
moral virtues.  According to Aristotle, intellec-
tual virtues can be taught in the classroom, while 
moral virtues can be taught in the classroom, 
but also have to be “practiced.”  We learn from 
exercising the virtues. That is, the way that we ha-
bitually behave in our dealings with other people 
makes us just or unjust from a moral standpoint 

FigurE 1 
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(Hodkinson, 2008).  Thus in Nicomachean Eth-
ics, we find that virtues can be cultivated by us-
ing them in our day-to-day activities.  Aristotle 
(1941) explains that activities that are virtuous in 
nature, and done habitually, will produce dispo-
sitions that are also virtuous in nature (Aristotle, 
1941).  Therefore, if we can give students a deep 
appreciation of Aristotle’s Nicomachean Ethics, 
and then encourage them to practice what they 
have learned (in terms of socially responsible ac-
tivities), then we may be able to better prepare 
our students to face the realities of today’s job 
markets.

The advantage of teaching accounting students 
Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics is to use an an-
cient source of moral wisdom to show students 
how to do good for themselves and others.  Thus, 
the framework of Aristotelian Nicomachean 
Ethics will help in pointing out to the account-
ing students how socially responsible activities 
can be a benefit for them, as well as the society 
around them. The function of Nicomachean 
Ethics is to teach us how to live well and prosper 
while doing that (Perrett and Patterson, 1991).  
Also, cultivating virtue helps us in bringing 
about human good (Aristotle, 1941).

From a pedagogical standpoint, the virtues that 
are listed in The Nicomachean Ethics provide a 
clear and concise guideline in terms of framing 
student social responsibility.  While the broader 
field of virtue ethics and other ethical theories 
may also offer guidelines, the advantage of The 
Nicomachean Ethics is its succinctness and its 
amazing relevance to today’s times. Again, this is 
particularly noteworthy in terms of encouraging 
student social responsibility.  Aristotle stresses 
social responsibility many times in his book on 
Nicomachean Ethics.  

mEthodologY

As a part of a larger study of student social re-
sponsibility and student spirituality, data was col-
lected from undergraduate accounting students 
at a small Midwestern university.  A question-
naire was given to 57 undergraduate accounting 
students during class time.  This questionnaire 
had three parts.  The first part looked at 21 com-
ponents of social responsibility drawn from the 
literature.  These definitions/components were 

whetted with an expert panel of 11 students.  The 
second part of the questionnaire looked at ques-
tions that would help theory building efforts and 
give ideas for future research.  The third part of 
the questionnaire consisted of demographics.  
The first sample of students consisted of account-
ing majors, who had completed at least 63 credit 
hours before they could take this course.  All 
these accounting students were advised about the 
importance of the study and the confidentiality 
of their responses.  

A second questionnaire was administered to a 
group of 71 undergraduate humanities students.  
These students were mostly freshmen and soph-
omores.  Again, all the students were advised 
about the confidentiality of their responses and 
the importance of the survey for the research.  
All the students were given 10 points in terms of 
extra credit (1% of the total grade).  Participation 
in the survey was voluntary.  Also, for both the 
questionnaires the response rate was 100%.

Finally, a third questionnaire was administered 
to members of the MBA Association at a small 
state-funded Midwestern school.  A question-
naire was given to 25 graduate students.  Yet 
again, all these graduate students were advised 
about the anonymous nature of their responses, 
the confidentiality of their responses, and the im-
portance of the survey for the research.  For the 
MBA Association members, there were no aca-
demic incentives given (extra credit, etc.).  Par-
ticipation for these students too was voluntary.  
The response rate for this questionnaire was also 
100%.

Student Social Responsibility (SSR) was mea-
sured with an instrument which was based on the 
social responsibility scale developed by Aupperle 
et al. (1985).  The psychometric properties of this 
scale have been addressed before by Ibrahim et 
al., (2008).  Aupperle’s scale has 10 items, which 
are used in a forced choice format.  Aupperle’s 
scale was originally created for Social Responsi-
bility Orientation (SRO) for practitioners.  Ibra-
him et al., (2008) adapted this scale to measure 
the SRO of students and compare it to the SRO  
of business managers.  We used Aupperle’s scale, 
but modified it to our requirements by using a 7 
point Likert scale.  The scale used the “Strongly 
agree” and “Strongly disagree” formats.  

The rationale for using a second questionnaire is 
to improve the confidence in the validity of our 
findings.  Again, the order of the questions on 
the instrument was randomly assigned and three 
different versions were produced.  As opposed 
to replication techniques suggested by Lykken, 
1968, we used the approach used by Kolodinsky 
et al. (2008) in using “constructive replication.”  
In this method, some of the measurement instru-
mentation is varied in the second sample group.  
Using this conservative approach, if the results 
between the two samples converge, this may pro-
vide for more confidence in the validity of the 
findings (Kolodinsky, 2008).  

samples and measures

A total of 57 accounting students responded to 
the first questionnaire (n = 57).  The age range 
for all the students was from 20 to 39 (100%).  
Also, 21 students had volunteered in non-profit 
organizations in the past.  The full-time work ex-
perience of these students ranged from 0 years to 
11 years.  Of the 57 responses we received 7 sur-
veys were incomplete, and so had to be discarded.  
This reduced the final sample to 50 (n = 50).  The 
sample comprised of 40% female students.  

On the second sample, a total of 71 humani-
ties students responded to the Student Social 
Responsibility Scale (SSRS).  Again, participa-
tion in the survey was voluntary.  In the second 

sample, we found 6 incomplete surveys and these 
were discarded.  This decreased the final sample 
to 65 (n = 65) for the second sample.  On the 
third sample, we had a total of 25 graduate busi-
ness students respond to our SSRS instrument.  
In the third sample, we found 1 survey not com-
pleted correctly and this was discarded.  This 
brought the final sample down to 24 (n = 24) 
responses.  

The SSRS is a 21 item instrument which was de-
signed to measure student social responsibility 
(Table 1).  As mentioned previously, it is a Likert 
scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 7 = 
strongly agree.  Items for this scale were adapted 
from Aupperle’s instrument (1985).  Representa-
tive items for this scale included “Social respon-
sibility is taking part in philanthropic activities,” 
and “Social responsibility is taking part in civic 
duties like voting.”  The internal consistency reli-
ability for this instrument was 0.83 (Cronbach’s 
alpha).  

statistical methods

Apart from conducting the appropriate testing 
and checking of the data set, two different statis-
tical methods were used to analyze the data set.  
These methods were factor analysis and Scree 
Plot.  For the purposes of the pedagogical model, 
these are deemed sufficient.

tablE 1 
attributES oF Social rESponSibility

Attribute Description Attribute Description
PHIL Philanthropic activities BOLD Being bold to voice opinions 
VOTE Participating in civic activities BAD Staying away from bad things
HELP Helping people BRAVE To do the right things
MOD Having moderation in life RACE Promoting race equality

FRIEND Cultivating friendships on-
campus and off-campus HAPPY Promoting happiness for others 

and oneself
ADOPT Adopting homeless animals GENTLE Being gentle with other people
KIND Being kind to all living beings EDUC Getting a solid education
BETTER Improving oneself AMIABLE Being good natured 
BLOOD Taking part in blood drives FAIR Being fair and even handed 
RESPECT Acting respectfully VIRTUE Cultivating good habits 

TEMP Being balanced between school 
work and social activities
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Factor analysis was used to determine the un-
derlying dimensions of the construct of student 
social responsibility.  To check the validity of the 
dimensions suggested by the factor analysis, a 
Scree Plot was used.  Thus, while the factor analy-
sis looks at factors above certain eigenvalues, the 
Scree Plot plots all the eigenvalues from increas-
ing to decreasing order.  

REsults

The results of the Factor Analysis are shown in 
Table 2.  The 21 definitional attributes of social 
responsibility included in the SSR question-
naire load on seven distinct dimensions (Figure 
2).  These underlying attributes each have clean 
loadings on one single factor.  An exception to 
this was VIRTUE, which loaded .7571 on fac-
tor 1 (Virtue) and .5534 on factor 3 (Balance).  
Another exception was BOLD, which loaded on 
.7332 on factor 6 (Valiant) and .4751 on factor 

4 (Fairness).  A final exception to having strong 
loadings on one unique factor was AMIABLE 
which loaded .4915 on factor 2 (Friendship) and 
.4225 on factor 1 (Virtue).

The results of the Scree Plot coincide with the 
results of the factor analysis.  The “side of the 
mountain” on the Scree Plot consisted of 7 fac-
tors.  The “debris” on the Scree Plot began at 
factor 8 (Figure 3). The basic rule of thumb on 
the Scree plot is to stop the analysis at the point 
where the mountain ends (the sharp vertical drop 
in the graph changes) and the debris begins.  The 
debris is the error, which begins when the graph 
starts to take a distinctly horizontal shape.  

dIscussIon

The study attempts to address four tasks.  The first 
task consists of developing and validating an in-
strument that measures the construct of Student 

tablE 2 
Factor analySiS oF thE attributES

Attribute Factor 1 
Virtue

Factor 2 
Friendship

Factor 3 
Balance 

Factor 4 
Fairness

Factor 5 
Generosity

Factor 6 
Valiant

Factor 7 
Learning

PHIL .7910 .1777 .0874 -.0921 .0976 -.1227 .0035
VIRTUE .7571 -.1665 .5534 .0954 -.1289 .1435 -.0123
KIND .7433 .0780 .1235 .1879 .1560 .0261 .2346
BETTER .6401 .0450 .1324 .2367 .0698 .1971 .0638
BAD .6311 -.1568 -.1987 .2111 .1959 -.0543 .1239
VOTE .0656 .7710 -.1245 .1033 -.0003 .1886 .1677
FRIEND .1709 .6877 .0989 .2143 .1210 .0657 -.1510
RESPECT .1110 .6211 -.0265 .3116 -.0173 .1657 .1286
GENTLE -.1310 .5113 .0567 -.0341 .1402 -.0231 .1809
AMIABLE .4225 .4915 .1098 .2187 -.1455 .0409 .2013
MOD .1745 -.1091 .7041 -.1056 -.2231 .0772 .1318
HAPPY .0567 .2121 .5389 -.0284 .1463 -.1312 .1765
TEMP .0671 .0987 .4257 .2055 .0978 .0020 -.0090
FAIR -.0031 .0761 .2034 .7991 -.0033 .1186 -.1087
RACE .1222 -.0841 -.1290 .6731 -.1698 -.1310 -.0211
ADOPT .2106 .0245 .2702 .2334 .7614 -.0163 .0333
BLOOD .0117 .2134 .0231 -.1024 .7520 .1777 .1440
BOLD -.1212 -.2110 -.0444 .4751 -.0222 .7332 .2360
BRAVE .1201 .1389 .0781 .0123 .2100 .7118 .0204
EDUC .1543 .0156 -.2134 .1377 .0118 .2120 .7798
HELP .0897 -.0567 .2322 .0675 -.0899 -.0090 .4217

FigurE 2 
thE undErlying diMEnSionS oF StudEnt Social rESponSibility (SSr)
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Social Responsibility.  The second task is to glean 
out the primary underlying dimensions (factors) 
of student social responsibility.  The third is to 
enumerate the virtues elucidated by Aristotle in 
The Nicomachean Ethics.  The fourth and final 
task is to create a simple, practical model that can 
be used to teach accounting students the concept 
of social responsibility and the theory behind it 
(Nicomachean Ethics).

The authors addressed the first task by first flesh-
ing out definitions of social responsibility from 
the literature.  These definitions were then taken 
to an expert panel.  After two iterations, a basic 
questionnaire was constructed.  This question-
naire was administered as a pilot study to a group 
of undergraduate accounting students.  After 
getting responses from the pilot study, the ques-
tionnaire was further improved and then finally 
administered to our current sample, which con-
sisted of three different groups of students.  The 
instrument was based on Aupperle’s work (1985).  
This instrument has been thoroughly investigat-
ed from the standpoint of reliability and valid-
ity.  Our instrument was also thoroughly tested 
for validity and reliability.  The authors also paid 
particular attention to the problems presented by 
common method bias.

Factor analysis was conducted on the responses to 
the questionnaire.  Results of the factor analysis 
(confirmed by the Scree Plot) suggest seven dif-
ferent factors (Figure 3), which we have named in 
the following way:

1. VIRTUE 
This dimension consists of the following 
attributes of social responsibility: PHIL 
(Taking part in philanthropic activities), 
VIRTUE (Cultivating good habits and 
being vituous), KIND (Being kind to 
all living beings), BETTER (Improving 
oneself ), and BAD (Staying away from 
bad and corrupt things).  The dimension 
of VIRTUE seems to have a very good 
fit with the Nicomachean virtues of 
“Modesty,” and “Patience.”

2. FRIENDSHIP 
This dimension is comprised of the fol-
lowing attributes of social responsibility: 
VOTE (Participating in civic activities), 

FRIEND (Cultivating friendships on-
campus and off-campus), RESPECT 
(Acting respectfully and courteously to-
wards others), GENTLE (Being gentle 
with other people), and AMIABLE (Be-
ing good natured and sociable with oth-
ers). The dimension of FRIENDSHIP 
seems to have a very good fit with the 
Nicomachean virtue of “Friendliness.”

3. BALANCE 
This dimension is made up of the 
following attributes of social responsi-
bility: MOD (Having moderation in 
life), HAPPY (Promoting happiness 
for others and oneself ), and TEMP 
(Being balanced between school work 
and social activities).  The dimension of 
BALANCE may have a good fit with 
the virtue of “Temperance.”

4. FAIRNESS 
This dimension is comprised of the fol-
lowing attributes of social responsibility: 
FAIR (Being fair and even handed with 
everyone) and RACE (Promoting race 
equality).  The dimension of FAIRNESS 
seems to have an optimum fit with the 
virtue of “Justice.”

5. GENEROSITY 
This dimension is comprised of the fol-
lowing attributes of social responsibility: 
ADOPT (Adopting homeless animals), 
and BLOOD (Taking part in blood 
drives).  The dimension of GENEROS-
ITY seems to have an optimum fit with 
the virtue of “Magnanimity.”

6. VALIANT 
This dimension is made up of the follow-
ing attributes of social responsibility: 
BOLD (Being bold to voice opinions 
about wrong things happening in 
society) and BRAVE (Being gutsy to 
do the right things).  This dimension of 
VALIANT seems to have a good fit with 
the virtue of “Courage.” 

7. LEARNING 
This dimension is composed of the fol-
lowing attributes of social responsibility: 
EDUC (Getting a solid education) and 
HELP (Helping people in the com-
munity, friends, and other students). 
The dimension of LEARNING seems 
to have a somewhat decent fit with the 
virtue of “Patience.”

the seven step Process for teaching 
social Responsibility to  
accounting students

Explicating the model of social responsibility to 
accounting students by synthesizing the ten key 
virtues of Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics and 
the seven factors suggested by the factor analy-
sis and the Scree Plot should be relatively simple.  
Given below is the Seven Step Process (Figure 4) 
that elucidates this synthesis from a pedagogical 
standpoint:

Step 1: Who was Aristotle?

Teaching students about the life and times of Ar-
istotle should be fun and reflective.  Understand-
ing Aristotle in the context of time is essential.  
Explaining to the students the relationship that 
Aristotle had with Plato and Socrates may be 
beneficial.  Giving an interesting life history of 
Aristotle at this point will be extremely helpful.

Step 2: What is Nicomachean Ethics?

Explain the philosophy of Aristotle to the stu-
dents, particularly concentrating on Nicomache-
an Ethics.  Differentiate between various ethical 
theories like utilitarianism, deontology, virtue 
ethics, etc.  Emphasize the simplicity of using 
Aristotle’s Nicomachean Ethics, particularly as it 
refers to the pedagogical model.  

Step 3: Expounding on the  
Nicomachean Virtues

What are the virtues eulogized by Aristotle that 
are particularly relevant in today’s academic and 

FigurE 4 
thE SEvEn StEp procESS oF tEaching StudEntS thE pEdagogical ModEl
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business worlds?  What are Aristotle’s views on 
these virtues?  

Step 4: Elucidating the Student Social 
Responsibility (SSR) model

Explain the steps involved in developing and val-
idating the Student Social Responsibility Scale 
(SSRS).  It would be helpful to give a broad over-
view of factor analysis and the Scree Plot.

Step 5: Tying it all together

Explain how the virtues listed by Aristotle in 
Nicomachean Ethics help provide an underly-
ing framework for student social responsibility.  
Draw the connection between student social re-
sponsibilities being the applied side (practice) of 
the underlying theory (Aristotelian Nicomache-
an Ethics).   Emphasize the fact that apart from 
studying virtues, they need to be cultivated as a 
disposition (Aristotle, 1941).

Step 6-1: Selecting real world business 
cases that show the blatant violations 
of Nicomachean Ethics and Social 
Responsibility 

Selecting cases which show the real world viola-
tions of Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics (un-
derlying theory with the ten virtues) and social 
responsibility is extremely important. Care 
should be taken to select contemporary cases, 
which fit in the student coursework.  For exam-
ple, in an accounting course, one of the authors 
used the recent cases of CPA firms in China.  
Faculty in other disciplines can use real world 
cases that target their areas. 

Step 6-2: Selecting real world business 
cases that show the proactive application 
of Nicomachean Ethics and Social 
Responsibility

Selecting appropriate and interesting business 
cases that show real world application of the 
model (both theory and application) should also 
be used.  This step will provide accounting stu-
dents with real world proof that these virtues 
can be practiced successfully.  One of the authors 
used the cases of socially responsible companies 

like Black Taj, Hobby Lobby, Tom’s of Maine, 
etc.  Again, these business cases can be targeted 
according to the area of study.

Step 7:  Service learning and the practical 
side of Aristotelian Nicomachean Ethics

Service-learning is a method of teaching that 
combines academic classroom curriculum with 
meaningful service.   This is particularly true in 
terms of establishing sustainable university and 
community partnerships (Kenworthy-U’Ren, 
2008).  From the pedagogical model standpoint, 
service learning may help accounting students ac-
tually initiate social responsibility activities as a 
part of the classroom.  Hence, from an Aristote-
lian standpoint, service learning is a way to prac-
tice the virtues expounded by Aristotle.

There are various other ways that service learn-
ing can be brought into the classroom as a part of 
this Seven Step Process (Figure 5).  For example, 
accounting faculty can invite representatives of 
local not-for-profit organizations (on-campus 
and off-campus) to the classroom.  This may be 
a very useful way to give easily accessible social 
responsibility opportunities to accounting stu-
dents.  This may also increase the likelihood of 
accounting students actually performing social 
responsibility initiatives.

Finally, the practical side of Aristotelian Nicom-
achean Ethics and Student Social Responsibility 
need to be constantly stressed.  Accounting fac-
ulty need to stress the win-win characteristics of 
student social responsibility.  For example, volun-
teering at the local Salvation Army may give the 
accounting student valuable business experience, 
and a differentiating point on her/his resume.  
At the same time, the volunteering may help the 
student cultivate virtue.  Finally, volunteering by 
the accounting student at the Salvation Army 
may also cause direct benefit to the community.  

conclusIon

Social responsibility is seen as a key topic in con-
ducting business in today’s world.  Unfortunate-
ly, even with the immense popularity of the topic 
it is not taught in any detail in most accounting 
programs.  As discussed earlier, one of the epis-
temological foundations of business education 

FigurE 5 
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is that the course work should have practical ap-
plications.  By not teaching social responsibility 
in any depth in accounting programs, we as aca-
demic scholars are eroding the very foundations 
of business education.  This paper was written 
with the express purpose of addressing this issue.

A related issue deals with pedagogical approach-
es behind the topic of social responsibility.  With 
the attention given to the topic of social responsi-
bility in academic journals, the question arises as 
to why do so few papers address the pedagogical 
issues surrounding social responsibility?  Again, 
the thrust of this paper is to create a theoreti-
cal foundation for teaching social responsibility 
in academia.  For this purpose, we developed a 
pedagogical model using Aristotelian Nicoma-
chean Ethics.  Giving social responsibility such a 
rich underlying framework, will help ground the 
topic in sound theory. 

One of the limitations of using an ethical theory 
in pedagogy is the very ingrained characteristic 
of that theory.  Thus, while Nicomachean Eth-
ics is not “perfect,” or without limitations, it can 
at least provide a framework which academicians 
can use to encourage student social responsibili-
ty.  At the very least, using this framework should 
sensitize accounting students to social responsi-
bility issues.  A second limitation of the study is 
that the study uses a convenient sample.  Since we 
are building a pedagogical model and develop-
ing and validating a scale, generalizability of the 
findings may not be such a critical issue.  A final 
limitation of this paper lies in the fact that the 
sample is not longitudinal.  Having a longitudi-
nal sample would have been of tremendous help 
in addressing issues of common method bias.

Can socially responsible activities in accounting 
students be encouraged by teaching other ethi-
cal theories like Virtue Ethics, Kantian Ethics, 
Maori Ethics, and Gandhian Ethics?  The an-
swer is an emphatic “Yes.”  Aristotle’s Nicoma-
chean Ethics is just one ethical theory that the 
authors feel may encourage accounting student 
social responsibility, but other theories can also 
accomplish the same goal.  Thus, in terms of fu-
ture research, one would hope to see some other 
theoretical approaches taken to this key concept 
of student social responsibility.  Finally, the end 
goal in terms of epistemology of accounting edu-
cation should be not only to provide academical-

ly rigorous education, but to also provide applica-
bility particularly in terms of socially responsible 
behavior and real world needs.
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IntRoductIon

In light of the financial crisis of 2008, the invest-
ment scandals involving Ponzi schemes and the 
opening of UBS Bank’s accounts of U. S. tax-
payers to the IRS for tax evasion investigations 
(Mollenkamp, Saunders, and Perez 2009), teach-
ing undergraduates about the ethical dimensions 
of business has taken on even greater importance 
in financial education. In our investment and 
portfolio courses we not only teach business eth-
ics, but we also expose our students to the impact 
of ethical decisions on managing investment 
portfolios. Ethics is commonly described as a set 
of moral principles and values. Most individuals 
identify these moral principles as a lofty philo-
sophical ideal, which has little significance in 
our daily lives. In recent years, we have seen what 
an ethical scandal can do to a business, in gen-
eral, and investments (e.g., mutual funds, hedge 
funds, and subprime lending) in particular [see 
Jennings (2005) for a detailed discussion of the 
ethics scandals in portfolio management and 

corporate governance]. As a result of these recent 
scandals, companies and financial institutions 
are exploring different ways to communicate the 
importance of ethical behavior to their employ-
ees. Many colleges have begun to incorporate 
ethics classes into their curriculum, at least part-
ly at the encouragement of the AACSB Interna-
tional. In 2004, the AACSB Ethics Task Force 
recommended a “renaissance” in ethics education 
(AACSB 2004); and since then, the agency has 
modified its standards to require ethics coverage 
in business programs. 

Additionally, many business enterprises are re-
quiring their employees to complete annual eth-
ics review courses. The Institute of Management 
and Administration (Security Director’s Report, 
2006) showed that 70% of employees go through 
an ethics training program, which is 13% more 
than in 2003. It also revealed that 2% of em-
ployees say that they observed at least one act of 
misconduct in the year 2004, a percentage that is 
higher than 2003. Tyler (2005) noted that com-
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panies are moving away from the notion of having 
‘ethics programs’ and focusing on encouraging a 
culture committed to ethics and compliance, in 
which ethics is part of almost every business dis-
cussion. In a newspaper article (The Tennessean, 
March 23, 2007, p. 10A) it was reported that 
churches are beginning to address issues of work-
place ethics with their congregations. As the cur-
rent literature on the subject reveals, companies 
have been attempting to resolve ethical issues 
in evolving methods. Business educators need 
to seize the opportunity to teach their students 
the importance of moral/ethical behavior in class 
using a variety of methods which apply business 
practical applications.

The focus of our paper is on the pedagogical 
process of integrating ethics subjects and cov-
erage in an undergraduate course in portfolio 
management. Our course is unique in that our 
students actively manage an equity portfolio as 
part of a regional competition sponsored by a 
Federal agency. As part of their professional re-
sponsibilities in the course, students are required 
to manage the client’s funds prudently and must 
act as fiduciaries. Because of the nature of the 
management of an equity portfolio, students are 
more directly exposed to the potential conflicts 
of interest that portfolio managers face in per-
forming their professional activities. Within this 
background of current ethical issues in invest-
ment management and corporate governance, 
our paper will describe and discuss the topics and 
methods that have been used to integrate ethics 
into our portfolio management program. It is of 
greater lasting benefit to students to apply ethi-
cal decision-making in their daily trading and 
security analysis activities than simply reading or 
hearing about the same situation in a case study 
or in the news media. It makes sense to encour-
age students to behave properly through practical 
corporate culture as opposed to a ‘Code of Ethics’ 
which students may learn in an ethics course. As 
educators of future financial managers, we need 
to encourage our students to become ethical cor-
porate managers, business leaders, and responsi-
ble citizens. Our course attempts to foster ethical 
behavior through involvement and dialogue. 

natuRE of thE  
EQuItY PoRtfolIo  

managEmEnt couRsE

Our senior level portfolio management course 
primarily involves the active management of an 
equity portfolio created by the Tennessee Val-
ley Authority (TVA), the federal corporation 
charged with the responsibility to provide elec-
tric power to the Tennessee valley area which 
includes not only Tennessee, but also southern 
Kentucky, western North Carolina, northern 
Mississippi and northern Alabama. The TVA 
program is unique in several respects. It was 
established in the spring of 1998 as a program 
to bring not only the opportunity to manage a 
stock portfolio to undergraduate and graduate 
students (primarily finance majors, but not ex-
clusively), but also to simulate the client/profes-
sional portfolio manager environment. The pro-
gram is also a competitive program that includes 
24 public and private universities in the service 
area of the TVA and provides annual financial 
awards for those programs which earn returns 
superior to S&P 500 indices. 

The basic charge for each school is to out-perform 
the selected benchmark (which can be the S&P 
500 Composite Index, the S&P Barra Value In-
dex, or the S&P Barra Growth Index) by actively 
managing the portfolio. In managing the portfo-
lio, the student managers are required to achieve 
their task subject to a set of contractually agreed-
upon client guidelines. The guidelines (to be dis-
cussed in more detail in the next section) specify 
the responsibilities of the university managers, 
the transactions that are permitted, and those 
that are prohibited. The guidelines mirror those 
the TVA requires its professional money manag-
ers to follow, with a bit of slack to provide the stu-
dent managers more flexibility in managing the 
TVA’s funds. All trades are executed through a 
broker specified by the TVA, and program and 
transactions are monitored by a trustee selected 
by the TVA. For reasons of compliance, the 
trustee monitors transactions and orders execut-
ed through the broker to ensure that the guide-
lines are followed and that there is an audit trail 
for the TVA to follow, if necessary. The TVA 
produces a monthly newsletter distributed to all 
the participating universities which contains a 
discussion of the recent historical performance 

of the portfolios and provides a coded ranking 
of the individual participants performance for 
the current month and year-to-date. The an-
nual monetary awards, given to universities that 
earn returns superior to their chosen index, are 
based on the spread between an individual port-
folio’s return for a calendar year and that of the 
benchmark followed by the participant. In es-
tablishing the program, each university agreed 
to and signed a management contract with the 
guidelines as part of the contractual obligation 
assumed by each participating university. Those 
who are permitted to execute trades are formally 
specified by the university managers (which are 
typically the faculty in charge of the individual 
programs), and only those individuals can ex-
ecute trades through the broker. 

The TVA left the specific management and 
course organization to each university to struc-
ture as they deem appropriate to their finance 
curricula. Program structures vary among the 
universities; most schools have formal courses, 
as we do, where students enroll for credit. Our 
course is an undergraduate level course usually 
taken by students in their senior year. Other uni-
versities only allow graduate students to manage 
their portfolio for credit, while others have used 
student organizations to manage the portfolio or 
have both undergraduate and graduate students 
manage their portfolios. We currently have stu-
dents involved as an senior managers and men-
tors to our class who have been actively involved 
in the TVA program since enrolling in our un-
dergraduate course. The student managers, after 
an introductory period to cover the client re-
quirements, course requirements, review funda-
mental and technical analysis, make all the in-
vestment decisions for the portfolio. The course 
work also includes writing an economic forecast 
for the classes’ management period, creating an 
investment policy statement the class will fol-
low during the semester, analyzing individual 
sectors, and making final oral presentation be-
fore our advisory board composed of finance 
faculty and investment professionals. As part of 
the TVA’s requirements, the funds are to be allo-
cated among the ten S&P 500 sectors following 
the allocations specified in the S&P index. The 
class is divided into teams of two with each team 
responsible for managing and rebalancing stocks 
within their chosen sectors. In essence, each stu-

dent and team becomes a sector analyst, security 
analyst, and portfolio manager for one semester.

EthIcs IssuEs In  
PoRtfolIo managEmEnt

In addition to the students’ responsibility to ac-
tively management our TVA portfolio to achieve 
superior returns to the S&P 500 Index, we cover 
topics in investment ethics and corporate gover-
nance. Our portfolio management course lends 
itself to coverage of material that has been em-
phasized by the AACSB ethics task force in 
regard to the emphasis on ethics and corporate 
government. Dobson (2008) discusses the levels 
of ethics integration into the finance curriculum. 
Our approach coincides with Dobson’s first level 
of integration wherein the instructor makes stu-
dents aware of the ethical dimensions of finan-
cial decision-making and that these are issues 
that deserve serious thought by the students. We 
agree with Dr. Dobson that the students are not 
programmed to act in certain ways, that behavior 
and decisions can be affected by thinking about 
the issues. Unlike higher levels of ethics integra-
tion, we strive to make students aware of the is-
sues they will confront as professional portfolio 
and financial managers. 

The specific issues that we address related to the 
work of our student managers are:

•	 Managers’ fiduciary and prudent investor 
responsibilities to the client,

•	 Financial reporting, management of cor-
porate earnings, and corporate account-
ing,

•	 Personal trading, churning, insider trad-
ing, and conflicts of interest for sell side 
analysts,

•	 Corporate governance issues such as 
executive compensation, roles of board of 
directors particularly related to the finan-
cial goal of stock price maximization,

•	 Sarbanes-Oxley Act (along with the recent 
Dodd-Franks regulation and SEC inves-
tigations) and implications for portfolio 
managers. This topic was specifically cited 
in the task force report as an important 
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area that should be covered in business 
courses [AACSB (2004)].

The following sections of the paper discuss the 
issues stated above as they are related to and/or 
presented in our portfolio management course 
along with resources that can be used as part of 
the coverage of corporate governance and ethics 
in portfolio management. We have included a 
bibliography of published resources related to the 
topics discussed in our paper as a reference source 
for faculty.

Role of fiduciaries in  
Portfolio management

One of the first topics covered in the portfolio 
management course is a discussion of the client 
guidelines set by the TVA to be followed by the 
student-managers. There are two main purposes 
in this discussion. The first, and obvious one, is 
that the managers’ actions are constrained by the 
guidelines established by the TVA. All of the 
funds managed by professional money managers 
hired by the TVA are required to follow a strict 
set of investment rules; the TVA runs the pro-
gram to simulate, as closely as possible, the en-
vironment in which their hired managers must 
work. The second purpose is to emphasize the 
ethical and legal responsibilities of our student-
managers. They are told that by enrolling in the 
course, they have been “hired” by the TVA to 
manage the portfolio in the best interest of the 
client and are responsible for prudently manag-
ing the funds while achieving the primary finan-
cial objective of the client, to earn returns that 
are greater than that of the S&P 500 Composite 
Index. There are approximately twelve, the most 
relevant are:

•	 Cash cannot exceed 5% of the current 
value of the portfolio,

•	 There must be at least 20 stocks in the 
portfolio to maintain adequate diversifica-
tion,

•	 The funds are to be allocated following the 
sector weightings in the S&P index,

•	 At purchase, no single stock issue can 
exceed 5% of the value of the portfolio, 
and if, after purchase, the value of a stock 
position exceeds 8% of the portfolio value 

the position must be reduced to 8% or less 
(managers must rebalance the portfolio),

•	 No more than 35% of the portfolio can be 
in small capitalization stocks (with market 
caps below $1 billion),

•	 The minimum market cap at purchase is 
$250 million,

•	 Stocks of foreign companies (traded on 
U.S. exchanges) can comprise 15% of the 
portfolio value,

•	 The managers cannot short sell, trade op-
tions, nor are they allowed to buy stocks 
on margin.

One of the first lessons to be learned by the stu-
dents is that they must manage the client’s port-
folio as specified, even though the managers 
would prefer to do otherwise. Duska (2006) de-
scribes six rules to prevent ethical collapses that 
apply to our student managers as they perform 
their duties.

•	 Constrain self-interest.

•	 Don’t be greedy.

•	 Keep worthwhile goals in mind.

•	 Avoid hubris.

•	 Don’t misplace loyalty.

•	 Be professional.

The students are taught that even though they 
would enjoy trading options, short selling in 
declining markets, or to sell much of the portfo-
lio and invest in cash during corrections or bear 
markets, it is their professional duty to abide by 
the guidelines which prohibit these activities. In 
essence, our students are taught to practice the 
six rules advocated by Duska. As Duska (2006) 
states, even Adam Smith felt that individuals 
may pursue their self interest as long as the ac-
tions do not violate standards of justice (ethical 
behavior). There are limits to the pursuit of profit 
which are not only laws governing actions for the 
benefit of society, but also ethical standards that 
an individual should follow. 

The TVA monitors university manager adher-
ence to the guidelines, particularly the limited 
amount of cash allowed, limiting the exposure 
to individual stocks, adequate diversification, 

and emphasis on large cap stocks. Violations 
of the guidelines, particularly the investment 
in cash, rebalancing the portfolio, diversifica-
tion, and minimum market cap, are monitored 
by the TVA; and any offending university will 
be notified with instructions to correct the vio-
lation immediately. Unlike the TVA’s profes-
sional managers, our student-managers will not 
be fired. However, a university that violates the 
guidelines may be prohibited from receiving an 
award for beating the index or may be suspended 
from the program. From our experience we have 
found that our students take their fiduciary re-
sponsibilities seriously and follow the guidelines. 
Our students have consistently acted profession-
ally and in the best interests of their client in 
spite of the temptation of managing the portfo-
lio to earn financial awards given by the TVA to 
the universities for beating the SP& 500 Index 
and the ego-boosting personal recognition in the 
news media for leading the competitive rankings 
in the Investment Challenge program.

financial Reporting,  
managing Earnings, and  
corporate accounting

Jennings (2005) describes the corporate account-
ing, security analyst, and investment banking 
abuses that occurred in the 1990’s stock market 
in detail. One of the first assignments given in our 
course is for the managers to conduct an analy-
sis of each company whose stock is contained in 
the portfolio. This includes the usual review of 
financial statements with emphasis on the cash 
flow statement, evaluation of the financial ratios, 
evaluating footnotes to statements, and esti-
mates of the stocks’ intrinsic value. The students 
are also required to compare and contrast the 
annual report with the SEC filings, particularly 
the most recent 10Q statements and 10K state-
ments, for possible anomalies. That is, each man-
ager is responsible for conducting due diligence 
into the quality of the management, evaluation 
of the risks of the business, and any current or 
potential legal liabilities the firm may have. The 
students are specifically instructed to review the 
SEC filings for possible government investiga-
tions, lawsuits, and changes in the nature of the 
firm’s business and industry that might adversely 
affect the fundamentals of the companies in the 

portfolio. As an example, in the late 1990’s stu-
dents discovered that one of our companies had 
significant legal liabilities sufficient to question 
the quality of management and the ability of the 
firm to survive. The firm was a subprime lender 
whose stock was purchased the previous semes-
ter which had numerous lawsuits pending by 
customers and SEC investigations. Within a few 
months the firm filed for bankruptcy protection 
and was subsequently liquidated. Our manag-
ers decided several months before the company 
entered bankruptcy to sell the stock. This action 
was a lesson in legal compliance.

Our student-managers also learn to examine fi-
nancial statements to help detect whether compa-
nies are manipulating their financial statements 
to create the image of a well-functioning and 
profitable organization (that is, window dress-
ing). Shillit and Perler (2010) provides an exten-
sive coverage of the potential abuses companies 
have engaged in and an investor should look for in 
performing his or her due diligence in evaluating 
stocks. It is the professional responsibility of our 
student-managers to perform adequate checks 
on financial statements to evaluate the quality of 
the earnings. The managers should not assume 
that because the statements appear publicly that 
companies are completely forthright in their ac-
counting for assets and liabilities. Emphasis is 
placed on reading the SEC filings rather than 
just the annual reports, evaluating the informa-
tion in the footnotes to the financial statements 
for activities hidden from the statements, and 
checking the balance sheet and income statement 
for traces of abuse. Students are also taught that 
the cash flow statements are subject to manipu-
lation, and to evaluate the accounts within the 
cash flow statements for signs of manipulation to 
enhance corporate cash flow (Kim and Nofsinger 
[2007] provide insight into the auditing function 
and manipulation of statements with examples 
of Enron and Rite Aid accounting abuses). Each 
manager needs to determine whether a stock is 
worth buying if there are signs of financial state-
ment “management”; that is, would they want to 
own stock in such a company even if it is a “good 
stock” that has a recent history or potential to 
out-perform the market and earn a high return 
for the portfolio? In these cases, our students will 
have to apply their own ethical standards to the 
investment decision. In a couple of cases, we have 
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had students who recommended sales of stocks 
of companies that have had significant legal lia-
bilities. In one situation, a student recommended 
to the class that a stock should be sold because 
he did not approve the marketing strategy of the 
firm. He had convinced his fellow managers to 
sell the stock because of the firm’s tactics even 
though the return would have been above aver-
age at least. This action also brings up a difficult-
to-resolve issue: should a manager exert influence 
on the decision to purchase or sell stocks based 
on his or her ethical preferences even though the 
client does not state any preference about socially 
responsible investing? For our students, there 
may be times when one of their colleagues wants 
to sell a stock because one of the managers did 
not care for the way the company marketed its 
products even though the client did not impose 
any such constraints on investing and the group 
may not dislike the actions of the company.

Personal trading and Insider trading

Boatright (1999) discusses the ethical aspects of 
personal trading by professional managers, that 
they “wear two hats”: they are hired to manage 
the funds of a client and they can trade for their 
own account. Students need to recognize that, as 
professionals, their personal trading has the po-
tential for abuse and that effort should be made 
to prevent a conflict of interest. Our students 
maintain watch lists of stocks for the portfolio, 
and those with the resources to have trading 
accounts will invest in stocks they deem valu-
able. If they are willing to devote their money to 
particular stocks, they might feel the stocks are 
worthwhile for the TVA portfolio. However, 
they need to be aware that as a practicing money 
manager, there is a fine line between “eating one’s 
own cooking” and promoting a stock in which 
the manager has a personal financial stake. The 
manager may profit from the purchase; however, 
it might turn out that the client does not profit 
as much or might suffer a loss depending on the 
price paid. The students are made aware of the 
SEC conflict of interest rules regarding the pub-
lic promotion of stocks purchased personally or 
as part of a fund run by a money manager. This 
is illustrated by examples of mutual fund manag-
ers, during the 1990s, who were investigated by 
the SEC for promoting the purchase of stocks 

on television that were in their portfolios. More 
recently the students have been exposed to the 
Berkshire Hathaway story regarding David Sokol 
stock purchase and recommendation. The events 
related to Warren Buffett’s handling of the af-
fair lead to much discussion about the nature of 
Mr. Sokol’s actions, Mr. Buffett’s public actions, 
statements and ethical standards, and the pos-
sible conflict of interest in recommending a stock 
when a manager has a personal financial stake in 
the corporation. The Sokol affair was an excellent 
and timely example of alleged violation of corpo-
rate ethical standards and public reaction to the 
events.

One factor our students usually consider in mak-
ing their investment decisions is the amount of 
insider trading (most often, insider buying) that 
occurs on a specific stock. Active insider buying 
can be taken as an indicator of whether a stock, 
with good fundamentals, is worth buying. How-
ever, active insider trading may also be a warning 
sign if insiders are selling while the stock price is 
rising substantially or if the stock is being pro-
moted by investment firms or the company ex-
ecutives. Using Enron and security analyst cases 
of the 1990’s (Jennings 2005) can illustrate the 
abuses that have occurred and the need to be 
vigilant in looking at the actions of management 
and investment houses for stocks with rapidly 
rising prices. The Jennings article also points out 
the conflicts of interest between security analysts 
and the investment banking activities of Wall 
Street firms (Jennings 2005) and the need to be 
skeptical about the recommendations made by 
security analysts, particularly the sell side ana-
lysts working for firms with investment banking 
operations. In our class, we point out the differ-
ences in recommendations made by specific ana-
lysts and the mean recommendations that appear 
on financial web sites. The mean recommenda-
tions or distribution of recommendations found 
on web sites may be more objective than that of 
an analyst on a web site or one working for an 
investment house since these are aggregations of 
the opinions of all the analysts following a stock. 
Students are made aware of the possible inaccu-
racies and self-serving promotions that occur on 
discussion boards. The student-managers need to 
be highly skeptical of the information that exists 
on discussion boards, and that people promot-
ing stocks for their own financial benefit may be 

disseminating misinformation to boost the price 
of stocks and not assume that the information is 
necessarily an accurate reflection of the quality of 
the company or the stock.

corporate governance Issues

Our course affords an opportunity to discuss cor-
porate governance issues such as the role of direc-
tors, executive incentive programs, and corporate 
takeover theories. The intent is to make students 
aware of the moral hazard issues facing corporate 
financial managers, the urge to act in his or her 
best interest rather than that of the principal. As 
stated by Dobson (2008), this moral hazard is-
sue is at the heart of the behavioral dilemma in 
finance. Even though the term may not be used, 
students should be made aware of the moral haz-
ard (that is, agency problem) facing corporate ex-
ecutives and the impacts on stockholders (both 
positive and negative) caused by managers who 
make decisions in their best interests. As an ex-
ample, several stocks held in our portfolio over 
the years have been subject to strategic takeovers 
or leveraged buyouts by private equity firms. 
Though our portfolio has been the beneficiary of 
such actions which have generated cash for rein-
vestment or stocks that have appreciated in price, 
the actions of the acquiring firms may have been 
taken for the benefit of the executives (receiving 
large compensation packages) or large stockhold-
ers (who receive large capital gains) rather than 
for the benefit of the greater number of public 
stockholders. These situations create an oppor-
tunity to discuss the ethical aspects of the deci-
sions. Questions that we address in class are:

•	 Do publicly traded firms that actively ac-
quire other companies produce high stock 
returns? 

•	 Do mergers and acquisitions generally 
work to the benefit of public shareholders? 

These issues have been discussed in empirical 
studies and are discussed by Kim and Nofsinger 
(2007). This topic affords the opportunity to 
discuss the effectiveness of mergers, the tactics 
used by acquiring firms, the impact on stock 
prices (especially in recent years with the high 
level of leverage buyouts that have reduced the 
supply of stocks), the impact of recent issues such 
as the subprime mortgage securities (involving 

ethical issues of lending to individuals who have 
limited resources to service their debt with vari-
able mortgage rates) and liquidity problems due 
to credit markets freezing up. Worth discussing 
are the personal motivations and actions of firms, 
either as corporate acquirers or as private equity 
firms, in taking over another company. Student-
managers should ask themselves: is a takeover of 
a company truly motivated by strategic reasons 
or by the ego of the executives involved? If the 
acquisition does not make sense for strategic rea-
sons, the probability of success can be very low; 
and it may not be worthwhile to continue own-
ing that stock. 

corporate governance:  
sarbanes-oxley act

In their accounting text, Kieso, Weygandt and 
Warfield (2005) stated that markets, free enter-
prise, and competition determine whether a busi-
ness is to be successful and thrive. This fact cou-
pled with market forces places substantial burden 
on the accounting profession to measure perfor-
mance accurately and fairly on a timely basis, so 
that the managers and companies are able to at-
tract investment capital. Brigham and Ehrhardt 
(2005) stated that management’s primary objec-
tive should be stockholder wealth maximization. 
While financial managers are trying to maximize 
stockholder wealth and make a profit, does not a 
corporation also have a responsibility to society? 

For the past two decades it seems that increas-
ingly people are responding positively to the 
corporate social responsibility. This change in 
society’s attitude has led to the growth of socially 
responsible investing. Shank, et. al. (2005) de-
fines socially responsible investing as an invest-
ment in which investors choose only to invest 
in assets, funds or stocks that mimic their core 
values. These investors tend to only choose stocks 
or mutual funds of companies that are environ-
mentally conscious, do not perform tests using 
animals, are not associated with alcohol, tobacco 
or gambling, assist low income families, and so 
forth.

Due to public pressure and governmental re-
sponse the financial profession has come under 
great scrutiny as a result of corporate misdeeds 
in their financial reporting processes. Some of 
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the most notable negative corporate misdeeds in 
financial reporting and accounting practices are 
those of Enron, Tyco, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac 
and Country Wide Financial. 

Since these acts have come to light, several poli-
cies and regulations have been placed into effect 
to alleviate possible misrepresentation and fraud 
in the future. This puts a strain on the corporate 
leadership, but it is extremely beneficial to the 
company’s stakeholders. Perhaps the most nota-
ble action taken as a result of these scandals was 
the passing of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
Corporations as well as other business profes-
sionals, such as accountants, are held in strict 
compliance of this Act to make sure a debacle 
such as Enron does not happen again.

Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) legislation was first intro-
duced as a response to the declining investor con-
fidence as a result of the high number of corpo-
rate and accounting scandals. The major thrust 
on the United States Congress began and on 
July 30, 2002, President George W. Bush (2002) 
signed into law the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act was sponsored by Senator 
Paul Sarbanes and Representative Mike Oxley of 
Maryland with the support of the Security and 
Exchange Commission (SEC). 

SOX has eleven titles that encompass the Pub-
lic Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(PCAOB), auditor independence, corporate re-
sponsibility, enhanced financial disclosures, ana-
lyst conflicts of interest, commission resources 
and authority, studies and reports, corporate and 
criminal fraud accountability, white-collar crime 
penalty enhancements, corporate tax returns, 
and corporate fraud and accountability. SOX im-
pacted the financial disclosures of organizations 
that are classified as ‘issuers’ under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934. According to the Securi-
ties Exchange Act, issuers can be domestic public 
companies, foreign companies trading on any 
U.S. exchange, banking and savings associations, 
foreign private issuers, issuers of asset backed se-
curities and small business issuers. Even though 
SOX primarily applies to issuers as defined by 
the securities laws, it also applies to private com-
panies that may buy a public company or may 
become a public through initial public offerings 
(IPOs).

SOX Act now requires that independent auditors 
agree with the company’s evaluation and disclose 
the corporate internal controls in relation to 
their financial reporting; whereas before the Act, 
an independent auditor had to agree only to the 
material representation of the financial report-
ing. Without specific guidelines to adhere by, 
the cost of this risk assessment for management 
could be quite significant. The PCAOB and the 
SEC issued guidance to help alleviate the cost. 

The SOX Act is complex and imposes many re-
quirements on business which are designed to 
address the crisis of confidence sparked by cor-
porate scandals. The major provisions of the Sar-
banes-Oxley Act are summarized in the follow-
ing provisions (http://www.sec.gov/about/laws/
soa2002.pdf):

•	 It establishes an independent board to 
oversee the audits of public companies.

•	 It prohibits accounting firms from provid-
ing other service, such as audit functions 
combined with consulting in order to 
avoid conflict of interest.

•	 It requires CEOs and CFOs to certify the 
truth on their companies’ financial state-
ments in writing.

•	 It requires executives to pay back any 
bonuses or profits from stock sales they 
received after a financial report was issued 
that later had to be restated

•	 It requires full disclosure to shareholders 
of complex financial transactions

•	 It requires that at least one member on the 
audit committee be a financial expert.

The last two decades have brought governmen-
tal rules that have fostered changes in the way 
accounting firms report corporations’ financial 
statements, how brokerage companies report 
their trading activities, and how traders par-
ticipate in the market. Controls have been, and 
continue to be, put in place to curb and monitor 
ethical behavior. The study of the SOX Act en-
hances our students’ understanding of the ethical 
and legal compliance issues relating to financial 
transactions.

summaRY

Ethics consists of standards of conduct or moral 
judgments. High standards of ethical conduct re-
quire that each corporate stakeholder deal and be 
dealt with in an honest and fair manner. The pur-
pose of this paper is to discuss how various ethi-
cal and corporate governance issues have been 
incorporated into a course in portfolio manage-
ment. The primary emphasis in the portfolio 
management course at our university is to active-
ly manage the equity portfolio for the Tennessee 
Valley Authority following the guidelines estab-
lished by the TVA. The course affords opportu-
nities to discuss ethics and governance issues that 
relate directly to the decisions and actions that 
the student-managers make in the course or are 
related to the professional activities that they will 
confront as professionals in finance. The issues 
are not merely classroom topics discussed in the 
abstract, but are ones that the students will face 
and will have to resolve. 

Our hands-on investment course provides our 
students the opportunity to encounter and act 
upon real ethical situations. It is of great lasting 
benefit to corporate success to apply ethical de-
cisions as we propose in our investment course 
rather than just teaching ethics.

We may think that in our new global informa-
tion age, everyone should have access to all in-
formation and be able to use it to make rational 
financial decisions. With the amount of informa-
tion available, market participants are tempted 
to rely on company provided information rather 
than conducting their own due diligence and 
evaluating the information on their own. Until 
market players are willing to do their homework, 
to think for themselves, and to spend the time it 
takes to dig through the available information, 
professional analysts and money managers will 
continue to fall prey to information asymmetry. 
The number of CEOs and CFOs taking a hard 
look at what they are doing has increased dra-
matically since the implementation of Sarbanes-
Oxley. Corporations should go beyond rules and 
mandated regulatory compliance to insure the 
adherence of its employees to ethical behavior as 
way of life. Corporate ethical behavior and com-
pliance cannot be outsourced; they have to be 
nourished as part of the corporate culture. 
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IntRoductIon

Presentation technologies (e.g., blackboards, 
overhead projectors, MS PowerPoint) are an 
integral part of a traditional classroom learn-
ing environment. They are used to facilitate in-
struction and support multiple learning styles by 
performing three major pedagogical functions: 
demonstrating the process of problem solving, 
providing visual aids; and keeping a record of 
instructional content. By writing problem solv-
ing steps on a blackboard while explaining orally, 
instructors demonstrate the process of problem 
solving. By displaying drawings, writings, pic-
tures, maps, or slide shows, instructors provide 
visual aids for students to examine. By maintain-
ing a repository of all materials used in the class 
(e.g., drawings, writings, pictures, maps, slides) 
instructors keep a record of instructional content 
which can be distributed to students and reused 
in future classes.

Over the past few decades, presentation tech-
nologies have evolved to more fully support these 
three pedagogical functions. A century ago, the 
only technology available in the classroom was 
the blackboard (the term blackboard is used here-
in to refer to both blackboards and whiteboards). 
Blackboards are an effective tool for demonstrat-
ing problem solving, but provide only limited 
visual aids and do not support record keeping. 
Students are forced to take detailed notes if they 
want to keep a record of lecture content. In the 
early 1900s, film projection was introduced to 
the classroom followed mid-century by the use of 
35mm slides.  While both film media are effec-
tive visual aids, they provide limited opportunity 
for an instructor to use them interactively in or-
der to demonstrate a problem solving processes.  
In addition, there are both practical and legal 
limitations to the reproduction and distribution 
of film for study outside of the classroom.

Effects of Tablet PC Use in the Classroom on  
Teaching and Learning Processes 
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AbstrAct
This study compares the use of a Tablet PC, one of the most recently introduced presentation tech-
nologies, with the use of an earlier generation of presentation technologies (e.g. overhead projectors, 
blackboards, PowerPointTM) that are an integral part of a traditional classroom learning envi-
ronment. Presentation technologies are used to facilitate instruction and learning by performing 
three major pedagogical functions: (1) demonstrating the process of problem solving; (2) providing 
visual aids; and (3) keeping a record of instructional content. Tablet PC use appears to support these 
three functions to a greater extent than traditional approaches. Moreover, the Tablet PC approach 
appears to accommodate multiple learning styles and facilitates a higher level of interactive learn-
ing if properly used. Tips for effective use of Tablet PCs in the classroom are discussed. 
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Opaque projectors and overhead projectors were 
introduced into classrooms later on.  More re-
cently, the digital document camera has largely 
supplanted the opaque projector for the display 
of nontransparent materials such as book pages, 
maps and artworks.  These document projec-
tion technologies are more adaptable than either 
blackboards, film or slides in that they readily 
support all three pedagogical functions. For ex-
ample, instructors can demonstrate a problem 
solving process by writing on overhead trans-
parencies or on documents that are projected by 
a document camera.  Transparencies and anno-
tated documents can provide more detailed and 
accurate visual aids than free hand drawing or 
writing on a blackboard since they can be copied 
from textbooks or other printed materials. Over-
head transparencies and annotated documents 
can be saved, copied for distribution to students, 
and reused in future classes. 

In recent decades, the use of desktop computers 
to display digital documents, such as Microsoft 
PowerPoint (PPT) slides, has become common-
place in the classroom. PPT documents are easy 
to prepare and instructors can insert a variety of 
teaching materials into their PPT presentations: 
for example, a piece of music, a video clip, a graph-
ic, or an Internet hyperlink. Through the use of 
multi-color and multi-media capabilities, PPT is 
generally a more effective visual aid than other 
traditional presentation technologies. Moreover, 
PPT slides can be posted online so that students 
can print the slides beforehand then bring the 
pages to class to take notes on. PPT, however, is 
not an effective tool to demonstrate a detailed 
problem solving process since it does not sup-
port real time freehand writing.  Instructors who 
need to demonstrate a problem solving process 
still rely primarily on technologies such as black-
boards or overhead transparencies. 

Recently, the Tablet PC has emerged as a promis-
ing technology for classroom use. A Tablet PC 
is a laptop computer that is manipulated with a 
stylus pen using natural handwriting and screen 
touches directly on the display. All writings and 
drawings produced on a Tablet PC can be saved 
in digital files. With appropriate software, the 
Tablet PC appears to support all three pedagogi-
cal functions supported by traditional presen-
tation technologies.  As with blackboards and 

overhead transparencies, it allows an instructor 
to demonstrate a problem solving processes in 
real time using free hand writing.  It provides ef-
fective visual aid by supporting display formats 
such as PPT slides and digital video.  Finally, it 
allows the instructor to save all lecture materials 
in digital files for future use. 

Perhaps due to its versatility in providing built-
in support for multiple functions, the Tablet PC 
is increasingly being adopted by instructors in 
North American universities. Is this new tech-
nology simply a fad, or does it truly represent 
the future of classroom presentation technology? 
How does this new presentation technology sup-
port learning from a theoretical point of view 
and how does it affect teaching and the learning 
process when actually used in the classroom? 

This study is intended to provide insight into 
pedagogical principles that may be fundamental 
to any computer-assisted teaching practice and 
suggestions to help instructors make more effec-
tive use of the Tablet PC or adopt the Tablet PC 
with less difficulty. The study first reviews the 
theoretical background for technology support-
ed learning then presents a case study in which 
we examine teaching and learning experiences 
drawn from the use of Tablet PCs in the class-
room.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 dis-
cusses the use of Tablet PCs in typical classroom 
environments and presents prior research on 
Tablet PCs; Section 3 describes the theoretical 
framework for the study; Section 4 introduces 
the research methodology; Section 5 presents 
the findings of the study; and Section 6 discusses 
these findings, their limitations, and directions 
for future research.   

usIng thE taBlEt Pc:  
BackgRound and PRIoR REsEaRch

There are two primary ways that Tablet PCs 
are used in the classroom; (1) an interactive 
mode, and (2) a non-interactive mode. In inter-
active mode, the instructor and each student 
are equipped with individual Tablet PCs which 
are connected to a wireless local area network 
(WLAN) which supports real-time interaction 
and communication between instructor and 
students.  Whatever is written on the instruc-

tor’s Tablet PC can be displayed on all students’ 
screens simultaneously, thereby allowing students 
to annotate the instructors’ notes, pose written 
questions, solve problems and submit answers, all 
in real-time.  In non-interactive mode, only the 
instructor is equipped with a Tablet PC. In this 
scenario, the Tablet PC operates as a sophisti-
cated presentation technology that supports the 
three pedagogical functions previously described 
but without real-time, network-supported inter-
activity. Because the interactive mode requires a 
much higher investment in technology and due 
to the complex issues surrounding networked in-
teraction of the Tablet PCs, non-interactive use 
is far more prevalent in today’s classroom. There-
fore, this is the modality that we have chosen to 
investigate.

For non-interactive use, an instructor may pre-
pare PPT slides or a Microsoft Word document 
to support a lecture. During lecture, the instruc-
tor opens the prepared document and projects it 
onto a large screen in front of the classroom. The 
instructor may explain problems orally, use a sty-
lus pen to work out a problem, or manipulate the 
thickness and color of the pen to highlight key 
information. Mistakes made on the Tablet PC 
in digital ink are easily corrected.  If the instruc-
tor needs to display a formula, diagram, or table 
from another digital document such as a Micro-

soft Excel workbook or an Internet webpage, he 
opens the document, uses the stylus pen to circle 
the section of interest and then copies and pastes 
the selection directly into the original document 
prepared for the lecture. By doing this, all infor-
mation related to solving a problem or pertain-
ing to a particular topic is maintained in a single 
document. All drawings, scripts, and imported 
content can then be saved by using an application 
such as Microsoft’s Journal.  

Another software package called Classroom 
Presenter allows for writing over or highlight-
ing PPT slides and then saving the document 
with the annotations. Other applications such as 
Silicon Chalk record the process of drawing and 
writing on the screen and simultaneously cap-
ture the instructor’s voice. When Silicon Chalk 
is used, two files are produced at the end of the 
class: the class notes in PDF document format 
and a digital video recording in MPEG format. 
These files can be posted online after the class 
for self-directed study and exam review. Figure 1 
shows a convertible Tablet PC which allows the 
instructor to write directly on the display in the 
same manner that an overhead might be used.  
Figure 2 shows an example of handwritten notes 
recorded during a lecture.

FigurE 1 
tablEt pc uSEd in tablEt ModE

FigurE 2 
ExaMplE oF handwrittEn notES
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As discussed earlier, the Tablet PC supports the 
three pedagogical functions of presentation tech-
nology: to demonstrate a problem solving pro-
cess, to provide visual aids, and to keep a record 
of instructional content. Using multiple presen-
tation technologies at the same time can address 
these same functions; however, the extent to 
which they are supported is significantly differ-
ent. There are three major differences between 
the use of a Tablet PC and the combined-use of 
traditional presentation technologies. First, the 
Tablet PC allows the instructor to place all digi-
tal information pertaining to a particular topic 
or problem into a single document by simple 
cutting and pasting.  Second, the Tablet PC not 
only saves class instruction (class notes) but also 
records the detailed instructional process includ-
ing handwriting and synchronized voice.  These 
recordings can be played anytime, anywhere, ei-
ther in full or in student selected excerpts. Third, 
everything saved by the Tablet PC is digitized 
and can thus be easily edited, archived, distrib-
uted, retrieved, and reused.   

As Tablet PC use has increased, research on its 
use for teaching and learning has gained con-
siderable interest.  Anderson and his colleagues 
(Anderson, Hoyer et al. 2004, Anderson, Ander-
son, Simon et al. 2004) have investigated use of 
the Tablet PC for lectures in Computer Sciences 
classes. Their studies, however, adopt a design sci-
ence or an engineering perspective rather than a 
behavioral science or user’s perspective. For in-
stance, they investigated usage patterns for digi-
tal ink by classifying electronic writing into three 
categories: textual ink (written text), attentional 
ink (stroke for emphasis), and diagrammatic ink 
(drawings or diagrams).  In other studies they at-
tempted to develop tools for automated recogni-
tion of digital ink (Anderson, Anderson, Hoyer 
et al. 2004)  and explored the use of speech rec-
ognition techniques for interpretation of digital 
ink (Anderson, Hoyer et al. 2004). Simon and 
his colleagues (Simon et al., 2004) also investi-
gated the impact of using a Tablet PC and digital 
note taking from the users’ perspective but their 
study concerned Tablet PC use in fully interac-
tive mode in which instructors as well as students 
were equipped with Tablet PCs.  Also, their study 
did not focus on investigating the effects of using 
the Tablet PC as a presentation technology. Ar-
nett et al. (2005) investigated how students used 

a Tablet PC and digital ink to produce diagrams 
for class projects in Management Information 
Systems courses. However, they failed to study 
the instructor’s use and the potential impacts of 
using the Tablet PC as a presentation technology.  
Blatz and Britton (2005) described their experi-
ences in using Tablet PCs for their own teach-
ing.  However, they did not carry out a systematic 
study to capture their students’ perception of the 
classroom use of the technology.

The current study departs from prior Tablet 
PC research in that this study investigates how 
Tablet PC use in the classroom affects learn-
ing in comparison with traditional presentation 
technologies. Furthermore, this investigation is 
guided by pertinent learning theory. We first de-
velop a theoretical framework and then use that 
framework to guide our examination and evalu-
ation of how various presentation technologies, 
and especially the Tablet PC, facilitate instruc-
tion and learning. 

thEoREtIcal fRamEwoRk and  
REsEaRch QuEstIons

Instruction can be viewed as a systematic process 
that consists of four interrelated components: 
learner, learning objective, instructional materi-
als, and learning environment (Roblyer, 1997; 
Dick and Carey, 1996).  Learning objectives and 
attributes of the learner (e.g., age, learning ability, 
learning history) largely influence the selection 
of learning materials and environment (Dick and 
Carey 1996, Heinich et al., 1996, Crews, 2004, 
p.19), which in turn contribute to achievement of 
the learning objective. 

Since learning objectives and instructional ma-
terials are domain specific, we will not focus on 
these components. The learning environment in-
cludes instructional methods (i.e., procedures of 
instruction) and instructional media (e.g., texts, 
computers, etc.) (Heinich et al., 1996, Crews, 
2004, p.19).  This paper investigates how presen-
tation technology, a type of instructional media, 
affects learning. Presentation technology, howev-
er, cannot be meaningfully examined in isolation 
from its interaction with the learner. While there 
are a variety of learning theories that address the 
interaction between learner and learning envi-
ronment, we focus only on theory that we be-

lieve is most pertinent to our study. We discuss 
cognitive effort and active participation from the 
learner’s perspective, and discuss multisensory 
learning, immediate feedback, and interactive 
learning from the perspective of the presentation 
technology. 

The process of learning can be viewed as con-
struction of a mental model or schema, which 
may change or evolve as new information is en-
countered and integrated into it (Rumelhart, 
1980; Glaser, 1991; Crews, 2004, p.21). The 
learner applies cognitive effort to construct a 
schema, make sense of new information, filter it, 
and integrate it with his/her existing knowledge 
(Rumelhart and Norman, 1978; Sweller, 1999; 
Hashway, 1998 p.55; Crews, 2004 p.21).

All persons have limited cognitive resources, 
one of which is working memory. Every mental 
task that an individual performs requires the use 
of some portion of working memory. The term 
cognitive effort refers to the active utilization of 
working memory to process a mental task, where-
as cognitive load refers to the demand placed on 
the working memory (Crews, 2004 p.21). There 
are two types of cognitive load: intrinsic and ex-
trinsic. Intrinsic cognitive load is the effort or 
demand inherent in the learning task itself while 
extrinsic cognitive load is the demand originat-
ing from outside sources that does not contribute 
to achievement of the learning objective (Crews, 
2004 p.21). One common type of extrinsic cog-
nitive load is distraction. Therefore the total 
cognitive load for a particular task includes both 
cognitive effort, distraction and other types of 
cognitive load. Reducing extrinsic cognitive load, 

i.e. distraction, decreases the demand on working 
memory thus freeing those memory resources for 
support of the learning process.  Increasing dis-
traction levels, on the other hand, increases de-
mand for working memory and thereby impedes 
learning (Crews, 2004 p.21). 

By putting forth cognitive effort, the learner ac-
tively participates in the learning process. How-
ever, active participation refers not only to the 
learner’s cognitive engagement but also to the 
learner’s physical engagement (Piaget 1980). Ex-
amples of physical engagement are note taking 
and performing physical experiments requiring 
use of the hands.  

The central premise of multi-sensory learning is 
that human beings learn through their sensory 
perceptions (James and Galbraith, 1985). Three 
primary perceptual modalities are used for learn-
ing: visual (learning by seeing), aural (learning 
by hearing), and kinesthetic (learning by doing) 
(Wislock, 1993; Crews, 2004 p.22).  Although 
an individual learner may prefer a particular per-
ceptual modality for her primary learning chan-
nel, the engagement of multiple perceptual mo-
dalities is thought to encourage the development 
of reliable mental models (Crews, 2004, p.22). 
A student might learn by first watching a video 
clip, then observing an instructor demonstrate 
a problem solving process while listening to the 
instructor’s oral explanation, and afterwards 
solving a similar problem or performing a related 
exercise. 

A learner uses different senses (e.g., seeing, listen-
ing) to perceive the world, and engages cognitive 
effort to construct mental models or schemas to 
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FigurE 3 
inStructional SyStEM (FroM crEwS 2004, p.19)
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represent the received perceptions. These models 
may either be reinforced or may require adjust-
ment upon receipt of new information. Timely 
feedback plays an important role in the learner’s 
process of evaluating and adjusting a mental 
model in sufficient time such that new informa-
tion can be most readily assimilated (Guskey, 
1997; Marakas, 1995, Anderson, Spiro and Mon-
tague, 1977).

Another concept that pertains to the learning 
environment is interactive learning which re-
fers to the interaction between the learner and 
instructor, between the learner and technology, 
and among learners. Interactive learning pro-
vides immediate feedback which helps students 
focus their attention on the learning task (Crews 
2004, p.31), contributes to deeper information 
processing, and reinforces newly minted mental 
models. 

A learning environment with its associated pre-
sentation technology should have a positive im-
pact on learning through support of one or more 
learning principles. Figure 4 portrays a theo-
retical framework that incorporates the learn-
ing principles described above. This framework 
guides the analysis of the case study presented in 
this paper.

In classrooms supported by Tablet PC and where 
the students are told in advance that a complete 
record of instruction will be available after class, 
we expect that the availability of the class record 

should reduce the distraction or anxiety inherent 
in note taking thus allowing students to focus 
their cognitive resources on the learning task. 
In addition, students will be able to pay more at-
tention to the lecturer and will have additional 
cognitive resources with which to process infor-
mation, pose questions, and receive appropriate 
feedback from the instructor. There should also 
be increased levels of interaction between the 
instructor and students. After class, if students 
need to review particular portions of the instruc-
tion, they not only have the class notes, but they 
can also play the video of all or only a part of the 
lecture session. Archival video provides an addi-
tional multisensory learning opportunity for stu-
dents who can see the writings or drawings and 
can listen to the instructor’s synchronized voice 
for explanation. Moreover, since the instructor 
can store all information for a particular topic in 
a single document, students do not have to search 
for information in multiple sources (e.g., the text-
book or the Web). 

In summary, we speculate that the Tablet PC 
will, to varying degrees, support all of the learn-
ing principles discussed above.  However, will 
we observe that support in actual use? How will 
instructors and students evaluate the efficacy of 
a class in which the instructor uses a Tablet PC 
as the primary presentation technology? We ad-
dress these questions by investigating two classes 
in which the instructor used a Tablet PC. 

REsEaRch mEthodologY and  
PRocEssEs

A case study approach was used for this investiga-
tion. One reason for this choice is that case study 
research allows researchers to gain an in-depth 
understanding of the phenomena of interest in 
the rich context where it manifests (Yin, 1984). 
A second reason is that there is little research 
concerning the Tablet PC’s impact on learning 
and a case study approach is appropriate for gain-
ing initial insights into a phenomenon of interest 
(Yin, 1984).

Two university classes in Civil Engineering 
were studied. Class A was a Geotechnical De-
sign course, and Class B was a Solid Mechan-
ics course.  Both courses contained significant 
mathematical and design-based problem solving 
content.  As such, much of the material presented 
to students during lecture consisted of detailed 
calculations and diagrams used to demonstrate 
the concepts being studied.  There were 35 and 
87 students respectively in the two classes. 

Data were collected from instructors and stu-
dents through observation, survey, and semi-
structured interviews. Interviews were taped and 
transcribed for content analysis. In addition to 
interviews, both classes were directly observed 
by one author to examine how instructors used 
the Tablet PC during lecture. At the end of the 
semester, students in the two classes completed 
a voluntary survey on their perception of the 
course. A small random sample of students was 
also selected for interviews. Two of these stu-
dents did not attend their interview session due 
to schedule conflicts. Eight of the interviewees 
were from Class A, six were from Class B, and 
one student was enrolled in both classes. Each in-
terviewee was paid a nominal fee for participat-
ing in the interview which generally lasted from 
10 to 20 minutes. While the survey was used to 
gain an overall picture of how students evaluated 
the classes, the interviews were used to reveal the 
possible rationale behind the evaluations pro-
vided. 

Typically, the Civil Engineering instructors used 
applications such as Microsoft Word to prepare 
documents in advance of their lectures and both 
used Microsoft Journal in the classroom.  In ad-
dition, Instructor A used Silicon Chalk, the soft-

ware for recording voice. Instructor A posted 
PDF and digital video files on a website after each 
class.  Instructor B posted a lecture outline and a 
set of questions with blank spaces in advance of 
class so that students could print the document 
and take notes by filling in the answer blanks 
during lecture. Instructor B, however, did not 
post his lecture notes following class since he was 
afraid that students might be discouraged from 
attending the lecture if notes were readily avail-
able. 

fIndIngs

The following findings have been summarized 
from the classroom observations, student sur-
veys, and student and faculty interviews. Stu-
dents’ evaluation of the Tablet PC teaching ap-
proach is summarized in regards to the three 
major pedagogical functions. 

students’ Perception of using tablet Pc

A simple survey was employed to assess students’ 
general perception of Tablet PC use.  A 7-point 
Likert-style scale was used for six non-demo-
graphic questionnaire items with 1 indicating 
strongly disagree, and 7 indicating strongly agree. 
Overall, students were moderately satisfied with 
the way in which the instructor used the Tab-
let PC (Class A: X= 5.96, σ= 0.24; Class B: X= 
5.32, σ= 0.21); they would recommend other in-
structors use the Tablet PC in classes (Class A: X 
= 5.59, σ= 0.27; Class B: X =5.05, σ = 0.21); and 
they slightly agreed that the classes with the Tab-
let PC had apparent advantages over other classes 
without it (Class A: X = 5.07, σ= 0.32; Class B: X 
= 4.42, σ = 0.21). Interviews with students iden-
tified what learning principles may underlie the 
three major functionalities of the Tablet PC and 
how they affected students’ learning process.

Support for demonstration of a problem 
solving process

As with blackboards and overheads, the Tablet 
PC allows instructors to demonstrate the process 
of solving a problem. During interviews, several 
students compared the Tablet PC with PPT. 
Students preferred the Tablet PC approach over 
PPT and they commented that since PPT did 
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not allow “write as you go”, the instructor tended 
to read the PPT slides too fast, perhaps due to 
the fact that everything on slides had been pre-
pared in advance. Students also stated that when 
the instructor used the Tablet PC, the motion 
inherent in the act of writing was likely to keep 
their attention on the topic and to slow down the 
instructor’s explanation so that they had time to 
think about the subject matter. 

(Interviewee_ClassB): PowerPoint is 
terrific if …you want to instill an over-
all impression on somebody...  But, if 
you want to dissect, …an engineering 
problem or a scientific problem, step 
by step is really the only way to go

(Interviewee_ClassB):   I feel like I’m 
not [paying much] attention to it 
(PPT) because like there’s nothing in 
motion.

More importantly, the “write as you go” feature 
allows students to receive information using 
two senses: they see how the instructor solves 
the problem and listen to the oral explanations 
of the process. Several student interviewees also 
pointed out that other presentation technologies 
such as blackboards and overhead projectors also 
support “write as you go” and that the Tablet PC 
performed essentially the same function. 

Support for presentation of visual aids

The students we interviewed judged the Tablet 
PC to be a more effective visual aid than other 
presentation technologies. The Tablet PC al-
lowed instructors to copy and paste all the infor-
mation pertaining to a problem or topic into a 
single document (e.g., formulae, tables, diagrams, 
graphics). Students identified three benefits asso-
ciated with this copying and pasting: 1) instruc-
tors could cover more topics or spend more time 
explaining a topic when using the Tablet PC 
rather than other technologies because they did 
not have to spend time redrawing diagrams or 
rewriting questions; 2) the copied diagrams and 
graphics tended to be more accurate and contain 
greater detail than ones that might be drawn free 
hand in real time; and 3) the students did not 
have to reference multiple documents to review 
all related information after class. 

(Interviewee_ClassA): If we need any 
tables or charts he’ll (the instruc-
tor) go into the actual text notes that 
are on the net, he’ll copy and paste a 
table or figure into his written notes.  
This way you have it right there and 
you don’t have to flip back into the 
textbook…

(Interviewee_ClassA): So it (having 
the pictures inserted into the Tablet PC 
document) saves more time then we 
can learn more. 

Students also mentioned that the Tablet PC doc-
uments made it easier to follow the lecture, be-
cause: 1) the instructor could use different colors 
to emphasize important processes or calculations; 
2) the Tablet PC produced a document that was 
very clean and without smudges;  3) everyone in 
the classroom had a good view of the Tablet PC 
projection because the position of the projector 
screen was elevated (in contrast, students sitting 
at the back of the classroom could not easily see 
writing at the bottom of the blackboard); and 4) 
the size of  the instructors handwriting was more 
consistent when the instructor used the Tablet 
PC since Microsoft Journal provides faint lines 
or rules on the document such as those found on 
notebook paper.

Student comments suggest that the Tablet PC 
provided more accurate visual aids, more in-
formation about a particular topic, and better 
organization of the information than other ap-
proaches.  Its use may have increased students’ 
learning by reducing their cognitive load. 

Support for maintaining a permanent record 
of the lectures

The Tablet PC has the potential to provide a per-
manent record of lecture output (notes) as well as 
the lecture process itself (the writing or presenta-
tion process with synchronized voice). Students 
who thought that the Tablet PC approach was 
similar to the use of overhead projectors or black-
boards agreed that saving the class notes was an 
advantage. Even the interviewees from class B, 
in which the instructor usually did not post the 
class notes, indicated that saving the document 
was a distinct advantage. In fact, only one out of 

15 student interviewees failed to state that keep-
ing a record of lectures was a benefit. As predict-
ed, the advantage of having a PDF file and Silicon 
Chalk video file posted after class was evident. 
Students who preferred not to take notes could 
simply focus on listening intently rather than be-
ing preoccupied with note taking. Students who 
still preferred to take notes also indicated that 
they could pay more attention to the lectures 
because they did not have to worry about taking 
down every detail or possibly making mistakes. 
Three of eight student interviewees from Class 
A stated that Tablet PC use resulted in the class 
becoming more interactive and more discussion-
oriented. 

(Interviewee_ClassA): It is hard to lis-
ten and write at the same time. 

(Interviewee_ClassA): It just makes it 
a lot easier to have a complete set of 
notes for studying. 

(Interviewee_ClassA): You don’t have 
to waste any time in class writing 
notes. You can actually sit and listen 
and pay attention…If I have any ques-
tions or any uncertainties, I’ll pick 
them out better by paying attention in 
class rather than writing notes…

…Tablet PC definitely makes it more 
interactive, the class.  … Everyone 
was just in tune to what the prof (pro-
fessor) was saying because they knew 
they could download it afterwards 
and then of course it almost became 
like a discussion class all the time.  

Playing Silicon Chalk files helped students re-
view the lectures after class. Three out of eight 
interviewees from Class A indicated that they 
played a class video file five or six times during 
the term. Sometimes they played the entire video 
while at other times they only played those parts 
about which they had questions. One student 
who had not yet played any of the video indicat-
ed that he would do so for the final exam. Four 
students reported that playing video files was too 
time consuming or that they had not taken time 
to install the software required to play the files on 
their home computer.  Yet another student, who 

reported having not missed any classes, felt that 
simply reviewing the PDF files was sufficient. All 
students liked the convenience, flexibility, and 
accessibility of downloading the class notes and 
printing them. Among the eight interviewees 
from class A, four interviewees reported taking 
complete notes in class, two occasionally took 
notes, and two did not take any notes at all. In-
structor A reported that students often sent him 
email to remind him to post the notes if he failed 
to do so immediately following the class. The 
class B instructor did not post notes after each 
class, students state that they would have pre-
ferred to have had the notes posted for two rea-
sons: 1) they could print the class notes from the 
web if they missed the class; and 2) they could 
compare their own notes with the instructors’ to 
identify missing information or mistakes. 

The students we interviewed indicated that the 
greatest advantage of using the Tablet PC de-
rived from its ability to provide a full record of 
lecture content. Because students do not have to 
take notes, or worry about missing anything im-
portant or making a mistake while note taking, 
they are able to pay greater attention to the class 
content, ask questions more frequently, and find 
the classroom to be more interactive. Moreover, 
the full record of the class lecture allows stu-
dents who miss a class to study the content at a 
later time without incurring a significant learn-
ing penalty. It also allows for self-paced learning 
when students review for exams. 

When asked to describe the disadvantages of 
using a Tablet PC, all students interviewed sug-
gested one particular drawback: that students 
might not make a concerted effort to come to 
class if the full notes were posted after class. One 
out of the 15 student we interviewed indicated 
that he would personally skip class if class notes 
were posted. However, all other interviewees in-
dicated that they would still come to the class 
regularly because the instructor might not write 
everything down. These accounts suggest that, 
although class attendance may be a concern, it is 
not likely to be a major concern. In fact, Instruc-
tor A, who posted class notes, reported that at-
tendance had not been an issue. 

Students reported that instructors should pay 
attention to the mechanics of using the Tablet 
PC in order to make it a more effective tool for 
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classroom.  In particular: 1) instructors should be 
careful not to scroll the screen up or down too 
fast, an action that makes following the text im-
possible; 2) instructors should be skilled at using 
the Tablet PC and its related software in order to 
avoid dead spots in their delivery; 3) instructors’ 
handwriting should be precise enough for stu-
dents to read easily (although, according to our 
interviewees, this had not been a major problem); 
and 4) instructors need to choose a pen color that 
is easy to read (for example, yellow was reported 
to be a particularly poor choice).

Instructors’ perceptions of  
using the Tablet PC

Instructor insights into Tablet PC use were gath-
ered through interviews and provide additional 
insights. Instructor A was a novice teacher who 
did not have extensive experience using alterna-
tive presentation methods (overheads, black-
boards, PPT) in his teaching. He was, however, 
comfortable with using the Tablet PC and iden-
tified three major advantages of its use: 1) since 
the class notes were posted after class, students 
had the option to take class notes or not; 2) stu-
dents could play the digital video file following 
his lectures to review the class session; and 3) the 
instructor could also play the digital video file to 
identify opportunities to improve his teaching.

Instructor B was an experienced teacher.  He 
indicated that his class involved a lot of calcu-
lations and that PPT was “not good for classes 
with a lot of calculations”. He preferred to use 
blackboards over the Tablet PC since blackboard 
use encouraged note taking. The blackboard in 
his classroom was large enough so that he could 
use one side of the board first, and then use the 
other side.  This ensured that he did not have to 
erase the board too frequently, thus giving stu-
dents time to copy notes while he lectured.  In 
contrast, when he used the Tablet PC, he had to 
scroll down to a new page when the current page 
was full.  When he scrolled down, the program 
often jumped to an empty new page and class 
notes on the previous pages were no longer dis-
played.  It required considerable practice for him 
to make the transition between pages smooth 
enough so that students were able to copy all the 
written content from the previous page before 
it scrolled off the display.  Instructor B reported 

two advantages for using the Tablet PC: 1) the 
instructor can cover more content since there is 
no need to redraw diagrams or copy problems 
onto the blackboard; and 2) the instructor does 
not get his hands dirty. 

Both instructors indicated that writing on the 
Tablet PC was more difficult than writing on a 
blackboard due to a lack of frictional resistance 
and Instructor B emphasized that instructors 
should prepare most documents prior to lecture.  
Both instructors indicated that the Tablet PC 
was useful for demonstrating a problem solving 
process because of the ability to display free-hand 
writing. While neither instructor explicitly com-
pared the functionality of displaying visual aids 
with a Tablet PC to other traditional approaches, 
they both suggested that other instructors should 
consider using a Tablet PC.

dIscussIon

Presentation technologies are an integral part 
of a traditional learning environment. In the 
past few decades, presentation technologies have 
evolved to support three major instructional 
functions: 1) to demonstrate a problem solving 
process, 2) to provide visual aids, and 3) to keep 
a record of instructional content. The Tablet PC 
appears to support all three functions to a greater 
extent than previous technologies either alone or 
in combination. Furthermore, a learning envi-
ronment should support as many of the six learn-
ing principles identified earlier in this article as 
possible. Specifically, a learning environment 
should: 1) engage students’ cognitive effort, 2) 
reduce students’ cognitive load, 3) allow timely 
feedback, 4) support multisensory learning, 5) 
promote active participation, and 6) support in-
teractive learning. 

Our study suggests that the Tablet PC indeed 
supports all six of the learning principles listed 
above. By providing a means for the instruc-
tor to demonstrate a problem solving process in 
free hand, the Tablet PC supports multisensory 
learning - students learn by watching a demon-
stration of process while listening to the in-
structor’s oral explanation. By providing better 
organized visual aids (e.g., all information on a 
topic or problem located in one place, different 
colors for different type of information, and a 

crisp, clean document), the Tablet PC reduces 
the students’ cognitive load of searching for and 
identifying pertinent information. By keeping a 
complete record of the instructional output and 
process, the Tablet PC frees or reduces students’ 
cognitive effort from note taking so that students 
can focus more on the lectures, ask more ques-
tions, get timely feedback, and make the class 
more interactive. 

The students we studied generally liked the class-
es in which the Tablet PC was used, and both 
students and instructors recommended that 
other instructors use the Tablet PC as a presen-
tation technology. However, the observations 
and conclusions reported in this paper should be 
interpreted in light of the following limitations. 
First, as discussed earlier and illustrated in Figure 
1, learning is affected by four interrelated factors: 
learner, learning objective, learning materials, 
and learning environment.  There is an interac-
tion between learning materials and the learning 
environment, and the learning environment con-
sists of at least the instructional method, instruc-
tional media (e.g., presentation technology), and 
instructor. By focusing solely on the presentation 
technology and investigating only two classes 
in Civil Engineering, the generalizability of the 
study to other contexts could be limited. When 
the Tablet PC is used by different instructors, for 
different subject areas, or for different learning 
objectives, the students’ evaluation of its efficacy 
may be very different. 

Second, this is a case study employing only lim-
ited measurement of students’ perceptions. The 
study did not develop scales with which to quan-
titatively measure students’ perceptions of the 
extent to which the Tablet PC may have engaged 
their cognitive effort, reduced their cognitive 
load, allowed timely feedback, supported multi-
sensory learning, increased active participation, 
or fostered interactive learning. The study was 
designed in this manner because we felt that the 
six learning principles might prove to be too ab-
stract for students to comprehend and accurately 
assess given the limited time available to us for 
the survey and interview. Without these mea-
surements, however, the conclusion that the Tab-
let PC supports all six learning principles is not 
as strong as it might be. 

Third, this study investigates the effects of using 
a Tablet PC in teaching and learning processes, 
it does not investigate the effects on the desired 
outcome, in this case, learning.  Examining stu-
dents’ and instructors’ attitude toward the tech-
nology does not tell us whether it helps students 
obtain better learning outcome.   Students may 
like the use of Tablet PC technology; however, 
their actual learning may not improve.  

Despite these limitations, the study does provide 
insight into the use of the Tablet PC and other 
presentation technologies from both theoretical 
and practical perspectives. From a theoretical 
point of view, the study helps us understand what 
instructional functions are supported by presen-
tation technologies and how these functions are 
related to learning principles. From a practical 
point of view, the study sheds light on the advan-
tages of using a Tablet PC rather than traditional 
presentation technologies and provides sugges-
tions for more effective use of the technology.  
The study also indicates that several questions 
related with Tablet PC usage are worth pursu-
ing further. First, a quantitative study is needed.  
Such a study  should; i) use an experiment design 
in which a control group uses traditional presen-
tation technologies and a treatment group uses 
Tablet PC technology, ii) measure the degree to 
which the presentation technologies provide sup-
port for the six learning principles, and iii) mea-
sure the effect of presentation technology use on 
learning outcome.  Second, methods for using 
Tablet PC technology to support distance learn-
ing should be investigated. For example, MIT 
currently provide online courses by posting class 
materials on its university website for anyone to 
download.  Instructors who record lectures using 
a Tablet PC and appropriate software can eas-
ily post all recordings to the university website.  
Pedagogically, how would this approach compare 
to posting PPT slides or other types of media? Fi-
nally, in an environment in which an instructor’s 
lectures can be easily published to the Internet, 
issues regarding intellectual property rights need 
to be addressed.
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IntRoductIon

The electronic spreadsheet was first introduced 
in 1979 by a product known as VisiCalc®. The 
popularity of spreadsheet software grew and the 
market was quickly dominated by a variant of 
VisiCalc®, Lotus 1-2-3® (Pemberton & Robson, 
2000).  As with all free-markets, competition 
followed and the introduction and subsequent 
dominance of Microsoft’s Excel® continues as 
a de facto industry standard. There is consider-
able research that establishes spreadsheet skills 
as critically important to the business person 
(Loraas & Mueller, 2008; Pemberton & Robson, 
2000; Spiech, 2005). This would lead one to as-
certain that acquiring spreadsheet skills such as 
modeling, what-if analysis, and other forms of 
cost analyses is important to university business 
majors in virtually every discipline (Alexander, 
1996; Ganesh & Paswan, 2010; Van Mourik, 
2006). Using the data collected, comparisons of 
results were examined between business and non-

business majors and also among various business 
academic disciplines. The expectations were that 
business majors would perform better on spread-
sheet projects than their non-business peers, and 
that certain business disciplines might be more 
adept at acquiring spreadsheet skills due to a per-
ceived need in specific majors. Accounting and 
finance students, for example, may understand 
the relevance of cost analyses and what-if sce-
narios before their marketing and management 
counterparts.

lItERatuRE REvIEw

Electronic spreadsheet software, like Lotus 1-2-
3® and Microsoft Excel® is useful to university 
students in various ways. First, more disciplines 
are integrating computer-based skills into their 
curriculum (Alexander, 1996; Ganesh & Pas-
wan, 2010; McKeown & Piercy, 1997). Loraas 
& Mueller (2008) posit that “routine accounting 
and financial statement preparation require the 
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ability to use advanced spreadsheet functions, 
and expand the position by arguing that users 
should possess higher-level analytic skills” (p. 66). 
Their position is that “spreadsheet users should 
understand the purpose of the functions being 
used, understand the arguments of the function, 
and that results should always be checked to en-
sure operating accuracy” (p. 66). Ganesh & Pas-
wan (2010) explore the marketing discipline and 
how it often lacks financial accountability. The 
primary purpose of their paper was to better un-
derstand how “to impart spreadsheet skills and 
encourage an accountability mindset” (p.162). 
Moncarz & O’Brien (1988) pointed out early in 
the expansion of the use of spreadsheets that the 
investment required to effectively teach spread-
sheets is relatively low and further that instruc-
tors need not be experts in programming and the 
resources, hardware and software.

Perhaps more importantly, spreadsheet software 
is very useful for modeling business problems 
and enabling data analysis using what-if, pivot 
tables, and even statistical analysis functional-
ity (Van Mourik, 2006). Fostering fluency in the 
use of spreadsheets includes demonstrating its 
various uses and then providing the student with 
opportunities to reasonably ensure that key com-
petencies are acquired. Most universities teach 
spreadsheet skills in introductory computing 
courses but often delegate the task to instructors 
who are challenged to ensure adequate coverage 
and the methods used typically do not ensure ef-
fective teaching and learning (Boon, 2005). One 
method that produces results is the demonstra-
tion and practice method. Instructors in this 
approach demonstrate to students how selected 
functions work, discuss the applicability, and 
then ask students to solve problems that require 
them to apply those skills. Often these results are 
limited by the student becoming dependent on 
the professor to demonstrate, observe, practice, 
and then examine (Vitt, 2006). 

Spreadsheet skills have traditionally been taught 
as skills critical to business students (Pemberton 
& Robson, 2000). Organizations outside the 
business disciplines also understand the useful-
ness of spreadsheets. Lejeune & Yakova (2008) 
detail the experience of the Fred Astaire Dance 
Studio and how they used a spreadsheet to han-
dle their summer showcase programs (p. 176).  

Herrmann (2008) describes how public health 
officials used spreadsheets to generate custom 
emergency preparedness models for a govern-
ment entity in Maryland. While the argument 
could be made that these examples remain busi-
ness applications, that argument might also be 
transformed into the case that all organizations 
possess a business presence.

mEthodologY

It is hypothesized that there are significant posi-
tive differences between college students’ indi-
vidual spreadsheet project scores for students in a 
business major versus those in another discipline. 
These disciplines are defined for the purposes of 
this paper as accounting, economics, marketing, 
management, business administration, informa-
tion systems, and finance, as outlined in Table 1. 
A second hypothesis is that there are significant 
positive differences between business school aca-
demic majors. The premise here is that academic 
disciplines like accounting, finance, information 
systems, and economics will outperform students 
in majors like management, business administra-
tion, and marketing simply due to the greater 
emphasis placed on quantitative approaches to 
decision-making.

Participants

Participants selected in this study were students 
in established sections of principles of manage-
ment information systems survey courses at one 
south central, public university. The total num-
ber of students included in this study is 878. 
The sections represent a convenience sample and 
there are no perceived differences between these 
sections in terms of student selection beyond 
the typical registration process. Students that 
dropped the class or students that completed less 
than eight out of ten projects were not used in 
our study.

data collection and Procedures

The data were collected across several semesters 
beginning in 2007 using spreadsheet projects 
offered through Casegrader for Excel 2007® by 
Crews and Murphy and published by Cengage 
Learning. The projects in this particular product 

are scored using an automated engine that has 
been shown to be accurate, consistent, and reli-
able. According to one author, Dr. Thad Crews 
(personal interview, March 2, 2010), over one 
million projects have been consistently and suc-
cessfully graded for thousands of students across 
campuses throughout the U.S. and Canada. 

Biographical data were requested and obtained 
from university records and merged using Excel 
with the student score data. This data included 
the students’ sex, course section number, student 
identification number, as well as other biographi-
cal data. The course section number was coded so 
that face-to-face and online sections are distin-
guishable, and a simple code to identify each type 
of class offering was inserted for each participant 
to enable further data analysis for future studies.  
The number of students in each respective disci-
pline is provided in Table 1.

data analysis

The students were divided into two groups, busi-
ness majors and non-business majors. This was 
accomplished by regrouping specific majors into 
categories which allowed the business versus 
non-business breakdown without compromising 
individual disciplines. The list of defined busi-
ness disciplines are shown in Table 1.  To test the 
initial hypothesis, an ANOVA was performed to 
compare students’ individual Casegrader project 
scores between the two groups.  In this instance, 
the mean score of each independent project was 
compared between the group defined as business 
school majors and the group defined as non-busi-
ness school majors. Additional tests, specifically 
Levene’s Test for Equality of Variances and a 

2-tailed t-test were run to further validate find-
ings of significance.

To test the hypothesis that posits a significant 
positive difference between the defined business 
disciplines within the business school, a second 
ANOVA was performed based upon discipline 
grouping codes. The results of this test are listed 
in Table 5. There were no projects that indicated 
significance and therefore the hypothesis that 
differences in performance between the business 
disciplines would exist is not supported.

fIndIngs

The results of our data analysis were mixed.  The 
hypothesis that states that there are significant 
positive differences between college student’s 
individual spreadsheet scores when they are a 
business major is supported in two projects.  The 
results for projects 8 and 10 indicated significant 
support for this hypothesis. Table 3 contains the 
results of the Test for Homogeneity of Variances 
which lists the Levene statistic and P score for 
each project. Projects 8 and 10, respectively, again 
indicate significance. The Levene Statistic for 
those projects are high and according to (Shoe-
maker, 2003) are an indicator for equality of vari-
ances for different samples. When these values 
are high, procedures that do not assume equality 
of variance should be employed. A 2-tailed t-test 
was then performed as shown in Table 4. This 
process found significant differences in projects 

tablE 1 
dEMographic data

Program of Study Students
Accounting 118
Management 222
Marketing 171
Finance 91
Economics 19
Information Systems 24
Business Administration 33
Non-business majors 200
Total 878

tablE 2 
anova rESultS prior to  

variancE analySiS 
(n = 878 p<.05*)

Excel project F Sig.
1 .387 .534

2 .419 .518

3 .390 .532
4 1.865 .172
5 1.072 .301
6 .326 .568
7 .415 .519
8 8.565 .004*
9 1.303 .254

10 4.573 .033*
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8 and project 10 whether variances are equal or 
unequal.

The secondary hypothesis states that there are 
significant positive differences between student’s 
spreadsheet scores between the different business 
disciplines depicted in Table 1.  The results of the 
hypotheses testing are presented in Table 5 (Ap-
pendix).  There is no support for this hypothesis 
based on the results of the ANOVA.

dIscussIon of fIndIngs

The original hypothesis that significant differ-
ences would exist between business majors and 
non-business majors is supported, but only in two 
projects. There was significance only for projects; 
8 (.003) and 10 (.037), respectively. Project 8 in-
troduces the concept of creating applications in 
Excel and includes skills like validation rules and 
recording macros, which may be new topics for 
most students. Project 10 is lengthy and intro-
duces students to concepts like Goal Seek®, one 
and two-variable data tables, scenario manager, 
and an optimization problem using Solver®.

One possible explanation for these results may 
be that the course offering is a lower-division 
college of business core requirement. Business 
majors may not have recognized the relevance 
of spreadsheet skills and the importance of 
spreadsheet modeling since this course is com-
pleted prior to official entry into the major. It is 
interesting to note that economics, information 
systems, marketing, and finance majors did not 
perform as well as their counterparts, as seen in 
Table 6 (Appendix). Although the differences are 

not significant, the mean scores among finance 
and economics majors were often several points 
lower than management and marketing majors. 
One possible reason for these differences may 
be that management and marketing both offer 
more lower-division courses than do economics 
and finance at this institution allowing for an 
earlier foundation for relevancy. If this is a valid 
assumption, then perhaps all accredited business 
schools should consider offering their introduc-
tory management information systems course 
as a lower-division offering to aid students as 
they progress into more challenging courses that 
might require spreadsheet skills like statistics 
and quantitative management. Further, by en-
suring that spreadsheet use is integrated into the 
various upper-division courses across disciplines, 
student acceptance and relevance will increase. 
McKeown and Piercy (1997) demonstrated this 
by integrating spreadsheets into introductory 
marketing and finance courses that resulted in 
students performing significantly higher using a 
pre- and post-test methodology.

The literature indicates that the importance of 
sound spreadsheet skills is critical to business stu-
dents (Loraas and Mueller, 2008; Pemberton and 
Robison, 2000). Speich (2005), states that being 
“good at using spreadsheets and databases to an-
alyze information” (p. 40) is one critical skill in 
being a great financial analyst. Loraas and Muel-
ler (2008) reinforce this concept for accounting 
majors by suggesting that the spreadsheet devel-
oper “completely understand the calculation that 
the [Excel] function was designed to perform” 
(p. 67) by checking expected and actual results 
of calculations. Identification of whether or not 
spreadsheet skills are actually important for all 
university majors is also an issue. The results sup-
port the belief other disciplines value these skills 
as only two of the more difficult projects dem-
onstrated significant differences. Lejeune and 
Yakova (2008) and Herrmann (2008), describe 
scenarios not normally considered business-relat-
ed where the effective spreadsheet skills assisted a 
dance studio and public-sector, emergency plan-
ners, respectively. Gordon and Erkut (2004), cite 
yet another example of the use of a decision-sup-
port tool used to assist in scheduling volunteers. 

A final observation is, that overall, means for 
each case decrease as the semester progresses. 

It would be easy to assume that this is, in part, 
explained by the anticipation of semesters’ end. 
It is perplexing, however, due to an increase in 
faculty-student interaction as the semester pro-
gresses. Less time is spent during labs covering 
details for the first few spreadsheet assignments 
due to the simplicity of the projects; however, as 
the projects progress in rigor, each faculty mem-
ber describes the project in greater detail, and 
provides demonstrations during the lab sessions 
allowing students to complete difficult tasks and 
ask questions.  These observations are in line with 
the findings of Vitt (2006), who observed that 
technology skills have been taught successfully 
through active student-instructor interaction, 
including demonstration, practice, and observa-
tion.  

additional Research

The management information systems course in 
which these assignments are administered is of-

fered in both face-to-face and online venues. Ad-
ditional analysis is necessary to further identify 
differences in student performance across each 
type of offering, and differences in performance 
using gender as the control variable.

tablE 3 
tESt oF hoMogEnEity oF variancES

Project Levene  
Statistic Sig.

1 .423 .515
2 .088 .766
3 .387 .534
4 1.958 .162
5 3.234 .072
6 2.381 .123
7 4.186 .041
8 10.740 .001
9 .089 .765

10 10.717 .001

tablE 4 
anova rESultS poSt variancE analySiS

t-test for Equality of Means
Sig.  

(2-tailed)
Mean  

Difference
Std. Error  
Difference

Ex1
Equal variances assumed .518 .9265 1.4322
Equal variances not assumed .531 .9265 1.4762

Ex2
Equal variances assumed .487 .8629 1.2419
Equal variances not assumed .473 .8629 1.2017

Ex3
Equal variances assumed .559 -.7543 1.2904
Equal variances not assumed .532 -.7543 1.2066

Ex4
Equal variances assumed .161 1.4307 1.0189
Equal variances not assumed .180 1.4307 1.0653

Ex5
Equal variances assumed .290 2.1729 2.0502
Equal variances not assumed .318 2.1729 2.1727

Ex6
Equal variances assumed .544 1.3478 2.2198
Equal variances not assumed .561 1.3478 2.3187

Ex7
Equal variances assumed .548 -1.3716 2.2830
Equal variances not assumed .517 -1.3716 2.1155

Ex8
Equal variances assumed .003 4.8626 1.6461
Equal variances not assumed .008 4.8626 1.8304

Ex9
Equal variances assumed .245 2.6724 2.2994
Equal variances not assumed .245 2.6724 2.2925

Ex10
Equal variances assumed .037 -4.3134 2.0607
Equal variances not assumed .020 -4.3134 1.8498

tablE 5 
anova rESultS For  

dEFinEd buSinESS MajorS 
(n = 878,  p<.05)

Spreadsheet Project F Sig.
1 1.551 .147
2 1.628 .124
3 .640 .723
4 .739 .639
5 .874 .526
6 .910 .498
7 .632 .729
8 1.535 .152
9 1.368 .216

10 1.364 .217
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While each faculty member uses the same course 
resources, additional studies should be consid-
ered that compares pedagogical differences be-
tween instructors to explore implications on 
student performance. Specifically, further work 
should be performed that would compare teach-
ing style differences, professor reputation, and 
student project lab participation.
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IntRoductIon

What does it take to become a successful scholar 
in the Production and Operations Management 
(POM) discipline?  This question is perhaps the 
most crucial one confronting faculty members 
early in their academic careers.  As an emerging 
scholar, I often feel like a beginner in a game of 
chess: I already know the rules that define some 
moves as legal and some as illegal (confound vari-
ables, for example), but nothing in these rules 
provides a strategy for winning the game – to 
become a successful researcher.  It is one thing to 
get doctoral training in research but quite anoth-
er to know how to apply this knowledge. I have 
discussed this issue with many junior scholars 
and found that they share the same feeling as me. 

To identify whether commonly-agreed upon 
principles actually exist on how to do research, 
I surveyed more than 70 top POM researchers. 
By summarizing and categorizing their opin-
ions, this paper tries to help junior scholars in the 
POM fields gain a perspective on doing research. 

collEctIng stEllaR scholaRs’  
oPInIons on REsEaRch

To identify leading scholars in POM, the h-in-
dex for POM-related professors in 225 Ameri-
can business schools in BusinessWeek’s list was 
calculated. This project identified 78 professors 
whose h-indexes are equal or greater than 10 (see 

Appendix. (The detailed procedure can be ob-
tained from the author.)

To make these stellar scholars’ personal opinions 
converge on some commonly agreed upon princi-
ples, I used the Delphi method.  Focusing on the 
junior scholars’ most frequently asked questions, 
the first phase involved sending out the open-end 
questions listed below to the individuals identi-
fied in the preceding step: 

a. Where do ideas for new research come 
from?

b. What is the efficient/effective way to 
build up the scholarship (refer to accu-
mulate knowledge of literature)?

c. Facing the complex real world, what are 
the key points that your model setting or 
research design can reflect the reality?

d. What are your rules of collaboration?

e. What are your rules of writing a publish-
able paper?

f. What is your philosophy of research?

In the initial round of the Delphi, fifty-eight 
usable responses were received. For each survey 
question, I summarized respondent’s opinions 
into several most-frequently-mentioned-opinions 
(MFMOs). Then I resent these six questions with 
their MFMOs to these stellar scholars, asking 

Six Principles of POM Research

Bin Jiang, Ph.D.
Department of Management 

Kellstadt Graduate School of Business 
DePaul University 
Chicago, Illinois

AbstrAct
To more fully understand any strategy at all of how to be a successful researcher of business, this 
paper conducted a Delphi study to gain experts’ agreement on six general research methodological 
and philosophical questions. Experts were consulted in two ways: to obtain their personal judg-
ments related to the six questions and, after summarization and classification of these judgments, 
rank orders of summary categories related to the six questions. The resulting consensus allowed for 
the identification of six overarching principles guiding the research efforts of emerging scholars in 
the business administration field.
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them to rank these summarized opinions based 
on their importance. Using this process, the 
opinions tended to converge toward several areas 
of common agreement. 

REsults

After the first round survey, I categorized the re-
sponses in the six open-end questions through a 
frequency analysis, i.e., for each opinion, I count-
ed how many times it was mentioned by respon-
dents. Table 1 reports these MFMOs and their 
respective frequencies.

For Q1 (Where do ideas for new research come 
from?), the following opinions are the most fre-
quently mentioned:

a. Teaching: students’ questions; working 
closely with doctoral students.

b. Reading the literature: unsolved theo-
retical questions that we stumble upon; 
what can you do to improve upon what 
has already been done; whether your ap-
proach would add substantial value over 
the approach taken (or vice versa). 

c. Networking: conference presentations; 
serving on a variety of panels; talking, 
discussing, or working with colleagues. 

d. Contact with the real world: field 
studies/site visit, working/talking with 
industrial people, reading industry or 

practitioner-oriented publications, 
consulting.

e. Curiosity about things: interesting 
applied problems can come from any-
where, such as intuition, analogies from 
other fields, hypotheses formed from 
real-life observations and so on. There 
was no “the best source”, but rather an 
intersection of sources.

For Q2 (What is the efficient/effective way to 
build up the scholarship?), most stellar scholars 
believed that there is far too much research writ-
ten to master all of it, or even a small percentage. 
Their opinions varied and sometimes even con-
tradicted each other on how to establish neces-
sary knowledge of the literature. 

a. Snapshot: It is important not to repeat 
the past but also not to be led too much 
by it. So, try to develop something on 
your own and then look at the literature. 
You only search for literature that is 
related to your current projects. With 
the huge advantages of online search, it 
is relatively quick to compile citations 
on a well-defined topic.

b. Whole picture: Everyone needs to 
struggle through the learning curve by 
reading top-tier journals in the area 
regularly, attending conferences, and 
following new research trends and direc-
tions. It is better to stay focused in your 
research rather than being opportunistic 
and moving from topic to topic. Since 
you read the literature as it happening, 
you would develop a strong sense of the 
historical development of your subject.

For Q3 (Facing the complex real world, what 
are the key points that your model setting or 
research design can reflect the reality?), stellar 
scholars provided the following opinions about 
modeling: 

a. It is an art: A model need not (indeed 
cannot) exactly match reality. In POM 
we tradeoff robustness with accu-
racy. The key point is that a model must 

improve people’s understanding of a real 
situation. Stay flexible about everything 
and experiment, and don’t get hung up 
on any one set of assumptions. 

b. It is a trial and error process: Fac-
ing a real-world problem, the effective 
method of reaching a correct solution 
or satisfactory result is to try out various 
means or theories until error is suffi-
ciently reduced or eliminated. 

c. Remember Occam’s razor: Always 
build parsimonious models, test and 
demonstrate a model’s robustness. Try to 
filter out the local specifics, ask general 
questions, and answer them with general 
principles. 

d. To ensure reality, know and under-
stand reality: Acceptable approxima-
tions to reality for research publications 
must have some concrete “hooks” to 
what is really happening. Have a deep 
understanding of what you are investi-
gating. 

For Q4 (What are your rules of collaboration?), 
to pick up the right people to make the collabo-
ration enjoyable, successful, and worthwhile, the 
stellar scholars suggested focusing on the follow-
ing criteria:

a. Personality: pick coauthors with whom 
you are comfortable or like personally, 
with whom you have congruent working 
habits and writing styles.

b. Consistency: Because research requires 
stamina, you need coauthors that are 
smart and ready for a marathon. 

c. Expertise: seek out collaborators who 
can help to forge new frontiers and 
methodologies; work with people who 
have expertise in the area with which 
you are struggling.

d. Research topic: work with people 
whose ideas excite you; work with peo-
ple you can find with similar interests.

tablE 1 
thE MoSt FrEquEntly MEntionEd opinionS

Questions MFMO Frequency

Where do ideas for new research come 
from?

Reading the literature 32
Contact with the real world 28
Curiosity about things 27
Networking 19
Teaching 9

What is the efficient/effective way to 
build up the scholarship?

Whole picture 36
Snapshot 31

Facing the complex real-world, what are 
the key points that your model setting or 
research design can reflect the reality?

To ensure reality, know and understand 
reality 29

It is a trial and error process 21
It is an art 13
Remember Occam’s razor 8

What are your rules of collaboration?)

Personality 30
Research topic 27
Expertise 25
Consistency 12

What are your rules of writing a 
publishable paper?

Contribution 43
Motivation 39
Expression 34

What is your philosophy of research?

Follow your interests. 34
Focus on the “big problem” 26
Doing derivative work 22
Start with simple ideas and extend them 18



Bin Jiang Six Principles of Research

80 Journal of Learning in Higher Education 81Fall 2011 (Volume 7 Issue 2)

For Q5 (What are your rules of writing a pub-
lishable paper?), most stellar scholars warned 
junior ones that always write with the reviewers 
in mind. Reviewers are very busy, so try to make 
their job easier. Neglecting reviewers risks get-
ting them angry. Once that happens, their axe 
comes out and giving the author a whack. Every 
author’s goal should be to keep the reviewer’s axe 
in its sheath. The following aspects are the most 
frequently mentioned by stellar scholars:

a. Motivation: Not every reviewer who 
picks up your paper will be directly in-
terested. If you don’t motivate reviewers 
well, they may purposefully pick holes in 
your paper. 

b. Contribution: A paper is publishable 
if and only if it has something new to 
say. If your paper does not make your 
contribution to the literature very clear, 
reviewers will go through your paper 
with a negative attitude, rather than dig-
ging for the contributions.

c. Expression: The expression of an idea 
can be as important as the idea itself. A 
good idea badly expressed has no im-
pact; an average idea superbly expressed 
can have great impact. And impact is the 
key measure of success. 

For Q6 (What is your philosophy of research?), 
although most stellar scholars pointed out that 
their research philosophies may be just well 
suited for their own interests and talents, their 
philosophies reflect that their research strategies 
cluster in the following areas:

a. Focus on the “big problem” which lasts 
and gets cited years after it is published. 
You should go for the big winner and 
be sure that you will be proud of your 
article when you look at it years later. 

b. Follow your interests and work on 
problems you enjoy. Doing quality 
research requires a passion for the topic, 
because it drives innovation, originality, 
and impact.

c. Start with simple ideas and extend 
them as far as possible to increase ap-
plicability and understanding. 

d. Doing derivative work is okay, as 
long as it is not too trivial to have an 
impact. You may develop improved 
theoretical or methodological results 
over what other people have done (i.e., 
applying new methods to old problems), 
or work on problems that seem intrigu-
ing and interesting, and where you have 
a chance of applying your familiarized 
tools to solve them (i.e., applying old 
methods to new problems).    

In the second round of the Delphi, the stellar 
scholars ranked the importance of MFMOs for 
each questions. I received 52 useful responses. 
The results are listed in Table 2. 

dIscussIon

After the second round, the opinions converged 
toward some common principles that may pro-
vide valuable insights to junior scholars.

where do new research ideas originate?

Marshall Fisher (Wharton) says: “As I argued 
in the paper (Strengthening the Empirical Base 
of Operations Management. Manufacturing & 
Service Operations Management 9(4) Fall 2007, 
pp. 368-382), I’ve always felt most researchers 
rely too much on academic papers and the busi-
ness press as a source of research ideas, which 
tends to result in less innovative research. I’ve 
found working with a company on a real prob-
lem to be a great source of new research topics.”  
John McClain (Cornell) believes that “practices 
in the real world lead the academic community. 
JIT is an example. Academic investigation of 
those practices can lead to improvements in the 
way they are applied (e.g. optimization), or at the 
very least, introducing your colleagues to a great 
‘new’ idea.” Hau Lee (Stanford) lists several com-
mon approaches to connect with the real world:  
“I mostly get ideas on research from real world 
problems – through my interactions with indus-
try executives, in attending industry conferences, 
executive programs, and industry publications.” 

Aleda Roth (Clemson) also gets many of her ideas 
this way: “I tend to work on problems that emerge 
from real problems faced by managers--either 
through field work or through networking with 
faculty and executives. I also get good ideas from 
teaching cases in areas in which I’m interested. 
Oftentimes, such cases bring out issues that have 
not yet been thoroughly researched. Others ideas 
come from operations issues raised in the press.”

However, several stellar scholars warn junior re-
searchers that they should sparingly undertake 
consulting. They believe networking is a more 
effective and thought provoking approach for 
junior faculty. Keith Ord (Georgetown) sug-
gests: “… staying current with the literature and 
networking with other researchers in the areas 
are most important.” Kenneth Boyer (Michi-
gan State) also emphasizes the importance of 
networking: “Social capital is immensely valu-

able in academia.   By regularly conversing with 
colleagues – about anything – good ideas and 
themes are bound to develop.”

Reading literature sounds like a cliché, but many 
stellar scholars reveal new insights of it. Wallace 
Hopp (Michigan) says: “while I don’t think that 
one usually finds highly promising research areas 
by reading the OM literature, I do think that 
important research ideas can come from read-
ing other literatures.” Richard Chase (Southern 
Cal.) shares his experience of reading literature 
with junior scholars: “My work on service de-
sign started out when in the process of revising 
the 2nd edition of my book with Aquilano. We 
realized that there was little theory on service op-
erations and I decided to develop an operational 
structure for services.   This resulted in the cus-
tomer contact model for service encounters.  My 
basic source for structuring service interactions 

tablE 2 
rESultS oF iMportancE ranking

quEStionS MFMo MEan S.E. analySiS

Q1

a 4.06 0.14
ANOVA results: 
F = 19.25; F-critical = 2.41; p-value = 0.00 
Reject H0 (All means are same)

b 2.92 0.20
c 2.37 0.07
d 3.04 0.21
e 2.15 0.19

Q2
a 1.47 0.12 Paired t-test results:  

t = 0.82; t-critical (two-tail) = 2.12; p-value = 0.42 
Fail to reject H0 (Two means are equal)b 1.29 0.11

Q3

a 2.82 0.14
ANOVA results: 
F = 24.18; F-critical = 2.65; p-value = 0.00 
Reject H0 (All means are same)

b 2.12 0.14
c 3.06 0.15
d 1.61 0.12

Q4

a 2.37 0.15
ANOVA results: 
F = 1.16; F-critical = 2.65; p-value = 0.33 
Fail to reject H0 (All means are same)

b 2.65 0.16
c 2.31 0.18
d 2.58 0.11

Q5
a 1.67 0.11 ANOVA results: 

F = 1.54; F-critical = 3.06; p-value = 0.22 
Fail to reject H0 (All means are same)

b 1.53 0.09
c 1.78 0.11

Q6

a 2.43 0.14
ANOVA results: 
F = 95.99; F-critical = 2.65; p-value = 0.00 
Reject H0 (All means are same)

b 1.11 0.04
c 2.78 0.10
d 3.43 0.09
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was an organization theory book, ‘Organizations 
in Action’ by James D. Thompson.  He proposed 
several propositions about organizational ratio-
nality that could be applied nicely to services… 
I also read Academy of Management, Journal of 
Marketing, and more recently various journals in 
behavioral decision theory.” 

While teaching generally requires a separate ef-
fort from a professor’s research, students can 
sometimes inspire professors with unanticipated 
questions. In addition, professors have to invest a 
significant effort in preparing materials for their 
courses. This teaching activity can deepen a one’s 
understanding of potential research topics. Many 
times new ideas come from working closely with 
doctoral students (Anna Nagurney at UMASS). 
Michael Crum (Iowa State) says: “I think it 
is very important for researchers, particularly 
young researchers, to create synergies among 
their research, teaching, and outreach.  The more 
you can tie these together, the more time efficient 
and productive you can be.”

Even though stellar scholars agreed that “real 
world”, “networking”, “teaching” and “reading 
literature” as possible sources of new ideas, they 
also emphasized that without a curious mind, 
you still cannot discover new ideas through those 
sources. Urban Wemmerlov (Wisconsin) says: “I 
do research out of curiosity. I try to learn (a) what 
is going on in organizations, (b) how people or or-
ganizations make certain decisions (c) why they 
make those decisions, and (d) how they should 
make those decisions for better outcomes.”A suc-
cessful researcher should have “a general curios-
ity about things combined with exposure to new 
situations and problems” (Garrett van Ryzin at 
Columbia). Paul Zipkin (Duke) says: “I picked 
E (curiosity), because it sort of means ‘all of the 
above’.” This may be the reason why “curiosity 
about things” was ranked the most important 
source of new ideas. 

What is the efficient/effective way to 
build up the scholarship?

Stellar scholars acknowledged that it is very dif-
ficult to rank the importance of “Snapshot” and 
“Whole picture”. After running a paired t-test, I 
found that there is no significant difference be-
tween the two schools of thought. 

For choice B (whole picture), many stellar pro-
fessors pointed out its benefits to junior schol-
ars. James Orlin (MIT) believes that young re-
searchers should “have an intimate knowledge 
of research that is very closely connected to the 
research they are doing.” By doing so, they can 
“have a working knowledge of lots of research 
ideas and methodologies from a wide range of 
areas so that they can try out lots of different 
ideas on whatever problem that they are address-
ing…, and know where to look when they want 
to pursue an idea.” Zhi-Long Chen (Maryland) 
suggests: “it is important to see the whole picture 
of the problem/methodology you study and even 
look at problems and methods in other areas. This 
can give you complete information as to where 
you stand. .. There is a time-consuming setup if 
you want to dive into a new area. So, do not move 
from topic to topic. Popular topics come and go 
quickly. You need to focus on a few topics that 
you can research for a long time.” 

In contrast, some stellar professors believed that 
becoming familiar with the literature is a second 
priority compared with the newness of research 
idea. As a result, they ranked A over B. John Birge 
(Chicago) says: “I often follow a process of trying 
to develop something on my own and then look 
at the literature.” Wallace Hopp (Michigan) also 
holds the same opinion: “I strongly believe that 
the most important research ideas come from 
studying the world, not the research of others.  
However, after one has discovered a research op-
portunity by looking at the world, it is important 
to study the literature in order to understand 
what has been done and what tools might be rel-
evant to the problem.” 

David Pyke (Dartmouth) describes his thoughts 
when he ranked choices A and B: “I tend to stay 
focused on an area of research or two (choice B), 
but I often begin a new area by finding a problem 
from industry or curiosity, and then searching 
the literature to find out if and how it has been 
solved (choice A).  The reason I put ‘B’ above is 
because I think it is very important for young 
researchers to avoid jumping topics frequently.” 
Similarly, Sridhar Tayur (Carnegie Mellon) be-
lieves A and B are two parallel paths: “Pick a 
long term ‘canonical’ research direction, such as 
multi-echelon inventory theory; do many inter-
esting real world contemporary projects, such as 

time-shared jet aircraft, dynamic in-game (video 
games) ads scheduling, designing rapid response 
supply chains.” This may be the reason why stel-
lar scholars’ opinions evenly distribute between 
the two choices. 

what are the key points where your 
model setting or research design  
reflect reality?

Several leading scholars mentioned that in try-
ing to solve a problem, one is always tempted to 
use tools with which one is familiar. This is very 
natural. Our doctoral training for the most part 
deals with tools. Exercises associated with such 
learning are always designed to fit these tools. 
As a result, when junior scholars tackle a prob-
lem outside the textbook, their first instinct is 
to reach for these tools. Too often, they bend 
the problem to fit the solution. This may trigger 
one of the greatest dangers in OM research: Type 
III error – solving the wrong problem (Wallace 
Hopp at Michigan). Hau Lee (Stanford) urges 
junior scholars should always be problem rather 
than methodology driven. He says: “Maybe not 
the methodologies that we use, but the prob-
lem itself, the insights and inferences from the 
analysis, and the implications and lessons of the 
completed work, should be of interest to practi-
tioners.  With this in mind, I think our research, 
regardless of what methodologies were used, 
would make a difference and be of value to in-
dustry.” To maintain managerial relevance and 
academic rigorousness simultaneously, only after 
the former seed planting and germination can 
the latter grow and flower. “Understanding the 
reality” is not only important before modeling 
but also after modeling, since many researchers 
“live in a ‘model-oriented’ world, not checking 
that their work is not applicable” (Sridhar Tayur 
at Carnegie Mellon). Christopher Tang (UCLA) 
and Gary Pisano (Harvard) suggest that the 
model should always be tested against whether 
it helps people understand reality. “One way of 
tapping into the real world is to engage in discus-
sions of the problem with knowledgeable practi-
tioners. I call it an OM sense-making exercise,” 
says Aleda Roth (Clemson).

Compared to “understanding reality” that is 
treated as a strategy by stellar scholars, the other 
three MFMOs (a trial and error process, an art, 

and Occam’s razor) focus on tactical issues. How-
ever, they are also important to the development 
of innovative research.

Egon Balas (Carnegie Mellon) shares his expe-
rience of how to go through the trial and error 
process: “Facing a real-world problem, my first 
approach is to try to capture its essential features 
into a model that is manageable, even if the an-
swer is far from an accurate representation of it. 
In other words, to get going, I settle for an im-
perfect representation. Then I set out to refine it 
by adding those features which can be accommo-
dated without making the problem unmanage-
able.” 

However, “the real world is always going to be 
more complex than your model; that is, your 
model is always wrong” (Keith Ord at George-
town). As a result, a model’s acceptable approxi-
mations become an art that takes time to develop 
(Abraham Seidmann at Rochester). To ply this 
art, Garrett van Ryzin (Columbia) tells junior 
scholars: “The best advice I can give is to stay flex-
ible about everything and experiment and do not 
get hung up on any one set of assumptions.” Rog-
er Schroeder (Minnesota) suggests: “You must 
start with a solid theory, (because) you test the 
theory itself, not the hypotheses.  The hypotheses 
are only a reflection of the theory that is worth 
testing; the conclusions are only as good as the 
assumptions that are part of the theory.” 

Many well-recognized scholars emphasize the 
importance of building parsimonious models. 
Gregory Dobson (Rochester) urges junior schol-
ars to “remember Occam’s razor”, because “too 
often modeling becomes an exercise in itself ” 
(Gary Pisano at Harvard). A good model should 
take the problem as it presents itself and not form 
any pre-conceived idea on how to solve it. Con-
fronting a problem on its terms promotes looking 
at it in the simplest terms since we have nothing 
but common sense to guide us. Many authors 
forget this simple fact; rather, they view the mod-
eling process as an opportunity to bolster their 
own egos and impress the reader, even discomfit 
the reader somewhat with too much material. 

what are your rules of collaboration?

A stellar scholar (who desires anonymity) pro-
vides the analogy that business schools follow 
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the zoo model to build up the faculty group. In a 
zoo, you have one animal of each kind. Academic 
staff is chosen to teach their particular curricu-
lums, so the thinking is that you need to have a 
pretty deep expertise in the subject. However, in 
today’s cross-discipline dominated atmosphere 
in academic research, a researcher should follow 
another model in doing research: the safari park 
model where you have a small number of packs of 
similar animals. One of the reasons that research 
groups may be more productive than individuals 
is that there is a good deal of shared knowledge 
(Uday Karmarkar at UCLA). Lee Krajewski 
(Notre Dame) says: “sometimes the coauthor has 
expertise in a particular methodology neces-
sary for the project or the coauthor comes from 
a different field of study and provides a needed 
perspective in a project aimed at bridging dis-
ciplines; sometimes the coauthor is a source of 
energy and excitement and is a great colleague 
to work with.” These stellar scholars’ criteria of 
collaboration almost evenly distribute among the 
four MFMOs. 

Many stellar scholars directly mention person-
ality as a key factor and only work with friends 
and people that they like (Christian Terwiesch at 
Wharton). Garrett van Ryzin (Columbia) says: “I 
like collaborating with many people and working 
with people I like personally and enjoying work-
ing with. If it’s a fun project with people I like, 
the result is more productive and creative.” Abra-
ham Seidmann (Rochester) states: “I like to work 
with coauthors that share my personal joy of re-
search, have bright mind, and a sense of humor.” 

Some top scholars believe that the research topic 
is the key driver of collaboration (Jeannette Song 
at Duke). Charles Corbett (UCLA) believes that 
the selection of coauthor is opportunistic: “who-
ever is interested in similar problems.” Nicholas 
Hall (Ohio State) emphasizes: “Work with the 
best people you can find with similar interests.” 
In addition, working with people have same re-
search interest with you does not waste a lot of 
time and effort establishing background knowl-
edge when you want to discuss issues.

Since it is hard fully to grasp cross-discipline 
knowledge, complementary expertise is a rea-
sonable criterion to select coauthors. The anony-
mous stellar scholar makes a strong statement: 

“The best way is to work with people who already 
know how to do it!”

Abraham Seidmann (Rochester) points out: “Re-
search requires stamina; you need coauthors who 
are ready for a marathon.” Nicholas Hall (Ohio 
State) warns: “Try not to work with people who 
are obviously overburdened with other tasks, or 
even other research.” Stefan Thomke (Harvard) 
emphasizes that good coauthors should “delivers 
high quality contributions on time.” To keep all 
coauthors on the same pace, Herbert Moskowitz 
(Purdue) suggest: “Meet once per week (regular-
ly) to discuss/evaluate research status and prog-
ress, and to set goals for following week.”

what are your rules of  
writing a publishable paper?

The anonymous stellar scholar joked that a paper 
published in an academic journal is read on the 
average by five persons – the author, the editor, 
and the three reviewers of the paper. This is not 
far from the truth because most academic papers 
are difficult to understand and follow even for 
the professionals. As a result, it is naturally that 
most stellar scholars mentioned the importance 
of keeping reviewers in mind during the paper 
writing. 

Many stellar scholars ranked “Contribution” as 
the No. 1 necessity of a publishable paper. They 
believe that a publishable paper must “be very 
clear what your contribution is to the literature” 
(Christian Terwiesch at Wharton), whether its 
advancing theory, developing a new methodol-
ogy, empirically examining an important issue, 
etc. Egon Balas (Carnegie Mellon) says: “My rule 
is simple: a paper is (or should be) publishable if 
it has something new to say. How significant the 
new thing is will decide whether the paper should 
go to a top level or to a less exigent publication. 
But, again, the ruling criterion is to have some-
thing new to say.” Reviewers are not here for the 
money. The real benefits for them are that they 
stay current in their own fields and improve their 
own reputation by being associated with a good-
quality journal. As a result, reviewers often think 
in terms of “value of the paper per unit time spent 
reviewing the paper” (James Orlin at MIT). You 
have to “make sure the contribution is evident 
right up front” (Wallace Hopp at Michigan).

Reviewers are “forced” to read your paper, so that 
they often will not be directly interested in your 
paper (Nicholas Hall at OSU). In addition, be-
cause the reviewers are often those who work on 
different topics, it is important to help them find 
your paper interesting (James Orlin at MIT).  
The paper should grab the reader’s attention and 
interest early (Michael Crum at Iowa State). The 
author should facilitate the review of the paper 
by not placing unreasonable demands upon the 
readers. Wallace Hopp (Michigan) reminds ju-
nior researchers that they should be very careful 
to cite the literature properly: “An author who 
fails to cite a previous paper that is related to the 
current paper can be perceived as trying to de-
ceive the referees into thinking the contribution 
of the current paper is larger than it is.  Nothing 
turns off referees faster than a perception of de-
ception.”

Many stellar scholars emphasize the importance 
of expression. They advise junior researchers to 
“strive for excellence in writing” and “strive to 
make explanations and reasoning as simple, clear 
and direct as possible” ((Urban Wemmerlov at 
Wisconsin; Garrett van Ryzin at Columbia). Mi-
chael Crum (Iowa State) points out that “noth-
ing frustrates reviewers more than a paper that 
is poorly organized, full of typos, formatted im-
properly, etc.” The quality of reading flow stems 
naturally from a well-organized outline. Charles 
Corbett (UCLA) says: “write VERY VERY care-
fully and thoroughly; define the outline of the 
paper, then the outline of the sections, then the 
outline of the subsections, etc. Don’t just start 
writing, it will be impossible to read and pain-
ful to edit.” An anonymous stellar scholar men-
tions: “In many ways writing a research paper 
is like writing a good novel, which gets readers 
absorbed in the plot and eager to read the next 
chapter.”

what is your philosophy of research? 

Facing the four MFMOs, almost all stellar schol-
ars ranked “follow your interest” as the top issue, 
i.e., “find a research topic/area about which you 
are passionate” (Bruce Golden at Maryland). 
John Current (Ohio State) says: “In my opinion, 
B (follow your interest) is the most important ad-
vice in the entire list!” Wallace Hopp (Michigan) 
points out that “too many authors seem to do re-

search on problems because ‘they can’.” In fact, 
“doing quality research requires a passion for the 
topic” (John Birge at Chicago). 

The second most important attitude of research 
was ranked as “focus on the big problem”, be-
cause the big problem related research “will be 
published forever” (Nicholas Hall at Ohio State). 
Gary Pisano (Harvard) gives more detailed rea-
sons of why junior scholars should do this: “Too 
often, younger scholars fall into a trap of think-
ing they have be ‘safe’ by doing incremental 
work well.  That’s NOT a safe approach. In fact, 
I  would say it is a sure fire way to get nowhere.   
When you start working on a project, ask your-
self: what is the upside? Can I have big impact?   
If not, don’t do it.   It is not going to help your 
career to publish one or two incremental papers.  
You might as well strike out completely. Go for 
the big winners.” Aleda Roth (Clemson) concurs: 
“Research should address problems and issues 
that can potentially have a high impact on the 
profession and society – either in substance or in 
research methods, and oftentimes in both areas.  
Importantly,  senior scholars can often contrib-
ute to the development of junior colleagues as 
collaborators, mentors and readers.”

While many stellar professors praise the atti-
tude of “focusing on the big problem”, they also 
remind junior scholars that “no one can write a 
‘big idea’ paper every time out” (Wallace Hopp 
at Michigan) and “to focus on big problems re-
quires enormous foresight, patience, and permis-
sion to spend time on research that may take long 
time to come to fruition” (Urban Wemmerlov 
at Wisconsin). Wallace Hopp (Michigan) sug-
gests to junior researchers: “it’s better to think 
in terms of a portfolio.  With the goal of hav-
ing an impact on an area you really care about, 
write some papers that address small issues and 
some that address large ones.  While you might 
not change the world with a single paper, you 
might with your cumulative portfolio.” John 
Current (Ohio State) compares the creation of 
a research portfolio to landscaping: “You need 
some tall oak trees but you also need some lesser 
trees and shrubs as they also enhance the overall 
impact. Over time, some ‘shrubs’ end up being a 
highlight of the landscape (portfolio).” To build 
up such a rich portfolio, beside “focusing on the 
big problem”, stellar scholars’ advice converges on 
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“starting with simple ideas and extending them 
as far as possible to increase applicability and un-
derstanding” and “doing derivative work is okay, 
as long as it is not trivial.” 

closIng thoughts

The POM field is a relatively “hard” discipline 
in management. Gregory Dobson (Rochester) 
describes: “Our field is a strange one.  What we 
do is not quite science since we don’t just explain 
the world but work on finding ways to improve 
it.  We don’t just want to make a particular situ-
ation better because we want to generalize what 
we learned.  We struggle to generalize by making 
our model mathematical, but occasionally fail to 
make realistic in the simplifying assumptions.” 
Junior scholars must struggle with these conflicts 
to develop their research “rigorous enough to de-
fend to academia while relevant to interest busi-
ness people” (Seungjin Whang at Stanford). 

While junior scholars may possess the latest 
analytical/statistical techniques, these research 
methods tell them almost nothing about how 
to do research. “Vision” and “sense” in research 
are unlikely to be learned through examinations. 
Junior scholars need guidance and experience to 
build up their vision and sense in research. Con-
sequently, interaction and feedback with estab-
lished scholars is a necessary part of this process. 

The beginning of this paper started out by posing 
issues that were important to emerging scholars.  
As we progressed through the paper, the observa-
tions, advice and even philosophical commentary 
about research were provided by leading POM 
scholars.  Some common wisdom that was culled 
from these scholars for developing a research 
agenda are listed as the following principles: 

Principle 1:  
You must be curious

While new ideas can come from everywhere, 
whether from media, colleagues’ papers or pre-
sentations, students’ questions, or consulting 
projects, the underlying principle is that you must 
have a basic curiosity to synthesize unconnected 
pieces of information and relate your knowledge 
to the real world; otherwise, you are not able to 
explore new insights beyond known.  

Principle 2:  
dichotomy of literature does not  matter

No matter which school of thought you belong 
to, it is important for emerging scholars to recall 
the purpose of academic research: to advance the 
collective knowledge of the discipline. So it is 
not a matter of either the snapshot or the whole 
picture. “Be driven by the world around you, not 
the academics next door” (Christian Terwiesch 
at Wharton).

Principle 3:  
You must know and understand reality

While all of the following statements are true 
– models should be parsimonious, models are 
appropriately developed by trial and error, and 
modeling is something of an art - the real key to a 
good model is that it captures the true essence of 
the system under study.  “No amount of model-
ing skill can serve as a substitute for a deep un-
derstanding of the problem” (Wallace Hopp at 
Michigan). 

Principle 4:  
working with the right people

“The collaboration has to be based on mutual 
respect and support” (Hau Lee at Stanford). As 
a result, your coauthors’ personality, complemen-
tary expertise, research interests, and working 
styles and habits are all critical to a successful col-
laboration.  

Principle 5:  
a publishable paper is a trio

Contribution, motivation, and expression are 
all important to a publishable research, and very 
hard to pick one as more important than anoth-
er, i.e., “these factors are multiplicative, not addi-
tive” (Charles Corbett at UCLA), so if a paper 
completely fails on any of the three aforemen-
tioned, it’s not publishable.

Principle 6:  
follow your interest  
rather than your tools

“If you aren’t interested in your topic – no one 
else will be either.   Your goal is to convey your 

enthusiasm” (Kenneth Boyer at Michigan State). 
If you are engaged in problems that you enjoy, 
whether they are big problems or small ones, “you 
are creating, not working; you have a passion, not 
a job” (John Current at Ohio State). 
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appEndix 
StEllar ScholarS in thE FiEld oF poM (baSEd on publicationS SincE 1985) 

Name University
H 

index 
(by 04/15/08) 

Hau L. Lee Stanford University 30
Awi Federgruen Columbia University 22
Egon Balas Carnegie Mellon (Tepper) 19
Paul H. Zipkin Duke University (Fuqua) 18
Sunder Kekre Carnegie Mellon (Tepper) 18
Dimitris J. Bertsimas MIT (Sloan) 17
Uday S. Karmarkar UCLA (Anderson) 17
Roger G. Schroeder University of Minnesota (Carlson) 17
Morris A. Cohen University of Pennsylvania (Wharton) 16
Wallace J. Hopp University of Michigan (Ross) 16
Herbert Moskowitz Purdue University (Krannert) 16
Suresh P. Sethi University of Texas at Dallas 16
John Sterman MIT (Sloan) 16
John R. Current Ohio State University (Fisher) 15
Alan R. Dennis Indiana University (Kelley) 15
Marshall L. Fisher University of Pennsylvania (Wharton) 15
Nicholas G. Hall Ohio State University (Fisher) 15
Panos Kouvelis Washington University (Olin) 15
James B. Orlin MIT (Sloan) 15
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IntRoductIon

Research motives, purposes, and expect-
ed contributions

The increasing internationalization of campuses, 
companies, and communities is a major recent 
development. Marcum (2001) suggested that in 
a world where interest in global issues only con-
tinues to grow, studying abroad must be viewed 
from a much wider perspective. In light of the 
trend of overseas learning and in response to 
competitive student recruitment of global higher 
education institutions, an important strategy for 
the internationalization of higher education ad-
opted by the Ministry of Education in Taiwan 
is to increase both the number and quality of 
international students studying in Taiwan. Re-
garding the Project for Increasing the Number 

of International Students Studying in Taiwan 
by the Executive Yuan, the Ministry of Educa-
tion mentioned, “The government has started to 
invest considerable funds, and it is expected that 
in 2011, there will be as many as 12,830 interna-
tional students studying for degrees in Taiwan” 
(Ministry of Education, 2007). With the impact 
of the low birth rate in Taiwan, international 
student recruitment can be regarded as one ap-
proach to solve the problem of a shortage of stu-
dents in higher education institutions. Therefore, 
higher education institutions in Taiwan should 
view international student recruitment as a long-
term objective and establish complete policies 
and systems. In today’s world of higher educa-
tion, demonstrated outcomes and applicability 
to the real world are vital to the sustainment of 
academic programs. Students and their parents 
are more inclined than ever to hold colleges and 
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AbstrAct
In response to the internationalization of higher education and the trend of studying abroad, the 
recruitment of international students and the evaluation of the concrete effects of overseas learning 
have become the educational objectives of higher education institutions in various countries. In ad-
dition, to enable students to face the competitive global job market, higher education is attaching 
increased importance to the development of cross-cultural adaptability and communication skills. 
This study examined international students learning Mandarin Chinese at the Chinese language 
centers of universities in Taiwan to investigate their cross-cultural adaptability. The research results 
showed that, in general, the cross-cultural adaptation of international students of diversified cul-
tural backgrounds studying in Taiwan was good. The international students suggested that the liv-
ing environment in the Tainan metropolitan area was safe and satisfactory. Approximately 38% of 
the international students suggested that they were satisfied with their learning in Taiwan. Howev-
er, most of the international students suggested that the Mandarin Chinese teaching materials and 
the teaching materials of other professional courses taught in Chinese were difficult and exhaustive.
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universities accountable for the quality of the 
educational opportunities they provide; educa-
tion consumers want assurances that institutions 
will provide the knowledge, skills, and aware-
ness that will contribute directly to success after 
graduation (Vande Berg, 2001). The skills needed 
for success today differ from those needed just a 
few years ago. Furthermore, college graduates 
currently face a capricious job market; in such a 
market, they can be expected to change careers, 
and not just jobs, six times during their lives, and 
they may retire from jobs that do not even exist at 
present. In fact, rather than looking for specific 
training in a single field, many employers today 
consider communication skills to be the top pri-
ority when looking for employees (Job Outlook, 
2000).

This study investigated the cross-cultural adap-
tation problems encountered by international 
students of diversified cultural backgrounds dur-
ing the course of their studies in Taiwan. To help 
students face the competitive global job market 
in the future, higher education should attach 
importance to the development of their cross-
cultural adaptability and communication skills 
during their studies in Taiwan. Most of the cur-
rent studies on international students focus on 
life adaptation or adaptation status, for example, 
physiological, psychological, and stress situations, 
instead of the important issue of cross-cultural 
adaptation. Currently, Chinese language courses 
constitute the most common form of higher edu-
cation for international students in Taiwan(Ma, 
2008), because all the colleges and universities are 
devoted to the development of Chinese language 
courses for assisting international students in ac-
ademic learning and life adaptation. The subjects 
in this study were international students learning 
Mandarin Chinese at universities in the Tainan 
metropolitan area. The purpose of this study was 
to understand the current status and differences 
between international students of different cul-
tural backgrounds learning Mandarin Chinese 
in Taiwan. It was expected that practical sugges-
tions could be proposed for the development and 
improvement of policies and systems for interna-
tional student recruitment in higher education 
in Taiwan. These suggestions will be based on an 
understanding of the actual situation of interna-
tional students’ cross-cultural adaptability, and 
they will help international students studying in 

Taiwan adapt themselves to cultural differences, 
local learning, and life as effectively and quickly 
as possible. This could then further improve the 
cross-cultural adaptability and communication 
skills of international students in Taiwan and 
achieve the educational objective of the inter-
nationalization of higher education. After this 
educational objective is achieved, higher-quality 
international students can be recruited to study 
in Taiwan and promote improvements in the 
quality of internationalization. As there are few 
studies on international students’ cross-cultural 
adaptability and overseas learning in Taiwan, the 
research results can resolve the present deficien-
cies in literature on international students, cross-
cultural adaptability, and studying abroad.

Definitions

1. “Studying abroad” refers to the act of 
students pursuing educational opportu-
nities in a country other than their own.

2. “International students” refers to 
students of other nationalities who are 
formally learning Mandarin Chinese at 
colleges and universities with Chinese 
language centers in Taiwan.

3. “Cross-cultural adaptability” refers to 
the reconsideration and adjustment 
of behavior and ideological criteria to 
better match another culture. During 
the course of cross-cultural adaptability 
acquisition, individuals will experience 
various feelings or physical and psy-
chological changes (Ward & Kennedy, 
1996).

lItERatuRE REvIEw

International students studying  
mandarin chinese in taiwan

International students form the bridges of inter-
national friendship, and international student re-
cruitment can strengthen Taiwan’s international 
relationships. Moreover, the number of interna-
tional students is not only an important indica-
tor of the internationalization and international 
competitiveness of higher education but also a 

sign of national attractiveness and the influence 
of a country. According to the statistics as of Oc-
tober 30, 2009, there were 22,366 international 
students pursuing degree programs and non-
degree courses (including exchange students, 
short-term trainees, personal study students, and 
Mandarin Chinese learning students) in Taiwan 
in 2009. According to the statistics, there were 
11,612 international students studying at Chi-
nese language centers in colleges and universities 
in 2009, with the number increasing by 961 from 
2008, when there were 10,651. Among these 
international students, most of them (6,209 in 
total, or 53%) came from Asian countries, fol-
lowed by the Americas (3,071, or 26%). The 
international student pool comprised students 
from 126 countries. The highest number of in-
ternational students were from the following five 
countries: the US (2,087), Japan (1,739), Korea 
(1,145), Vietnam (1,055), and Indonesia (877). 
These students studied at 30 Chinese language 
centers in Taiwan; most of them (3,364) studied 
at National Taiwan Normal University, followed 
by Chinese Culture University (1,070), Tam-
kang University (720), National Taiwan Univer-
sity (696), and National Cheng Kung University 
(635) (Department of Statistics, Ministry of Ed-
ucation, 2009). In the inter-governmental policy 
advisor discussion of academic education cat-
egories, President Ma Ying-jeou indicated that 
colleges and universities have faced a shortage of 
students. It is expected that the proportion of in-
ternational students (including overseas Chinese 
students) in colleges and universities in Taiwan 
will increase to twice of that in 2008 (1.3%) in 
order to increase the international competitive-
ness of college students. Therefore, growth in the 
number of international students pursuing non-
degree courses will also be included in future 
objectives for growth in international student 
numbers. Under the premise of improving the 
international education quality of higher edu-
cation, the Ministry of Education will encour-
age colleges and universities to improve their 
language-barrier-free internationalized campus 
environments to attract excellent international 
students to study in Taiwan or serve as short-
term trainees to further increase the interaction 
and exchange between local students and inter-
national students, thereby improving the overall 

level of in-campus international education (Of-
fice of the President, Taiwan, 2010).

studies on the cross-cultural  
adaptability of international students

Jin, Donna, and Robyn (1998) suggested that if 
international students’ learning can be accom-
panied by local peer students, the problem of 
cross-cultural adaptation can be effectively re-
solved, and the international perspectives of local 
students can be cultivated. Ward and Kennedy 
(2001) suggested that studies concerning inter-
national students’ cross-cultural adaptability 
mainly focus on three parts: first, to investigate 
international students’ social networks from the 
perspective of cultural learning theory; second, 
to investigate the social skills obtained by inter-
national students from the perspective of stress 
and adaptation theory; and third, to study the in-
group cognition and relationships from the per-
spective of social identity theory. Hellstén (2002) 
mentioned that to meet the needs of internation-
al students, educational reform and implementa-
tion must understand the planning and design 
of teaching materials and teachers for education, 
as well as communication and interaction mod-
els between schools and international students, 
and must include international students’ nation-
alities, cultural backgrounds, and features in 
relevant discussions and reviews. In addition to 
cultural and living problems, the cross-cultural 
adaptation problem mainly encountered by in-
ternational students is academic pressure (Sam, 
2001; Bochner et al., 1997). Arthur (2004) sug-
gested that when there is a conflict between the 
teaching style of the host schools and the former 
learning experiences of international students, 
the students may face difficulties in learning 
cross-cultural adaptation. Li and Gasser (2005) 
pointed out that, in terms of the learning adap-
tation of international students studying abroad, 
social adaptation has to include: the expression of 
attitudes, feelings, and emotions; the adoption of 
the appropriate polemic posture; an understand-
ing of the gaze patterns of the people they are in-
teracting with; and the carrying out of ritualized 
routines, taking leave, self-disclosure, making or 
refusing requests, and self-assertion.

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Student
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Education
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Relevant aspects of studies

Sezrle and Ward (1990) indicated that cross-
cultural adaptation includes two major aspects: 
“psychological adjustment” and “socio-cultural 
adjustment.” Psychological adjustment refers to 
the perceived levels of happiness and satisfaction. 
However, factors such as “pressure,” “social sup-
port,” “partners of the same nationality,” “local 
friends,” “life changes,” “attitude towards inter-
actions with local friends,” and “other individual 
factors” will affect psychological adjustment. 
Moreover, the factors affecting socio-cultural 
adjustment are mainly based on social learning 
theory and thus include assessments on the bases 
and models of interactions, such as “cross-cultur-
al contact,” “cultural distance,” “cross-cultural 
training,” “previous cross-cultural experiences,” 
and “length of residence.” Sandhu and Asrabadi 
(1994) developed the Acculturative Stress Scale 
for International Students, which has been wide-
ly used in studies concerning international stu-
dents. Uehara (1988) investigated international 
students’ cross-cultural adaptability in Japan us-
ing Baker’s (1981) Freshmen Student Adjustment 
Scale. The scale focuses on social and cultural as-
pects, and the aspects of the scale include “study-
ing and researching,” “mind-body wellness,” 
“interpersonal relationships,” and “culture and 
economics of the living environment.” This study 
used the amended Cross-Cultural Scale adopted 
by Uehara (1988), as it is based on the socio-cul-
tural model. This study mainly investigated the 
difficulties encountered by international students 
during their learning adaptation abroad, and ex-
panded the aspects of cross-cultural adaptability 
from a psychological aspect to the interactions 
and relationships with local society. As a result, 
the scale comprehensively included all the factors 
that affect cross-cultural adaptability.

REsEaRch mEthod

Research scope and subjects

This study examined international students 
learning Mandarin Chinese in the Chinese lan-
guage centers at the three universities of the Tain-
an metropolitan area. International students in 
the universities totaled 459 (Department of Sta-
tistics, Ministry of Education, Taiwan, 2009). A 
total of 285 questionnaires were distributed, and 

215 were returned. There were 204 valid ques-
tionnaires, for a return rate of 72%.

Research instruments

This study adopted a questionnaire survey, with 
analysis based on SPSS. Analytical approaches 
included descriptive statistics including mean, 
frequency distribution, and standard deviation, 
and inferential statistics refer to the independent 
sample t-test and one-way ANOVA.

The questionnaire for the quantitative study in-
cluded two parts. Part one was an independent 
demographic variables information form, which 
included a total of eight items: homeland, gender, 
age, educational background, marriage status, 
dwelling, monthly allowance, and length of stay 
in Taiwan. The item concerning the homeland 
was designed on the basis of seven continents and 
their countries, and the relevant regional and 
cultural characteristics of the majority of the in-
ternational students in the Tainan metropolitan 
area. The homeland was categorized into the US, 
South America, Canada, Europe, Southeast Asia, 
Japan, Korea, Australia, and others. Part two 
was the scale of cross-cultural adaptability for 
international students learning abroad, and the 
questions were developed based on amendments 
made to the questions concerning five aspects 
in the Cross-Cultural Scale adopted by Uehara 
(1988). In other words, the cross-cultural adap-
tation problems encountered by international 
students could be analyzed based on these ques-
tions. A total of 39 items were used to measure in-
ternational students’ responses, using a five-point 
Likert Scale ranging from five (strongly agree) to 
one (strongly disagree). The aspects and contents 
of the scale are shown in Table 1. Cronbach’s α 
of the scale of cross-cultural adaptability for in-
ternational students was 0.929, and of the ques-
tions ranged from 0.691 to 0.904. Therefore, the 
internal consistency of the scale was high, repre-
senting a high reliability of the scale. In order to 
test the appropriateness and representativeness 
of the contents and questions in the scale, it was 
important to conduct a content validity analysis. 
The value of the Kaiser-Meyer Olkin Measure of 
Sampling Adequacy (KMO), ranging from 0 to 
1, can be used to determine the appropriateness. 
When the KMO value is greater than 0.50, the 
content validity is high and the scale is represen-

tative. The KMO value of the scale was 0.841, 
and that of the questions ranged from 0.770 to 
0.910. Therefore, the content validity of the scale 
was high and the scale was representative.

tablE 1 
aSpEctS and itEMS oF ScalE oF  

croSS-cultural adaptability

Aspects Numbers of items, and items

Studying 
and  
researching

1. I feel happy in my studies recently.
2. I have been very happy since I began to 

study at the university.
3. My study attitude has been positive re-

cently.
4. I have a clear goal in studying at the 

university.
5. I feel positive on the value of research 

or study at the university.
6. My research project or study has pro-

gressed very smoothly.
7. I have benefited from the curricula I 

am studying at the university.
8. I am satisfied with the courses of this 

semester.
9. I understand my chosen courses very 

well.
10. I feel easy reading books in the Chinese 

language for my chosen specific course.
11. Overall, I am satisfied with my study at 

the university.

Physical, 
mental 
health and 
emotions

1. I have had a good health recently.
2. I have sleep very well recently.
3. I have felt homesick recently.
4. I have often felt pleasure recently.
5. My recent emotional ups and downs 

very smooth.
6. I am very active in the relationships 

recently.
7. I own psychological or spiritual satis-

faction.

Interper-
sonal rela-
tionship

1. I have good Taiwanese friends at my 
university.

2. I have good international student 
friends.

3. I have good Taiwanese friends from 
outside the university.

4. I can communicate well with the pro-
fessors or lecturers of my course.

5. I have had fairly good interpersonal 
relationship recently.

6. I have ample opportunities and Inter-
active for group activities with Tai-
wanese students at the university.

7. Overall, I have good relationships at 
the university.

Local 
culture

1. I understand and can integrate into 
Taiwanese culture in my daily life.

2. Although I am a foreigner, I feel I 
have integrated into the local life.

3. People in Taiwan do not discriminate 
strongly against foreigners; I can eas-
ily take part in group their group ac-
tivities.

4. People in Taiwan are friendly, so com-
municating with them is easy.

5. I can understand the cultural identity 
of the Taiwan people.

6. I obtained a lot of information about 
Taiwan before I came.

Living 
environ-
ment and 
financial 
conditions

1. My current living environment is 
comfortable and satisfactory.

2. The living environment and hygienic 
conditions are good in Taiwan.

3. The neighborhood is very safe around 
my residence.

4. I get along very well with the neigh-
bors around my residence.

5. I can adapt to the local weather.
6. The rent charge of my residence is rea-

sonable.
7. My current financial state is very 

good.
8. Overall, I am satisfied with the local 

life.
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REsEaRch REsults

analysis of demographic variables

The homeland of 36 (17.6%) of the students was 
the US, 15 (7.4%) were from South America, 
and 6 (2.9%) were from Canada. There were 43 
(21.1%) students from Europe, 64 (31.4%) from 
Southeast Asia, 10 (4.9%) from Japan, 7 (3.4%) 
from Korea, and 23 (11.3%) students from other 
countries. Most of the international students 
came from Southeast Asia, followed by Europe 
and the US. In terms of gender, there were 111 
male students (54.4%) and 93 female students 
(45.6%), showing no significant difference be-
tween the number of male and female students. 
In terms of age, there were 26 students under 
the age of 20 years (12.7%), 142 students aged 
21–30 years (69.6%), 34 students aged 31–40 
years (16.7%), and 2 students aged 51–60 years 
(0.8%). Most of the international students were 
aged 21–30 years, followed by the age group 
of 31–40 years. In terms of educational back-
ground, there were 138 students studying in 
colleges (67.6%), 64 students studying in gradu-
ate institutes (31.4%), and 2 students studying 
in PhD programs (1%). In terms of marriage 
status, 185 students were single (90.7%) and 19 
students were married (9.3%), showing that the 
international students studying in Taiwan were 
mainly single. In terms of dwelling status, 78 
students lived in school dormitories (38.2%), 86 
students lived alone outside the school (42.2%), 
and 40 students lived with roommates outside 
the school (19.6%). The international students 
mainly lived alone outside the school. In terms 
of monthly allowance, 14 students (6.9%) spent 
less than NTD$5,000 per month, 59 students 
(28.9%) spent NTD$5,000 to 9,999 per month, 
44 students (21.6%) spent NTD$10,000 to 
14,999 per month, 33 students (16.2%) spent 
NTD$15,000 to 19,999 per month, 34 students 
(16.7%) spent NTD$20,000 to 24,999 per 
month, and 20 students (9.8%) spent more than 
NTD$25,000 per month. Most of the inter-
national students spent NTD$ 5,000 to 9,999 
per month. Regarding length of stay in Taiwan, 
109 international students (53.4%) studied 
in Taiwan for less than one year, 63 students 
(30.9%) studied in Taiwan for one to two years, 
15 students (7.4%) studied in Taiwan for two 

to three years, four students (2.0%) studied in 
Taiwan for three to four years, seven students 
(3.4%) studied in Taiwan for four to five years, 
and six students (2.9%) studied in Taiwan for 
more than five years. Most of the international 
students studied in Taiwan for less than one 
year, meaning they were short-term students.

descriptive statistics 

As shown in Table 2, the mean of most of the in-
ternational students learning Mandarin Chinese 
in Taiwan in every aspect of cross-cultural adapt-
ability revealed positive and satisfactory respons-
es. In the aspect of “studying and researching,” 
the items “I feel happy with my studies recently” 
(Mean = 4.01), “I have a clear goal for studying at 
the university” (Mean = 4.08), and “Overall, I am 
satisfied with my studies at the university” (Mean 
= 4.01) revealed international students’ positive 
learning attitudes. However, the item “I feel it is 
easy to read books in the Chinese language for 
my chosen specific course” (Mean = 3.30) re-
vealed lower satisfaction, indicating that most of 
the international students suggested that it was 
difficult and exhausting to learn the Chinese lan-
guage teaching materials and teaching materials 
of other professional courses in Chinese provided 
by universities of higher education in Taiwan. Re-
garding “physical, mental health and emotions,” 
international students showed the highest level 
of satisfaction for the item “I have been in good 
health recently” (Mean = 4.05), suggesting that, 
in general, international students were in good 
health. The item “I have psychological or spiri-
tual satisfaction” (Mean = 3.77) also revealed 
that most of the international students suggested 
they were physically and spiritually satisfied. The 
item “I have sleep very well recently” (Mean = 
3.54) revealed that some international students 
still failed to sleep normally and experienced 
poor sleep quality. Regarding “interpersonal re-
lationships,” the items “I have good international 
student friends” (Mean = 4.14) and “I have good 
Taiwanese friends at my university” (Mean = 
3.54) revealed that international students’ social 
circles were still restricted to the population of 
foreign students with whom they could easily 
communicate, and that they would keep local 
people and students at a distance. Regarding “lo-
cal culture,” the item “People in Taiwan do not 
discriminate strongly against foreigners; I can 

tablE 2 
dEScriptivE StatiSticS oF thE  

croSS-cultural adaptability oF intErnational StudEntS

Dimensions Variable Mean Std.  
Dev.

Studying and 
Researching

I feel happy in my studies recently. 4.01 0.842
I have been very happy since I began to study at the university. 4.00 0.931
My study attitude has been positive recently. 3.94 0.863
I have a clear goal in studying at the university. 4.08 0.953
I feel positive on the value of research or study at the university. 3.93 0.812
My research project or study has progressed very smoothly. 3.64 0.862
I have benefited from the curricula I am studying at the university. 3.96 0.805
I am satisfied with the courses of this semester. 3.81 0.899
I understand my chosen courses very well. 3.83 0.908
I feel easy reading books in the Chinese language for my chosen specific 
course. 3.30 1.146

Overall, I am satisfied with my study at the university. 4.01 0.873

Physical, 
mental health 
and emotions

I have had a good health recently. 4.05 0.940
I have sleep very well recently. 3.54 1.115
I have felt homesick recently. 2.98 1.295
I have often felt pleasure recently. 3.71 0.902
My recent emotional ups and downs very smooth. 3.35 0.969
I am very active in the relationships recently. 3.69 0.939
I own psychological or spiritual satisfaction 3.77 0.935

Interpersonal 
Relationship

I have good Taiwanese friends at my university. 3.54 1.141
I have good international student friends. 4.14 0.767
I have good Taiwanese friends from outside the university. 3.59 1.265
I can communicate well with the professors or lecturers of my course. 3.85 0.933
I have had fairly good interpersonal relationship recently. 3.87 0.808
I have ample opportunities and Interactive for group activities with 
Taiwanese students at the university. 3.52 1.047

Overall, I have good relationships at the university. 4.00 0.765

Local culture

I understand and can integrate into Taiwanese culture in my daily life. 3.81 0.912
Although I am a foreigner, I feel I have integrated into the local life. 3.72 0.900
People in Taiwan do not discriminate strongly against foreigners; I can 
easily take part in group their group activities. 3.59 0.955

People in Taiwan are friendly, so communicating with them is easy. 
I can understand the cultural identity of the Taiwan people.

3.80 
3.71

0.900 
0.836

Living  
Environment 
and financial 
conditions

My current living environment is comfortable and satisfactory. 3.74 0.896
The living environment and hygienic conditions are good in Taiwan. 3.53 0.999
The neighborhood is very safe around my residence. 4.06 0.782
I get along very well with the neighbors around my residence. 3.75 0.858
I can adapt to the local weather. 3.47 0.974
The rent charge of my residence is reasonable. 3.81 0.856
My current financial state is very good. 3.61 0.926
Overall, I am satisfied with the local life. 3.95 0.767
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easily take part in their group activities” (Mean 
= 3.59) revealed that international students still 
found it stressful to integrate themselves with 
local communities and groups in Taiwan. How-
ever, the items “I understand and can integrate 
into Taiwanese culture in my daily life” (Mean = 
3.81) and “People in Taiwan are friendly, so com-
municating with them is easy” (Mean = 3.80) 
revealed that international students suggested 
that Taiwanese were friendly and easygoing, and 
that they liked to integrate themselves with local 
culture in Taiwan. Regarding “living environ-
ment and financial conditions,” the items “The 
neighborhood is very safe around my residence” 
(Mean = 4.06) and “Overall, I am satisfied with 
the local life” (Mean = 3.95) revealed that the in-
ternational students felt the living environment 
in the Tainan metropolitan area was safe and sat-
isfactory.

level of response

Table 3 summarizes the level of response to the 
cross-cultural adaptability of international stu-
dents learning Mandarin Chinese in Taiwan. 
The international students checked boxes rang-
ing from “strongly agree” to “strongly disagree” 
for each item of the five aspects of cross-cultural 
adaptability, which were “studying and research-
ing,” “physical, mental health and emotions,” 
“interpersonal relationships,” “local culture,” 
and “living environment and financial condi-
tions” in order to express their opinions and 
reveal their level of response to cross-cultural 
adaptability. Regarding the item “I have felt 
homesick recently,” “disagree” was chosen by 
the largest number of students (41 in total, or 
20.4%), followed by “strongly disagree” (36 in 
total, or 17.6%), suggesting that one-fifth of the 
international students only slightly missed their 
homeland, and another one-fifth of them did not 
miss their homeland at all. Regarding the item 
“My research project or study has progressed very 
smoothly,” “neither agree nor disagree” was cho-
sen by the largest number of students (77 in total, 
or 37.7%), indicating that more than one-third of 
the international students suggested they were 
satisfied with their learning and further stud-
ies in Taiwan. Regarding the item “Overall, 
I am satisfied with the local life,” “agree” was 
chosen by the largest number of students (126 
in total, or 61.8%), suggesting that more than 

half of the international students were satisfied 
with and had adapted to the life in the Tainan 
metropolitan area. Therefore, they were less per-
turbed by homesickness. Regarding the item “I 
have a clear goal for studying at the university,” 
“strongly agree” was chosen by the largest num-
ber of students (81 in total, or 39.7%), suggesting 
that most of the international students decided 
to come to Taiwan after careful consideration 
and with explicit objectives. Furthermore, the 
item “My recent emotional ups and downs have 
been very smooth” was completed by the smallest 
number of international students (18 in total, or 
8.8%), suggesting that international students did 
not have any appropriate way to release the stress 
caused by cross-cultural adaptation, resulting in 
emotional ups and downs.

demographic variables and  
cross-cultural adaptability 

As shown in Table 4, the independent sample 
t-test and one-way ANOVA were performed to 
analyze the relationship between demographic 
variables and the cross-cultural adaptability of 
international students learning Mandarin Chi-
nese in Taiwan.

tablE 4 
StatiStical MEthodS on thE  

intErnational StudEnt’S  
dEMographic variablES and thE  

dEpEndEnt variablE  
croSS-cultural adaptability

Independent variable Statistical Methods
Homeland one-way ANOVA
Gender t-test
Age one-way ANOVA
Education background one-way ANOVA
Marriage status one-way ANOVA
Dwelling t-test
Monthly allowance one-way ANOVA

Stay period one-way ANOVA

tablE 3 
StatiSticS on thE lEvEl oF rESponSE to thE  

croSS-cultural adaptability oF intErnational StudEntS 
(nuMbEr with % bElow)

Variable Strongly  
Disagree Disagree

Neither 
Agree or 
Disagree

Agree Strongly 
Agree

I feel happy in my studies recently. 0 
0%

14 
6.9%

28 
13.7%

102 
50.0%

60 
29.4%

I have been very happy since I began to study at the 
university.

4 
 2.0%

10 
4.9%

33 
16.2%

90 
44.1%

67 
32.8%

My study attitude has been positive recently. 1 
 0.5%

15 
7.4%

31 
15.2%

105 
51.5%

52 
25.5%

I have a clear goal in studying at the university. 1 
 0.5%

18 
8.8%

24 
11.8%

80 
39.2%

81 
39.7%

I feel positive on the value of research or study at the 
university.

2 
 1%

7 
3.4%

41 
20.1%

106 
52.0%

48 
23.5%

My research project or study has progressed very 
smoothly.

2 
 10%

12 
5.9%

77 
37.7%

79 
38.7%

34 
16.0%

I have benefited from the curricula I am studying at 
the university.

0 
0%

7 
3.4%

49 
24%

93 
45.6%

55 
27.0%

I am satisfied with the courses of this semester. 1 
 0.5%

13 
6.4%

59 
28.9%

80 
39.2%

51 
25.0%

I understand my chosen courses very well. 3 
 1.5%

14 
6.9%

43 
21.1%

97 
47.5%

47 
23.0%

I feel easy reading books in the Chinese language for 
my chosen specific course.

14 
 6.9%

37 
18.1%

60 
29.4%

60 
29.4%

33 
16.2%

I have had a good health recently. 3 
1.5%

12 
5.9%

31 
15.2%

84 
41.2%

74 
36.3%

I have sleep very well recently. 8 
3.9%

32 
15.7%

51 
25.0%

68 
33.3%

45 
22.1%

I have felt homesick recently. 36 
17.6%

41 
20.1%

43 
21.1%

60 
29.4%

24 
11.8%

I have often felt Pleasure recently. 2 
1%

19 
9.3%

51 
25.0%

95 
46.6%

37 
18.1%

My recent emotional ups and downs very smooth. 6 
2.9%

36 
17.6%

59 
28.9%

85 
41.7%

18 
8.8%

I am very active in the human relations recently. 1 
0.5%

27 
13.2%

43 
21.1%

95 
46.6%

38 
18.6%

I own psychological or spiritual satisfaction. 5 
2.5%

13 
6.4%

48 
23.5%

95 
46.6%

43 
21.1%

I have good Taiwanese friends at my university. 9 
4.4%

35 
17.2%

40 
19.6%

75 
36.8%

45 
22.1%

I have good international student friends. 0 
0%

7 
3.4%

26 
12.7%

101 
49.5%

70 
34.3%

I have good Taiwanese friends from outside the 
university

16 
7.8%

29 
14.2%

37 
18.1%

61 
29.9%

61 
29.9%
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Influence of Homeland on the  
difference in cross-cultural adaptability

As shown in Table 5, the one-way ANOVA anal-
ysis indicated that, owing to the difference in 
homeland, there were significant differences in 

three aspects of the cross-cultural adaptability of 
international students learning Mandarin Chi-
nese in Taiwan: “studying and researching” (F = 
3.083, p = .004 < .05), “physical, mental health 
and emotions” (F = 4.688, p = .000 < .05), and 
“living environment and financial conditions” (F 

= 3.371, p = .002 < .05). However, there were no 
significant differences in the aspects of “interper-
sonal relationships” and “local culture.” There-
fore, in terms of the cross-cultural adaptability 
of international students of different nationali-
ties, the influence of homeland on the aspects of 
“interpersonal relationships” and “local culture” 
in cross-cultural adaptability should be regarded 
as a personal factor. The Scheffé method poste-
riori comparisons showed that the level of cross-
cultural adaptability in the aspect of “studying 
and researching” for international students with 
South American nationalities was higher than 
that of those with Southeast Asian nationalities. 
In addition, the level of physical and psychologi-
cal health of international students with South 
American nationalities was higher than that of 
those with European and Southeast Asian na-
tionalities as well. However, the Scheffé method 
posteriori comparisons showed no significant be-
tween-group differences in the aspect of “living 

environment and financial conditions” in cross-
cultural adaptability caused by the difference in 
homeland.

Influence of Gender on the  
difference in cross-cultural adaptability

As shown in Table 6, the independent sample t-
test analysis indicated that, owing to the differ-
ence in gender of international students learning 
Mandarin Chinese in Taiwan, there was a sig-
nificant difference in the aspect of “living envi-
ronment and financial conditions” (t = 2.200, p 
= .029 < .05) of cross-cultural adaptability only, 
revealing the level of cross-cultural adaptability 
to living environment and financial conditions 
varied with the requirements and expectations 
caused by different genders. However, there were 
no significant differences in the other aspects of 
cross-cultural adaptability.

tablE 5 
diFFErEncE analySiS on thE intErnational StudEnt’S  

hoMEland and croSS-cultural adaptability (Sd: Standard dEviation) 
Variable Mean    SD     F value P value Scheffé method  

(posteriori comparisons)
Studying and researching   42.57   7.10      3.083 0.004** South America > Southeastern Asia

Physical, mental health and  
emotions

25.11   4.24      4.688 0.000*** South America > Europe,  Southeastern Asia

Interpersonal relationships  26.56   4.78      0.777 0.680

Local culture 22.02   3.77      0.530 0.811

Living environment and  
financial conditions

29.95   4.64      3.371           0.002**

p＜.05*  p＜.01**  p＜.001***

tablE 6 
diFFErEncE analySiS on thE  

intErnational StudEnt’S gEndEr and croSS-cultural adaptability

Variable Mean  
Difference t-value P value

Studying and researching   0.670 0.670 0.503
Physical, mental health and emotions 0.949 1.599 0.111
Interpersonal relationships  0.908 1.354 0.177
Local culture 0.361 0.681 0.497
Living environment and financial conditions 1.423 2.200 0.029*
p<.05* p<.01** p<.001***

tablE 3 
StatiSticS on thE lEvEl oF rESponSE to thE  

croSS-cultural adaptability oF intErnational StudEntS 
(nuMbEr with % bElow)

Variable Strongly  
Disagree Disagree

Neither 
Agree or 
Disagree

Agree Strongly 
Agree

I can communicate well with the professors or 
lecturers of my course.

6 
2.9%

11 
5.4%

36 
17.6%

104 
51.0%

47 
23.0%

I have had fairly good interpersonal relationship 
recently.

4 
2.0%

4 
2.0%

45 
22.1

112 
54.9%

30 
19.1%

I have ample opportunities and Interactive for group 
activities with Taiwanese students at the university.

9 
4.4%

27 
13.2%

47 
23.0

89 
43.6%

32 
15.7%

Overall, I have good relationships at the university. 0 
0%

10 
4.9%

29 
14.2%

115 
56.4%

50 
24.5%

I understand and can integrate into Taiwanese 
culture in my daily life.

3 
1.5%

15 
7.4%

44 
21.6%

97 
47.5%

45 
22.1%

Although I am a foreigner, I feel I have integrated 
into the local life.

6 
2.9%

10 
4.9%

52 
25.5

102 
50.0%

34 
16.7%

People in Taiwan do not discriminate strongly 
against foreigners; I can easily take part in group 
their group activities.

4 
2.0%

18 
8.8%

73 
35.8

71 
34.8%

38 
18.6%

People in Taiwan are friendly, so communicating 
with them is easy.

3 
1.5%

17 
8.3%

38 
18.6%

106 
52.0%

40 
19.6%

I can understand the cultural identity of the Taiwan 
people.

0 
0%

18 
8.8%

55 
27.0%

99 
48.5%

32 
15.7%

My current living environment is comfortable and 
satisfactory.

2 
1.0%

20 
9.8%

43 
21.2%

103 
50.5%

36 
17.6%

The living environment and hygienic conditions are 
good in Taiwan.

9 
4.4%

20 
9.8%

57 
27.9%

89 
43.6%

29 
14.2%

The neighborhood is very safe around my residence. 2 
1.0%

4 
2.0%

32 
15.7%

107 
52.5%

59 
28.9%

I get along very well with the neighbors around my 
residence.

2 
1.0%

9 
4.4%

67 
32.8%

85 
41.7%

41 
20.1%

I can adapt to the local weather. 9 
4.4%

15 
7.4%

79 
38.7%

72 
35.3%

29 
14.2%

The rent charge of my residence is reasonable. 3 
1.5%

11 
5.4%

46 
22.5%

105 
51.5%

39 
19.1%

My current financial state is very good. 4 
2.0%

20 
9.8%

58 
28.4%

91 
44.6%

31 
15.2%

Overall, I am satisfied with the local life. 0 
0%

14 
6.9%

23 
11.3%

126 
61.8%

41 
20.1%
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Influence of Age on the  
difference in cross-cultural adaptability

As shown in Table 7, the one-way ANOVA anal-
ysis indicated that, owing to the difference in the 
ages of international students learning Mandarin 
Chinese in Taiwan, there were significant differ-
ences in the two aspects of “interpersonal rela-
tionships” (F = 2.843, p = .039 < .05) and “local 
culture” (F = 3.057, p = .029 < .05) in cross-cul-
tural adaptability. In the aspect of “international 
relationships” of cross-cultural adaptability, as 
the international students’ needs and ideas about 
friendship varied with their ages, the level of in-
teraction in interpersonal relationships of inter-
national students of different ages varied. In the 
aspect of “local culture,” it was found that inter-
national students’ level of adaptation to and ac-
ceptance of local culture in Taiwan varied with 
age. However, after the Scheffé method poste-
riori comparisons was performed, no significant 
between-group differences were found in the as-
pects of “interpersonal relationships” and “local 
culture” caused by the difference in ages.

Influence of Monthly Allowance on the 
difference in cross-cultural adaptability

As shown in Table 8, the one-way ANOVA anal-
ysis indicated that, owing to the difference in 
the monthly allowance of international students 
learning Mandarin Chinese in Taiwan, there 
were significant differences in two aspects: “lo-
cal culture” (F = 3.246, p = .008 < .05) and “liv-
ing environment and financial conditions” (F = 
4.520, p = .001 < .05). However, after the Scheffé 
method posteriori comparisons was performed, 
no significant between-group differences were 
found in the aspect of “local culture” in cross-

cultural adaptability caused by the differences 
in monthly allowance, suggesting that monthly 
allowance would affect international students’ 
cross-cultural adaptability to local culture. How-
ever, the amount of monthly allowance was not 
the key factor. Moreover, after the Scheffé meth-
od posteriori comparisons was performed, the 
level of cross-cultural adaptability in the aspects 
of “living environment and financial conditions” 
of international students whose monthly allow-
ance was more than NTD$ 25,000 was found to 
be significantly higher than that of those whose 
monthly allowance was NTD$ 10,000 to 14,999 
or NTD$ 5,000 to 9,999. 

Influence of Length of Stay on the  
difference in cross-cultural adaptability

As shown in Table 9, the one-way ANOVA 
analysis indicated that, owing to the difference 
in length of stay in Taiwan of international stu-
dents learning Mandarin Chinese, there were 
significant differences in three aspects of cross-
cultural adaptability: “studying and researching” 
(F = 5.076, p = .000 < .05), “interpersonal rela-
tionships” (F = 3.037, p = .012 < .05), and “liv-
ing environment and financial conditions” (F = 
6.373, p = .000 < .05). After the Scheffé method 
posteriori comparisons was performed, regarding 
the aspect of “studying and researching,” the lev-
el of cross-cultural adaptability of international 
students who stayed in Taiwan for less than one 
year, one to two years, two to three years, and 
more than five years was significantly higher than 
that that of those who stayed in Taiwan for four 
to five years. Regarding the aspect of “interper-
sonal relationships,” the level of cross-cultural 
adaptability of both international students who 

stayed in Taiwan for one to two years or two to 
three years was significantly higher than that of 
those who stayed in Taiwan for four to five years. 
Regarding the aspect of “living environment and 
financial conditions,” the level of cross-cultural 
adaptability of international students who stayed 
in Taiwan for less than one year, one to two years, 
two to three years, and more than five years was 
significantly higher than that of those who stayed 
in Taiwan for four to five years.

conclusIons

The research results found that most of the in-
ternational students learning Mandarin Chi-
nese in Taiwan revealed positive responses and 
satisfaction in each aspect of cross-cultural 
adaptability. In other words, in general, the 

cross-cultural adaptability of the international 
students learning Mandarin Chinese in Taiwan 
was good. They were able to keep themselves in a 
good mood for learning, and were satisfied with 
their learning and further studies in Taiwan. 
They showed a positive attitude towards learn-
ing performance as well. Therefore, international 
students could adapt to and integrate themselves 
with the learning environment in Taiwan. In the 
aspect of “studying and researching” in cross-cul-
tural adaptability, the teaching model and learn-
ing environment of higher education in Taiwan 
in general won the recognition of international 
students. International students also suggested 
that the people in Taiwan were enthusiastic and 
friendly, and their interactions with teachers in 
Taiwan were good. As opposed to China, the 
harmonious teacher-student relationship further 

tablE 7  
diFFErEncE analySiS on thE intErnational StudEnt’S agE and  

croSS-cultural adaptability  
(Sd: Standard dEviation) 

Variable    Mean SD F value P value
Studying and researching   42.57   7.10      1.403 0.243
Physical, mental health and emotions 25.11   4.24      1.410 0.241
Interpersonal relationships  26.56   4.78      2.843 0.039*
Local culture 22.02   3.77      3.057 0.029*
Living environment and financial conditions 29.95   4.64      1.261          0.289
p<.05*  p<.01** p<.001***

tablE 8 
diFFErEncE analySiS on thE  

intErnational StudEnt’S Monthly allowancE and croSS-cultural adaptability  
(Sd: Standard dEviation) 

Variable Mean   sd      F value P value Scheffé method  
(posteriori comparisons)

Studying and researching   42.57   7.10      1.905 0.095

Physical, mental health and emotions 25.11   4.24      1.300 0.265

Interpersonal relationships  26.56   4.78      1.218 0.302

Local culture 22.02   3.77      3.246 0.008**

Living environment and financial conditions 29.95   4.64      4.520          0.001** over 25000NT＞5000-10000NT 
over 25000NT＞10000-15000NT

p＜.05*  p＜.01**  p＜.001***

tablE 9 
diFFErEncE analySiS on thE  

intErnational StudEnt’S Stay pEriod in taiwan and croSS-cultural adaptability  
(Sd: Standard dEviation)

Variable Mean    sd     F value P value Scheffé method  
(posteriori comparisons)

Studying and researching   42.57   7.10      5.076 0.000***
under 1 year , 1-2 years, 2-3 years, over 5 years 
> 4-5 years

Physical, mental health and 
emotions

25.11   4.24      2.145 0.062

Interpersonal relationships  26.56   4.78      3.037 0.012*
1-2 years, 2-3 years  
> 4-5 years

Local culture 22.02   3.77      2.097 0.067
Living environment and 
financial conditions

29.95   4.64      6.373            0.000***
under 1 year , 1-2 years, 2-3 years, over 5 years 
> 4-5 years

p<.05* p<01** p<.001***
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increased international students’ identification 
and satisfaction with the educational environ-
ment in Taiwan. Furthermore, international stu-
dents suggested that the living environment and 
consumption level in the Tainan metropolitan 
area were safe and satisfactory. They also suggest-
ed that the prices of commodities in the Tainan 
metropolitan area were reasonable and accept-
able. Approximately 62% of the international 
students were satisfied with the living functions 
in the Tainan metropolitan area. Therefore, they 
were less perturbed by homesickness. Of the par-
ticipants, 38% did not miss their homeland.

Most of the international students in this study 
had stayed in Taiwan for less than one year, and 
most of them were short-term students. It was 
found that the level of cross-cultural adaptation 
of international students who stayed in Taiwan 
for one to two years and for two to three years in 
the aspects of “studying and researching,” “inter-
personal relationships,” and “living environment 
and financial conditions” was higher than that of 
those who stayed in Taiwan for four to five years, 
suggesting that the factor affecting international 
students’ cross-cultural adaptation was their lev-
el of identification, preference, or acceptance for 
culture in Taiwan, instead of the length of stay 
in Taiwan. If international students ideologically 
suggested that they were strangers who could not 
integrate themselves with the culture in Taiwan, 
they would constantly be perturbed by the issue 
of cross-cultural adaptation. The cross-cultural 
adaptability of international students who came 
to Taiwan for four to five years was poorer than 
that of other students with different lengths of 
stay. The reason might be that these interna-
tional students had encountered the bottleneck 
of cross-cultural adaptation during their stay, or 
that they had stayed in Taiwan for a longer peri-
od of time and their adaptability had reached the 
maximum before starting to decline. Therefore, 
their cross-cultural adaptability was poorer than 
that of those with different lengths of stay.

The international students in this study were 
mainly from Southeast Asia, followed by Europe 
and the US. Among them, the level of cross-cul-
tural adaptability of international students with 
South American nationalities in the aspect of 
“studying and researching” was higher than that 
of those with Southeast Asian nationalities. In 

addition, in general, international students sug-
gested that they were in good health. The level 
of physical and psychological health of interna-
tional students with South American nationali-
ties in the aspect of “physical, mental health and 
emotions” was higher than that of those with 
Southeast Asian nationalities. The reason might 
be that the personalities of international students 
with South American nationalities were more 
vivid and passionate compared to those of other 
nationalities. Therefore, when facing the emo-
tional problems caused by cross-cultural adapta-
tion, they could easily overcome them, and they 
would encounter fewer problems as opposed to 
those of other nationalities.

Moreover, regardless of the international stu-
dents’ native language, most of the international 
students suggested that it was difficult and ex-
hausting to learn the Chinese language materi-
als and the other professional courses taught in 
Chinese provided by colleges and universities in 
Taiwan. In addition, the social circles of the in-
ternational students learning Mandarin Chinese 
in Taiwan were restricted to the international 
student population, with whom they could eas-
ily communicate. They kept a distance from lo-
cal Taiwanese or Taiwanese classmates. In other 
words, they had difficulties with the language 
and it was stressful for them to integrate them-
selves with local communities and groups in 
Taiwan. Therefore, their Chinese ability would 
affect their learning and interpersonal relation-
ships. The research results also verified that the 
learning experience of being abroad in and of it-
self was not enough; international students must 
interact with the local culture and people to gain 
increased intercultural communication skills. As 
new studying abroad programs are created and 
international students are received, new ways 
must be found to facilitate their interaction with 
the people of their host culture. To sum up, it is 
advised that, under the premise of improving in-
ternational education quality, the higher educa-
tion institutions in Taiwan should continuously 
strengthen internationalized language-barrier-
free campuses, increase the number of courses 
in English, add more teachers with international 
teaching experiences, increase academic resourc-
es, encourage college teachers to aggressively en-
gage in teaching in English, and employ experts 
and scholars with international teaching experi-

ence to design Chinese language teaching ma-
terials and diversified courses for international 
students from diversified cultural backgrounds 
in Taiwan. Examples include the provision of 
specific courses for academic terms in Chinese, 
professional and practical internship courses, dis-
tance learning, and offshore special classes. In ad-
dition, more efficient teaching strategies should 
be used to improve and assess the learning per-
formance of other professional courses for inter-
national students learning Mandarin Chinese in 
Taiwan. According to the actual situation, inter-
national students should be provided with after-
school tutoring when necessary, to reduce their 
difficulties in cross-cultural adaptation.

College students today need a higher education 
that provides them with cross-cultural adapt-
ability and communication skills that will allow 
them to compete in a global market with an in-
creasingly higher-educated population. The type 
of outcome assessment that stresses student out-
comes over teacher input forces educators to eval-
uate what students are learning, what skills they 
are developing, and how these skills translate 
into the knowledge needed for jobs and for life 
(Fantini, Arias-Galicia & Guay, 2001). Vande 
Berg (2001) also mentioned that international 
educators have, during the past decade, become 
increasingly aware of the need to identify and 
measure the learning outcomes of international 
students participating in study-abroad programs. 
Therefore, international education and study-
ing abroad is just one area of higher education 
that is progressing toward competency-based 
evaluations and exams to measure the outcomes 
of the learning experience. It is further advised 
that the performance of international education 
courses given in various colleges and universi-
ties in Taiwan should be assessed in detail, and 
international students’ obtainment of cross-
cultural adaptability and cross-cultural com-
munication skills should be put into practice to 
attract more high-quality international students 
to Taiwan for long-term or short-term study. To 
increase the interactions between students in 
Taiwan and international students, as well as to 
increase international students’ social circles, it is 
also advised that more relevant social activities, 
international student club activities, and group 
learning opportunities be arranged. In addition, 
the compilation and printing of international 

student handbooks and the provision of relevant 
information on learning, courses, life, and con-
tact are also beneficial to international students’ 
cross-cultural adaptation and improvements in 
the cultural integration of in-campus interna-
tional education. Furthermore, higher education 
institutions in Taiwan should open more cross-
cultural courses to help local Taiwanese students 
understand other cultures, cultivate an interna-
tional perspective, and increase foreign social ex-
periences to respond to the constantly changing 
and developing international education environ-
ment of diversified cultures. On the other hand, 
the establishment of Chinese language courses 
also enables international students in Taiwan to 
learn background knowledge of Mandarin Chi-
nese and understand the unique attractiveness of 
Chinese culture. In this increasingly global soci-
ety, it is more important than ever to learn how 
to communicate with others in an adaptable and 
sensitive manner.

The international students in this study were 
mainly aged 21–30 years, followed by the age 
group of 31–40 years. The international stu-
dents’ cross-cultural adaptability in the aspects 
of “interpersonal relationships” and “local cul-
ture” varied with age. The international students’ 
needs and ideas about friendship varied with 
age as well. Therefore, the level of interaction in 
their interpersonal relationships also varied with 
their age. Pedersen (1999) mentioned that when 
international students leave someone important 
and the country where they live, they experience 
both the loss of emotions and the loss of social 
support. They need to establish a connection 
with people and classmates from a host country 
to obtain physiological and psychological sup-
port. International students’ attitudes towards 
intercultural interactions may be affected by the 
quality of close peers’ experiences in culturally 
diverse groups. According to the research results, 
approximately 9% of the international students 
suggested that they did not have appropriate 
methods to release the stress of cross-cultural 
adaptation, and thus, experienced unstable emo-
tions. Therefore, international students need 
psychological care to help them solve problems 
and release stress. It is advised that colleges and 
universities in Taiwan distribute questionnaires 
concerning cross-cultural adaptation soon after 
the beginning of a new semester, conduct a ques-
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tionnaire survey, and provide the international 
students with life and culture-related guidance 
and assistance based on it. In addition, to re-
spond to the increasing problems and needs of 
international students, the development of cur-
rent international education policies should be 
completely reviewed, professional cross-cultural 
communication-related administrative authori-
ties should be established, and the training and 
assessment of professional managers and person-
nel of international affairs should be strength-
ened. This will enable international students 
studying in Taiwan to seek for solutions or sug-
gestions, as well as to complete the overall de-
velopment of internationalized environments in 
colleges and universities in Taiwan. At present, 
the personnel at the international affairs centers 
in most colleges and universities mainly speak 
English. However, in response to the number of 
international students of diversified nationalities 
studying in Taiwan, professional personnel who 
can speak various languages should be provided; 
otherwise, the students of non-English nation-
alities cannot be assisted properly. Furthermore, 
besides solving the problems encountered by in-
ternational students, the professional personnel 
at international affairs centers should share their 
experiences. Therefore, in order to maintain 
good service quality, the turnover rate of person-
nel should be reduced.

According to the results of this study, the 
monthly allowance of most of the international 
students was NTD$5,000 to 9,999. The level of 
cross-cultural adaptability of the international 
students whose monthly allowance was more 
than NTD$25,000 was higher than that of those 
whose monthly allowance was NTD$5,000 to 
9,999 and NTD$10,000 to 14,999, suggesting 
that international students may be more satisfied 
with local life in Taiwan if they have better mon-
etary conditions. Therefore, it was found that the 
provision of various scholarships was beneficial 
to international students’ cross-cultural adapta-
tion. In addition, higher education institutions 
can promote academy-industry cooperation to 
provide international students in Taiwan with 
more practical and professional internship op-
portunities and experiences that focus on cross-
cultural communication learning and develop-
ment, which are also beneficial to cross-cultural 
adaptability promotion.
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AbstrAct
University communities are interested in adopting sustainable practices; however, sustainable val-
ues often come into conflict with financial reports.  In fact, sometimes financial reports show that 
sustainable values are inefficient.  This paper explores financial reports as an economic language 
based upon the agency relationship that exists between investors and organizational managers.  We 
give specific examples that illustrate how sustainable values fall outside of the historic boundaries 
of that relationship.  The efforts to create more sustainable institutions of higher learning are held 
back because of these boundaries.  Several suggestions are given as to how sustainable values can be 
integrated into the process of financial processes and reporting.  A goal of a sustainable community 
can be more easily achieved if it works with, rather than against, the underlying relationship that 
forms the basis of the current systems that are used to tell our financial stories.

IntRoductIon

Universities, colleges and other institutions of 
higher education are under pressure to amend 
their curriculum, administration, and manage-
rial practices to model globally sensitive, sustain-
able values.  UNESCO has declared 2005-2014 
as the Decade of Education for Sustainable De-
velopment (ESD).  As UNESCO Director-Gen-
eral Federico Mayor (1997) has asserted: 

“the key to sustainable, self-reliant devel-
opment is education...We must be ready, 
in all countries, to reshape education so 
as to promote attitudes and behavior 
conducive to a culture of sustainability.”  
(p. 4)

In this article, we argue that achieving sustain-
ability within institutions of higher learning will 
require a significant shift in accounting practices 

so that the financial story reflects the principles 
and practices of sustainability.  Given the power 
of accounting to shape institutional behavior, 
we argue that the components of sustainability 
would receive more attention if true environmen-
tal, social, and economic costs were reflected in 
financial reports.

The inclusion of additional information in fi-
nancial reports to accommodate a framework of 
sustainability values will require a shift in some 
underlying theories that guide accounting pro-
cesses.  So the first purpose of this paper is so-
ciological—to examine the historical role of ac-
counting in organizational life and the economic 
assumptions that underlie that role.  The second 
purpose of this paper is to examine current bar-
riers to sustainability posed by accounting prac-
tices adopted by institutions of higher learning.  
A greater understanding of the challenge posed 
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by sustainability principles to the professional 
practice of accounting may create a more empa-
thetic discourse.  When the process of financial 
story telling is left out of the discourse about sus-
tainable values, there is a risk that the financial 
process will impede, rather than encourage, the 
adoption of those values.

hIstoRIc and socIologIcal  
RolE of accountIng 

A balance sheet is the primary financial report for 
most organizations.  It is also a deeply imbedded 
social metaphor.  The balance sheet is rooted in a 
simple economic formulation.  All assets of an or-
ganization must balance with the amount of cap-
ital provided through liabilities and stockholder 
equity.  The goal of the accounting statement is 
to disclose the organizational stewardship of the 
resources it was given.  It is a social process that is 
far more flexible than is generally realized.  Eco-
nomic and social pressures have changed (and 
will continue to change) what is considered to be 
an asset and how the assets should be valued. 

Agency theory is used to explain the complex 
control structures that develop in organizations 
between the managers who control assets and 
the stockholders who supply the capital for those 
assets.  Christensen and Feltham (2003) used 
agency theory to trace the main themes in the 
development of policies that govern disclosure 
of information through accounting reports.  Ac-
counting is a language that has grown through 
the relationship between those who own capital 
and those who manage it.  The historic progres-
sion of this relationship has not given much re-
gard to third parties.  Society is a third party to 
the primary agency relationship and so the wider 
priorities of society – such as sustainability – will 
only impact the financial story to the extent it is 
a part of the stockholder-management relation-
ship.

The limited purpose of the balance sheet pro-
vides a good reason to conduct a critical review 
of accounting practice.  Financial reports provide 
and shape an understanding of society from an 
economic perspective.  The economic story is 
predicated on an agency relationship that can be 
easily misunderstood or overlooked when deal-
ing with broader societal concerns.  Account-

ing practice is dynamic and is more flexible than 
is widely understood due to the nature of the 
agency relationships.  Vibrant debate about ac-
counting processes is often (sadly) left exclusively 
to accountants.  However, the emerging environ-
mental challenges will require the boundaries 
of economic activity to be redefined within sus-
tainable parameters, and the critical review has 
to be carefully managed.  One would not say the 
Model-T is a bad car because it lacks power steer-
ing.  In the context of its time, the Model-T was 
a brilliant product.  The challenge we address is 
similar.  Our economic story telling has to adapt 
to meet the current needs of society.

Accounting is the financial language of society.  
Historically, that language has been limited to a 
description of the capital provided by stockhold-
ers and controlled by managers.  This relation-
ship is well defined.  It is also a limited view of 
accounting practice because this view does not 
draw attention to what is excluded from that re-
lationship.  For example, accounting reports ex-
clude many of the environmental costs that are 
caused by organizational activities.  Economic 
decisions are therefore made with information 
that excludes environmental costs that are of in-
terest to the wider society.  These exclusions are 
not an accounting error because of the nature of 
the relationships involved.  However, the exclu-
sions create an incentive for managers to ignore 
sustainable values—especially when adoption 
of those values may be expensive because liabili-
ties are added to an organizations balance sheet!  
That incentive can only be changed if the broader 
community takes steps to change the historically 
exclusive nature of the agency relationship un-
derlying accounting processes.  So the challenge 
is how to bring that value into the existing rela-
tionship between management and investors.

accountIng thEoRY and  
sustaInaBIlItY REPoRtIng

We use social theory to explain and understand 
the social world.  Agency theory has long been 
used to form and understand financial report-
ing standards.  Societal demands for sustainable 
decision-making are also increasing.  In this sec-
tion of the paper we explore how the deeply em-
bedded structure of agency theory impedes the 

adoption of sustainable values throughout the 
accounting process.

Over the last 25 years agency theory has become 
one of the most important theoretical paradigms 
in accounting research (Lambert, 2007).  The 
goal is to contextually explain the behavior of 
contracting parties.  Relationships that exist in 
the employer-employee and retailer-supplier re-
lationship are common examples of an agency 
situation.  This theory has its roots in literature 
regarding the economics of information.  Infor-
mation is a valuable commodity because it facili-
tates optimal decision-making for the principal 
and the agent.  As a result, agency theory has 
developed a “revelations principle” to explore the 
rationale behind the extent of truth-telling.

The agency theory is used to explore how princi-
pals can optimize their decision-making, subject 
to the utility their agent gains from the relation-
ship.  Solving for optimization is difficult because 
the parties’ incentives will always be somewhat 
divergent.  Financial story telling is an important 
information exchange between investors (princi-
pals) and boards of directors (agents).  Financial 
reporting is also time-consuming for the agents 
and the results are factored into their incentive 
payments.  The rules governing financial report-
ing are continually refined as economic events 
reveal the utility to be gained by disclosing new 
types of information.  As societal concerns for a 
sustainable environment increase, the desire for 
related economic data for decision making will 
also increase.

Agency theory presumes there is an economic 
exchange between the parties in a relationship.  
However, there are many things (such as the 
air we breathe) that cannot be isolated so as to 
create market for them.  Items with this char-
acteristic are referred to as “public goods” to ac-
knowledge the absence of a market-based pricing 
mechanism.  The serious difficulties associated 
with public goods were first described by Har-
din (1968) in the essay entitled the “Tragedy of 
the Commons.”  Hardin describes the econom-
ics of a shared pasture (commons) in a medieval 
community.  Each herdsman had an incentive to 
increase the size of his herd as much as possible.  
The herdsman then received the full benefit of 
each additional animal he gets onto the com-
mons.  He can largely ignore the environmental 

stress his additional animal places on the com-
mons because the reduced productivity is spread 
to all the herdsmen.  So a rational, individual-
decision, creates an incentive for the herdsmen to 
collectively overuse the commons.  Tragedy oc-
curs when the degrading commons reach a point 
of collapse.  Once the commons has collapsed, 
the level of sustainable activity on the commons 
is greatly diminished and everyone suffers.

The economics of public goods provides an expla-
nation of the social dynamic underlying personal 
decisions that contribute to environmental deg-
radation.  The competitive pricing mechanism we 
use to regulate consumption decisions does not 
exist for public goods—they appear to be free at 
the level of individual decision making.  A soci-
ety must then use political processes to regulate 
consumption of public goods so that all the con-
sequences or benefits that accrue from successful 
regulation will be shared.  Although the scale is 
larger, the dynamic is the same as it was for the 
small medieval towns regulating their commons.  
Society has to address the total cost arising from 
the multitude of private decisions to pollute or 
deplete resources.  The collapse of the Atlantic 
Cod Fishery in the 1990s illustrates the difficul-
ties (Harris, 1998).  Individual firms were under 
pressure to maintain volumes which created an 
incentive to down play the degradation of the 
fishery.  These actions delayed meaningful politi-
cal intervention until after the fishery collapsed 
and was consequently permanently lost.  The cost 
to families and the regional economy was enor-
mous.

We can now explore, at an abstract level how the 
use of agency theory impedes the adoption of 
sustainable principles.  The process of financial 
story telling concerns the relationship between 
managers and investors.  Any costs associated 
with the use of public goods are outside of that 
relationship.  There is plenty of evidence that 
companies (management and investors) wish to 
be responsible with public goods.  For example, 
one of the largest companies in the world, Cat-
erpillar, sought LEED® accreditation for its cor-
porate visitor center (Lee, 2008).  They promote 
the long run savings and environmental benefits 
of the certification.  Wolseley, PLC, which is a 
global manufacturer of plumbing and construc-
tion materials for housing developments, does 
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something similar.  Its annual report (Wolseley, 
2007, October) includes five pages of informa-
tion about their corporate social responsibility 
and an impressive disclosure concerning their 
progress in energy and water conservation.  These 
disclosures are in addition to - not a part of - their 
financial story.  The concern for global sustain-
ability is leading to examples like these, where ad-
ditional expressions of accountability to society 
are made.  Expressions of responsibility are made 
in separate, non-financial statements because 
external costs of public goods are outside of the 
primary agency relationship that forms the basis 
of financial reporting.

Regulatory reporting forms another type of agen-
cy relationship.  A good example of this is the In-
ternational Aviation Transportation Association 
(IATA).  The IATA regulates international avia-
tion and has set progressively higher standards for 
airline fuel efficiency (Wall, 2007).  In addition, 
they are setting requirements for participation in 
bio-fuel development.  As an international regu-
lator they are able to preclude non-compliant air-
lines from international service and connectivity 
with member airlines.  In so doing, the IATA is 
forcing the costs of developing a sustainable avia-
tion industry onto all participants.  The old argu-
ment against multinational firms was that they 
would compete in a race to the lowest common 
standards.  Yet, global airlines must reach to the 
highest common denominator to avoid the risk of 
critical business interruptions.  Airspace is still a 
public good.  However, the airlines have to report 
their story to the IATA.  The cost of compliance 
is at least built into their financial story.  It is not 
the same as identifying and recording the cost of 
air quality degradation caused by individual air-
lines.  If the IATA sets responsible standards, the 
compliance costs might be a simple and effective 
surrogate disclosure of the environmental costs.

Agency theory has provided us with a way to find 
a deeper and empathetic understanding as to 
why it is so difficult to incorporate social respon-
sibility into the financial reporting process.  The 
IATA has taken a practical step that is moving 
an entire industry towards sustainable values.  It 
may be that this is an example of how the finan-
cial story will change.  New definitions of the 
agency relationship would enable accountants to 
report on costs that fall outside of the parameters 

of the current boundaries of the financial rela-
tionship.  Institutions of higher education need 
to assess their commitment to sustainable values 
in terms of specific challenges they could collec-
tively address through their financial procedures.

PRactIcal accountIng BaRRIERs to 
sustaInaBIlItY wIthIn  

hIghER EducatIon InstItutIons

Colleges and universities play a special role in set-
ting public policy, and university administrators 
are expected to lead by example.  The proximity 
of researchers and young people who are seeking 
to understand the world creates an opportunity 
for intense discussion about policy.  When Al 
Gore received the Nobel Peace Prize in 2007, he 
emphasized the role of university research and 
activism in his acceptance speech (Byrne & Mon-
astersky, 2007).  Given these expectations, the 
nature of campus communities justify that they 
be held to a higher level of scrutiny than other 
types of organizations.

University administrations face financial con-
straints and so their financial stories are closely 
scrutinized.  The educational administration lit-
erature is filled with examples of public demands 
for accountability.  Monastersky (2007) provides 
an example of such literature and he shows the 
positive effect that close scrutiny and the pressure 
to be sustainable can have on colleges and uni-
versities.  However many of these examples also 
show that sustainable investments were made 
even though they had a negative impact on the 
institution’s financial story.  Why do we tolerate 
a situation where a positive sustainable invest-
ment creates a negative financial story?  We have 
included five common scenarios to explore this 
phenomenon.

Our first scenario will be familiar to almost 
every academic.  Conference travel is a career-
building necessity.  Merit pay increases and rank 
promotions often require faculty participation 
in distant academic meetings, and grant-funded 
research often includes an expectation of funded 
travel.  Travel budgets that are not used are lost.  
Pedelty (2008) found that medical researchers, 
for example, consider travel to be a job perk and a 
career necessity.  This aspect of his study explored 

how difficult it is for researchers to resist the fi-
nancial incentives that promote travel.

Our second scenario originates at Carleton Col-
lege in Minnesota.  Carleton installed a wind tur-
bine to create its own clean energy and to provide 
access to this technology for research and engi-
neering students.  Carlson (2007b) explains the 
financial consequences the Carleton College ex-
perienced when the turbine needed an unexpect-
ed repair.  The outlay and the lost revenues were 
immediately factored into the Colleges financial 
story.  However, the financial story excludes the 
value of the carbon credits they were generating 
that could finance the repairs.  So this “enlight-
ened” investment in a wind turbine gave the Col-
lege a financial black eye (Carlson, 2007a).  The 
resulting stigma from the negative (but limited) 
financial story telling is seen as a warning to oth-
er schools considering similar investments.

Our third scenario is provided from one of the 
author’s experience with a campaign promoting 
efficient lighting to reduce energy use on cam-
pus.  Participating academic and administrative 
units were asked to fund new lighting from their 
budgets.  The author wanted to understand the 
current power consumption to better support 
the decision within the academic unit.  Power 
metering and cost information was centralized.   
Consequently, the information could not be pro-
vided.  As a result, the savings from the specific 
unit’s decision could not be attributed to them.  
In accordance with accepted financial report-
ing practices, utility costs were treated as a cen-
tralized overhead cost.  To implement the new 
lighting, the academic unit had to overcome the 
disincentive of bearing the full cost within their 
already tight operating budget.  Under current 
accounting practices the gains from sustainable 
decision-making were not included in the unit’s 
financial story.

Our fourth scenario takes the previous case to 
the level of an entire facility.  LEED® certification 
of a building shows a commitment to sustainable 
technologies and helps institutions attract fund-
ing according to Carlson (2008).  Certification 
requires that the building meet 70 tough envi-
ronmental standards that are divided into five 
categories: sustainable sites; water efficiency; 
energy and atmosphere; materials and resources; 
and indoor environmental quality.  The LEED® 

criteria rewards design features that minimize 
environmental costs over a structure’s entire life 
cycle.  However the process requires financial de-
tails that are not normally gathered.  Standard 
financial reports do not disclose the long-term 
value of the environmental savings.  As a result, 
the financial story will show that a LEED® build-
ing has higher operating costs per square foot.  
The reporting, again, diminishes the value of 
long-term environmental savings.

The fifth scenario also reveals that the phenom-
enon is not restricted to front-line operating de-
partments.  Many central services can be trans-
formed into more sustainable processes.  Hermes 
(2008) reported the case of an administrator 
who ended a paper-intensive payment system by 
transitioning his institution to an online bill pay-
ment process.  In this case, his incentive was the 
reduction of processing costs.  Tremendous envi-
ronmental and financial savings were achieved.  
The manager wanted to understand where the 
savings could be directed.  His inquire resulted in 
a decrease to his operating budget for the savings 
and – as a consequence – less operational scope.  
So the sustainable effort left the administrator in 
an awkward position and with an obvious disin-
centive.

These scenarios reveal cognitive dissonance be-
tween sustainable values and the process of finan-
cial story telling.  The sustainability discourse is 
weakened because financial story telling is ig-
nored or left to those who are deeply invested in 
existing procedures and processes.

accountIng oPPoRtunItIEs foR 
sustaInaBIlItY wIthIn  

hIghER EducatIon InstItutIons

In the previous section we set out five adminis-
trative situations where a sustainable agenda was 
thwarted by administrative policy associated 
with financial reporting processes.  These sce-
narios are familiar to those with administrative 
duties in institutions of higher learning.  The ac-
counting profession creates and preserves infor-
mation needed to help managers make decisions 
for the good of their organizations.  Good stew-
ardship, in the broader sense, is not evident in the 
situations we found.  It will be easier to advance 
the sustainable agenda if accounting practices en-
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courage and reward responsible decision-making 
that is consistent with sustainable values.  We 
need to generalize the problems illustrated in the 
scenarios.  What aspects of the financial stew-
ardship system need to be transformed so that 
they encourage, rather than frustrate, progress 
towards sustainable organizations?

Former President Clinton (2008) called for uni-
versities to play a transformative role in leading 
the United States into a more prosperous, global 
community.  He was thinking globally and ac-
knowledging that universities are social work-
shops where the details of the next generation’s 
values are being formulated.  Sustainable values 
will not gain social traction until the details 
evolve to form a consistent framework.  The ac-
counting story has to resonate with the economic 
story, the environmental story, and the social 
justice story.  When the stories align the level of 
cognitive dissonance will diminish.  While it is 
ethically noble to act with a global conscience, it 
is also irrational to expect this from an admin-
istrator whose career progression is, in part, de-
termined by results of the financial reporting sys-
tem.  The financial reporting story does not have 
to stand in the way of manifesting sustainability 
on university campuses.

As previously discussed, accounting practice 
reflects a need for accountability between man-
agers and investors.  The historic role of the ac-
countant is, therefore, grounded in financial 
stewardship.  That historic role is imbedded into 
the regular routines of the accounting cycle.  
However routine, those accounting systems and 
procedures are costly.  Funding the redesign and 
implementation of a new system is hard to obtain 
from general management and so there is a great 
deal of resistance to proposed change.  Therefore, 
managers interested in advancing a sustainable 
agenda need to consider how their plans should 
be reflected in the financial records.  We see at 
least three immediate opportunities for admin-
istrators to engage in the financial story telling 
process that will advance the sustainability agen-
da.

First, an opportunity exists to redefine future 
costs in a capital budgeting model.  Adjusting 
campus systems and infrastructure to sustainable 
technology is costly.  The cost of many of these 
investments is treated as a current expense, and 

the long-term savings are reflected in a budget 
reduction.  In both cases, this treatment creates 
a financial disincentive for operational adminis-
trators.  It is possible to treat these costs in a more 
enlightened fashion.  Expenditures used to cre-
ate a more sustainable process or infrastructure 
that are recorded as investments will not burden 
operating budgets.  Future cost reductions, for 
example due to a reduction in energy use, can 
be captured in the system and made available 
to managers to pay for sustainable investments.  
Such simple changes transform the financial 
story into a source of incentive for managers to 
seek out ways to implement sustainable infra-
structure.

Secondly, universities and colleges can trans-
form their financial story by recording the envi-
ronmental costs and liabilities that are excluded 
from their current balance sheets.  One of many 
such costing opportunities is that of carbon gas 
emissions.  Both the US and the EU are in the 
early stages of restricting carbon gases by requir-
ing the purchase of carbon credits.  It will take a 
lot of experimentation and effort to work out the 
systems for this new “market.”  Universities and 
colleges should lead the way by increasing mar-
ket activity and their experience will make wider 
adoption possible.  Sustainable investments can 
be justified in terms of reduced environmental 
liabilities associated with carbon credits.  The 
inclusion of carbon costs in the financial story 
will thereby create a transformational incentive.  
Once the process is started, the formation of 
accounting policy and practice will imbed sus-
tainable values into the financial story.  One can 
imagine a naturally arising competition between 
responsible organizations to create the most car-
bon credit assets!

A third opportunity is to include accounting 
scholarship, as the language of our economic life, 
into the liberal arts curriculum.  It is difficult 
to have a societal discourse about environmen-
tal costs when most members of society do not 
understand the basic assumptions that underlie 
our financial story telling.  It is hard to talk about 
undisclosed costs associated with environmental 
degradation when there is a general lack of un-
derstanding about what costs are included in 
our financial story.  There is a parallel here to the 
transformation that was achieved when health 

education was mandated.  Until health education 
was more or less universal, it was mostly a waste of 
time to disclose fat or sodium levels on packaged 
food labels.  The accounting story will become a 
vehicle for discourse about issues associated with 
sustainability when the contents of the financial 
reports are more universally understood.

In tandem with providing general education, 
universities and colleges can ensure that profes-
sional accounting education has a liberal arts 
base.  They should resist the temptation to let 
the professional curriculum be a series of techni-
cal courses for those pursuing a business career.  
Those courses should include material that pro-
vides a social context for critical thinking.  Fleis-
chman and Schule (2006) found that account-
ing education has failed to produce accounting 
graduates who recognize environmentalism as an 
ethical issue.  It is, however, irrational to expect 
professors who are evaluated on the basis of their 
students’ technical competence to sacrifice con-
tact hours to deal with sustainability reporting.  
A deep understanding of the interface between 
the public interest and the well being of clients 
and stockholders does not get one’s students 
through an examination for professional license.  
Universities can use their control over curricu-
lum to transform those incentives.  Consider the 
result for an administrator with a practical pro-
posal to improve sustainability.  It is more likely 
to succeed when that administrator is working 
with a professional accountant who is able to find 
ways to disclose the proposals’ advantages within 
the financial story telling process.

These suggestions align accounting with the soci-
etal move towards sustainability.  In other words, 
the financial story comes into line with the sto-
ries being told from the perspective of social jus-
tice and sustainability.

conclusIon

There is a moral hazard for professional accoun-
tants.  Any one accountant could identify his or 
her daily efforts as small and inconsequential 
compared to the political and scientific voices 
participating in the sustainability discourse.  
Taking comfort in that rationale does not fully 
reflect the pervasive impact accounting policy 
has on our financial language.  Accountants can 

play a role in shaping responsible public policy 
as valued members of the business community.  
Their employers and clients will benefit from 
being able to avoid a crisis caused by a lack of fi-
nancial preparation.  We only have to examine 
consequences arising from the passive role of the 
accounting community that allowed the sub-
prime mortgage crisis to occur.  The financial 
effects of global, environmental degradation are 
more significant and so how we tell our financial 
and economic story requires attention.

The financial reporting process is limited by the 
very narrow relationship between investors and 
management.  Sustainability can be addressed 
in financial reporting if sustainability can be in-
corporated in the agency relationship that exists 
between these parties.  Financial processes are 
deeply imbedded into organizational life.  Con-
sequently, the story telling process provides in-
centives for managers to ignore opportunities to 
make decisions that have long term environmen-
tal benefits.  Opportunities exist whereby those 
incentives can be changed to create a financial 
story telling process that supports sustainable 
values.  Institutions of higher education can lead 
in this process.  They are the ideal forum to ex-
plore ways in which the financial process can be 
transformed so as to reward sustainable decision-
making.  We have presented several areas were 
practical changes can be made.  We hope this pa-
per will inspire change and reduce the degree of 
moral hazard.
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IntRoductIon

“We do not act rightly because we have 
virtue or excellence, but we rather have 
those because we have acted rightly” 
Aristotle, 384 B.C.–322 B.C.

Since the introduction of ethics courses or com-
ponents in business school curriculums, there has 
been an explosion of scandals in the world out-
side. It would seem that ethics education in busi-
ness schools have not mitigated the likelihood of 
the scandal epidemic. The recent recession and 
housing crisis in the United States and other na-
tions exposed the extent of unethical decision 
making within sections of the business world. 
Whether it was at the mortgage consumer level or 
at the level of big banks and investment houses or 
governments, there seems to have been “lapses in 
judgment” among those involved that ultimately 
lead to significant losses both for individuals and 

societies. Notwithstanding the National Bureau 
of Economic Research pronouncement that the 
18-month recession officially ended in June 2009 
(NBER 2010), the economic effects are still be-
ing felt throughout the nation. 

It is clear that many variables contributed to the 
recession and it is important to study the relative 
importance of each of the factors. For instance, 
did a lack of ethical decision making on the part 
of consumers, brokers, banks, investment funds, 
etc. contribute to the current recession? Are the 
regulators and the auditors equally culpable in 
this situation? Answers to these questions can 
provide a greater understanding of the role of 
ethics (or lack thereof) and its contribution to 
the recession, and facilitate proper training in or-
der to potential avoid it in the future.

Revelations of massive ethical misdeeds often 
result in self-reflection by society, philosophers, 
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politicians, businesspersons, and academicians. 
The usual knee jerk reaction is to increase the 
dosage of ethics training and education at vari-
ous levels especially in business schools. Yet, 
ethical lapses continue to happen at an alarming 
frequency. One would be hard pressed to find a 
business or a business school that does not have 
a formalized ethics program in place. Therefore, 
the question is probably not whether there is suf-
ficient ethics training but are business students 
and professionals hardwired to recognize the ex-
pediency of transactions at the expense of ethical 
concerns. Although, no attempt is being made to 
discount the value of ethical training, the ques-
tions remain about whether or not they make a 
difference in perceptions and/or behaviors. Can 
an unethical person be trained to change or 
should students or trainees have a certain level 
or critical mass of ethical values or perceptions 
in order for the ethics programs to be effective? 
With or without ethical training, can they rec-
ognize ethical traits that are important in their 
careers? How do they perceive these traits, im-
portant or not? 

During the past decades, there have been calls 
for enhancing ethical rigor in both business 
and academics. Yet, ethical problems and scan-
dals continue to percolate to the top and there 
seems to be no end in sight. Ever since AACSB 
required the inclusion of business ethics in the 
core curriculum, there have been many attempts 
by schools to comply. Unfortunately, AACSB 
did not specify how ethics should be taught and 
that set the schools scrambling to find the right 
balance of ethics in their core. The Wharton 
business school is one of the earliest institutions 
to introduce ethics modules in the MBA core 
(Dunfee, 1986). Many schools followed suit at 
both Bachelors and Masters levels. Yet, one issue 
seems unresolved. Should ethics be a stand-alone 
course or incorporated throughout the curricu-
lum or both? Given the support for each school 
of thought, there is little consistency in how 
business schools are approaching the integration 
of business ethics in their curriculum (Solberg, 
Strong, and McGuire, 1995). 

Notwithstanding how ethical thinking is deliv-
ered in business schools, it seems apparent that 
the literature regarding the effectiveness of eth-
ics instruction is at best inconclusive (Bodkin 

and Stevenson 2007). Ethics problems exposed 
in the media point to the fact that there is still 
a lot of work to be done (Sims and Felton 2006). 
In some situations, the faculty themselves might 
not be sure about the value of ethics. In a study of 
what the authors called, ‘expectations gap,’ it was 
found that accounting students considered both 
business ethics and the goal of accounting ethics 
to be more important than the faculty members 
in accounting (Adkins and Radtke 2004). May 
be not all faculty are convinced that ethics can be 
taught or they are qualified to do so. Adkins and 
Radtke (2004) suggested possible roles account-
ing faculty could adopt in order to teach ethics—
as an active or a passive teacher or simply being 
an ethics resource for students.

Finally, there have been suggestions that when 
ethics becomes secular devoid of its religious 
roots and traditions, it gets applied in a narrow 
way (Calkins 2000). Taking it beyond the realm 
of philosophy and social science, practitioners 
and instructors should incorporate religious 
thinking into training. According to the author, 
both philosophical ‘world of ideas’ and religious 
‘world of ideals’ need to be meshed into the eth-
ics education for it to have a lasting impact. Po-
dolny (2009) opines that business schools have 
ignored the teaching of values and ethics that 
don’t fit the norms of traditional inquiry and do 
not lend themselves to quantitative approaches. 
According to the author, “unless America’s busi-
ness schools make radical changes, society will 
become convinced that MBAs work to serve only 
their own selfish interests.” (Podolny 2009).

The purpose of the study is to assess how busi-
ness students perceive common ethical traits and 
if there exists a difference between accounting 
and marketing students in their perceptions. An 
examination about how these business students 
perceive the traits related to ethics is a good 
first step in determining whether or not these 
students have the requisite level of sensitivity 
to ethical issues and secondly, the effectiveness 
of the ethics education they are exposed to. In 
other words, the study proposes to examine the 
whether or not there are differences between ac-
counting and marketing students with respect to 
their ethical inclinations using Maccoby’s (1976) 
Head-Heart traits scale

lItERatuRE REvIEw

Although Machiavellian tendencies seem com-
mon amongst business students and business 
types, researchers feel that such characteristics 
are detrimental to the accounting profession, 
given its fiduciary role in the society. Manipula-
tive tactics might seem to fit the management or 
marketing types but for an accountant it might 
spell doom. George May, the head of Price Wa-
terhouse remarked, 

“The high-minded accountant who un-
dertakes to practice in this field assumes 
high ethical obligations, and it is the as-
sumption of such obligations that makes 
what might otherwise be a business, a 
profession. Of all the groups of profes-
sions which are closely allied with busi-
ness, there is none in which the practi-
tioner is under greater ethical obligation 
to persons who are not his immediate 
clients” (May 1911).

May might not recognize what has become of 
his company that was implicated in a few scan-
dals including Tyco and Satyam. In the larger 
society, the attitude toward businesses and their 
leaders have been influenced by news coverage 
of ethical misdeeds. A 2010 Harris Interactive 
survey indicated that 70 percent of the adults 
disagreed with the statement, ‘people on Wall 
Street are as honest and as moral as other people’ 
(USA Today 2010). Continued media exposure 
of perceived unethical practices undermines the 
fabric of U.S. business environment (Egodiqwe, 
John, Long, and Warfield 2003). The natural as-
sumption to draw from the USA Today poll is 
that business people do not necessarily have the 
same ethical standards or behaviors in compari-
son to those in other spheres of life. Companies 
and trade organization have been responding to 
the charge of ethical lapses with a renewed focus 
on ethical codes of conduct and ethical training. 
Yet, the effectiveness of training in reducing the 
incidence of known ethical violations is at best 
mixed. Every so often, a new scandal unfolds one 
again leading thinkers to ask the same basic ethi-
cal questions. 

thE BusInEss school REsPonsE 

During the past decades, there have been calls for 
an increased focus on ethics in business and oth-
er areas of education. The American Assembly 
of Collegiate Schools of Business (AASCB) had 
called for the inclusion of ethics in the business 
curriculum (1987-88). Indeed, one of the most 
significant trends in the past decades is the inclu-
sion of ethics in the curriculum in U.S. colleges 
of business (Kochunny, Rogers, Ogbuehi 1992). 
This tradition has continued into the new mil-
lennium with a slew of newer formats for ethics 
courses and programs ranging from the usual case 
studies to simulations and immersion exercises. 
Although there is a general consensus that future 
business professionals have a lot to gain by being 
exposed to ethics, there is less agreement on how 
to impart the “wisdom”. Some say business ethics 
wisdom is difficult to teach to undergraduate stu-
dents since they have little knowledge of either 
business or its ethics (Jones and Ottaway, 2001).

Colleges and universities continue respond in 
ways they know best – adding courses, programs, 
journals and reaching out to businesses with 
training modules in ethics (Loe and Ferrell 2001; 
Burnette, Keith, and Pettijohn 2003). After over 
two decades of trying to teach ethics to future 
businesspersons, scandals continue to evolve and 
develop. An interesting question to explore is 
whether people are born or made ethical. 

Although it is impossible to unearth all the fac-
tors that lead to unethical behaviors, there is evi-
dence that underlying personality dispositions 
might be one of the causes. Research has shown 
that various antecedents such as narcissism, ex-
ploitative attitudes, lack of empathy, anti-intel-
lectualism, academic self-efficacy, etc. might in-
fluence students in high schools and colleges to 
cheat on exams and projects (Menon and Shar-
land, 2011; Sautter, et al. 2008; Elias 2009). Re-
cently, ABC News reported an instance of mass 
scale cheating in a senior level business course 
at the University of Florida (ABC News, 2010). 
The report indicated that fully one-third of the 
students in the class of 600 cheated on the mid-
term which in turn could delay their graduation. 

A recent survey of 220,000 first-time, full-time 
freshman from 297 four-year colleges/univer-
sities over a four-year period reveals that most 
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(78.1 percent) of them rated being financially 
well off as being the most important objective in 
life. This factor trumped raising a family (74.7 
percent) and helping others in difficulty (69.1 
percent) (USA Today 2010). According to the 
author of the study, concern for money perme-
ated everything yet fewer students in the study 
were reporting “business” as a major of inter-
est. If students enrolling in educational institu-
tions are less ethical by nature, can courses and 
programs transform them? Students have been 
caught violating ethical principles (cheating, pla-
giarism, etc.). Moreover, student cheating in the 
course work is very common (Broeckelman-Post 
2008) and business students, in particular, seem 
to cheat more often and act in less cooperative 
ways compared to those from other fields (Frank 
2004). A comparative study of MBA and MPA 
students found that the former are less critical 
and rely on egoism, and other factors that impact 
their ethical outlook in a negative manner (Rich-
ards, Gilbert, and Harris 2002). Other studies 
indicate that even though business students are 
comparable to students from other professional 
colleges with respect to cheating, the formers’ at-
titudes on what constitutes cheating were more 
lax than those in the latter group (Klien, Leven-
burg, McKendall, and Mothersell 2007). 

Studies have shown that students who cheat at 
the university level are more likely to demonstrate 
professional misconduct in their future (Atmeh 
and Al-Khadash 2008; Harding, Carpenter, Fi-
nelli, and Passow 2004). On the optimistic side 
of this issue, there is some indication that busi-
ness students believe that businesses should have 
certain ethical standards (Crane 2004; Power 
and Lundsten 2001) and that they are interested 
in having significant discussion on the subject 
as part of their education (Adkins and Radtke 
2004).

There have been many studies that found ac-
counting students to exhibit lower level of ethical 
reasoning compared to other business disciplines 
(Jeffrey 1993; Ponemon and Glazer 1990). An-
other study found that CPAs from smaller firms 
tended to exhibit lower Moral Reasoning Abili-
ties compared to other similarly situated profes-
sionals (Eynon, Hill, and Stevens 1997). 

Ethical dilemmas and situations abound in the 
business classrooms across the country. A study 

by Davis and Welton (1991) found that busi-
ness courses do not influence ethical behavior 
but integration of ethics into accounting courses 
seemed to improve reliance on ethical standards 
among accounting students (Hiltebeitel and 
Jones 1992). Enyon, Hill, and Stevens found that 
an ethics course seemed to have a significant im-
pact on attitudes toward ethical issues (1997). In 
another study of accounting majors, the authors 
found that requiring an ethics course does make 
an immediate, but short-term, difference in ethi-
cal decision-making or in assessing potential ethi-
cal/unethical behavior (Rogers and Smith 2008). 
Other studies seem to confirm the effectiveness 
of ethics programs or courses on accounting stu-
dents (Dellaportas 2006). 

Although the entire business community might 
be concerned with such generalized perceptions 
that paints all functions of business with the 
same brush stroke, marketing seems particularly 
vulnerable on a day-to-day basis (Lacznaik 1999). 
This might be due to marketing’s role in people’s 
every day life. 

A 1991 study in a basic marketing course found 
that how ethics was taught had an impact on 
attitudes of the students (Burton, Johnson and 
Wilson 1991). But, discussions regarding the 
ethicality of business scenarios were less effective 
compared to a lecture format that focused on 
ethical philosophies and framework for decision-
making. 

In another case, marketing students were found 
to be less likely to have unethical behavior inten-
tions after being exposed to ethics in an advertis-
ing course (Burnette, Keith, and Pettijohn 2003) 
and or that the ethical weightings of students’ 
individual values improved after the course even 
though the ethical decision making behaviors 
were below par (Wu 2003). Other studies of 
marketing students have indicated that they 
are either less ethical (Pratt and James 1994) or 
more ethical (Yoo and Donthu 2002) or about 
the same as the other majors (Burnette, Keith, 
and Pettijohn 2003). For instance, Peppas and 
Duskin (2000) in a study of 300 undergraduate 
students in business found that marketing ma-
jors who had taken a course in ethics were not 
different in their ethical perspectives than those 
who had not completed the same course.

head and heart traits

Some of the earliest studies using Maccoby’s 
head-heart traits scale were in the 1980s (Kriet-
ner and Rier 1980; Stevens 1985) and most of 
them involved one business major or the other. 
The 1990s witnessed a few studies that compared 
head-heart traits across majors (Patten, 1990, 
Kochunny, Rogers, and Ogbuehi 1992). Studies 
have utilized not only the Maccoby scale but also 
the MACH IV and DIT (Defining Issues Test) 
scales to measure ethical propensities. In one 
particular instance, accounting students high 
in Machiavellianism were more likely to view 
questionable ethical behavior as being accept-
able (Pope 2005). The study also found that the 
MACH IV scale was a better predictor of ethical 
tendencies when compared to the DIT measure. 

Studies utilizing the Head-Heart scale have ex-
amined perceptions of students from specific 
majors or in some cases compared amongst them. 
One study in particular that compared the dif-
ferences between accounting and marketing stu-
dents found that marketing students are no less 
ethically inclined than their accounting counter-
parts (Kochunny, Rogers, and Ogbuehi 1992). In 
that instance, with the exception of the honesty 
trait, mostly head-oriented traits were rated as 
more important in their chosen career field than 
heart-oriented traits. 

In a way, this current study can be seen as a longi-
tudinal replication of the 1992 study in that the 
comparison is between current students in the 
same business majors using the same Head-Heart 
construct. Are things different now compared to 
the early 1990s? Within about two decades, there 
have been numerous ethical lapses in business, 
politics, entertainment, and education. During 
the same period, business schools have also re-
acted by strengthening their ethics curriculums. 

mEthodologY

The items for the study are replicated from the 
prior Kochunny, Rogers, and Ogbuehi (1992) 
study which also utilized the Maccoby scale. 
That is 19 items focusing on the Head/Heart 
concepts were included in a self-administered 
survey format. In the current study demographic 
data was included at the end of the survey iden-
tifying age, gender, major, and job aspirations in 
terms of size of employer. The responses to the 
Head/Heart items were “Highly Important”, 
“Somewhat Important”, and “Not Important”. 
The study authors recognize that with this re-
sponse format there are limitations to statistical 
tests, even when such tests are used for establish-
ing patterns in the data.

The respondents were all participants in the 
Management Strategy capstone course at a me-
dium sized university in the Southeastern Unit-
ed States. This course is required for all business 
students in the College of Business and therefore 
has the greatest diversity of majors in all business 
upper-division courses. Multiple sections of the 
same course were involved in the study. The sur-
veys were not administered by any of the study 
authors.

The responses were collected and collated. The 
data was coded and subjected to a preliminary 
analysis to test for differences across the differ-
ent sections. The tests indicate that there are no 
significant differences across the sections and 
the data were combined. A total of 314 usable 
responses were included in the data analysis re-
ported below.

REsults

The responses came from 175 Males and 164 Fe-
males. Table 1 depicts the distribution by major.

tablE 1 
croSS tabS, Major by gEndEr

Accounting Economics/Finance Management Marketing General Business

Male 31 22 60 35 14

Female 46 17 44 34 10
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comparison across studies 
(1992 to 2010)

The results, shown in Table 2, focus on the differ-
ences in responses across time. The original study 
included 1,000 students at three institutions. 
This second study focuses on a smaller number 
of respondents at one institution. However, the 
results show a remarkable similarity. In 1992, 
both Accounting and Marketing majors consid-
ered Self Confidence, Pride in Performance, and 
Honesty to be high-ranking traits. These were 
closely followed by Coolness under Stress, Co-
operativeness, and Taking the Initiative. These 
are still the traits that show strongly in the 2010 
sample. One natural conclusion to draw from 
these results is that, in general, business students 
have not changed many of their priorities over 
the 17 years.

A more nuanced analysis does indicate some 
interesting changes in specific rankings. For in-
stance, there is one item that clearly has changed 

its order of importance; Critical Attitude toward 
Authority. In 1992, this item was low in both the 
Marketing and Accounting rankings. In 2010, 
all students considered this to be much more im-
portant. Despite the increase in ranking, there is 
a difference in how important it is perceived to 
be now. That is, 68% of marketing students con-
sidered a Critical Attitude toward Authority to 
be “Somewhat” or “Very Important”. However, 
only 45% of Accounting students considered the 
same. This difference is statistically significant at 
the 0.05 level of probability. 

While a Critical Attitude was moving up in the 
rankings, there was a decrease in the relative im-
portance of Open Mindedness for both Market-
ing and Accounting students. In both cases the 
2010 data shows this trait to slip 5 places in the 
rankings; for Marketing from 3rd to 8th, and for 
Accounting from 7th to 12th place. 

Apart from these two items (Critical Attitude 
and Open Mindedness), the other changes are 
relatively minor. If we cluster the rankings into 

3 groups, we find that the bottom ranked items 
are Heart traits. These traits were ranked low-
est in both the1992 and the 2010 data sets. For 
instance, Sense of Humor, Independence (versus 
Dependence), Idealism, and Generosity fit this 
clustering. In contrast, as noted earlier, Honesty, 
Self Confidence, Pride in Performance, Tak-
ing the Initiative, and Coolness under Stress are 
ranked highest in both data sets. 

Expanding the analysis to other majors

Table 3 includes an expanded data set that in-
cludes a broader range of majors than was in-
cluded in the 1992 study. The number of majors 
is increased to five, with Accounting combined 
with Finance/Economics, and Marketing joined 
by Management and General Business. The table 
sorts the items into the “Head” and “Heart” cate-
gories rather than a specific rank ordering for eas-
ier comparison. The percentage of students who 
considered the item to be “Very important” or 
“Somewhat Important” is shown with the rank 

ordering of the item in this Table. The following 
analysis first looks at the differences across the 
major “types” using straight statistical compari-
sons and then uses a more ‘textured’ approach to 
analyze similarities and differences. 

Honesty, Self Confidence, Taking the Initiative, 
and Pride in Performance are ranked highly by 
all majors. There are some differences in terms of 
percentage, but at least 75% of all students rated 
these “Important”. At the other end of the spec-
trum we find that Idealism, Sense of Humor, 
Generosity, and Compassion are all rated very 
low, with none of them scoring above 48% in any 
major. Between these clusters is a group of traits 
that are apparently of intermediate “importance” 
across the majors. This group includes Flexibility 
(63% - 74%), Pleasure in Creating Something 
New (65%-74%), Open Mindedness (54%-75%), 
and Loyalty (58%-79%).

As with the Table 2 and its focus on the compari-
son across time, Table 3 seems to indicate that 
business students across majors are not that dif-

tablE 2 
accounting & MarkEting StudEntS trait rankingS 2009 vErSuS 1992

Item*
2009 1992

Marketing Accounting Marketing Accounting
Self Confidence 2 2 1 2
Pride in Performance 2 5 2 3
Open Mindedness 8 (-5) 12 (-5) 3 7
Honesty 1 (+3) 1 4 1
Take the Initiative 2 (+3) 6 5 6
Flexibility 5 7 5 9
Cooperativeness 7 3 7 5
Coolness Under Stress 6 3 8 4
Friendliness 12 (-3) 11 9 10
Loyalty to fellow workers 13 (-3) 8 10 8
Openness/Spontaneity 11 16 (-3) 11 13
Pleasure learning new 10 9 11 11
Satisfaction creating new 15 13 13 15
Sense of Humor 14 19 (-5) 14 14
Independence (vs. dependence) 16 10 15 12
Idealism 19 (-3) 14 16 16
Compassion 17 18 17 18
Generosity 18 17 18 19
Critical Attitude (toward authority) 9 (+10) 14 (+3) 19 17
* Items bold and italicized are “Head” items 
** parentheses include items that moved more than 3 places between the survey administrations

tablE 3 
hEad/hEart trait rankingS by buSinESS Major

Item 2009 Study

HEART

Accounting 
(77)

Finance/ 
Economics 

(39)

Manage-
ment (105)

Marketing 
(69)

General 
Business 

(24)
Honesty (279) 1    95% 1    95% 3    88% 1    80% 1    92%
Loyalty (214) 8    70% 9    67% 9    71% 13    58% 4    79%
Friendliness (183) 11    62% 13    46% 12    59% 12    61% 13    54%
Openness (180) 16    43% 13    46% 11    66% 11    64% 9    67%
Independence (177) 10    64%  10    62% 13    57% 16    45% 13    54%
Idealism (130) 14    45% 12    49% 14    42% 19    30% 15    46%
Sense of Humor (118) 19    32% 18    33% 15    38% 14    48% 19   29%
Generosity (116) 17    38% 16    36% 16    37% 18    35% 16    42%
Critical Attitude (112) 14    45% 9    67% 12    59% 9     68% 4    79%
Compassion (110) 18    35% 16    36% 19    34% 17    36% 18    33%
HEAD
Self Confidence (270) 2    91% 2    90% 2    89% 2    78% 6    75%
Initiative (263) 6    75% 2    90% 1    91% 2    78% 2    83%
Cooperative 3    84% 5    77% 4    86% 7   72% 6    75%
Pride (247) 5    79% 4    82% 5    78% 2    78% 6    75%
Coolness (239) 3   84% 6    74% 10    70% 5    74% 2    83%
Flexibility (231) 7    74% 7    72% 6    76% 5     74% 12    63%
Pleasure (something new) (219) 9    69% 8    69% 8    74% 10    65% 9    67%
Open Minded (212) 12    61% 11    54% 7    75% 8    71% 9    67%
Satisfaction (135) 13  56% 15    38% 19    34% 15   46% 17    38%
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ferent in terms of their general traits. As a gen-
eralization, the Head dominates over the Heart. 
This further reinforces the point that business 
students are very similar whatever the program 
of study.

Quantitative versus  
Qualitative ‘Perspective’

Very often, administrative expedience requires 
the business functional areas to be grouped to-
gether. It is not uncommon for Marketing and 
Management to be combined in a single depart-
ment. It is not unusual for Finance and Econom-
ics to be similarly grouped. Accounting is very 
often a separate department, especially when it is 
offered as a degree. However, the curriculum of 
the Finance/Economics and Accounting majors 
(outside their major) is often similar. Therefore, 
it is not unusual for people to consider there to 
be two general types of business major; a Quan-
titative oriented option and a Qualitative option. 
This is a stereotype and there are several areas of 
Accounting/Finance/Economics that are quali-
tative and areas of Marketing/Management that 
are quantitative in nature.

Table 4 combines the responses of the Account-
ing and Finance/Economics students in one 
group and the Marketing, Management, and 
General Business students in another. For the 
sake of ease, these groups are labeled “Quantita-
tive” and “Qualitative”. There is much similar-
ity between the Quantitative group and the Ac-
counting group in Table 3, as would be expected 
given that it is the dominant group. The Qualita-
tive responses bear a significant resemblance to 
the Marketing group reported in Table 3.

statistical differences 

The majors were coded into Quantitative and 
Qualitative categories and then tested across the 
top three and bottom three ranked traits. The 
results of the comparison indicate virtually no 
differences. This suggests that business majors 
consider these traits in a similar fashion what-
ever their major. To put it more bluntly, sugges-
tions that students from Accounting, Finance 
or Economics backgrounds are more prone to 
hard-headedness (because of their quantitative 

orientation) are not supported by the results of 
this study.

conclusIons & ImPlIcatIons

The current study is a part replication and part 
extension of a prior study from 1992.  The repli-
cation component identified certain changes in 
the way specific head/heart traits are perceived 
by business students.  In particular, modern stu-
dents rank a Critical Attitude toward Authority 
as much more important now than in 1992.

The extension component of the study established 
a perspective over a wider range of major subjects 
than the original study and found very similar 
results.   That is, the results of the Accounting 
students can be extrapolated to the “Quantita-
tive” major category and the Marketing student 
results can be extrapolated to the “Qualitative” 
major category. In general, all modern business 
students are likely to rank the head/heart traits 
in a very similar fashion whatever their major.  

The contribution of the study is to refute the per-
spective that quantitatively oriented students are 
harder-headed than qualitatively oriented stu-
dents.   This view is often expressed when a ma-
jor ethical scandal emerges.  Commentators and 
observers sometimes question how accountants 
and bankers could miss “obvious” flaws in busi-
ness practices and attribute (at least) some of the 
problem to the business education process.

Results from this study seem consistent with that 
of the previous study. The 1992 examination of 
accounting and marketing students concluded 
that they “do not have markedly different percep-
tions of Maccoby’s head/heart traits (Kochunny, 
Rogers, Ogbuehi 1992). The finding that there 
were no significant differences exits between ac-
counting and marketing students with respect 
to most of the traits examined is also consistent 
with a study by Kahlas, Groves, and Bonham 
(1977).

It is just possible that marketing students may 
be as ethical as accounting majors. Contradic-
tory to societal perceptions, marketing students 
seem closer to being “company men” than being 
“gamesmen.” In this regard, Maccoby seemed 
concerned about with the human side of the en-
terprise, interested in peoples’ feelings and com-

mitted to the development and maintenance of 
corporate integrity in a stimulating and coopera-
tive atmosphere. Years of tweaking business cur-
riculum with a varying doses of ethics and gen-
eral awareness of ethics among today’s students 
might have bridged the gap between accounting 
and marketing students between the two studies.
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A 16-year-old soccer player was finally getting 
his shot to play for his high school’s varsity team.  
He worked, practiced, and trained for eight years 
just to get a chance to play junior varsity in high 
school.  He spent the last two fall seasons on the 
JV team and worked through the winter, spring 
and summer on his own time to get into shape 
to become one of his school’s top athletes.  On 
the weekends he played with a local club team 
to get even more practice.  Now, at the start of 
his junior year, he was at his peak condition and 
was watching as the ball was finally sent flying 
in his direction.  He gained control of the ball 
and started heading toward the other team’s 
goal, cutting around defenders and getting ready 
to take his shot.  But as he headed toward the fi-
nal player, he planted his foot wrong and as he 
turned, he felt a pop and his knee gave out send-
ing him falling to the ground.  The next day his 
doctor told him that the pop he felt was his ACL 
tearing and he would need surgery.  But as the 
doctor told him that, he said “Don’t worry.  With 
rehab and training we’ll get you in top shape for 
your senior season.”  And true to the doctor’s 
word, physical therapy began soon after surgery.  
Not only did they work to build up his strength 

in that leg, the therapists also took into consider-
ation his needs as a soccer player.  They even went 
to a field near the therapy office where the thera-
pists showed the student how to properly plant 
his feet and what he needed to consider when piv-
oting around a defender.  The player for years had 
been shown how to get around a defender and 
how to dribble a ball, but never how to avoid get-
ting hurt.  And that next season the training paid 
off.  He again was given a chance to head for the 
goal, except this time his steps were deliberate.  
Thanks to his work with his physical therapist, 
he paid attention every time he placed his foot 
down and finally got the chance to wind up his 
kick as he faced off one-on-one with the goalie. 

That player’s father was soon put into a similar ex-
perience.  His father was a 50-year-old mechani-
cal engineer at a local steel plant where he had 
worked for nearly 25 years.  He also played high 
school sports but in the decades since school, had 
not spent as much time taking care of his body.  
As his focus shifted to work and family, he spent 
less time in the gym and more time with his wife 
and kids.  That day he went to work repairing 
one of his plants machines and reached around 
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the equipment to pick up his toolbox.  He too 
felt a pop as he twisted and lifted the heavy box, 
and soon felt pain radiating across his back.  He 
went home for the afternoon and the next day, he 
too visited his doctor.  Having just seen his son 
go through a similar situation, he knew what to 
expect.  But the doctor said, “You pulled a muscle 
in your back, but good news.  No surgery.  I just 
want you to go to physical therapy to get back 
in shape.”  So just one year after his son started 
treatment, he found himself in the same offic-
es.  But that’s where the comparisons end.  The 
therapy office had worked so well getting his son 
back to playing condition, but it didn’t do so well 
with occupational injuries.  The work focused on 
building back the muscle in his back and as soon 
as the pain started to stop, he was declared ready 
to go back to work.

That is a common situation for therapy providers.  
When there is not someone that needs specific 
training, the therapy tends to focus on general 
well-being and rehabilitation.  And that is some-
thing that Workers First Therapy identified as a 
weak spot in the therapy industry.  Workers First 
Therapy saw a need within the market for services 
geared specifically toward work related injuries.  
Instead of just strengthening the muscles, Work-
ers First Therapy wanted to do job-specific train-
ing.  They wanted to talk with the father and see 
exactly what his job requirements were to see ex-
actly how to train his body.  The father has had a 
lot of on-the-job training to fix the machines, but 
the therapists could provide more.  They could 
go to work with the father and show him how he 
should be lifting that toolbox and how to tailor 
his work routines so he would never have to come 
visit their clinic again.

comPanY BackgRound

Workers First Therapy was founded by Pamela 
Jones in 1992.  Ms. Jones had extensive experi-
ence in rehabilitation, both on the research side 
and through clinical work.  She was a member 
of a team of researchers at a large area university 
who worked to evaluate what were called “func-
tional capacity evaluations,” normally shortened 
to FCE.  An FCE is a measure of a worker’s physi-
cal ability to do a certain job.  For example, does a 
client have the strength or range of motion to be 
constantly lifting and moving for a job as a UPS 

driver?  The team decided that it could come up 
with a better model and developed a new FCE 
which Jones used to found Workers First Thera-
py.  Its stated goal was to provide a research-based 
FCE for companies to use nationally and inter-
nationally.

Workers First Therapy grew into a Memphis-
based workplace injury therapy and injury pre-
vention company.  But its main line of business 
continued to be its FCE which was administered 
worldwide through a network of clinics.  When 
patients would come to a doctor or an insurance 
company with an injury, they would contact 
Workers First Therapy and would be referred 
to the nearest member clinic.  Each clinic was 
trained by Workers First Therapy to administer 
the FCE and paid a fee to Workers First Therapy 
to be a part of the network of 800+ clinics.  Jones 
and her staff also operated locally by adminis-
tering their own FCE’s.  Other lines of business 
for Workers First Therapy included job demand 
analysis, pre-hire screenings, programs to help 
companies and workers avoid injuries, and re-
turn-to-work programs.  Finally, Workers First 
Therapy ran an on-site clinic for a large Memphis 
factory, American Industrial, where it provided 
occupational health and therapy programs to 
American Industrial employees.

Workers First Therapy’s commitment to Ameri-
can Industrial left the staff stretched thin and 
with little room for expansion outside of their 
current service line offering.  Because of the size 
of the client, Workers First Therapy dedicated a 
large portion its available resources to it and left 
it without the capacity to expand into other busi-
ness lines.  But that situation improved when a 
new staff member was hired and Workers First 
Therapy moved to a new office which included 
increased office space. 

thE PRoBlEm

According to Emily Thompson, the Workers 
First Therapy On-Site Coordinator, “the indus-
trial side of therapy is lost.”  As the 50-year-old 
steel worker realized, when someone is injured on 
the job in Memphis, and the doctor determines 
they need therapy, the worker is sent to a standard 
clinic for therapy.  The employer, the insurance 
company, another third-party administrator, or 

the doctor decided where the employee was sent.  
Most patients were treated at a typical physical 
therapy clinic using traditional physical therapy 
techniques. Workers First Therapy believed it 
could provide a better service.  Jones and Thomp-
son also noted that workers’ compensation inju-
ries also paid the therapy providers more than 
other therapy services.  Those two realizations 
led the Workers First Therapy management team 
to begin exploring how best to expand their busi-
ness model to make its therapy center a reality. 
Their goal was to tap into a market to potentially 
treat some of the 21,798 workers in the Memphis 
market who are injured on the job every year.  
With more than 10,650 of those injuries result-
ing in time off or job restrictions, employers had a 
strong interest in making sure that the employees 
returned to work quickly and didn’t repeat the 
same steps that led to their injury (Appendix 4).

Workers First Therapy had an established pres-
ence on a large industrial campus within the 
Memphis market.  The experience and results 
from this on-going, on-site program led the man-
agement team to believe that workman’s com-
pensation (industrial therapy) could be serviced 
in a different manner for smaller companies and 
individuals that would not require an on-going, 
on-site program.  After careful consideration the 
management team faced the decision of how best 
to go about offering these services within their 
current business model.  The question became 
“should the management team provide therapy 
within the Workers First Therapy offices or not 
pursue this specific line of business?”

Workers First Therapy had not offered any ther-
apy services within its offices and Jones realized 
that she would have to spend some of her com-
pany’s capital in order to secure the worker’s 
business.  She would have to undertake a physical 
expansion as well as an expansion of staffing and 
business practices. The former was accomplished 
as it moved offices into an office suite that includ-
ed the space needed for the therapy sessions, but 
they had yet to purchase the equipment needed 
to perform the actual therapy.  Also Jones re-
alized that to get the worker’s business, she 
couldn’t just appeal to him and his co-workers, 
she would have to target his bosses or even people 
outside his company.  Workers’ compensation 
therapy business was typically distributed based 

on relationships, so face time with insurance 
providers, third-party administrators and other 
decision-makers was key to gaining market share 
within the industrial therapy sector.  And simply 
offering a quality product would not be enough.  
As with many business decisions, cost would be 
king.  Workers First Therapy would need to pro-
vide the best service at the best price.

The new office space had the potential to house 
two therapists and treat 20-22 patients each day.  
The company employed 15 people and several 
contract workers and felt it would have both the 
space and support staff needed to initiate an on-
site industrial therapy clinic.  But simply having 
the resources available wouldn’t be enough for 
Jones’s expansion to be a success, she and her 
co-workers needed to consider marketing costs 
and strategies, equipment costs, defensive strat-
egies, pricing, as well as competitors.  But Jones 
and Thompson had to consider more than just 
that option, they could expand without adding 
these new services.  Memphis was home to many 
industrial and commercial parks that are each 
home to hundreds of employees.  Their expan-
sion could target other local employers as large 
as American Industrial and try to build on-site 
clinics for those companies, or even build centers 
near industrial parks to offer services close to sev-
eral employers or factories.  Or at the end of the 
day, Jones could decide her company was mov-
ing forward and enjoying enough success already 
that spending the time and money to expand 
wasn’t worth it, and simply enjoy the larger office 
space without bringing the therapy services into 
its space.

comPEtItIvE EnvIRonmEnt

Workers First Therapy was considering ventur-
ing into a field dominated by larger therapy pro-
viders affiliated with large hospitals.  According 
to Emily Thompson, the “big three” hospitals in 
Memphis, the University Health Systems, Hill-
side Medical Center and St. Anthony’s Health 
System, would be the clinic’s biggest challenge.  
They all offered services similar to the therapy 
Workers First Therapy was considering offering.  
St. Anthony’s Health System offered the most 
extensive array of work-related injury services 
that could have conflicted with Workers First 
Therapy’s vision (see Appendix 1).  Pamela Jones 
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and Thompson both believed, however, that the 
services they wanted to develop would better 
treat the needs of the hypothetical steel worker 
than any of the service lines the three hospitals 
offered.  But they realized they could not afford 
to simply ignore that threat posed by the hos-
pitals because they all could provide economies 
of scale that Workers First Therapy would lack.  
They also offered networks of doctors that could 
provide referrals in-house that Workers First 
Therapy would struggle to match.  Smaller clin-
ics such as Premiere, Select and Memphis Physi-
cal Therapy were also in the competitive sphere 
of Workers First Therapy.  These clinics will be 
similar in size, but did not offer the specializa-
tion in work-related injuries and therapy services.  
These clinics were focused on the athlete, a field 
that drew more attention and thus had a more 
saturated market.

addItIonal consIdERatIons

As Jones considers expanding her business, she 
needed to keep pricing at the front of her mind.  
The bottom line was a significant driver for busi-
ness in the medical industry.  Insurance compa-
nies and third-party administrators determined 
what they would pay the therapy providers, 
and many providers were left to decide if they 
wanted to take the price or miss out on the busi-
ness.  Therefore the management team must con-
stantly keep abreast of the going rate and keep 
a fee structure for the insurance companies and 
third-party administrators that is competitive.  
Thompson said the company planned to dictate 
its own prices, but use the fee structure for work-
ers’ compensation services provided by the Ten-
nessee Department of Industrial Relations as a 
baseline.  Typical workers’ compensation carriers 
are able to negotiate a 15 to 20 percent discount 
from those baseline prices.

Workers First Therapy budgeted approximately 
$60,000 for marketing, of which $4,175 was 
earmarked for its local services such as the pos-
sible workers’ compensation clinic.  Much of that 
budget was spent attending trade shows aimed 
at attracting new customers for all of its busi-
ness lines.  These trade shows were avenues for 
networking with large companies, insurance pro-
viders and third party administrators.  One such 
trade show was the summer conference held ev-

ery year at a nearby resort destination. Jones and 
Thompson used the conference as a way to meet 
and greet with large, self-insured employers such 
as Tennessee Electrical Power, Western Mining, 
and Center Construction.  Jones identified these 
companies as near-ideal clients because they 
managed and paid their own benefits.  Thomp-
son explained that this way there is less money 
taken out by middle-men and they can secure 
more money for their services.  Workers First 
Therapy will pay $750 to $1,000 just to get a spot 
at the tradeshow, plus any costs for promotional 
materials, lodging, and food.  The show also af-
forded other promotional opportunities such as 
ads in the newsletters distributed by the group.  
Thompson and Jones realized they would have to 
spend more time at events such as this in order to 
build up their business.

Workers First Therapy could also take advantage 
of more personal marketing strategies targeted at 
case managers for insurance companies, third-
party administrators, human resources officers 
from those self-insured companies, and doctors.  
Finding those potential customers and winning 
their business was a barrier to entry that Work-
ers First Therapy would have to face.  Workers 
First Therapy could possibly designate one of its 
employees to take on the role of a salesperson in 
marketing to these different individuals or could 
potentially hire someone with sales experience. 
In fact they had considered that, and planned to 
capitalize on contacts that Thompson had made 
through years in the industry.  But, if they decid-
ed the work was best done with a full-time em-
ployee, Jones could hire a salesperson and offer a 
compensation package based mostly on commis-
sion to maximize its return on the investment.

One key consideration for Workers First Ther-
apy in any expansion move was the hiring of 
additional therapists.  Worker’s compensation 
was not an attractive field to pursue for physical 
therapists.  This was due to reasons such as the 
opinion by many that worker’s compensation pa-
tients just simply did not want to work.  Thera-
pists found it difficult and frustrating to work 
with someone who did not put forth the proper 
effort in their therapy training.  Another reason 
for worker’s compensation not being very attrac-
tive to therapists was the fact that this line of 
business did not have the appeal that other areas 

such as sports related therapy provided.  Workers 
First Therapy spent nearly a year searching for an 
additional therapist to work at American Indus-
trial.  If the company was going to expand they 
would have consider the fact that they might not 
be able to handle additional patients due to the 
lack of therapists to provide worker’s compensa-
tion therapy.

Another barrier to entry for Workers First Ther-
apy would have been the cost of new equipment 
needed to even offer the basic therapy needs.  
Among the list of equipment the staff needed  to 
purchase were an ultrasound machine for almost 
$2,400, a treadmill for $3,295, a stationary bike 
for $2,295, and weights for $700.  The total price 
of its equipment list exceeded $10,000.  Workers 
First Therapy would need to consider the amount 
it was willing to spend just to enter the field.  
These purchases would require Workers First 
Therapy to either set aside funds or secure financ-
ing for the initial upfront costs of the equipment.  

dEfEnsIvE stRatEgIEs

If management decided to pursue this service 
line, Workers First Therapy had to find a way to 
defend its position within the market.  Relation-
ship management was an effective way to defend 
their position, keep the phones ringing and the 
therapy rooms full.  Once those initial clients 
were secured, through networking, trade shows, 
chance meetings, or any other methods, they still 
would have work to do as far as keeping those cli-
ents.  Workers First Therapy needed to formalize 
a strategy to keep contacts up with the represen-
tatives from those efforts.  But the most impor-
tant defensive strategies related to results and 
price.  Price was a fairly straightforward situation 
yet would depend on each case.  The lower the 
price, the more likely a company was to return to 
Workers First Therapy for treatment of its next 
patient.  However, as with any business, too low 
of a price could be detrimental to the company’s 
profit margin.  Results were the best way to coun-
ter any price argument and using results might 
have been the best defensive strategy.  Workers 
First Therapy had results it could offer to poten-
tial clients and companies.  Through its work 
at the on-site industrial facility, Workers First 
Therapy’s staff members treated 122 patients in 
the first three months of 2010.  Of the patients 

completing their therapy programs, Workers 
First Therapy enabled more than 92% of patients 
to return to work, and 87.5% of those patients 
were able to perform their full duties.  Workers 
First Therapy could attempt to show employers 
that the less time it takes to fully rehabilitate a 
patient, the less time that employee is off the job.

Workers First Therapy’s other business lines 
could also become a defensive strategy.  As it con-
tracts with new clients, the company’s services 
don’t have to be limited to treating patients af-
ter an injury occurs.  Workers First Therapy was 
also able to help prevent future employee injuries.  
Workers First Therapy billed itself as “The Injury 
Prevention Experts,” demonstrating a level of 
experience with occupational injuries that tradi-
tional therapy centers couldn’t offer.  Staff mem-
bers regularly visited worksites and identified 
areas that stood out as risks for injuries.  They 
watched for practices that could lead to worker 
injuries and evaluated employees before they 
were hired so an employer could be confident 
that their candidate could safely perform the job 
requirements.  Their “Expert” label also extended 
to helping other clinics make sure their therapists 
were fully trained on how best to treat workplace 
injuries.

Is woRkERs fIRst thERaPY REadY 
foR a woRkERs’ comPEnsatIon 

clInIc?

Pamela Jones determined that her company had 
the potential to expand into the industrial side 
of therapy.  Workers’ compensation could poten-
tially become a very lucrative endeavor for her 
growing company and it was an area it already 
operated in on a small level through its contract 
with its industrial on-site clinic.  In order for 
Workers First Therapy to obtain smaller com-
panies as clients, they would have to utilize their 
new office space to service the new clients.  Jones 
and Emily Thompson would also need to ratio-
nalize the new costs they will be taking on in 
context of what they hoped to gain through the 
expansion.  But they both needed to realize their 
considerations should have also considered long-
term implications and concerns, ones that existed 
even after an initial success.  They needed to con-
sider how other companies would have respond-
ed to the clinic, and developed ways to defend 
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their business from competitors.  Work would 
have to be done to protect against threats from 
the “big three” hospitals as well as any new com-
petitors that might have come along.  Jones and 
Thompson had decided that offering industrial 
therapy at their office could be very profitable for 
the company, but they still needed to make deci-
sions about the steps needed to capitalize on that 
vision.  It was up to Workers First’s management 
team to either pull the trigger on worker’s com-
pensation expansion or pull the plug.
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appEndix 1 
ratE SchEdulE For workErS’ coMpEnSation thErapy  

(partial liSt oF ratES/procEdurES) 
SourcE: dEpartMEnt oF induStrial rElationS

PREVAILING RATE/MAXIMUM 
PHYSICAL THERAPY/REHABILITATION FEE SCHEDULE

CODE DESCRIPTION FEE
97001 Physical therapy evaluation $122.39
97002 Physical therapy re-evaluation $47.91
97003 Occupational therapy evaluation $122.39
97004 Occupational therapy re-evaluation $47.91

SUPERVISED: The application of a modality that does not require direct (one-on-one) patient 
contact by the provider.

97012 Traction, mechanical $33.90
97014 Electrical stimulation (unattended) $29.51
97026 Infrared $23.58
97028 Ultraviolet $29.51

CONSTANT ATTENDANCE:
97032 Electrical stimulation (manual), each 15 minutes $29.51
97033 Lontophoresis, each 15 minutes $30.96
97035 Ultrasound, each 15 minutes $24.33

THERAPEUTIC PROCEDURES:

97110 Therapeutic procedure, one or more areas, each 15 minutes, therapeutic exercises to 
develop strength and endurance, range of motion and flexibility $44.22

97112 Neuromuscular reeducation of movement, balance, Coordination kinesthetic sense, 
posture, and/or proprioception for sitting and/or standing activities $44.82

97116 Gait training (includes stair climbing) $38.33

97124 Massage, including effleurage, petrissage and/or tapotement (stroking, compression, 
percussion) $34.65

97140 Manual therapy techniques (eg, mobilization/manipulation, manual lymphatic 
drainage, manual traction), one or more regions, each 15 minutes $31.69

97545 Work hardening/conditioning; initial 2 hours $158.28
97546 Each additional hour $79.15

TEST AND MEASUREMENTS:

97760
Orthotic(s) management and training (including assessment and fitting when not 
otherwise reported), upper extremity(s), lower extremity(s) and/or trunk, each 15 
minutes

$48.99

97750 Physical performance test or measurement (eg, musculoskeletal functional 
capacity), with written report, each 15 minutes $53.07

97755
Assistive technology assessment (eg, to restore, augment or compensate for existing 
function, optimize functional tasks and/or maximize environmental accessibility), 
direct one-on-one contact by provider, each 15 minutes

$64.30
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 appEndix 3 
rESultS FroM workErS FirSt thErapy work at a largE induStrial cliEnt.   

data FroM january-March 2010.  
(Financial rESultS havE bEEn diSguiSEd to protEct conFidEntiality)

  January February March YTD
Therapeutic Activity                
Total # Patients Seen 32 40 50 122
Evaluations             0
Evaluations (new patients) 18 9 17 44
Re-Evaluations 5 6 3 14
Total # Visits 136 148 233    
Average # Visits per Patient 4.25 3.7 4.66 0
Preventative Activity                
Job Site Visits 2 5 1 8
Post DC Follow-ups 0 0 0 0
Symptom Surveys Collected 0 0 0 0
Symptom Survey Follow Up 0 0 0 0
Total Prevention 2 5 1 8
Assessment’s                
FCEs 0 0 1 1
Impairment Ratings 0 0 2 2
Total Assessments 0 0 3 3
Injury Information                
Total # of Cases 20 22 24 66
First Aid   4 20.0%   4 18.2% 11 45.8% 19 28.8%
Medical Only   3 15.0%   6 27.3%    5 20.8% 14 21.2%
Restricted Duty 10 50.0% 10 45.5%    6 25.0% 26 39.4%
Lost Time   3 15.0%   2 9.1%    2 8.3%    7 10.6%
Total Restricted Duty Days 278 283 150 711
Total Lost Days 58 68 29 155
Average # Restricted Days/Case 27.8 28.3 25 27.3
Average # Lost Days/Case 19.3 34.0 14.5 22.1
Outcomes        
Unable to Return to Work 2 (12.5%) 2 (8.7%) 1 (4.0%) 5 (7.8%)
Returning to Restricted Duty 2 (13%) 0 (0%) 1 (4%) 3 (4.7%)
Returning to Full Duty 12 (75%) 21 (91%) 23 (92%) 56 (87.5%)
Total Outcomes 16 23 25 64
Service Hours                
# Therapy Hours for Patient Treatment 163.83 122.08 151.00 436.91
# Therapy Hours for Prevention  2.00 5.25 1.00 8.25
Total # Miscellaneous Hours Provided 0.00 3.50 5.00 8.50
Total # Hours 183.83 130.83 157.00 471.66
Total Cost for Therapy Services1 $35,938.77 $25,577.27 $30,693.50  $     92,209.54
Source: Workers First Therapy management

appEndix 2 
oFFEringS FroM a kEy coMpEtitor’S wEbSitE
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appEndix 4 
EStiMatEd nuMbEr oF workplacE injuriES 

incidEncE ratES oF nonFatal occupational injuriES and illnESSES by  
induStry and caSE typES in StatE, 2007

Industry

2007  
Average  
annual  

employment 
(thousands)

Total 
recordable 

cases

Cases with days away from work, 
job transfer, or restriction Other 

recordable 
casesTotal

Cases with 
days away 
from work

Cases with 
job transfer or 

restriction

Manufacturing 298.8 6.0 3.2 1.2 2.0 2.9
Educational and health 
services 201.6 5.3 2.3 1.0 1.3 3.0

Trade, transportation, and 
utilities 392.2 4.9 2.7 1.4 1.3 2.2

Construction 113.1 4.6 2.3 1.6 0.6 2.3
Leisure and hospitality 175.4 3.9 1.3 1.0 0.3 2.7
Natural resources and mining 20.5 3.4 2.2 1.7 0.5 1.2
Other services 48.7 3.0 0.6 0.5 0.1 2.4
Financial activities 97.2 2.6 0.8 0.7 - 1.9
Professional and business 
services 219.5 2.5 1.1 0.7 0.4 1.4

Information 28.6 1.5 0.6 - 0.3 1.0
-    Total 1595.6 4.5 2.2 1.1 1.0 2.3
Cases per 100 employees 
Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics

InstRuctoR’s manual

case summary:

Workers First Therapy, a Memphis-based work-
place injury therapy and injury prevention com-
pany, was considering adding a new business line 
that would provide physical therapy within the 
Workers First Therapy offices for work-related 
injuries.  The new business line would add extra 
costs due to staffing needs, equipment, manage-
ment and marketing.  The company must decide 
if the profit gained from the new work-related 
physical therapy venture would be sustainable 
as well as feasible for the Workers First Therapy 
business model.

case Intended uses:

This case is designed for study within undergrad-
uate Entrepreneurship, Management or Strategy 
classes.  Students should recognize the decision 
making pitfalls of which entrepreneurs, manag-
ers and strategists should be aware.  Also, the 
students should identify the competitive strat-
egies that are important for decision making.  
This case should be used in conjunction with 
text book reading assignments covering Decision 
Making and the Competitive Strategy section of 
strategy development.  This case is best if used at 
the end of the semester as a way to bring together 
material learned over the course of the class and 
reinforce the connection between strategy and 
decision making.

Research method:

This case was developed based on interviews with 
Workers First Therapy management and Internet 
research.  Any financial information has been 
disguised to protect competitive information. 

teaching objectives:

1. To identify decision making pitfalls that 
many entrepreneurs and managers en-
counter and how to avoid these pitfalls

2. To explore how decision making is 
related to competitive strategy

3. To explore how the competitive strategy 
should be defined based on the business 
environment

4. To examine how business decisions can 
unintentionally impact other business 
lines within a multi-faceted company

suggested teaching Plan

This case is suggested to be used after students 
have covered Decision Making (Questions 1-5) 
and Competitive Strategy (Questions 6-7) in 
both class lecture and individual student reading.  
The case can be used twice within the semester 
if preferred—focusing first on decision making, 
which is generally covered in broad terms in low-
er level business courses then more in depth in 
courses such as Entrepreneurship, Management 
or Strategy.  After covering Decision Making, the 
case can be used again to reinforce how decision 
making impacts Competitive Strategy.  Both ap-
proaches allow the instructor to assess student 
retention of Decision Making and Competitive 
Strategy.  We suggest discussing the assignment 
based on the order of questions listed below due 
to numerous advantages:

•	 Question 1 allows a diligent student to 
recognize that entrepreneurs and manag-
ers face decision making pitfalls that can 
lead to detrimental decisions.  

•	 Question 2 requires the students to nar-
rowly define the specific decision making 
pitfalls that are applicable to the case.  Our 
Instructor’s Manual will focus on Con-
firmation Bias, but students may list the 
Anchoring Trap, Over-Confidence Trap 
or the Recent Event Trap.  Although these 
are sufficient applications, we feel that 
students should be directed toward the 
Confirmation Bias due to the fact patterns 
outlined within the case.

•	 Questions 3 and 4 explore the intricacies 
of Confirmation Bias.  These questions 
are an indicator between students with an 
in-depth understanding of decision mak-
ing and those who have simply read the 
material.
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•	 Question 5 helps students understand how 
to present solutions to the problem after 
recognizing that Confirmation Bias can 
be a problem.  This question is designed to 
illustrate problem solving ability, which is 
imperative in business decision making.

•	 Questions 6 and 7 require that students 
examine how decision making impacts the 
company’s competitive strategy, and vice-
versa.  These questions should highlight 
the student’s ability to break down the 
decision point by recognizing how the 
company strategy will be impacted.

•	 Question 8 – 10 operate as conclusion 
topics that highlight how decision making 
and competitive strategy influence other 
areas of the business.  These questions in-
tegrate decision making and strategy with 
ethics, current events as well as issues that 
may arise after decisions are made within 
a business.  

summary list of discussion Questions

Decision Making Questions:

1. Which decision making pitfalls should 
Workers First Therapy stay aware of as 
the management considers adding the 
new therapy program?

2. Which decision making pitfalls would 
most directly be related to the decision 
point for the new work-related injury 
physical therapy business line?

3. Which decision making inputs have the 
most potential to lead the management 
to fall victim to Confirmation Bias?

4. How could the management team avoid 
the Confirmation Bias?

5. What decision making models could 
Workers First Therapy management use 
to avoid decision making pitfalls?

Competitive Strategy Questions:

6. What advantage do the competitors 
have over Workers First Therapy?  What 
advantage does Workers First Therapy 
have?

7. How should Workers First Therapy 
define their competitive strategy within 
the market?

General Questions:

8. What are other factors the management 
team should consider while evaluating 
the possibility of a new business line? 
(i.e. unintended consequences, etc.)

9. What do you recommend Workers First 
Therapy should do?  Justify your deci-
sion and discuss why this is the “best” 
option.

Questions

1. Which decision-making pitfalls should 
Workers First Therapy stay aware of as 
the management considers adding the 
new therapy program?

Students should point to pitfalls such 
as the confirmation trap, hindsight 
trap, and escalation of commitments.  
Students may discuss ways that the 
management correctly views the 
new venture as the next logical step; 
however, it bases its decision not on 
all information, but on only support-
ing evidence.  Also the discussion 
may turn to traps where business is 
not developing as expected and “good 
money” goes after “bad money.”  
Students should discuss how manage-
ment needs to constantly evaluate its 
investment and commitment to the 
project to make sure it remains com-
fortable with the results.

The “A” student should recognize that 
the company could fall victim to more 
than one decision-making pitfall.  
One pitfall can lead to another or can 

follow another.

(Decision-making Problems and 
Pitfalls)

2. Which decision-making pitfalls would 
most directly be related to the decision 
point for the new work-related injury 
therapy program?

The confirmation trap, recent event 
trap, and anchoring trap, also known 
as hindsight trap, are all decision-
making pitfalls that could come up in 
the decision to move forward with the 
workers’ compensation clinic.  Busi-
ness owners need to be aware of these 
pitfalls as they make the decision to 
move forward so they can make sure 
to avoid them.  Without a constant 
evaluation of the business environ-
ment and position, these problems can 
be easily overlooked.

The “A” students should discuss how 
confirming evidence may be collected 
in mass, leading to the confirmation 
trap that puts opposing evidence in 
a lower category.  Also, the impact of 
recent events on a business may weigh 
heavily on the decision-making pro-
cess, at the expense of alternative past 
experiences.  Those situations could 
include the decision to hire a new em-
ployee and the increased availability of 
staff resources on a new venture.  The 
initial information that is discovered 
is often weighted more heavily and 
leads to the anchoring/hindsight trap.  
This information overshadows later 
discoveries and can lead to decreased 
evaluation of later information.

(Report #9: Decision Making Theo-
ries)

3. Which decision making inputs have the 
most potential to lead the management 
to fall victim to Confirmation Bias?

Students should look at factors that 

reinforced the idea to proceed with 
the workers’ compensation clinic.  
Confirmation bias is defined as when 
people focus on ideas and evidence 
which supports their aspirations while 
ignoring data which undermines 
them.  Did the Workers First Therapy 
management team focus too much on 
the potential for new revenues with-
out looking at the realistic evidence?  
The background of staff members 
with similar previous experiences may 
also have played into the decision to 
go ahead with the expansion.  The 
company’s own history is also one 
input that could lead to a confirma-
tion bias.  It has extensive experience 
in industrial injuries, both in prevent-
ing injuries and teaching people how 
to treat them, but its own practical 
recent experience is limited to a clinic 
at a large industrial complex.  Stu-
dents should provide evidence either 
way to show any evidence why those 
experiences would or would not help 
this new business line.

A quality answer should also touch 
on the idea that confirmation bias is 
also an important way people make 
tough decisions and can be critical to 
realizing significant gains.

(How Confirmation Bias Shapes 
Venture Investment Decisions)

4. How could the management team avoid 
the Confirmation Bias?

Students should discuss how Workers 
First Therapy needs to actively seek 
out negative evidence about its busi-
ness plan, looking for reasons why it 
might fail.  This process should take 
place before the decision point and 
consistently after the venture begins, 
if that is the decision made.  Another 
way to avoid a confirmation bias is to 
have an outside review of business suc-
cesses and failures.  Having a person 
removed from the experience analyze 
if a business line is succeeding could 
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give a better indication than the busi-
ness managers.  The same idea works 
when approaching the decision point 
by having an outside party give feed-
back on the presumed results.  Stu-
dents could also discuss how setting 
specific goals ahead of time could lead 
to help avoid biases.  By clearly defin-
ing objectives to be met along the way 
gives the decision-makers a chance to 
closely examine their goals and make 
sure they seem likely.

Also, as mentioned in the previous 
question, students should acknowl-
edge that not every case of confirma-
tion bias is a problem.  The biggest 
decision revolves around risk toler-
ance.  

5. What decision making models could 
Workers First Therapy management use 
to avoid decision making pitfalls?

Answers to this question should 
include references to SWOT analyses 
and a decision matrix.  A SWOT 
(Strength, Weaknesses, Opportuni-
ties, and Threats) analysis would force 
the decision-makers to look at all 
areas, both good and bad,  and the 
management team would make a deci-
sion based off of positive and negative 
information in front of them.  The “A” 
student will point out that a SWOT 
analysis would allow the company 
to internally evaluate how all factors 
available will impact the business 
model.  This evaluation should be a 
perpetual decision making tool.  As 
“big” decisions arise, the company 
looks at the internal and external fac-
tors that can impact how the decision 
will interplay with the current busi-
ness model.

A decision matrix includes a listing 
of all possible options, not just a look 
at the preferred one.  That is arguably 
one of the most thorough ways to 
evaluate options, especially if the busi-

ness wants a quantitative measure for 
the possible success or failure of the 
new plan.  The “A” student should rec-
ognize that the decision matrix looks 
at the possible solutions from both 
an internal and external perspective.  
The risks and returns for each option 
is evaluated to determine the compat-
ibility of the different options within 
the current business model.  

(Decision Making Models / Types of 
Decision Making)

6. What advantage do the competitors 
have over Workers First Therapy?  What 
advantage does Workers First Therapy 
have?

The obvious and most easily recog-
nizable advantage of the “big three” 
hospitals is the size of their companies 
as compared to Workers First Therapy.  
The “big three” have more funds and 
larger workforces to tap if they decide 
to tackle the industrial therapy mar-
ket (economies of scale).  The “A” stu-
dent should recognize that economies 
of scale provide a natural monopoly.  
Economies of scale provide marketing, 
financing and managerial advantages 
that are not available for Workers 
First Therapy.

Workers First Therapy has an expe-
rience advantage that comes from 
its work with American Industrial.  
Through their work with American 
Industrial, they also have an arsenal 
of positive results that they can use 
in their marketing efforts.  Pamela 
Jones’s extensive experience in both 
research and clinical rehabilitation, 
as well as her time spent with the 
University of Alabama at Birming-
ham developing a new functional 
capacity evaluations protocol offer 
another advantage for Workers First 
Therapy over their competitors.  The 
“A” student should point out that the 
lack of size (the opposite of economies 

of scale) can provide a competitive 
advantage for Workers First Therapy.  
The firm will have more flexibility 
in decision making than larger firms 
and has the potential to provide more 
personalized care.

7. How should Workers First Therapy 
define their competitive strategy within 
the market?

Workers First Therapy will need to 
provide a best cost, best value prod-
uct (therapy services) to the market.  
Students should recognize that this 
strategy has potential to outperform 
the economies of scale that the larger 
providers have.  A lower to medium 
cost, plus the best service fulfills the 
needs to the insurance companies, 
third party administrators and other 
price-concerned parties.  An astute 
student will recognize that this strat-
egy is loosely outlined within the case.

8. What are other factors the management 
team should consider while evaluating 
the possibility of a new business line? 
(i.e. unintended consequences, etc.)

There is a possibility that an indus-
trial company might make a move to 
offer one of Workers First Therapy’s 
employees a position at their company 
as an onsite therapist.  This hypotheti-
cal company could potential offer the 
Workers First Therapy employee a 
significant pay raise while still keeping 
their costs below what they would be 
paying Workers First Therapy for the 
same therapy services.  

Maintenance costs on the new 
equipment that would have to be 
purchased should also be considered.  
With a larger clientele Workers First 
Therapy’s equipment would be receiv-
ing more use which would result in 
downtime for the equipment and 
related costs to repair the equipment 
and make it usable again.

Expanding the company business line 
would bring about the consequence 
of Workers First Therapy’s employees 
likely working extended hours.  With 
the additional work hours comes 
more stress and job dissatisfaction 
for employees.  These factors could 
potentially lead to Workers First 
Therapy losing some good employees 
to competitors.  The additional work 
hours would also result in overtime 
pay for the company as well.

9. What do you recommend Workers First 
Therapy should do?  Justify your deci-
sion and discuss why this is the “best” 
option.

Students will have varied answers.  
Answers are provided for two options:

Workers First Therapy should open 
the new business line.  The company 
has the competitive advantage to excel 
within the industry.  The clinic is 
poised to offer a unique service within 
the marketplace that is currently un-
derserved.  Workers First Therapy has 
proven results with their work at the 
American Industrial clinics.  These 
therapy methods can be translated 
into the Workers First Therapy office 
therapy programs.  The “A” student 
will point out that Workers First 
Therapy has the resources to now 
launch this business line.  The expand-
ed office space as well as the new staff 
members provide the resources that 
are needed to begin therapy within 
the Workers First Therapy offices.

Workers First Therapy should NOT 
open the new business line.  The com-
pany could not compete with the large 
competitors.  Although the clinic 
provides a unique service, this is not 
enough recognizable enough within 
the marketplace to add the extra value 
needed to gain business.  The clinic 
is poised for growth, but the cost of 
new equipment provides a significant 
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barrier to entry.  The “A” student 
will highlight that growth within 
the other business lines within the 
Workers First Therapy business model 
could impact the viability of provid-
ing therapy services within the office 
space.  The other business lines pro-
vide a defense to complete failure of 
the entire company, but the focusing 
on the growth of the new business line 
could detract from lucrative growth in 
other areas of the business.

REfEREncEs foR  
fuRthER REsEaRch

Workers Compensation - Workmans Comp Ser-
vice Center. Web. 15 July 2010. <http://www.
workerscompensation.com/>
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IntRoductIon

Scholars continue to research on how an under-
standing of student learning style can enhance 
faculty teaching efficacy and institutional pro-
fessional development funding focus and plan. 
Wratcher et al (1997) as cited in Heffernan, Mor-
rison, Basu and Sweeney (2010) opined that as far 
back as ancient Greece it was noted that students 
have different approaches to learning. These in-
dividualistic learning approaches are referred 
to as learning styles, which are often defined as 

‘characteristic cognitive, affective, and physi-
ological behaviours that serve as relatively stable 
indicators of how learners perceive, interact with, 
and respond to the learning environment’ (Ladd 
& Ruby, 1999, p. 363). Faculty is faced with the 
challenging question of which teaching strategy 
or instructional method would best accomplish a 
variety of goals and objectives. 

Institutions that understand the relationship 
between student learning style and academic 
achievement are also conflicted on the profes-
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AbstrAct
Learners’ preferences for particular learning styles continues to interest scholars. Every learning 
community attempts to provide the structure and process that will lead to the emergence of successful 
students and quality faculty.  Learners preferentiality take in and process information in diverse 
ways whilst faculty instructional methods also vary presenting the possibility for mismatching in-
structional methods with learners’ preferences leading to ineffective learning and overall achieve-
ment underperformance. New faculty professional development will become more effective if it pres-
ents strategies that meet the learning needs and style of students in the teacher education faculties 
in Nigerian universities. The purpose of this study is to identify the learning style preferences of 
Nigerian undergraduates, which will be used for new faculty professional development models in 
faculties of education in Nigerian universities. A modified version of Honey and Mumford Learn-
ing Styles Questionnaire containing 80 items was administered to three hundred and ninety-one 
(391) Nigerian university undergraduates of the Faculty of Education, to identify their learning 
using the percentage of those who checked the items. The variables studied are the students’ entry 
mode, gender and area of specialization. Data collected were analyzed based on, areas of special-
ization and the students’ gender, entry mode (UME) and (DE), using frequency and percentages. 
Honey and Mumford Learning Style Questionnaire have been used in the past to assess student 
learning styles in different disciplines. The Honey and Mumford Learning Style Questionnaire 
was chosen for the student empirical survey while another instrument was used for faculty to deter-
mine their professional development needs.   The results among others showed that many university 
teachers never had any orientation at the beginning of their employment. They also indicated that 
they need training in all the domains contained in the instrument The results were discussed  and 
recommendations made regarding the application of learning instruments and the lessons that can 
be learnt regarding meeting students’ learning needs and its implication for effective professional 
development models for new faculty, pointing to areas for further research. 
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sional development topics they need to recom-
mend for new faculty. Research indicated that 
there is no simple answer regarding understand-
ing student learning styles, rather when imple-
menting strategies or instructional methods, 
there must be different approaches (Good & 
Brophy, 2000). Good and Brophy also wrote that 
specific teaching methods were useful for accom-
plishing certain purposes in certain situations 
and that no one method was optimal for all pur-
poses in all situations.

Li et al., (2008) as cited in Penger, Tekavcic, and 
Dimovski, (2008), explained that researchers 
have pointed out that students learn effectively 
in a harmonic environment and by using instruc-
tional materials which match their learning style 
preferences, faculty will enhance their teaching 
efficacy. Learning styles have been heavily re-
searched (Duff & Duffy, 2002; Coffield et al., 
2004; Herbert & Stenfors, 2007; Garcia et al., 
2007; Armstrong & Mahmud, 2008; Li et al., 
2008), but little is known about Nigerian higher 
education students‘ learning styles, especially in 
the field of teacher education. Consequently, the 
aim of this pilot study is to explore and compare, 
the learning styles of students enrolled in teacher 
education courses in the Faculty of Education of 
a university in one of the six geopolitical regions 
of Nigeria. 

measuring learning styles

Learning styles have been defined in different 
ways because researchers provide many different 
definitions in their bid to present an encompass-
ing definition that builds on the years of research 
done in learning styles. One such definitions of 
learning styles, known as VAK (visual, auditory, 
and kinaesthetic), includes individual differences 
that affect classroom learning and can include 
preferences for learning via visual materials ver-
sus text or auditory materials and kinaesthetic 
activities. Over the years, several instruments 
have been developed to evaluate a person’s learn-
ing style, and some have shared in popularity. 
Three such instruments are the Myers- Briggs 
Type Indicator (MBTI), which is one of the old-
est instruments measuring learning styles. The 
MBTI uses Carl Jung’s’ theory of psychological 
types as the theoretical foundation. The instru-
ment identifies individuals’ preferences on eight 

characteristics: extraversion, introversion, sens-
ing, intuition, thinking, feeling, judging, and 
perceiving (Briggs, Myers, McCaulley, Quenck, 
& Hammer, 2001). One of the better-known 
instruments includes the Honey-Mumford 
Learning Styles Questionnaire (1982, 1992), 
which measured learning preferences relative to 
the learning cycle. Honey and Mumford (1992) 
identified four learning styles: activists, reflec-
tors, theorists, and pragmatists. Their question-
naire had some similarity to the Kolb LSI (Kolb 
& Kolb, 2005).

The third is David Kolb (1984) learning style in-
strument, which has generated a lot of research 
over the years. While teaching management stu-
dents he noticed that some students preferred 
learning through experiences whereas others 
preferred the traditional classroom lecture. His 
subsequent theory of experiential learning pro-
posed that, while learning, people resolved con-
flicts between a) active experimentation and b) 
reflective observation along one axis and between 
c) concrete experience and d) abstract conceptu-
alization along another axis. His model yielded 
four quadrants and he stated that, over time, 
people developed learning style preferences that 
can be categorized into one of the four quadrants 
(Kappe, Boekholt, Rooyen, & Van der Flier, 
(2009). Kappe et al further explains that Kolb 
developed the Learning Style Inventory (LSI) 
to measure peoples’ individual learning styles. 
By knowing the learning styles of their students 
and by creating learning environments matched 
to those learning styles, educators could enhance 
learning. Whereas commercially popular peda-
gogical tools have been generated by Kolb’s work, 
empirical support for construct and predictive 
validity have been lacking (Coffield et al., 2004).

Difficulty with some of Kolb’s theoretical ideas 
and low face validity for the LSI prompted Honey 
and Mumford (1986) to develop their own learn-
ing style theory as well as a new measure, namely, 
the Learning Style Questionnaire (LSQ). Honey 
and Mumford’s Learning Style Questionnaire 
(LSQ) has been proposed as an alternative for 
Kolb’s Learning Style Inventory (LSI) and a 
later refined version (LSI-1985). The LSQ has 
been widely applied in the fields of management, 
training and education. Limited evidence exists 

concerning the psychometric properties of the 
LSQ (Duff and Duffy, 2002).

faculty Professional development

A diverse learner population characterises edu-
cational provision in Nigerian higher education 
across all educational levels. Learners from a pre-
viously disadvantaged background in particular, 
are often under-prepared and at risk of failing or 
dropping out. Some educators in higher education 
have found themselves ill equipped to educate 
learners with these varying degrees of academic 
readiness and educational backgrounds (Gauss, 
2002). For the last 20 years practising teachers in 
higher education have made use of models of the 
student learning process as part of their continu-
ing professional development (Cuthbert, 2005) 
but empirical data is not currently available at 
the National Universities Commission, (NUC), 
(the organ in-charge of higher education) stating 
that Nigerian universities use this knowledge in 
designing their faculty professional development 
plan. Higher education faculty as is the case with 
other levels of teachers in the profession must not 
have only a mastery of the content and curricu-
lum, an appreciation of the various forms of stan-
dards within their disciplinary focus, an aware-
ness of assessment, and the ability to organize 
lessons, but also be able to engage students-- to 
know them well enough to make appropriate in-
structional decisions. It is through pedagogy, the 
science of teaching, that the skilful teacher ties 
these elements together (Khan & Sarwar, 2011). 
They further opined and supported the state-
ment in the Nigerian National Policy on Educa-
tion (FGN, 2004) that:

The quality of higher education largely 
depends upon the quality of staff in 
higher educational institutions which 
is in support of the aspect of national 
policy which states that

no educational system can rise above the 
quality of its teachers. The role of staff 
is pivotal for the achievement of goals 
of an institution or an organization. A 
high quality and well-motivated teach-
ing staff is essential in building the ex-
cellence in education. Staff development 

is the sum of activities that enhance the 
knowledge, skills, performance, vision 
and understanding of the staff. In edu-
cational institutions staff development 
programmes improve the communica-
tion skills, classroom behaviour, teach-
ing methods and thinking of the teach-
er. The purpose of staff development is 
to promote the quality of pupils’ learn-
ing by different teaching strategies.

Purpose

The main purpose of this study was to investigate 
the perception of teacher education students in 
Nigerian universities of their learning style and 
how the information of student learning styles 
can influence university faculty development 
plan. Specifically, the objectives of this study are:

a. To determine the learning styles of 
teacher education students in Nigerian 
universities.

b. To identify the learning styles of teacher 
education students in Nigerian universi-
ties by area of specialisation.

c. To compare the learning styles of teacher 
education students by gender.

d. To compare the learning styles of teacher 
education students who were admitted 
through Direct Entry (DE) and those 
admitted through University Matricula-
tion Examination (UME).

e. To identify the extent to which universi-
ties in Nigeria use this information in 
enhancing faculty professional growth.

The following research questions guided the 
study:

1. What learning styles do teacher educa-
tion Science and Arts students exhibit? 

2. Is there any difference in the learning 
styles of male and female teacher educa-
tion students?
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3. Is there any difference in the learning 
styles of teacher education DE and 
UME students? 

4. To what extent is student’s learning style 
used for institutional faculty profes-
sional development plan?

mEthodologY

This research is a survey and quantitative in na-
ture because numerical data were collected. The 
descriptive design was used to identify and de-
scribe the learning styles of teacher education 
university learners and Faculty development 
needs. Three hundred and ninety-one (391) uni-
versity education second year undergraduates 
and ninety (180) faculty were used for the study. 
This level of undergraduates were used because 
they have experienced one year university educa-
tion (UME) while the DE respondents had al-
ready spent three years in higher education level; 
and if their learning styles are identified they will 
still benefit from the result of this study before 
graduation as the findings will be implemented 
in teaching them. More importantly, the find-
ings will impact faculty quality in higher educa-
tion in the six geopolitical zones of Nigeria.

Stratified random sampling was used to sample 
the undergraduates so as to take care of the vari-
ables of gender, area of specialisation and entry 
mode. One hundred and eighty relatively new 
staff (0–5 years experience) were purposively se-
lected to identify their development and train-
ing needs. The instrument for data collection 
was the Learning Style Questionnaire (LSQ) by 
Honey and Mumford (1992). The LSQ consists 
of 80 items that probe behavioral preferences in 
four learning style subscales: Activist, Reflector, 
Theorist, and Pragmatist; each of the four scales 
contains 20 items. Every item is presented as a 
single statement for the respondents to check. 
The scores were determined by summing positive 
responses to the equivalent items. This scoring 
procedure leads to a frequency and percentage of 
the respondents that checked the items. Honey 
and Mumford (1992) reported differential re-
sponding on the scales and have published sta-
tistics and norm tables, which allow standardiza-
tion of the scores. 

In this research, data were analyzed using the 
Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS 
16.0). An alpha level of 0.05 was used as a mar-
gin of statistical significance (Coakes & Steed, 
2003). An exploratory research approach aims 
to gain familiarity with a phenomenon. The con-
clusions drawn are tentative and the value of this 
type of research lies in the fact that it provides 
further research topics within the field of the 
present research (Babbie, 1990). This study was 
descriptive and exploratory in nature. 

Instruments 

The LSQ (Honey and Mumford, 1992) consists 
of 80 items that probe behavioral preferences. 
The items are categorized into four (4) Learn-
ing Styles: Activist, Reflector, Theorist and 
Pragmatist. Each of the four scales contains 20 
items already arranged accordingly. Every item 
is presented as a single statement with which 
the respondent agrees or not. Scale scores are de-
termined by summing positive responses to the 
equivalent items falling into the four categories. 
A Professional Development questionnaire con-
taining 32 items grouped under Needs Assess-
ment, Fields of training, Training in Instruction-
al Development, Test Construction, Technology 
usage was developed to collect information on 
the professional training needs of the faculty. The 
instrument was developed on a five-point Likert 
type scale to test the extent of their agreement 
with the statements on professional development 
needs. Honey and Mumford (1992) reported 
differential responding on the scales and have 
published statistics and norm tables, which allow 
standardization of the scores.

Predictors

Validity is important for any research study 
(Cook & Campbell, 1979). The Honey and 
Mumford Learning Style Questionnaire (LSQ) 
was chosen as a measure of learning style because 
it, a) has shown face validity, b) has been popular 
commercially, c) originally designed for manage-
ment and education students (Duff & Duffy, 
2002; Coffield et al., 2004; Allinson & Hayes, 
1990). All students completed the LSQ once as 
part of the study. The LSQ (1992) consists of four 
learning style subscales: Activist, Reflector, The-

orist, and Pragmatist; each containing 20 items 
for a total of 80 items. Respondents either agreed 
or disagreed with the statements and subscale 
scores were determined by summing the positive 
responses.

For the faculty needs professional assessment 
instrument, seven sections were developed, with 
sections A, B, C, D, E, F and G containing, 3,16, 
4, 5, 4, and 1 item(s) respectively. Demographic 
data were collected to identify faculty and profes-
sional experience.

sampling method and size

The study employed a convenience, non-probabil-
ity sampling technique to obtain a sample of sec-
ond year teacher education university students. 
Convenience sampling is the process whereby 
the researcher selects a sample primarily because 
it is accessible and reasonably reflective of the 
population of interest (Harris, 1998). The sample 
of Nigerian students consists of second year stu-
dents studying education at a university in one of 
the universities in the six geopolitical zones. All 
students were completing the same undergradu-
ate degree, and they were surveyed in class using 
a non-probabilistic (purposive) sampling proce-
dure. The sample size was 391, made up of 235 
females and 156 males; 256 UME and 135 DE; 
242 Arts and 149 Science students. Again 180 
relatively (0 – 5 years of experience) new faculty, 
20 from each faculty, (10 females and 10 males), 
were purposively selected to determine their pro-
fessional development needs. 

Data Collection 

The questionnaire was personally administered 
to the students by the researchers with the aid 
of the research students in the Faculty of Educa-
tion of the university used in the study. Teacher 
Education students completed the Honey and 
Mumford (1999) learning styles index. As part of 
this index, students completed 80 discrete-choice 
questions that, when calculated, determined 
their learning styles on a four-continuum, as not-
ed earlier in the study. The researchers distribut-
ed the questionnaire to 391 student respondents 
and 180 faculty respondents and the researchers 
were able to get responses from all respondents 

because they returned the instruments on–the- 
point.

REsults 

The following tables below portray the data used 
in addressing the research questions.

RQ1: What learning styles do teacher edu-
cation Science and Arts students’ ex-
hibit?

Table 1 shows the responses of activists from two 
groups based on the administered instruments. 
Activists are open-minded and prefer tackling 
problems by brainstorming. 76% and 82% of 
students in Arts area of specialization indicated 
positive response to items 6 and 10 while 43% 
and 37% of science counterparts responded posi-
tively to the same item statements. Most of the 
respondents from both areas of specialization 
(Arts and Science) responded positively to Item 
32. Therefore, it falls into the excitement to new 
learning descriptor accorded students with this 
learning style. Respondents from both areas of 
specialization scored less than 50% in items 40, 
48, 72, and 74. However, 67% of both areas of 
specialization responded positively to item 64, 
which states, “when things go wrong I am happy 
to shrug off and put it down to experience.” On 
the average based on the percentage frequency 
of response to the statement items, more 51.2 % 
of Arts students responded positively to all the 
items in this learning style as compared to 45.7 % 
of Science student respondents. 

Table 2 shows the responds of reflectors from two 
groups based on the administered instruments. 
Reflectors like to stand and ponder experiences 
and observe them from many perspectives. This 
is the case as reflected in Items 7, 13, 15, 25, 28, 
29, 31, 41, 60, 66, and 76 where more than 80% 
of students responded positively to these item 
statements. The only exception to this pattern 
was found in item 13 where 61.7% of Science 
students responded positively as against 88% of 
the Arts students’ respondents. Both Art and 
Science students on the other hand responded 
uniformly to item 52, which state that, “I tend 
to discuss specific things with people rather than 
engaging in social discussion.” The highest posi-
tive response for both areas of specialization was 
recorded in item 66, which states, “It’s best to 
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think carefully before taking action.” On the 
average based on the percentage frequency of re-
sponse, more 79.5% of Arts students responded 
positively to all the items in this learning style as 
compared to 81.17% of Science student respon-
dents. 

Table 3 shows the responds of two groups of 
theorists based on the administered instru-
ments. Theorists adapt and integrate observa-
tions into complex but logically sound theories. 
Item statements 1, 2, 18, and 20 show that over 
80% of respondents from both groups (Arts and 
Science students) responded positively. In addi-
tion, statements that deal with logical thinking 
and approach show a high response from both 
groups. However, both groups seem to respond 

marginally (below 50%) to items 42,22, and 26, 
which states, “I tend to be a perfectionists,” “ I 
tend to have distant, rather formal relationships 
with people at work,” and, “I find it difficult to 
produce ideas on impulse.” In all, the frequency 
percentage shows that 67.8% of all Art students’ 
responded positively while, 66.1% of the Science 
students responded positively to item statements 
under this learning style.

Table 4 shows the responds of two groups of 
pragmatists based on the administered instru-
ments. Pragmatists are keen on trying out ideas, 
theories, and techniques to ascertain if they work 
in practice. Item statements 5, 19, 44, 50, and 53 
show that over 75% of respondents from both 
groups (Arts and Science students) responded 

positively to these statement items. However, 
item 27 showed a sharp contrast in the responses 
of the groups to the statement, “I believe in com-
ing straight to the point immediately.” Hundred 
percent of Arts students responded positively to 
this statement as against 42.3% of Science stu-
dents who responded positively to item state-
ment 27. In all, the frequency percentage shows 
that 75.94 % of all Art students’ responded posi-
tively while, 62.6 % of the Science students re-
sponded positively to the statements under this 
learning style.

RQ2: Is there any difference in the learning 
styles of male and female teacher edu-
cation students? 

Table 5 shows the responds of two groups of 
students considered as activists based on gender 
difference. The most significant difference was 
identified in the response to item 2 where 100% 
of male respondents indicate that they often act 
without considering the possible consequences as 
compared with 21.3% of the female respondents. 
However, both gender respondents seem to have 
the same positive response rate to items 17, 34, 
48, 72, 74, and 79. The female respondents in this 
learning style as evidence in item 32 tend to be 

tablE 1 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

activiStS

S/N Item Statement
 Arts Science

Yes Yes
f % f %

2 I often act without considering the possible consequences. 71 29.3 15 10.1
4 I believe that formal procedures and policies restrict people. 93 38.4 64 43.0

6 I often find that actions based on feelings are as sound as those based on 
careful thought and analysis. 184 76.0 64 43.0

10 I often find that actions based on feelings are as sound as those based on 
careful thought and analysis. 199 82.2 121 37.8

17 I’m attracted more to novel, unusual ideas than to practical ones. 63 26.0 49 32.9
23 I thrive on the challenge of tackling something new and different. 185 76.23 121 81.2
24 I enjoy fun-loving, spontaneous people. 170 70.2 99 66.4
32 I tend to be open about how I’m feeling. 206 85.1 128 85.9

34 I prefer to respond to events on a spontaneous, flexible basis rather than 
plan things out in advance. 100 41.3 57 38.3

38 Quiet, thoughtful people tend to make me feel uneasy. 121 50.0 78 52.3

40 It is more important to enjoy the present moment than to think about 
the past or future. 107 44.2 42 28.2

43 In discussions I usually produce lots of spontaneous ideas. 114 47.1 92 61.7
45 More often than not, rules are there to be broken. 142 58.7 50 33.6
48 On balance I talk more than I listen. 86 35.5 36 24.2
58 I enjoy being the one that talks a lot. 64 26.4 36 24.2

64 When things go wrong I am happy to shrug it off and “put it down to 
experience”. 164 67.8 100 67.1

71 I find the formality of having specific objectives and plans stifling. 100 58.7 100 67.1
72 I’m usually one of the people who puts life into a party. 93 38.4 49 32.9
74 I quickly get bored with methodical, detailed work. 92 38.0 77 51.7
79 I enjoy the drama and excitement of a crisis situation. 86 35.0 49 32.9

tablE 2 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

rEFlEctorS

S/N Item Statement
Arts Science

Yes Yes
f % f %

7 I like the sort of work where I have time for thorough preparation and 
implementation. 214 88.4 136 91.3

13 I take pride in doing a thorough job. 213 88.0 92 61.7

15 I take care over the interpretation of data available to me and avoid 
jumping to conclusions. 206 85.1 142 95.3

16 I like to reach a decision carefully after weighing up many alternatives. 206 85.1 135 90.6
25 I pay meticulous attention to detail before coming to a conclusion. 220 90.9 143 96.0
28 I am careful not to jump to conclusions too quickly. 208 86.0 142 95.3

29 I prefer to have as many sources of information as possible -the more 
data to mull over the better. 236 97.5 128 85.9

31 I listen to other people’s point of view In discussions 199 82.2 149 100

33 I enjoy watching the maneuverings of the other participants. before 
putting my own forward. 170 70.2 107 71.8

36 It worries me if I have to rush out a piece of work to meet a tight 
deadline. 215 88.8 113 75.8

39 I often get irritated by people who want to rush things. 192 79.3 121 81.2

41 I think that decisions based on a thorough analysis of all the 
information are sounder than those based on intuition. 214 88.4 121 81.2

46 I prefer to stand back from a situation and consider all the perspectives. 157 64.9 128 85.9

52 I tend to discuss specific things with people rather than engaging in 
social discussion. 114 47.1 71 47.7

55 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 156 64.5 122 81.9
60 I like to ponder many alternatives before making up my mind. 199 82.2 142 95.3

62 In discussions I’m more likely to adopt a “low profile” than to take the 
lead and do most of the talking. 106 43.8 58 38.9

66 It’s best to think carefully before taking action. 235 97.1 135 90.6
67 On balance I do the listening rather than the talking. 171 70.7 121 81.2
76 I’m always interested to find out what people think. 220 90.9 113 75.8
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open to about their feelings compared to 76% of 
the male respondents. . In all, the frequency per-
centage of shows that 47.02 % of all female stu-
dents responded positively while, 56.5 % of the 
male students responded positively to the state-
ments under this learning style.

Table 6 shows the response of two groups of 
students considered as reflectors based on gen-
der difference. Items 7, 15, 16, 25, 28, 29, 31, 41, 
60, 66 and 76 show a consistency in pattern of 
positive response. In order words, frequency of 
positive response to these items for both group 
(male and female) ranges from 80% to 100%. 

Item 52, which states, “I tend to discuss specific 
things with people rather than engaging in social 
discussion,” shows 36.6% of female respond-
ing positively as against 64.1% of males. In all, 
the frequency percentage shows that 75.39 % of 
all female students responded positively while, 
85.51% of the male students responded positively 
to the statements under this learning style.

Table 7 shows the response of two groups of stu-
dents considered as theorists based on gender dif-
ference. Items 1, 18 and 57 had a high frequen-
cy percentage of positive response from both 
gender to the instrument, specifically response 

percentage range from 80 to 100. The only dif-
ference to this pattern was identified in item 51 
where 72.8% of female responses were positive 
as against 100% for the male respondents. Both 
male and female respondents indicate that they 
are keen on exploring the basic assumptions, 
principles and theories underpinning things and 
events. This pattern is also identified in the low 
response of the two groups to item 61. In all, the 
frequency percentage shows that 66.79% of all fe-
male students responded positively while, 70.05 
% of the male students responded positively to 
the statements under this learning style.

Table 8 shows the response of two groups of stu-
dents considered as theorists based on gender 
difference. Items 19 and 44 revealed the highest 
frequency in positive responses of male and fe-

male respondents. In addition, there seems to be 
similarities in the response of the group to items 
11, 21, 37, and 80. However, items 53and 70 were 
30% difference in frequency of positive response 
between male and female respondents, specifi-
cally, seventy two percent of female respondents 
as against 100% of male respondents and 36.2% 
(females) and 67.9% (males). In all, the frequency 
percentage shows that 65.5% of all female stu-
dents responded positively while, 74.01 % of the 
male students responded positively to the state-
ments under this learning style.

RQ3: Is there any difference in the learning 
styles of teacher education UME and 
DE students?

Table 9 shows the response of two groups of 
students considered as activists based on entry 

tablE 3 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE  

thEoriStS

S/N Item Statement
Arts Science

Yes Yes
f % f %

1 I have strong beliefs about what is right and wrong, good and bad. 242 100 142 95.3
3 I tend to solve problems using a step-by-step approach. 199 82.2 142 95.3
8 I regularly question people about their basic assumptions. 156 64.5 100 67.1

12 I am keen on self-discipline such as watching my diet, taking regular 
exercise, sticking to a fixed routine etc. 171 70.7 107 71.8

14 I get on best with logical, analytical people and less well with 
spontaneous, “irrational” people. 179 74.0 91 61.1

18 I don’t like disorganised things and prefer to fit things into a coherent 
pattern. 221 91.3 135 90.6

20 I like to relate my actions to a general principle. 214 88.4 142 95.3
22 I tend to have distant, rather formal relationships with people at work. 64 26.4 42 28.2
26 I find it difficult to produce ideas on impulse. 106 43.8 49 32.9

30 Flippant people who don’t take things seriously enough usually irritate 
me. 192 79.3 114 76.5

42 I tend to be a perfectionist. 107 44.2 42 28.2

47 I can often see inconsistencies and weaknesses in other people’s 
arguments. 157 64.9 85 57.0

51 I believe that rational, logical thinking should win the day. 185 76.4 128 85.9
57 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 192 79.3 121 81.2

61 In discussions with people I often find I am the most dispassionate and 
objective. 78 32.2 78 52.3

63 I like to be able to relate current actions to a longer-term bigger picture. 171 70.7 106 71.1

68 I tend to be tough on people who find it difficult to adopt a logical 
approach. 136 56.2 57 38.3

75 I am keen on exploring the basic assumptions, principles and theories 
underpinning things and events. 178 73.6 113 75.8

77 I like meetings to be run on methodical lines, sticking to laid down 
agenda, etc. 185 76.4 113 75.8

78 I steer clear of subjective or ambiguous topics. 149 61.6 64 43.0

tablE 4 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

pragMatiSt

S/N Item Statement
 Arts Science

Yes Yes
f % f %

5 I have a reputation for saying what I think, simply and directly. 184 76.0 121 81.2
9 What matters most is whether something works in practice. 192 79.3 78 52.3

11 When I hear about a new idea or approach I immediately start working 
out how to apply it in practice 192 79.3 99 66.4

19 I accept and stick to laid down procedures and policies so long as I regard 
them as an efficient way of getting the job done. 213 88.0 143 96.0

21 In discussions I like to get straight to the point. 199 82.2 100 67.1
27 I believe in coming to the point immediately. 242 100 63 42.3

35 I tend to be attracted to techniques such as network analysis, flow charts, 
branching programmes, contingency planning, etc. 142 58.7 78 52.3

37 I tend to judge people’s ideas on their practical merits. 178 73.6 78 52.3
44 In meetings I put forward practical realistic ideas. 206 85.1 128 83.9
49 I can often see better, more practical ways to get things done. 206 85.1 100 67.1
50 I think written reports should be short and to the point. 214 88.4 122 81.9
53 I like people who approach things realistically rather than theoretically. 206 85.1 121 81.2
54 In discussions I get impatient with irrelevancies and digressions. 171 70.7 78 52.3
56 I am keen to try things out to see if they work in practice. 192 79.3 92 61.7

59 In discussions I often find I am the realist, keeping people to the point 
and avoiding wild speculations. 192 79.3 85 57.0

65 I tend to reject wild, spontaneous ideas as being impractical. 164 67.8 78 52.3
69 Most times I believe the end justifies the means. 185 76.4 100 67.1
70 I don’t mind hurting people’s feelings so long as the job gets done. 128 52.9 64 43.0
73 I do whatever is expedient to get the job done. 164 67.8 57 38.3
80 People often find me insensitive to their feelings. 106 43.8 84 56.4
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mode into the study institution. Items 2, 4,17, 
34, 38,40, 43, 71, 72, 74 and 97 show a signifi-
cant difference in the positive response of UME 
students as compared to DE students. Items 2, 
34, 40, 72, 72, and 79 show a 0% response rate. 
In general, there is a difference in learning style 
of UME (University Matriculation Examina-
tion) and DE (Direct Entry) respondents based 
on their positive response to the item statements, 
specifically, 45.72% of UME in this learning style 
showed positive response to the 20 item state-
ments as compared to 17.81% of the DE students. 
Therefore, there is a difference in the learning 
style of teacher education students in the activist 
category based on their entry mode results.

Table 10 shows the responds of two groups of 
students considered as reflectors based on en-
try mode into the study institution. Items 2, 37, 

13, 15, 16, 25, 28, 29, 31, 33, 36, 39, 41, 55, 60, 
and 66 show a response rate ranging from 50% 
to 100%. However, items 52 and 62 show a sig-
nificant difference in the positive response rate to 
the item for UME and DE students. In general, 
there is a difference in learning style of UME 
and DE respondents based on their positive re-
sponse to the item statements, specifically, 79.6 
% of UME in this learning style showed positive 
response to the 20 item statements as compared 
to 59.6% of the DE students. Therefore, there is a 
difference in the learning style of teacher educa-
tion students in the reflector category based on 
their entry mode results.

Table 11 shows the responds of two groups of 
students considered as theorists based on entry 
mode into the study institution. Items 1, 3, 12, 
14, 18, 30, 42, 51, and 75 show a response rate 

ranging from 50% to 100%. However, items 26, 
47, 61, 68, and 78 show a significant difference in 
the positive response rate to the item for UME 
and DE students. In general, there is a difference 
in learning style of UME and DE respondents 
based on their positive response to the item state-
ments, specifically, 65.08 % of UME students in 
this learning style showed positive response to 
the 20 item statements as compared to 44.51% 
of DE students. Therefore, there is a difference in 
the learning style of teacher education students 
in the theorist category based on their entry 
mode results.

Table 12 shows the responds of two groups of 
students considered as pragmatists based on en-

try mode into the study institution. Items 9, 11, 
19, 21, 44, 50, 53, and 69 show a positive response 
rate ranging from 50% to 100%. However, items 
5, 35, 59, 65 and 80 show a significant difference 
in the positive response rate to the item for UME 
and DE students. In general, there is a differ-
ence in learning style of UME and DE respon-
dents based on their positive response to the item 
statements, specifically, 64.05 % of UME in this 
learning style showed positive response to the 
20 item statements as compared to 42.1% of the 
DE students. Therefore, there is a difference in 
the learning style of teacher education students 
in the pragmatist category based on their entry 
mode into the study institution. 

tablE 5 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

activiSt

S/N Item Statement
Female Male

Yes Yes
f % f %

2 I often act without considering the possible consequences. 50 21.3 156 100
4 I believe that formal procedures and policies restrict people. 121 51.5 114 73.1

6 I often find that actions based on feelings are as sound as those based on 
careful thought and analysis. 93 39.6 78 60

10 I actively seek out new experiences 172 73.2 149 95.5
17 I’m attracted more to novel, unusual ideas than to practical ones. 72 30.6 42 29.9
23 I thrive on the challenge of tackling something new and different. 177 75.3 128 82.1
24 I enjoy fun-loving, spontaneous people. 170 72.3 100 64.1
32 I tend to be open about how I’m feeling. 192 81.7 113 72.4

34 I prefer to respond to events on a spontaneous, flexible basis rather than plan 
things out in advance. 86 36.6 72 46.2

38 Quiet, thoughtful people tend to make me feel uneasy. 107 45.5 85 54.5

40 It is more important to enjoy the present moment than to think about the 
past or future. 86 36.6 64 41.0

43 In discussions I usually produce lots of spontaneous ideas. 107 45.5 100 64.1
45 More often than not, rules are there to be broken. 135 57.4 56 35.9
48 On balance I talk more than I listen. 78 33.2 48 30.8
58 I enjoy being the one that talks a lot. 50 21.3 50 32.1

64 When things go wrong I am happy to shrug it off and “put it down to 
experience”. 143 60.9 120 76.9

71 I find the formality of having specific objectives and plans stifling. 113 48.1 85 54.5
72 I’m usually one of the people who puts life into a party. 86 36.6 56 35.9
74 I quickly get bored with methodical, detailed work. 100 42.6 64 41.0
79 I enjoy the drama and excitement of a crisis situation. 72 30.6 62 39.7

tablE 6 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

rEFlEctor

S/N Item Statement
Female Male

Yes Yes
f % f %

7 I like the sort of work where I have time for thorough preparation and 
implementation. 199 84.7 149 95.5

13 I take pride in doing a thorough job. 183 77.9 106 67.9

15 I take care over the interpretation of data available to me and avoid 
jumping to conclusions. 199 84.7 149 95.5

16 I like to reach a decision carefully after weighing up many alternatives. 192 81.7 149 95.5
25 I pay meticulous attention to detail before coming to a conclusion. 206 87.7 156 100
28 I am careful not to jump to conclusions too quickly. 199 84.7 149 95.5

29 I prefer to have as many sources of information as possible -the more data 
to mull over the better. 213 90.6 149 95.5

31 I listen to other people’s point of view In discussions 199 84.7 149 95.5

33 I enjoy watching the maneuverings of the other participants. before 
putting my own forward. 192 61.7 106 67.9

36 It worries me if I have to rush out a piece of work to meet a tight deadline. 170 72.3 142 91.0
39 I often get irritated by people who want to rush things. 171 72.8 124 91.0

41 I think that decisions based on a thorough analysis of all the information 
are sounder than those based on intuition. 192 81.7 142 91.0

46 I prefer to stand back from a situation and consider all the perspectives. 149 63.4 120 76.9

52 I tend to discuss specific things with people rather than engaging in social 
discussion. 86 36.6 100 64.1

55 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 171 72.8 121 77.6
60 I like to ponder many alternatives before making up my mind. 192 81.7 148 94.9

62 In discussions I’m more likely to adopt a “low profile” than to take the 
lead and do most of the talking. 86 36.6 72 46.2

66 It’s best to think carefully before taking action. 221 94.0 149 95.5
67 On balance I do the listening rather than the talking. 164 69.8 128 82.1
76 I’m always interested to find out what people think. 206 87.7 142 91.0
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RQ3: To what extent is student’s learning 
style used for institutional faculty 
professional development plan?

Tables 13, 14 and 15 present data for responses 
to survey instrument administered to faculty to 
identify their professional development needs 
and prior mentoring attendance. The result ad-
dressed research question 3, which seeks to find 
out “To what extent is student’s learning style 
used for institutional faculty professional devel-
opment plan?”

Based on the data from Table 15, all one hundred 
and eighty faculty who participated in the study 
indicate that they did not attend any new faculty 
orientation when hired into their universities. In 
addition, Table 13 and 14 shows a significant dif-
ference from the pattern of response in item 13 as 
compared to other items in the instruments, spe-
cifically, the mean score on a 5 point likert scale 
was 1.5 on this item statement which varied from 
the average 4.5 responds rate recorded in other 
item statements. In addition, a discrepancy was 
identified between the responses of faculty in 

technology usage in Section E and their response 
to item 13.

tablE 15 
attEndancE to Faculty oriEntation at  

incEption oF thE job

Statement Yes % No %
Did you attend 
any new faculty 
orientation when 
you were hired 
into your current 
position?

0 0 180 100

dIscussIon

Research question one, “What learning styles 
do teacher education Science and Arts students’ 
exhibit?” was addressed using data from tables 
1- 4. Based on the analysis of the data from the 
Honey and Mumford Learning Style Question-
naire (LSQ), 51.2% of Art and 45.7% of Science 
students who where purposively selected for this 
study were identified as Activist in there learn-
ing style. This means that these students involve 
themselves fully without bias in new experience. 
Therefore faculty should be able to present in-
struction with this understanding and inten-
tionally include learning activities that allow for 
critical thinking activities as well as other chal-
lenging learning objectives. 

tablE 7 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

thEoriSt

S/N Item Statement
Female Male

Yes Yes
f % f %

1 I have strong beliefs about what is right and wrong, good and bad. 227 96.6 156 100
3 I tend to solve problems using a step-by-step approach. 206 87.7 120 76.9
8 I regularly question people about their basic assumptions. 164 69.8 92 59.0

12 I am keen on self-discipline such as watching my diet, taking regular 
exercise, sticking to a fixed routine etc. 171 72.8 107 68.6

14 I get on best with logical, analytical people and less well with 
spontaneous, “irrational” people. 178 75.7 105 67.3

18 I don’t like disorganised things and prefer to fit things into a coherent 
pattern. 213 90.6 142 91.0

20 I like to relate my actions to a general principle. 165 70.2 106 67.9
22 I tend to have distant, rather formal relationships with people at work. 92 39.1 50 32.1
26 I find it difficult to produce ideas on impulse. 93 39.6 64 41.0

30 Flippant people who don’t take things seriously enough usually irritate 
me. 185 78.7 121 77.6

42 I tend to be a perfectionist. 128 54.5 115 73.7

47 I can often see inconsistencies and weaknesses in other people’s 
arguments. 170 72.3 107 68.6

51 I believe that rational, logical thinking should win the day. 171 72.8 156 100
57 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 192 81.7 121 77.6

61 In discussions with people I often find I am the most dispassionate and 
objective. 85 36.2 50 32.1

63 I like to be able to relate current actions to a longer-term bigger picture. 149 63.4 129 82.7

68 I tend to be tough on people who find it difficult to adopt a logical 
approach. 122 51.9 72 46.2

75 I am keen on exploring the basic assumptions, principles and theories 
underpinning things and events. 172 73.2 120 76.9

77 I like meetings to be run on methodical lines, sticking to laid down 
agenda, etc. 156 66.4 142 91.0

78 I steer clear of subjective or ambiguous topics. 100 42.6 109 69.9

tablE 8 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

pragMatiSt

S/N Item Statement
Female Male

Yes Yes
f % f %

5 I have a reputation for saying what I think, simply and directly. 164 69.8 142 91.0
9 What matters most is whether something works in practice. 149 63.4 120 76.9

11 When I hear about a new idea or approach I immediately start working 
out how to apply it in practice. 178 75.7 114 73.1

19 I accept and stick to laid down procedures and policies so long as I regard 
them as an efficient way of getting the job done. 213 90.6 141 91.0

21 In discussions I like to get straight to the point. 185 78.7 113 72.4
27 I believe in coming to the point immediately. 129 54.5 84 45.1

35 I tend to be attracted to techniques such as network analysis, flow charts, 
branching programmes, contingency planning, etc. 122 51.9 99 63.5

37 I tend to judge people’s ideas on their practical merits. 157 66.8 100 64.1
44 In meetings I put forward practical realistic ideas. 192 81.7 135 86.5
49 I can often see better, more practical ways to get things done. 164 69.8 142 91.0
50 I think written reports should be short and to the point. 213 90.6 120 76.9
53 I like people who approach things realistically rather than theoretically. 171 72.8 156 100
54 In discussions I get impatient with irrelevancies and digressions. 149 63.4 100 64.1
56 I am keen to try things out to see if they work in practice. 164 69.8 121 77.6

59 In discussions I often find I am the realist, keeping people to the point and 
avoiding wild speculations. 135 57.4 113 72.4

65 I tend to reject wild, spontaneous ideas as being impractical. 122 51.9 114 73.1
69 Most times I believe the end justifies the means. 178 75.7 106 67.9
70 I don’t mind hurting people’s feelings so long as the job gets done. 85 36.2 106 67.9
73 I do whatever is expedient to get the job done. 100 42.6 121 77.6
80 People often find me insensitive to their feelings. 113 48.1 75 48.1
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Seventy nine percent of Arts and 81% of Science 
students were identified as reflectors in their 
learning styles. Based on the response of 391 stu-
dents who participated in this study, more Arts 
and Science students fall into this learning style 
compared to the other three learning style. It is 
important that faculty professional development 
integrate this understanding and more impor-
tant faculty lesson plan should include activities 
that allow for collaboration and time to think 
through the learning task. 

Of the 391 students that participated, 67.8% and 
66.1% of Arts and Science students fall into the 
theorist learning style category. This means that 
student with this learning style reflects qualities 
of logical thinking when given a learning task. 

They tend to be detached, analytical, and dedi-
cated to rational objectivity rather than ambigu-
ity and subjectivity. This information is impor-
tant for faculty in the faculty of Education when 
planning for their instruction, especially when 
the traditional didactic teaching method used 
in most Nigerian higher education classrooms. 
The student learning style should be integrated 
when designing instruction and assessment in-
struments, especially projects or problem based 
learning.

Students that fall into the pragmatist category 
are keen on trying out ideas, ideas and theories 
to ascertain first hand if they really work. Sev-
enty five percent of the Arts students fall into 
this category as compared with 62.6% of the 

Science students who participated in this study. 
Therefore the study data revealed that a majority 
of Arts students fall into the reflector/pragmatist 
combination while a majority of Science student 
respondents fall into the reflector/theorist com-
bination. 

Research question two, “Is there any difference 
in the learning styles of male and female teacher 
education students?” was addressed using data 
from tables 5-12. Based on the analysis of data 
from these tables, most respondents fall into the 
reflector/theorist combination. This is consistent 
with studies done using Honey and Mumford 
(1982) Learning Style Questionnaire (LSQ). 
The second combination is the reflector/pragma-

tist combination. The study revealed that most of 
the teacher education male and female students 
that participated in this study, specifically, 85.5% 
and 75.3%; 70% and 66.7% fall into the reflec-
tors and theorists learning style. Based on these 
data analysis, the researchers conclude that there 
is a difference between male and female students 
among teacher education students in the study 
university used. To this effect, faculty profes-
sional development should take into cognizance 
that most teacher educations students possess the 
qualities of reflectors and theorists in their learn-
ing style approach. 

Research question three, “To what extent is 
student’s learning style used for institutional 

tablE 9 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

activiSt

S/N Item Statement
UME DE

Yes Yes
f % f %

2 I often act without considering the possible consequences. 102 42.2 0 0
4 I believe that formal procedures and policies restrict people. 156 60.9 21 15.6

6 I often find that actions based on feelings are as sound as those based on 
careful thought and analysis. 92 35.9 8 5.9

10 I often find that actions based on feelings are as sound as those based on 
careful thought and analysis. 199 77.7 72 53.3

17 I’m attracted more to novel, unusual ideas than to practical ones. 64 25.0 6 4.4
23 I thrive on the challenge of tackling something new and different. 178 69.5 77 57.0
24 I enjoy fun-loving, spontaneous people. 164 64.1 70 51.9
32 I tend to be open about how I’m feeling. 186 72.7 92 68.1

34 I prefer to respond to events on a spontaneous, flexible basis rather than 
plan things out in advance. 92 35.9 0 0

38 Quiet, thoughtful people tend to make me feel uneasy. 114 44.5 7 5.2

40 It is more important to enjoy the present moment than to think about the 
past or future. 78 30.5 0 0

43 In discussions I usually produce lots of spontaneous ideas. 114 44.5 7 5.2
45 More often than not, rules are there to be broken. 107 41.8 35 25.9
48 On balance I talk more than I listen. 72 28.1 15 11.1
58 I enjoy being the one that talks a lot. 100 39.1 15 11.1

64 When things go wrong I am happy to shrug it off and “put it down to 
experience”. 185 72.3 43 31.9

71 I find the formality of having specific objectives and plans stifling. 106 41.1 13 9.6
72 I’m usually one of the people who puts life into a party. 64 25.0 0 0
74 I quickly get bored with methodical, detailed work. 92 35.9 0 0
79 I enjoy the drama and excitement of a crisis situation. 71 27.7 0 0

tablE 10 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

rEFlEctor

S/N Item Statement
UME DE

Yes Yes
f % f %

7 I like the sort of work where I have time for thorough preparation and 
implementation. 235 91.8 99 73.3

13 I take pride in doing a thorough job. 185 72.3 83 61.5

15 I take care over the interpretation of data available to me and avoid jumping 
to conclusions. 228 89.1 99 73.3

16 I like to reach a decision carefully after weighing up many alternatives. 228 89.1 92 68.1
25 I pay meticulous attention to detail before coming to a conclusion. 242 94.5 106 78.5
28 I am careful not to jump to conclusions too quickly. 220 85.9 99 73.3

29 I prefer to have as many sources of information as possible -the more data to 
mull over the better. 235 91.8 113 83.7

31 I listen to other people’s point of view In discussions 235 91.8 99 73.7

33 I enjoy watching the manoeuvrings of the other participants. before putting 
my own forward. 185 72.3 70 51.9

36 It worries me if I have to rush out a piece of work to meet a tight deadline. 206 80.5 85 63.0
39 I often get irritated by people who want to rush things. 164 64.1 71 52.6

41 I think that decisions based on a thorough analysis of all the information 
are sounder than those based on intuition. 242 94.5 91 67.4

46 I prefer to stand back from a situation and consider all the perspectives. 164 64.1 49 36.3

52 I tend to discuss specific things with people rather than engaging in social 
discussion. 128 50.0 1 0.7

55 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 206 80.5 71 52.6
60 I like to ponder many alternatives before making up my mind. 220 85.9 92 68.1

62 In discussions I’m more likely to adopt a “low profile” than to take the lead 
and do most of the talking. 92 35.9 0 0

66 It’s best to think carefully before taking action. 249 97.3 121 89.6
67 On balance I do the listening rather than the talking. 199 77.7 64 47.4
76 I’m always interested to find out what people think. 213 83.2 106 78.5
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faculty professional development plan?” was ad-
dressed using data from tables 13-15. Based on 
the analysis of data from the faculty professional 
instrument, it was evident that there is a need 
for a systematic reform approach to new faculty 

orientation. These reform efforts will among 
other academic procedures issues address dif-
ferent learning difficulties new faculty will face 
teaching large classes in their institution. Also 
significant from the data analysis was the discon-

nect between faculty response to their ability to 
integrate technology into teaching and learning 
and their claim to technology competence in 
Section E of the instrument. This information re-
veals that although faculty, specifically, new fac-
ulty (0-5) can use technology for basic Microsoft 
processes and checking email, it was evident that 
they were not used to integrating these learning 
tools into their classroom instructional activi-
ties. It therefore presents a new opportunity for 
institutions and their administration in Nigeria 

to provide training and re-training opportunities 
that address this teaching gap in new faculties in 
Nigerian universities.

conclusIon and REcommEndatIons

The learning styles literature although researched 
significantly in the western part of the world, still 
needs further research in the Nigerian higher 
education context. Several studies have shown 
its revival the past few last years, especially in the 

tablE 11 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

thEoriSt

S/N Item Statement
UME DE 

Yes Yes
f % f %

1 I have strong beliefs about what is right and wrong, good and bad. 256 100 128 94.8
3 I tend to solve problems using a step-by-step approach. 206 80.5 105 77.8
8 I regularly question people about their basic assumptions. 142 55.5 64 47.4
12 I am keen on self-discipline such as watching my diet, taking regular 

exercise, sticking to a fixed routine etc.
156 60.9 71 52.6

14 I get on best with logical, analytical people and less well with spon-
taneous, “irrational” people.

192 75.0 78 57.8

18 I don’t like disorganised things and prefer to fit things into a coher-
ent pattern.

242 94.5 113 83.6

20 I like to relate my actions to a general principle. 185 72.3 65 48.1
22 I tend to have distant, rather formal relationships with people at 

work.
77 30.1 16 11.9

26 I find it difficult to produce ideas on impulse. 71 67.7 0 0
30 Flippant people who don’t take things seriously enough usually ir-

ritate me.
220 85.9 85 63.0

42 I tend to be a perfectionist. 171 66.8 70 51.9
47 I can often see inconsistencies and weaknesses in other people’s ar-

guments.
157 61.3 28 20.7

51 I believe that rational, logical thinking should win the day. 199 77.7 71 52.6
57 I am keen to reach answers via a logical approach. 50 19.5 92 68.1
61 In discussions with people I often find I am the most dispassionate 

and objective.
71 27.7 0 0

63 I like to be able to relate current actions to a longer-term bigger pic-
ture.

185 72.3 49 36.3

68 I tend to be tough on people who find it difficult to adopt a logical 
approach.

134 54.3 22 16.3

75 I am keen on exploring the basic assumptions, principles and theo-
ries underpinning things and events.

199 77.7 72 53.3

77 I like meetings to be run on methodical lines, sticking to laid down 
agenda, etc.

192 75.0 56 41.5

78 I steer clear of subjective or ambiguous topics. 120 46.9 17 12.6

tablE 12 
pErcEntagE rESponSES on lEarning StylE quEStionnairE 

pragMatiSt

S/N Item Statement
UME DE

Yes Yes
f % f %

5 I have a reputation for saying what I think, simply and directly. 192 75.0 64 47.4
9 What matters most is whether something works in practice. 171 66.8 49 66.3

11 When I hear about a new idea or approach I immediately start 
working out how to apply it in practice.

178 68.5 78 57.8

19 I accept and stick to laid down procedures and policies so long as I 
regard them as an efficient way of getting the job done.

235 91.8 113 83.7

21 In discussions I like to get straight to the point. 185 72.3 85 63.0
27 I believe in coming to the point immediately. 71 27.7 28 20.7
35 I tend to be attracted to techniques such as network analysis, flow 

charts, branching programmes, contingency planning, etc.
113 44.1 22 16.3

37 I tend to judge people’s ideas on their practical merits. 115 60.5 57 42.2
44 In meetings I put forward practical realistic ideas. 213 83.2 92 68.1
49 I can often see better, more practical ways to get things done. 185 72.3 64 47.4
50 I think written reports should be short and to the point. 206 80.5 113 83.7
53 I like people who approach things realistically rather than theoreti-

cally.
206 80.5 71 52.6

54 In discussions I get impatient with irrelevancies and digressions. 148 57.8 49 36.3
56 I am keen to try things out to see if they work in practice. 178 69.5 64 47.4
59 In discussions I often find I am the realist, keeping people to the 

point and avoiding wild speculations.
156 60.9 35 25.9

65 I tend to reject wild, spontaneous ideas as being impractical. 142 55.5 22 16.3
69 Most times I believe the end justifies the means. 178 69.5 78 57.8
70 I don’t mind hurting people’s feelings so long as the job gets done. 121 47.3 0 0
73 I do whatever is expedient to get the job done. 143 55.9 0 0
80 People often find me insensitive to their feelings. 106 41.4 13 9.6
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first decade of 21st century (Duff & Duffy, 2002; 
Dunn & Griggs, 2003; Kayes, 2003; Loo, 2004). 
Upon reviewing the literature on learning styles, 
the intense rate and growing interest is evident 
(Penger, Tekavcic, & Dimovski.2008). The aim of 
this study was to present, compare, validate and 

explore the learning styles of students enrolled in 
the teacher education faculty of a higher educa-
tion institution in South East geopolitical zone of 
Nigeria. The study also aimed to identify faculty, 
specifically, new faculty (0-5), professional devel-
opment needs and its implication for university 

leadership decision making process. Although 
learning styles have been heavily researched, lit-
tle is known about Nigerian students‘ learning 
styles, especially in the field of teacher education. 
The concept of learning style has a broad mean-
ing, in this research it is proposed and defined as 

individual‘s preferential focus on different types 
of information, the different ways of perceiving 
the information, and understanding the infor-
mation (Li et al., 2008).

tablE 13 
proFESSional dEvElopMEnt by Faculty-1

S/N Statement
Agric Arts Bio Educ Eng

N 0 SD N 0 SD N 0 SD N 0 SD N
A 1 4.90 0.30 4.80 0.41 4.85 0.50 4.75 0.79

2 4.30 0.80 4.20 0.77 4.35 0.74 4.35 0.75
3 4.35 0.67 4.55 0.69 4.35 0.67 4.45 0.69

B 1 4.25 0.72 4.45 0.69 4.30 0.73 4.70 0.57
2 4.70 0.47 4.75 0.44 4.70 0.47 4.75 0.44
3 4.50 0.69 4.40 0.82 4.50 0.70 4.55 0.69
4 4.10 0.91 4.05 1.00 4.10 0.91 4.15 0.93
5 4.65 0.93 4.40 1.10 4.65 0.93 4.55 1.10
6 4.55 0.60 4.60 0.60 4.50 0.60 4.60 0.60
7 4.60 0.60 4.55 0.60 4.60 0.60 4.65 0.59
8 4.45 0.60 4.50 061 4.45 0.60 4.45 0.60
9 4.40 0.50 4.40 050 4.40 0.50 4.40 0.50

10 4.55 0.60 4.60 0.60 4.55 0.60 4.60 0.60
11 4.20 0.77 4.25 1.00 4.20 0.77 4.25 0.79
12 4.00 0.00 4.20 0.70 4.00 0.00 4.15 0.67
13 1.50 0.51 1.75 0.91 4.50 0.51 1.50 0.51
14 2 2.50 2.12 1 1.00 2
15 5.00 0.00 4.95 0.22 5.00 0.00 5.00 0.00
16 4.55 0.51 4.60 0.50 4.55 0.51 4.55 0.51

C 1 4.50 0.69 4.65 0.59 4.50 0.69 4.55 0.69
2 4.35 0.81 4.40 0.90 4.35 0.81 4.35 0.81
3 4.75 0.45 4.75 0.44 4.75 0.44 4,75 0.44

D 1 4.55 0.69 4.45 0.83 4.55 0.69 4.55 0.69
2 4.15 0.93 3.90 1.00 4.15 0.93 4.15 0.93
3 4.55 1.09 4.40 1.10 4.50 1.10 4.15 0.93
4 4.60 0.59 4.50 0.70 4.60 0.60 4.50 1.10
5 4.65 0.59 4.45 0.60 4.65 0.59 4.60 0.60

E 1 4.45 0.60 4.50 0.61 4.50 0.60 4.50 0.61
2 4.40 0.50 4.55 0.51 4.45 0.51 4.45 0.51
3 4.50 0.61 4.55 0.51 4.50 0.61 4.50 0.61
4 4.40 0.50 4.50 0.51 4.40 0.50 4.40 0.50
5 4.80 0.41 4.65 0,50 4.75 0.44 4.75 0.44

tablE 14 
proFESSional dEvElopMEnt by Faculty-2

S/N Statement
Eng Pharm Phys Sc Social Sc Veterinary

N 0 SD N 0 SD N 0 SD N 0 SD N 0 SD
A 1 4.85 0.37 4.85 0.37 4.70 0.73 4.80 0.41 4.85 0.37

2 4.55 0.69 4.10 0.64 4.25 0.64 4.30 0.73 4.50 0.76
3 4.75 0.44 4.55 0.69 4.70 0.47 4.45 0.69 4.45 0.69

B 1 4.25 0.79 4.25 0.79 4.20 0.77 4.30 0.80 4.00 0.86
2 4.65 0.30 4.65 0.49 4.80 0.41 4.70 0.47 4.75 0.44
3 4.45 0.69 4.75 0.55 4.75 0.44 4.50 0.69 4.45 0.69
4 4.20 0.95 4.00 1.00 4.15 1.00 4.10 0.91 4.05 0.83
5 4.50 1.10 4.35 1.35 4.30 1.34 4.65 0.93 4.90 0.31
6 4.75 0.55 4.50 0.61 4.65 0.59 4.55 0.60 4.60 0.68
7 4.70 0.57 4.40 0.68 4.50 0.69 4.60 0.60 4.75 0.44
8 4.50 0.61 4.35 0.49 4.40 0.50 4.45 0.60 4.65 0.59
9 4.55 0.51 4.40 0.50 4.55 0.51 4.40 0.50 4.45 0.51

10 4.65 0.59 4.60 0.60 4.60 0.68 4.55 0.60 4.50 0.61
11 4.25 0.79 4.45 0.61 4.40 0.60 4.20 0.77 4.00 0.73
12 4.15 0.70 4.20 0.70 4.25 0.72 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00
13 1.50 0.95 1.50 0.95 1.50 1.24 1.50 0.51 1.40 0.50
14 2 2.50 2.12 2 2.50 2.12 3 3.00 1.73
15 4.50 0.22 4.95 0.22 4.90 031 5.00 0.00 5.00 0.00
16 4.60 0.50 4.30 0.47 4.30 0.47 4.55 0.51 4.75 0.44

C 1 4.65 0.37 4.55 0.69 4.85 0.37 4.50 0.69 4.55 0.60
2 4.45 0.76 4.30 0.80 4.50 0.69 4.35 0.81 4.15 0.88
3 4.90 0.30 4.70 0.47 4.90 0.31 4.75 0.44 4.85 0.37

D 1 4.45 0.69 4.90 0.31 4.80 0.41 4.55 0.69 4.45 0.69
2 4.20 0.95 4.25 0.85 4.25 1.00 4.15 0.93 4.05 0.94
3 4.50 1.10 4.20 1.44 4.15 1.42 4.55 1.10 4.90 0.31
4 4.75 0.55 4.45 0.60 4.70 0.47 4.60 0.60 4.75 0.55
5 4.65 0.59 4.45 0.89 4.55 0.69 4.65 0.59 4.80 0.41

E 1 4.40 0.50 4.40 0.50 4.25 0.44 4.45 0.60 4.55 0.60
2 4.45 0.51 4.45 0.51 4.50 0.51 4.40 0.50 4.45 0.51
3 4.50 0.51 4.55 0.60 4.50 0.69 4.50 0.61 4.45 0.69
4 4.40 0.68 4.45 0.51 4.45 0.51 4.40 0.50 4.35 0.49
5 4.35 0.48 4.75 0.44 4.80 0.41 4.80 0.41 4.80 0.41
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The objective of this paper was to better under-
stand the different learning styles among teacher 
education students enrolled in the Faculty of 
Education by gender, and mode of entry in order 
to develop appropriate teaching and pedagogi-
cal strategies for improving teacher education 
Faculty in Nigeria. In addition, the research was 
intended to help developing valid and reliable re-
search questionnaire for further research process-
es. The adapted version of Honey and Mumford‘s 
(1986) Learning Style Questionnaire (LSQ) and 
faculty professional needs questionnaire were 
used as questionnaire instruments to determine 
students’ learning style and faculty professional 
development needs.

The research generated the results through quan-
titative analysis using the Statistical Package for 
the Social Sciences (SPSS 16.0). An alpha level 
of 0.05 was used as a margin of statistical sig-
nificance (Coakes & Steed, 2003). By analysing 
the data of students that entered the university 
through UME or DE entry modes, by gender; 
and areas of specialization (Arts and Science); 
students’ learning approaches, and typical pat-
terns have been confirmed. Analyses resulted in 
clear extraction of two theoretically expected 
learning styles dimensions according to Honey 
and Mumford learning style theory (factors – 
activists, reflectors, theorists, and pragmatists). 
This analysis confirmed the reflector/theorist 
combination of Honey and Mumford‘s learning 
styles theory as the main learning style of Arts 
and Science teacher education students who par-
ticipated in the study. In addition, based on data 
analysed, researchers conclude that there is a dif-
ference between male and female students among 
teacher education students in the university used 
for the study. The study confirmed that most male 
respondents were in the reflector/theorist learn-
ing style combination. The same learning style 
combination was confirmed for the female re-
spondents. Recent thinking in this area suggests 
that unlike cognitive personality styles, learning 
styles can be modified to a degree through learn-
ing and training strategies (Penger, Tekavcic, & 
Dimovski.2008). They further opined that:

“Instead of matching training to the 
styles of the learners it could be more 
rewarding to expose learners to a mis-
matched learning environment in order 

to help them develop a wider reper-
toire of coping behaviours and learning 
strategies. Those that can learn to use a 
variety of problem-solving and learning 
strategies, and apply them in situations 
that do not match with their natural 
learning style, may be more able to per-
form effectively across a wider range of 
situations than those who have limited 
stylistic versatility” (p.41).

The implications regarding the learning strate-
gies implementation in teacher education sug-
gests that students who are aware of a range of 
learning strategies are more likely to select the 
correct one for a particular task. The implica-
tions for pedagogy indicate that instead of fixed 
learning styles strategies, adapting content to the 
learner, teacher education faculty would enhance 
teaching efficacy and students learning outcomes 
if adaption based on students learning styles are 
integrated into lesson design and learning strate-
gies. 

The researchers recommend:

1. further research in learning styles and 
faculty instructional strategies be con-
ducted in the six geopolitical zones of 
Nigeria;

2. training of new faculty and re-training 
of older faculty on technology integra-
tion strategies that supporting teaching 
and learning;

3. a systematic institutional new faculty 
training every quarter or bi-annually to 
support new faculty in understanding 
institutional policies, mission and per-
formance benchmarks; and

4. a new policy included in the statutory 
roles of the Nigerian Universities Com-
mission (NUC) requiring this regulato-
ry body to measure faculty quality as an 
indicator for getting university depart-
ment accreditation. 
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AbstrAct
This paper is the first of a two part study comparing The Sixth Edition of the Uniform Accountancy 
Act as prepared and adopted by the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy (NASBA)
with the actual regulatory practice of the various jurisdictional boards of accountancy in place just 
prior to the release of the most recent NASBA guidelines. The purpose of this part is to examine the 
quality in the first “of the ‘Three Es’ – Education, Examination, and Experience – that constitute 
the requirement for Certified Public Accountant (CPA) licensure.” (AICPA 2011) Each board of 
accountancy establishes the requirements for licensure within its jurisdiction. The requirements ad-
dress which institutions’ accounting, business, and general education course credits may be used 
to meet the educational requirements to sit for the Uniform CPA Exam. In all but five of the 55 
boards of accounting, the educational institutions must be accredited by at least one accrediting 
agency. This study examines the type of accreditation institutions must possess in order for their 
students to qualify for both sitting for the CPA exam and licensure as a CPA. In addition, the study 
examines the suggested educational accreditation levels proposed by the National Association of 
State Boards of Accountancy.

IntRoductIon

The Uniform CPA Examination is the product 
of collaboration among the 55 boards of accoun-
tancy, National Association of State Boards of 
Accountancy (NASBA), Prometric, and the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accoun-
tants (AICPA). To become a certified public ac-
countant, a candidate must meet minimal edu-
cational and experience requirements, which are 
established by each state, district, or jurisdiction’s 
board of accountancy.  In addition, the Uniform 

CPA Examination must be successfully passed. 
The exam is the only commonality amongst all 
55 jurisdictions. The exam’s content, develop-
ment, and grading are the responsibility of the 
AICPA. The exam is administered in authorized 
Prometric test centers. NASBA acts as the clear-
ing house for the process. (AICPA 2011)

The purpose of the Uniform CPA Examination 
is to provide reasonable assurance to boards of 
accountancy (the jurisdictional entities that have 
statutory authority to issue licenses) that those 
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who pass the CPA Examination possess the level 
of technical knowledge and the skills necessary 
for licensure in protection of the public interest. 

NASBA acts as a clearing house for exam infor-
mation and through its mission is involved in 
enhancing effectiveness of the boards of accoun-
tancy. “NASBA’s goals are to: 

Provide high quality, effective programs 
and services,

Identify, research and analyze major cur-
rent and emerging issues affecting state 
boards of accountancy,

Strengthen and maintain communica-
tions with state boards to facilitate the 
exchange of ideas and opinions, and

Develop and foster relationships with 
organizations that impact the regulation 
of public accounting.” (http://www.
nasba.org/nasbaweb/NASBAWeb.nsf/
WPANP)

Through its Center for Public Trust, NASBA at-
tempts to maintain and instill confidence in the 
accounting profession and U.S. Business. (http://
www.nasba.org/about-us/) NASBA’s Board of 
Directors approved the “Uniform Accountancy 
Act Model Rules” (Model Rules) in April 2009.  
In Section 5, this act provides guidelines for edu-
cational requirements to be considered by boards 
of accountancy in establishing their individual 
requirements to sit for the exam and/or for the 
granting of initial licensure. Suggestions for ap-
proved accreditation types of educational institu-
tions used by candidates to meet the educational 
requirements can be traced back to NASBA’s 
2006 and 2007 exposure drafts on this topic.

Information on the 55 boards of accountancy’s 
educational accreditation requirements for in-
stitutions has been collected from each board’s 
web site. If there was not a link on the board’s 
site to information for CPA exam candidates ad-
dressing required institutional accreditation of 
coursework, then the rules, statues, and laws of 
the state, district, or territorial board were exam-
ined to determine the needed accreditation as of 
May 6, 2011. While the Commonwealth of the 
Northern Mariana Islands Territorial Board of 

Accountancy has been approved to administer 
the CPA exam, it has not administered the exam 
and there are apparently no plans to do so in the 
near future. Therefore, the authors have decided 
to limit the study to the 54 boards administering 
the exam and licensing certified public accoun-
tants.

UNIVERSITY/COLLEGE  
accREdItatIon

Model Rules article 5, sections 5-1 and 5-2, sug-
gest that boards of accountancy should consider 
the accreditation status of the colleges and uni-
versities that awarded degrees or education cred-
its to a CPA Exam candidate when deciding 
whether that candidate meets the educational re-
quirements to sit for the CPA Exam.  In brief, the 
Model Rules suggest a hierarchy, such that edu-
cation credits or accounting degrees are accepted 
with the least review of course work from insti-
tutions with an accredited accounting program. 
Next in the hierarchy, credits from programs 
with only business and regional accreditation 
will receive a review with increased rigor focus-
ing on the content of the accounting coursework. 
Finally, course work form institutions holding 
only regional accreditation as a whole will re-
ceive the most scrutiny, with increased rigor of 
both the accounting and business course work. 
Credits from non-accredited institutions are not 
accepted unless accepted as transfer credits by an 
institution with accounting, business or regional 
accreditation.1 

Accreditation is a review process for colleges and 
universities performed by organizations con-
sidered to be reliable authorities on education 
quality. While the U.S. Secretary of Education 
publishes a list of accrediting agencies sufficient 
to establish eligibility for student financial aid 

1  The Model Rules definition for the term “colleg-
es and universities” in section 5-1 is given as “board-
recognized institutions of higher learning accredited 
by generally recognized accrediting organizations”, 
note that elsewhere the term is used without includ-
ing the connotation of accreditation, as in section 
5-2(c)(1): “degrees from colleges or universities with-
out accreditation or with accreditation by an organi-
zation not recognized by the Board would generally 
not be acceptable.” (NASBA, 2011)

(DOE 2011), the Model Rules do not reference 
this list. Instead, the Model Rules categorize 
three levels of accreditation:  accreditation ap-
plying to the college or university as a whole (re-
ferred to as Level 3); accreditation of a college of 
business within a university (Level 2), or accredi-
tation of the accounting program within the col-
lege of business (Level 1). 

Given the large number of colleges and universi-
ties that teach accounting and business courses, 
and the wide variation of course work rigor, and 
qualifications of faculty teaching the courses, a 
standardized system for assessing coursework 
quality is a necessity.  An alternative is for boards 
of accountancy to review transcripts of each ap-
plicant desiring to sit for the CPA exam in its ju-
risdiction, and this would be a monumental task 
for the Boards.  In reviewing each transcript, 
evaluators could potentially develop their own 
‘rules of thumb’ in determining which course-
work is acceptable.  Essentially, evaluators would 
make implicit, possibly unjustified assumptions 
concerning the quality of coursework at different 
schools. This would create more disparity among 
each board’s requirements to become a CPA. If 
accreditations could be agreed upon among all 
Boards, then NASBA could evaluate all tran-
scripts for eligibility.

level 1 accreditation

Basing the acceptance of academic coursework on 
levels of accreditation greatly reduces the chance 
of an educational credentials reviewer develop-
ing arbitrary rules for categorizing credits from 
different colleges and universities. Accreditation 
provides an external standard for jurisdictional 
boards to use in determining the appropriateness 
of a candidate’s coursework.  Coursework from 
an accounting program that has received special-
ized/professional accreditation should require 
little or no scrutiny by boards of accountancy, 
since the accreditation process involves a review 
of the entire accounting and business programs 
at the college/university.

Level 1 accreditation (separate accounting ac-
creditation), as described in the NASBA Model 
Rules, implies that accounting and business 
coursework are of sufficient depth and rigor that 
little or no scrutiny of an applicant’s transcript 

is necessary. To be nationally accredited in ac-
counting requires a variety of thresholds be met 
by the program as set forth by an accrediting or-
ganization recognized by the Council for Higher 
Education Accreditation (CHEA),  the Associa-
tion to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business 
(AACSB) and the Accreditation Council for 
Business Schools and Programs (ACBSP) are 
currently the sole national accrediting agency in 
accounting. 

Accreditation standards for accounting pro-
grams address three areas:  mission and strategic 
management, participants (faculty and students), 
and assurance of learning.  The standards regard-
ing participants and assurance of learning are of 
particular importance to boards of accountancy.  
For example, the standards require that faculty 
be prepared academically, holding a terminal de-
gree in accounting with evidence of continued 
currency in the field, or professionally, a master’s 
degree with significant professional experience at 
the time of hire as well as noteworthy efforts to 
maintain currency in accounting.  At least 90% 
of the faculty in the accounting program must 
be either academically or professionally quali-
fied in order to receive AACSB accounting ac-
creditation.  Standards relating to assurance of 
learning require that the accounting curriculum 
have specific learning objectives, address a set 
of recommended topics and skills, demonstrate 
that students meet the learning objectives, and, if 
not, that curricular improvements have occurred 
as a result of the assurance of learning process.  
In addition, schools that have accounting ac-
creditation must also have business accreditation 
through AACSB or ACBSP.

level 2 accreditation

In business accreditation, the same set of accredi-
tation standards as detailed for accountants apply 
on a broader scale to the entire business program. 
Thus, at least 90% of the business faculty within 
each business discipline and across the entire 
school must be academically or professionally 
qualified to achieve accreditation. Curricula in 
business and in each major/concentration must 
address specific skills and learning objectives and 
the business school must demonstrate that cur-
ricula have been improved over time as a result 
of the assurance of learning process.  With the 
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tablE 2 
typE oF Educational inStitution accrEditation 

rEquirEd by thE boardS oF accountancy

Type of Accreditation Number Percent
Level 1, 2,  3 accreditation as suggested by NASBA 4 7.41
Level 2, 3 accreditation part of NASBA’s suggestion 1 1.85
Business or Regional accreditation 5 9.26
National or Regional accreditation 3 5.56
Regional accreditation 17 29.63
Regional accreditation or other board approved Colleges and Universities 3 5.56
Regional accreditation or other accreditation by regional agencies recognized by 

the Council for Higher Education Accreditation  
3 5.56

Nationally accreditation by agency recognized by the United States Department 
of Education

1 1.85

Accreditation by agency listed by the United States Department of Education or 
approved by the board

1 1.85

Accreditation by agencies approved by the Council on Postsecondary Accredita-
tion and the United States Department of Education

1 1.85

Accreditation by the Council on Postsecondary Accreditation or equivalent agency 1 1.85
Accreditation  by an agency acceptable to the Board 1 1.85
Institutions approved by the Board 12 22.22
Accreditation not addressed in education requirements 1 7.41
Total 54 100.00

level of external scrutiny required to achieve and 
maintain accounting accreditation (review of the 
program every 5 years), boards of accountancy 
would be confident that coursework completed 
at schools of business with separate account-
ing accreditation meets the criteria for virtually 
immediate acceptance by the Board for degrees 
awarded or coursework earned while the school 
possessed accounting accreditation.

NASBA’s Level 2 accreditation, national business 
accreditation by either of two business accredit-
ing bodies, AACSB and ACBSP recognized by 
the Council for Higher Education Accreditation 
(CHEA)  are similar to, but a step below having 
separate accounting accreditation.  To achieve 
and maintain accreditation in business, external 
reviewers address the qualifications of faculty 
within the different business disciplines, review 
the curricula within the school, and scrutinize 
the school’s efforts to continuously improve the 
business programs.  The goal of accrediting agen-
cies in business is to assure that students enrolled 
in the business school’s programs receive a high 
quality education.   Thus, while the accounting 
program is not singled out for special review in 
the accreditation process, the accounting pro-
gram’s quality is assured along with the other 
majors and concentrations by the review of the 
school’s business program.  Level 2 accreditation 
for a school virtually assures that coursework 
taken at the school in both accounting and busi-
ness will be acceptable to a board of accountancy. 
However, the overall content of the accounting 
major has not been scrutinized by the accrediting 
body to the same extent as for Level 1 accredita-
tion. 

level 3 accreditation

Level 3 accreditation will be provided by a na-
tional or regional accrediting organization rec-
ognized by the Council for Higher Education 
Accreditation (CHEA.) Currently, CHEA has 
recognized the six regional accrediting organiza-
tions listed in Table 1. Level 3 accredited schools 
will have met general criteria for quality assur-
ance across the entire college/university, without 
particular attention placed on any one program. 
While Level 1 and Level 2 accreditation require 
a specific, in depth review of accounting and/
or business programs, respectively, within a col-

lege or university, Level 3 accreditation does not.  
Therefore, Level 3 accreditation has less rigorous 
standards for accounting or business programs 
than do the Level 1 or Level 2 accreditations.  
Transcripts from schools with only regional ac-
creditation will require more analysis by boards 
of accountancy than transcripts from schools 
with business and/or accounting accreditation.

tablE 1 
rEgional accrEditing agEnciES rEcognizEd by 

thE council For highEr Education accrEditation

Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools
New England Association of Schools and Colleges
North Central Association of Colleges and Schools
Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities
Southern Association of Colleges and Universities
Western Association of Schools and Colleges

summary of level 1, 2, and 3  
accreditation

To summarize, the intent of the Model Rules’ 
use of Levels of Accreditation is to streamline 
and standardize the review of student transcripts 
by boards of accountancy. Boards of accountancy 
could place significant reliance on the quality, 
content and delivery method of accounting and 
business courses included in accounting degrees 
from Level 1 colleges or universities and as such, 
transcripts from such colleges or universities 
would require minimal or no Board review. Col-
leges or universities with Level 2 accreditation 
would require little or no Board review of tran-
scripts in terms of the business content, but the 
accounting content would require more review 
than Level 1. Transcripts from a Level 3 college 
or university would require more detailed review 
by the Board for compliance with the account-
ing and business content. Degrees from colleges 
or universities without accreditation or with ac-
creditation by an organization not recognized by 
the Board would generally not be acceptable un-
less the coursework has been accepted in transfer 
by a college or university with Level 1, Level 2 or 
Level 3 accreditation. (NASBA, 2011)

BoaRd-REcognIZEd InstItutIon(s) 
of hIghER EducatIon

We compared NASBA’s Model Rules concerning 
coursework acceptable for satisfying eligibility 
requirements to sit for the CPA exam with the 
actual practice of the boards of accountancy. We 
found little agreement between the Model Rules 
and actual practice. We also found little consis-
tency between boards. 

One commonality among board requirements 
is that for coursework to be acceptable in meet-
ing educational requirements, it must appear on 
a transcript from an institution of higher learn-
ing. Beyond this, there is not a consensus on the 
accreditation possessed by a college or university 
for a candidate’s educational credentials to meet 
the requirements for becoming a CPA. 

Table 2 summarizes the required educational 
institution accreditation, if any, adopted by the 
54 boards included in the study and described 
on their websites. Only four boards explicitly re-

fer to the levels of accreditation as described in 
NASBA’s Model Rules. One additional board 
uses NASBA’s suggestion but does not consider 
special accounting accreditation (Level 1 ac-
creditation) in evaluating a candidate’s educa-
tion.  One board does not address the approval 
of colleges and universities and requires only a 
high school diploma to sit for the exam. There 
does not appear to have been much movement 
towards NASBA’s suggestions since 2007 as only 
two states were using NASBA’s suggestion in a 
previous study. (Griffin, 2007) 

The remaining 49 boards have chosen not to 
use accounting or business accreditation as an 
educational quality indicator. While business 
accreditation or some type of regional accredita-
tion is acceptable in 36 jurisdictions, it does not 
appear to be used as a means of evaluating an ap-
plicant’s quality of business education. Twelve 
boards individually approve the institutions that 
are acceptable to gain educational knowledge 
and skills institution by institution. Therefore, in 
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wEb SitES

Name of Organization Web Site

National Association of State Boards of 
Accountancy

http://www.nasba.org/nasbaweb/NASBAWeb.nsf/
WPHP?OpenForm

Prometric http://www.prometric.com/CPA/default.htm

The Uniform CPA Examination http://www.aicpa.org/BecomeACPA/Pages/
BecomeaCPA.aspx

Alabama State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.asbpa.state.al.us/
Alaska State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.dced.state.ak.us/occ/pcpa.cfm
Arizona State Board of Accountancy http://www.azaccountancy.gov/
Arkansas State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.state.ar.us/asbpa/
California State Board of Accountancy http://www.dca.ca.gov/cba/
Colorado State Board of Accountancy http://www.dora.state.co.us/Accountants/
Connecticut State Board of Accountancy http://www.ct.gov/sboa/site/default.asp
Delaware State Board of Accountancy http://dpr.delaware.gov/boards/accountancy/index.shtml
Florida Board of Accountancy http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/cpa/
Georgia State Board of Accountancy http://www.sos.state.ga.us/plb/accountancy/
Hawaii Board of Public Accountancy http://hawaii.gov/dcca/pvl/boards/accountancy
Idaho State Board of Accountancy http://www.isba.idaho.gov/
The Illinois Board of Examiners http://www.illinois-cpa-exam.com/
Indiana Board of Accountancy http://www.in.gov/pla/accountancy.htm

Iowa Accountancy Examining Board http://www.state.ia.us/government/com/prof/account/
home.html

Kansas Board of Accountancy http://www.ksboa.org/
Kentucky State Board of Accountancy http://cpa.ky.gov/
State Board of CPAS of Louisiana http://cpaboard.state.la.us/

Maine Board of Accountancy http://www.maine.gov/pfr/professionallicensing/
professions/accountants/index.htm

Maryland State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.dllr.state.md.us/license/cpa/

Massachusetts Board of Registration in Public 
Accountancy

http://www.mass.gov/?pageID=ocasubtopic&L=4&L0
=Home&L1=Licensee&L2=Division+of+Professional+
Licensure+Boards&L3=Board+of+Public+Accountanc
y&sid=Eoca

Michigan Board of Accountancy http://www.michigan.gov/dleg/0,1607,7-154-
35299_35414_35451---,00.html

Minnesota State Board of Accountancy http://www.boa.state.mn.us/Licensing/
Mississippi State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.msbpa.ms.gov/
Missouri State Board of Accountancy http://pr.mo.gov/accountancy.asp

Montana State Board of Public Accountants http://bsd.dli.mt.gov/license/bsd_boards/pac_board/
board_page.asp

Nebraska State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.nbpa.ne.gov/
Nevada State Board of Accountancy http://www.nvaccountancy.com/
New Hampshire Board of Accountancy http://www.nh.gov/accountancy/
New Jersey State Board of Accountancy http://www.state.nj.us/lps/ca/accountancy/index.htm
New Mexico State Board of Public 
Accountancy http://www.rld.state.nm.us/accountancy/index.html

New York State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.op.nysed.gov/prof/cpa/

49 jurisdictions transcripts must be evaluated in-
dividually to determine if minimum accounting 
and business requirements are being met. 

conclusIon

Although NASBA has encouraged boards of ac-
countancy to use accounting and business spe-
cialized institution accreditation in determine 
the quality of a candidate’s education, 49 boards 
or 90.7 percent have not moved in that direc-
tion. This approach was proposed in an exposure 
draft, “Framework for Revision – Rules 5-1 and 
5-2 by a NASBA Education Task Force and the 
NASBA Education Committee as early as 2006. 
In 2007, the NASBA Education Committee, 
following feedback from boards and other con-
stituents, made changes to the proposal of 2006 
with little change to the section on accounting 
and business accreditation.

In April 2009, the “Uniform Accountancy Act 
Model Rules” was adopted by NASBA’s board 
of directors. But as is evident, most boards of ac-
countancy have ignored the portion of the sug-
gestion that address the need for a quality educa-
tion. While state legislatures often base a public 
university’s funding on the special accreditations 
possessed by its programs, the legislatures have 
been slow in most cases to address accredited ed-
ucational credentials as a requirement for candi-
dates for CPA exams or licensure, a requirement 
that would probably increase public trust.
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wEb SitES

Name of Organization Web Site

North Carolina State Board of CPA Examiners http://www.nccpaboard.gov/Clients/NCBOA/Public/
Static/index.html

North Dakota State Board of Accountancy http://www.nd.gov/ndsba/
Accountancy Board of Ohio http://acc.ohio.gov/
Oklahoma Accountancy Board http://www.ok.gov/oab_web/
Oregon State Board of Accountancy http://egov.oregon.gov/BOA/

Pennsylvania State Board of Accountancy http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt/
community/state_board_of_accounting/12502

Rhode Island Board of Accountancy http://www.dbr.state.ri.us/divisions/accountancy/
South Carolina Board of Accountancy http://www.llr.state.sc.us/POL/Accountancy/
South Dakota Board of Accountancy http://accountancy.sd.gov/
Tennessee State Board of Accountancy http://tn.gov/commerce/boards/tnsba/index.shtml
Texas State Board of Public Accountancy http://www.tsbpa.state.tx.us/
Utah Board of Accountancy http://www.dopl.utah.gov/licensing/accountancy.html
Vermont Board of Public Accountancy http://www.vtprofessionals.org/opr1/accountants/
Virginia Board for Accountancy http://www.boa.virginia.gov/
Washington State Board of Accountancy http://www.cpaboard.wa.gov/
West Virginia Board of Accountancy http://www.boa.wv.gov/Pages/default.aspx
Wisconsin Accounting Examining Board http://drl.wi.gov/profession.asp?profid=60&locid=0
Wyoming Board of Certified Public 
Accountants http://cpaboard.state.wy.us/

District of Columbia Board of Accountancy  http://dcregs.dc.gov/Gateway/ChapterHome.
aspx?ChapterNumber=17-25

Guam Board of Accountancy http://www.guamboa.org/
Puerto Rico Board of Accountancy  http://www.estado.gobierno.pr/
Virgin Islands Board of Accountancy http://dlca.vi.gov/businesslicense/steps/cparequirements/
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may 23th, 24th and 25th 2012 in  

nashville, tn at the holiday Inn vanderbilt
academic Business world  
International conference  

(aBwIc.org) 

The aim of Academic Business World is to promote inclusiveness 
in research by offering a forum for the discussion of research in 
early stages as well as research that may differ from ‘traditional’ 
paradigms. We wish our conferences to have a reputation for 
providing a peer-reviewed venue that is open to the full range of 
researchers in business as well as reference disciplines within the 
social sciences.

Business disciplines 

We encourage the submission of manuscripts, presentation out-
lines, and abstracts pertaining to any business or related discipline 
topic. We believe that all disciplines are interrelated and that look-
ing at our disciplines and how they relate to each other is prefer-
able to focusing only on our individual ‘silos of knowledge’. The 
ideal presentation would cross discipline. borders so as to be more 
relevant than a topic only of interest to a small subset of a single 
discipline. Of course, single domain topics are needed as well. 

conferences

Academic Business World (ABW) sponsors an annual interna-
tional conference for the exchange of research ideas and practices 
within the traditional business disciplines. The aim of each Aca-
demic Business World conference is to provide a forum for the 
discussion of research within business and reference disciplines 
in the social sciences. A secondary but important objective of the 
conference is to encourage the cross pollination of disciplines by 
bringing together professors, from multiple countries and disci-
plines, for social and intellectual interaction. 

Prior to this year, the Academic Business World International 
Conference included a significant track in Learning and Admin-
istration. Because of increased interest in that Track, we have 
promoted Learning and Administration to a Conference in its 
own right. For the full call for papers and more information go to 
http://ABWIC.org and http://ICLAHE.org

International conference on 
learning and administration in  

higher Education 
(IclahE.org)

All too often learning takes a back seat to discipline related re-
search. The International Conference on Learning and Admin-
istration in Higher Education seeks to focus exclusively on all 
aspects of learning and administration in higher education.  We 
wish to bring together, a wide variety of individuals from all 
countries and all disciplines, for the purpose of exchanging ex-
periences, ideas, and research findings in the processes involved 
in learning and administration in the academic environment of 
higher education. 

We encourage the submission of manuscripts, presentation out-
lines, and abstracts in either of the following areas:

learning 

We encourage the submission of manuscripts pertaining to ped-
agogical topics. We believe that much of the learning process is 
not discipline specific and that we can all benefit from looking 
at research and practices outside our own discipline. The ideal 
submission would take a general focus on learning rather than a 
discipline-specific perspective. For example, instead of focusing 
on “Motivating Students in Group Projects in Marketing Man-
agement”, you might broaden the perspective to “Motivating 
Students in Group Projects in Upper Division Courses” or simply 
“Motivating Students in Group Projects” The objective here is to 
share your work with the larger audience. 

academic administration 

We encourage the submission of manuscripts pertaining to the 
administration of academic units in colleges and universities. We 
believe that many of the challenges facing academic departments 
are not discipline specific and that learning how different depart-
ments address these challenges will be beneficial. The ideal paper 
would provide information that many administrators would find 
useful, regardless of their own disciplines 

conferences

Prior to this year, Learning and Administration was a primary 
track of the annual Academic Business World International Con-
ference. Because of increased interest, we have promoted Learning 
and Administration from a Track to Conference in its own right. 
For the full call for papers and more information go to http://
ICLAHE.org and http://ABWIC.org.
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